STUDIES IN ECONOMICS AND POLITICAL SCIENCE.

Edited by HON. W. PEMBER REEVES,

Director of the London School of Economics and Political Science.

No. 10 in the Series of Monographs by Writers connected with the London School of Economics and Political Science

A HISTORY

0F

FACTORY LEGISLATION.

A HISTORY OF FACTORY LEGISLATION

By

B. L. HUTCHINS

AND

A. HARRISON (Mrs. F. H. Spencer), D.Sc. (Econ.).

WITH A PREFACE BY SIDNEY WEBB, LL.B.

SECOND EDITION REVISED, WITH A NEW CHAPTER

London:
P. S. KING & SON,
ORCHARD HOUSE, WESTMINSTER.

1911

NOTE TO THE FIRST EDITION.

The Authors desire to acknowledge the kind help of Mr. J. McKillop, who has rendered valuable assistance in the compilation of the Bibliography in Appendix C., and of Miss Catherine Preece, who contributed numerous notes and references to Chapters VII. and VIII., on the extension of the Factory Acts to other than textile industries. They are also greatly indebted to Mr. and Mrs. Sidney Webb for much kind help and encouragement. In the midst of many and more important duties Mr. Webb, with unwearied patience and ever-ready kindness, has found time to read the MS. and make many valuable criticisms and emendations, for which the Authors here return their best and most grateful thanks.

B.L.H. A.H.

PREFACE TO THE NEW EDITION.

The continuous demand for the "History of Factory Legislation" since its publication in 1903 has more than justified the high opinion of its merits that was then expressed. The issue of a new edition has afforded an opportunity for a careful overhauling of the work, for the correction of sundry errors and omissions, and for bringing the story down to date. I gladly respond to the suggestion that I should add a few words, and give some necessary revision, to the original preface.

During the past seven years both the idea and the application of Factory Legislation have made marked progress. What is perhaps even more striking than the legislation itself is the general acceptance of the principle that it embodies; and also, perhaps, the better understanding of what that principle really is. The merely empirical suggestions of Dr. Thomas Percival and the Manchester Justices of 1784 and 1795, and the experimental legislation of the elder Sir Robert Peel in 1802, were expanded by Robert Owen in 1815 into a general principle of industrial government, which came to be applied in tentative instalments by successive generations of Home Office administrators. We see now that this really meant the application of the principle of a "national minimum" in the standard of life, to be prescribed by the community, and secured by law to every one of its citizens. What is no less remarkable is the manner in which this principle has spread to every industrial community in the Old World and the New. Of all the nineteenth century inventions in social organisation, Factory Legislation is the most widely diffused. The opening of the twentieth century finds it prevailing over a larger area than the public library or the savings bank: it is, perhaps, more far-reaching, if not more ubiquitous, than even the public elementary school or the policeman.

The system of regulation which began with the protection of the tiny class of pauper apprentices in textile mills now includes within its scope every manual worker in every manufacturing industry. From the hours of labour and sanitation, the law has extended to the age of commencing work, protection against accidents, mealtimes and holidays, the methods of remuneration, and in the United Kingdom as well as in the most progressive of English-speaking communities, to the rate of wages itself.1 The range of Factory Legislation has, in fact, in one country or another, become co-extensive with the conditions of industrial employment. No class of manual-working wage-earners, no item in the wagecontract, no age, no sex, no trade or occupation, is now beyond its scope. This part, at any rate, of Robert Owen's social philosophy has commended itself to the practical judgment of the civilised world. It has even, though only towards the latter part of the nineteenth century, converted the economists themselves—converted them now to a "legal minimum wage"—and the advantage of Factory Legislation is now as soundly "orthodox" among the present generation of English, German, and American professors as "laisser-faire" was to their predecessors.

¹ For an interesting account of various modern developments of Factory Legislation the reader should consult State Experiments in Australia and New Zealand, by the Hon. W. P. Reeves (London: 1902). For a fuller analysis of the ideas contained in this preface, the writer may be permitted to refer to Industrial Democracy, new edition (London: Longmans, 1907), by S. and B. Webb, and Socialism and National Minimum (London: Fifield, 1909). The bibliography at the end of this book should also be consulted.

So fruitful an experiment deserves a systematic record in the country of its origin. The series of enactments, beginning with the "Health and Morals of Apprentices Act, 1802," and ending, for the moment, with the "Trade Boards Act, 1909," has, indeed, a whole literature of its own, a select bibliography of which will be found in an appendix to this work. The movement has called forth several incomplete chronicles and historical sketches. the principal of which are Kydd's "History of the Factory Movement" (1857) and the various essays by Mr. R. W. Cooke Taylor, Mr. George Howell, and Miss Victorine Jeans. English Factory Legislation has attracted at different stages the attention of competent French and German students, from Villermé, Wolowski, and Léon Faucher in the early "forties," to such able monographers as Ernst von Plener, in 1872, and Otto Wever, in 1888, (not to speak of writers of more general works). But it has been left to the authors of the present volume systematically to explore the origins of the Act of 1802, and to trace, in detail, from that small beginning, the centurylong development of the present highly-organised system of factory and workshop regulation in the United Kingdom.

This century of experiment in Factory Legislation affords a typical example of English practical empiricism. We began with no abstract theory of social justice or the rights of man. We seem always to have been incapable even of taking a general view of the subject we were legislating upon. Each successive statute aimed at remedying a single ascertained evil. It was in vain that objectors urged that other evils, no more defensible existed in other trades, or among other classes, or with persons of ages other than those to which the particular Bill applied. Neither logic nor consistency, neither the over-nice consideration of even-handed justice nor the Quixotic appeal of a general humanitarianism, was permitted to stand in the way of a practical remedy

for a proved wrong. That this purely empirical method of dealing with industrial evils made progress slow is scarcely an objection to it. With the nineteenth century House of Commons no other method would have secured any progress at all. More serious is the drawback of the unevenness of the progress. Some industriescotton spinning, for example—are now so thoroughly guarded by Common Rules, enforced either by the factory inspector or by the jointly-acting officials of the Trade Union and the Employers' Association, that no individual millowner and no individual operative can go far in degrading the standard of life. We have, in the course of a century, in this particular trade, so strictly fenced off the downward way that competition, as far as the manufacturing process is concerned, is exclusively concentrated upon the upward way. How potently the additional freedom which the law thus secures, to master as well as to man, has reacted on the efficiency of the industry is, at the opening of the twentieth century, one of our proudest boasts. In spite of the keenest foreign competition, the Lancashire cotton mill, in point of technical efficiency, still leads the world, and the Lancashire cotton spinner, once in the lowest depths of social degradation, now occupies, as regards the general standard of life of a whole trade, perhaps the foremost position among English wageearners.

On the other hand, in such "sweated" London industries as the manufacture of men's shirts and women's blouses, or low-grade furniture, Factory Legislation is, after half a century of agitation, found only in its most rudimentary form. No effective Common Rules prevent any employer or any operative from competing in the downward way, by "earnings barely sufficient to sustain existence; hours of labour such as to make the lives of the workers periods of almost ceaseless toil; sanitary conditions injurious to the health of the persons

PREFACE

for a proved wrong. That this purely empirical method of dealing with industrial evils made progress slow is scarcely an objection to it. With the nineteenth century House of Commons no other method would have secured any progress at all. More serious is the drawback of the unevenness of the progress. Some industriescotton spinning, for example—are now so thoroughly guarded by Common Rules, enforced either by the factory inspector or by the jointly-acting officials of the Trade Union and the Employers' Association, that no individual millowner and no individual operative can go far in degrading the standard of life. We have, in the course of a century, in this particular trade, so strictly fenced off the downward way that competition, as far as the manufacturing process is concerned, is exclusively concentrated upon the upward way. How potently the additional freedom which the law thus secures, to master as well as to man, has reacted on the efficiency of the industry is, at the opening of the twentieth century, one of our proudest boasts. In spite of the keenest foreign competition, the Lancashire cotton mill, in point of technical efficiency, still leads the world, and the Lancashire cotton spinner, once in the lowest depths of social degradation, now occupies, as regards the general standard of life of a whole trade, perhaps the foremost position among English wageearners.

On the other hand, in such "sweated" London industries as the manufacture of men's shirts and women's blouses, or low-grade furniture, Factory Legislation is, after half a century of agitation, found only in its most rudimentary form. No effective Common Rules prevent any employer or any operative from competing in the downward way, by "earnings barely sufficient to sustain existence; hours of labour such as to make the lives of the workers periods of almost ceaseless toil; sanitary conditions injurious to the health of the persons

employed and dangerous to the public." In spite of improved sanitary inspection in certain districts, and just a beginning, here and there, of supervision of the home worker, the state of the London needle-work and low-grade furniture trades in 1910 is, in fact, closely parallel to that of the Lancashire cotton trade in 1802. It is now more than twenty years since the gravity of the evil was authoritatively laid bare by the House of Lords Select Committee on the Sweating System. It is known, as certainly as a hundred years of experiment can make anything known, by what line of action the evil can be remedied. Yet so imperfectly are our legislators and the public acquainted with the nineteenth century history of their own country that, down to the Trade Boards Act of 1909, practically nothing had been done. And now, except for the four chosen industries dealt with by that Act, the sweated trades remain, in the second decade of the twentieth century, as free from any effective Common Rules as was the factory system a hundred and twenty years before. It is of the highest importance to get a prompt extension of the Trade Boards Act to the other sweated trades.

Such sweated trades, far from bringing any profit to the community, are not even self-supporting. In denying to their unfortunate operatives sufficient food, clothing, and rest to keep up their strength, and housing accommodation and sanitation such as to maintain them in health, these industries are extracting more energy than their wages and other conditions suffice to make good, with the result that, after a relatively few years of demoralising toil, the sweated workers are flung, prematurely exhausted, on the social rubbish heap of charity or the Poor Law. It is, indeed, unfortunately only too true that the sweated trades literally use up the men, women, and children who work at them, as

¹ Final Report of the Select Committee of the House of Lords on the Sweating System, 1890.

PREFACE

omnibus companies use up their horses. But, unlike the omnibus companies, the employers in these industries are supplied with successive relays of workers without any charge for rearing them. Thus, the sweated trades are, in the strictest sense, parasitic upon the rest of the community. Without the subsidy continually afforded to them in the shape of human energy, they could not continue beyond a very brief generation. As things are, they constitute a standing drain upon the vitality of the race.

Unfortunately, in the absence of regulation, the evil tends to increase and the sweated trades to spread. In the all-pervading competition of the modern worldmarket, each industry is perpetually struggling against every other industry to maintain and to improve its position—each trade is continuously bidding against every other trade—tempting the consumer by cheapness continually to increase his demand for its commodities, inducing the investor by swollen profits to divert more and more of the nation's capital in its direction, and attracting, by large salaries, more and more of the nation's brains to its service. In the competition for the foreign market, in particular, product jostles with product in a manner that can scarcely be overlooked. The mere fact that we import foreign produce compels a certain though varying total amount of export sales, but which articles the foreigner will buy depends on their relative cheapness to him. Hence, the development of an increased export trade in slop clothing may well have something to do with the check to our export sales of textiles or machinery. The diminution in the Northumberland coal shipments may be ultimately caused by a contemporary expansion in the foreign sales of East End boots and shoes. Now, although the sweated industries are unprofitable to the community as a whole, and demoralising to their operatives, the subsidy which they enjoy enables them to offer their products at low

prices. They thus secure a large, and even a growing, trade. The mere extent of this trade permits of large profits to investors, and high salaries to managers. They thus obtain the services of an extensive, and even an increasing, share of the nation's capital and brains. How seriously an analogous bounty might warp the distribution of the nation's industry was clearly perceived by the shrewd critics of the old Poor Law. "Whole branches of manufacture," they point out, "may thus follow the course, not of coal mines or of streams, but of pauperism; may flourish like the fungi that spring from corruption in consequence of the abuses which are ruining all the other interests of the places in which they are established, and cease to exist in the better administered districts in consequence of that better administration." Hence the morass of sweating not only continues, but actually spreads, absolutely, if not relatively. At no previous period, we may confidently affirm, was there so great a total number of people, in London and elsewhere, employed under conditions falling within the House of Lords' definition of sweated workers, as in this year of grace 1910.

The discovery of the danger of uneven Factory Legislation reveals also the principle that we now see to underlie it. The experience of every advanced industrial community proves that, in the absence of regulation, there will be at least some trades in which at least some workers will be driven to exist under conditions so exhausting and demoralising as to be injurious to the community. Nor is the evil a transient one, righting itself in due course. If nothing is done to prevent it these trades become parasitic on the rest of the community, and are positively fostered, at the expense of the others, by what is virtually a continuous bounty or subsidy. It is the object of Factory Legislation to

¹ First Report of Poor Law Inquiry Commissioners, 1834, p. 65 of reprint.

hinder the diversion of the nation's industry into such unprofitable channels; to maintain a healthy minimum in the standard of life; and to prevent any person being employed under conditions inimical to social health. "Every society is judged and survives," aptly said Mr. Asquith in 1901, "according to the material and moral minimum which it prescribes to its members." "The ultimate end of Factory Legislation," approvingly wrote the Times in 1874, "is to prescribe conditions of existence below which population shall not decline."

The modern economist agrees on this point with the Times of 1874, and the Prime Minister of to-day. The most dramatic episode of the story is perhaps that which we owe to the courage and persistency of Mr. Winston Churchill. The acceptance of the Trade Boards Act of 1909, without protest by any economist, by practically the whole of the members of the House of Commons and the House of Lords—notwithstanding its revolutionary idea of fixing wages by law—marks the triumph of Robert Owen's idea of fixing a "national minimum" in the standard of life, below which, in the common interest, no one is to be permitted to sink.

SIDNEY WEBB.

41, GROSVENOR ROAD, WESTMINSTER, December, 1910.

CONTENTS.

| Nazionale del melle del me | |
|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|------------------|
| CHAPTER I. | PAGE |
| THE ORIGIN OF FACTORY LEGISLATION The Poor Law of Elizabeth—Children's Labour in the 18th Century—Parish Apprentices—Fever at Manchester—Dr. Percival—Advocacy of Inspection and Control. | I |
| CHAPTER II. | |
| THE EARLY FACTORY ACTS, 1802—1819 | 14 |
| Cruelty to Apprentices—The Act of 1802—Robert Owen—The Effect of Shorter Hours—The Ten Hours Bill—Its Rejection—The Act of 1819—Views and Opinions. | |
| CHAPTER III. | |
| THE APPOINTMENT OF GOVERNMENT INSPECTORS | |
| CHAPTER IV. | |
| THE TEN HOURS MOVEMENT | |
| CHAPTER V. | |
| The Inspectors and their Duties—Education of Factory Children—The Half-Time System—The Relay System—Factory Women—The Act of 1844—Controversies—Senior, Roebuck, Macaulay. | L |
| CHAPTER VI. | |
| Administration of the Ten Hours Act—The False Relay System—Act of 1850—Establishment of a "Normal Day" for Women and Young Persons—Agi tation for a Restriction on the Motive Power of Machin ery—Act of 1853—Extension of a "Normal Day" to Children—The Fencing of Horizontal Shafts—Opposition of Manufacturers—Formation of "National Association of Factory Occupiers"—Factory Act of 1856. | · - - - |

| CHAPTER VII. | PAGE | | | | | | |
|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|------|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| THE INCLUSION OF INDUSTRIES ALLIED TO TEXTILES, 1845—1861 | 120 | | | | | | |
| Print Works — Bleach and Dye Works — Lace Factories. | | | | | | | |
| CHAPTER VIII. | | | | | | | |
| THE INCLUSION OF NON-TEXTILE FACTORIES AND WORK-SHOPS, 1864—1867 The Change in Public Opinion—The Children's Employment Commission—Potteries, etc.—The Act of 1864—Hosiery, Hardware, Apparel, etc.—The Factory Acts Extension Act and the Workshops Act, 1867. | | | | | | | |
| CHAPTER IX. | | | | | | | |
| THE WOMEN'S RIGHTS OPPOSITION MOVEMENT, 1874—1901. The Nine Hours Bill—The Consolidation Commission, 1876—The Act of 1878. | 173 | | | | | | |
| CHAPTER X. | | | | | | | |
| REGULATIONS IN THE INTEREST OF HEALTH AND SAFETY, 1878—1901 | 200 | | | | | | |
| Lists of Outworkers—Particulars Clause—Shop Hours. | | | | | | | |
| CHAPTER XI. | | | | | | | |
| ADMINISTRATION BY THE HOME OFFICE AND LOCAL AUTHORITIES, 1867–1902 Recommendations of Children's Employment Commissioners, 1862–4—Administration of the Workshops Regulation Act, 1867, by Local Sanitary Authorities—Defects in the Act and Failure of Local Authorities to undertake Inspection of Workshops—Administration of Workshops Regulation Act handed over to Factory Inspectors in 1871—Recommendations of Commissioners of 1876—Report of Select Committee of the House of Lords on the Sweating System—Acts of 1891–1895—Dual Control—Inspection of Outworkers Act of 1891—Extension of Duties of Factory Inspectors. | | | | | | | |
| CHAPTER XII. | | | | | | | |
| The Physical Deterioration Report—The Laundries Act, 1907—The Employment of Children Act, 1903—Sweated Industries and Trade Boards—International Labour Legislation. | 253 | | | | | | |
| APPENDIX A. | | | | | | | |
| ORDERS IN COUNCIL | 273 | | | | | | |
| APPENDIX B. | | | | | | | |
| SELECT BIBLIOGRAPHY | 279 | | | | | | |
| INDEX | 285 | | | | | | |

HISTORY OF

FACTORY LEGISLATION.

CHAPTER I.

THE ORIGIN OF FACTORY LEGISLATION.

The Poor Law of Elizabeth—Children's Labour in the Eighteenth Century—Parish Apprentices—Fever at Manchester—Dr. Percival—Advocacy of Inspection and Control.

THE year 1802 is marked by the passing of the first of the long series of statutes regulating the hours and conditions of labour, commonly known as the Factory Acts. These Acts have been framed with the definite and avowed object of protecting the health of the younger and weaker workers from injury by overwork or unwholesome conditions, and it is this, their motive and purpose, rather than the actual matter of the regulations, that forms their distinguishing characteristic and marks them out as a novelty and new departure from previous legislation. There is little or no analogy between these and the mediæval labour statutes or the ordinances of the craft guilds. The working day prescribed by the Elizabethan Statute of Apprentices was frankly an "imposition," not a "limitation" of labour, as the late Professor Jevons put it, and was intended to prevent, not overwork, but idleness. The guild prohibitions of work at night seem to have been partly due to the desire to maintain a high standard of quality in the product which might be endangered by night work, the prescription of holidays partly to religious motives, and both probably also to the idea that as the normal citizen went to church on festivals and slept at night, it was unfair that he should be injured in his business by the competition of those who infringed these orderly customs. There were a number of other statutes in mediæval and early modern times which purported to regulate industrial processes and methods, sometimes in great detail. Some of these regulations were intended to keep up the efficiency and reputation of the industry, others had to do with wages and apprenticeship questions, and some were aimed at maintaining the old-fashioned craftsman organisation of industry in towns and putting a check on the growth of "free," i.e., unregulated, industry in the country. Many of these regulations are of great interest in themselves, and not without a bearing on certain modern questions, such as trade unionism, the sweating system, and others. They have, however, little or nothing in common with the protection of health by Factory Acts, and may therefore for present purposes be disregarded. The movement for the regulation of factories was, as we shall see, the outcome of a new attitude of mind towards industrial questions which was itself part of the intellectual development of the eighteenth century. The Factory Acts are, however, in their origin linked with another series of ancient enactments which in scope and purpose might seem to have little or no connection with them.

The Factory Act of 1802, the first of all, may be regarded rather as an extension of the old Poor Law than as the conscious assumption of control over industry. It will be remembered that the Elizabethan Poor Law of 1601 had directed that destitute children and orphans should be apprenticed to some trade. Houses of industry for instructing these children in spinning and weaving were a favourite charitable hobby in the seventeenth and

¹ This subject is more fully discussed from mutually opposed points of view by Professor Ashley, "English Economic History," Part I., p. 90, and Brentano, "History of Guilds," p. cxxx.

eighteenth centuries, and the children were subsequently bound apprentice to employers. There is a considerable literature on this subject, sometimes giving a roseate description of the interiors of these industrial schools which does not always convey to the modern reader an impression as favourable as the writer intended.

There is, for instance, an account of the workhouses in Great Britain, written in 1732, and reprinted in 1786, in which the various occupations of the inmates, children and adults, are set forth. One of these appears to have been oakum picking, which the writer considered an ideally healthy pursuit. "They that pick oakum," he says, "are continually refreshed with the balsamick odour of it. The Spinners and Knitters with an exercise so moderate, that it fits any age or sex, at the same time that it qualifies those that are young for most handicrafts." Working hours were from six to six in summer and seven to five in winter, meal-times excepted. The children in the Shrewsbury House of Industry were set to work in the spinning-room soon after five years old, and they attended an evening school after working hours were over."

In the Bulchamp House "the children are at school from three to five years old; from that age, during their stay in the house, they are at the allotted hours in the workroom; these are busy scenes of cheerful industry, whilst content smiles on every little countenance . . . it gives one pleasure to observe that there is scarcely a child more than eleven in any of the houses, the directors and guardians making it a point to provide them with services as soon as the abilities of the child permit; the neighbouring farmers willingly accept them." A good deal more might be quoted in the same laudatory strain. This sentimental view of children's work is very characteristic of the eighteenth century. In the woollen industry

Robert Potter's "Observations on the Poor Laws," 1775.

¹ T. Wood's "Account of the Shrewsbury House of Industry," 1795.

children at an age which we count almost as infancy were constantly employed at home with their parents, and this filled Defoe and other writers with something like a transport of admiration. A district or an industry in which "scarce anything of five years old" but could and did earn its living by the labour of its hands seemed to them an almost ideal state of society. To understand an attitude of mind so foreign to our own we have to recollect that the problem of pauperism had been for centuries of alarming proportions. The "valiant beggar" of Henry VIII.'s time, the destitute poor of Elizabeth and the Stuarts, had become a sort of nightmare. This appears in Sir Matthew Hale's "Discourse touching Provision for the Poor," 1683. "Poor Families," he says, "which daily multiply in the kingdom for want of a due order for their Imployment in an honest course of life, whereby they may gain subsistence for them and their children, do unavoidably bring up their children either in a Trade of Begging or Stealing, or such other Idle course, which again they propagate to their children, and so there is a successive multiplication of hurtful or at least unprofitable people, neither capable of Discipline nor beneficial Imployment." The economic side is more crudely stated by Sir William Petty.1 "About a quarter of the mass of mankind are Children, males and females, under seven years old, from whom little labour is to be expected. . . . The Author of 'The State of England,' says that the Children of Norwich, between 6 and 16 years old, do earn £12,000 per ann. more than they spend. Now, forasmuch as the People of Norwich are a three-hundredth part of all the People of England, as appears by the Accompts of the Hearth Money, and about a five-hundredth part of all the King's subjects throughout the World, it follows that all his Majesties' Subjects between 6 and 16 years old might earn 5 millions per ann. more than

^{1 &}quot;Political Arithmetick," p. 105.

they spend." Unfortunately, the reverse of the medal, the economic and social evils that follow from childlabour were not recognised till well on in the eighteenth century. Whether children were really worked harder in the early factories than under the domestic system it is not easy to say. Robert Owen and the philanthropists of his time certainly thought that the working hours had been much increased; but the elder Cooke Taylor, in his "Notes of a Tour in the Manufacturing Districts," describes conversations with more than one aged weaver, who considered that the state of children had often been worse under the old system than since the introduction of machinery. "The creatures were set to work as soon as they could crawl, and their parents were the hardest of task masters." In the framework knitting trade working hours were said to be from 5 or 6 a.m. till 10 at night, and large numbers of women and children were thus employed.² Adam Smith remarks: "A shepherd has much leisure, a husbandman some, a manufacturer none at all," the term manufacturer meaning at that time a hand-spinner or weaver, who was generally in the habit of employing his children the same hours that he worked himself. But no materials exist for anything like a statistical or accurate study of childlabour in the eighteenth century; we have to be content

¹ The author of an "Essay on Trade," 1770, advocated sending all children brought up at the public expense at four years old to the county workhouses, where they should "be taught to read two hours a day, and be kept fully employed the rest of their time, in any of the manufactures of the house which best suits their age, strength and capacity"! "being constantly employed at least twelve hours in a day . . . we hope the rising generation will be so habituated to constant employment, that it would at length prove agreeable and entertaining to them . . . from children thus trained up to constant labour we may venture to hope the lowering of its price." See also the "Report of the Board of Trade to the Lords Justices in the year 1697, respecting the relief and employment of the Poor, drawn up by Mr. John Locke."

² Com. Journ 1778, XXXVI. p. 740. ³ "Wealth of Nations," Book V., Chap. I., Part I.

with literary and more or less biassed information.1 It is, however, evident that before the industrial revolution very young children were largely employed both in their own homes and as apprentices under the poor law, and it appears that long before Peel's time there were misgivings about the apprenticeship system. The writer of 1732, already quoted, advocated training and employing children in various ways, within the workhouse, until the girls were twelve and the boys thirteen, and shortening the usual term of apprenticeship; by this means the children would be enabled to earn their living almost as soon as they entered service, and this, he goes on to say, will likewise "cure a very bad Practice in Parish officers, who, to save Expense, are apt to ruin children by putting them out as early as they can, to any sorry masters that will take them, without any concern for their Education or Welfare, on account of the little money that is given with them." Felkin² says that parishes would sometimes offer £5 with each apprentice taken off their hands. William Bailey8 mentions the ill-usage and neglect of parish apprentices by their masters. "Few of these poor children now serve out their time, and many of them are driven by neglect or cruelty into such Immoralities as too frequently render them the Objects of publick justice." The subject is bound up with that of poor-law children generally, into which we cannot of course go in detail. The condition of pauper children on the whole appears to have been bad, though there no doubt were exceptions, such as the Shrewsbury House of Industry, where the management was probably genuinely humane and careful. The celebrated philanthropist, Jonas Hanway, constituted

¹ See Macaulay's "History," Chap. III., and Marx's "Capital," English translation, p. 258, for opposing views on the question. It is doubtful whether either of these great writers has proved his case, though each has stated it with force and brilliancy.

² "History of Machine-made Hosiery and Lace," p. 75. ³ "Treatise on the Employment of the Poor in Workhouses," 1758.

himself the champion of workhouse children much as Lord Shaftesbury, later on, took up the cause of the factory children, and his works are not much pleasanter reading than the reports on children's employment in the nineteenth century. The great object of the parishes seems to have been to get rid of the children, and those who survived the process of being put out to nurse (not a large proportion, apparently) were apprenticed anyhow or anywhere. In 1767 a committee of the House of Commons collected some truly appalling figures as to mortality among the parish infant poor; and an Act was passed requiring 2s. 6d. to be paid weekly for the care of each child, and 10s. to be given to any nurse who was so public-spirited as to keep a parish baby alive during one year.

All this, however, concerned pauper children as such, not factory children. It is not until the latter part of the eighteenth century that we find public attention being drawn to the state of working children, and then only by that most effectual of reminders, an infectious fever. This broke out in the cotton works at Radcliffe in the year 1784.² A representation was made by some influential personages of the neighbourhood to the justices of the peace for the county of Lancaster, who in their turn requested some of the Manchester medical men to investigate the matter. Dr. Percival, who later on helped

¹ See, e.g., "The Importance of the Rising Generation," and other works, by Jonas Hanway (1767).

² There is an account of this epidemic in the Manchester Library, which we have not seen, and another in Clerke's "Thoughts on Preserving the Health of the Poor," 1790.

³ Thomas Percival, M.D. (1740—1804), practised as a physician at Warrington and Manchester, and was instrumental in founding the Manchester Literary and Philosophical Society and the Manchester Board of Health. His published works included "A Father's Instructions," a book for children which achieved great popularity, published in three parts, between 1775 and 1800; "Medical Ethics," 1803; and "Proposals for establishing more accurate and comprehensive Bills of Mortality in Manchester." He was keenly interested in social reform, and was the friend of many of the most distinguished men and women of the time.

HISTORY OF FACTORY LEGISLATION.

Peel with his advice and recommendations, was already a pioneer of progress in sanitation and public health in Manchester. He and his friends went into the matter without delay, themselves inspected the infected place, and drew up a series of recommendations, of which several were merely the ordinary precautions against contagion, or what were then considered to be such. The interesting part of the document is that in which these humane and keen-sighted men went straight to the root of the matter and designated the overwork of children as one of the principal evils of the factory system. How the fever had originated, they had been unable to ascertain. though this point remains doubtful, we are decided in our opinion that the disorder has been supported, diffused and aggravated, by the ready communication of contagion to numbers crowded together; by the accession to its virulence from putrid effluvia, and by the injury done to young persons through confinement and too long-continued labour: to which several evils the cotton mills have given occasion." The wording of the following recommendation "We earnestly recommend a longer recess is remarkable. from labour at noon and a more early dismission from it in the evening, to all those who work in the cotton mills; but we deem this indulgence essential to the present health and future capacity for labour, for those who are under the age of fourteen; for the active recreations of childhood and youth are necessary to the growth, the vigour and the right conformation of the human body. And we cannot excuse ourselves, on the present occasion, from suggesting to you, who are the guardians of the public weal, this further very important consideration, that the rising generation should not be debarred from all opportunities of instruction at the only season of life in which they can be properly improved." The magistrates of the county were so much impressed by the recommendations of the physicians that they directed their clerk to return them public thanks and to have the letter printed

and distributed; they also passed a resolution (which was reprinted in the Report on Parish Apprentices about thirty years later) that in future they would refuse to allow "indentures of Parish Apprentices whereby they shall be bound to owners of cotton mills and other works in which children are obliged to work in the night or more than ten hours in the day." This resolution of the Manchester magistrates in 1784 appears to be the earliest attempt of any public body to limit the hours of children's labour; it was, however, in form merely a novel kind of administrative regulation under the poor law and had no bearing on the question of the restriction of child-labour generally. Whether this action of the Manchester magistrates was an isolated effort, or whether corresponding attempts were made by other magistrates in the same direction, only a detailed examination of their records could tell us. In 1703 an Act was passed authorising justices of the peace to inflict a fine of 40s. on masters or mistresses convicted of ill-using an apprentice; it would be interesting to know whether this was ever put in force. It certainly appears that the evil continued to grow and increase; other epidemics occurred, and in 1795 Dr. Percival and his associates again met, and formed themselves into the "Manchester Board of Health." This time they advised legislation to regulate the hours and conditions of work in factories. The resolutions in which this advice was embodied have been reprinted in the Report of Peel's Committee in 18161 and in nearly every subsequent work on the subject, but they are so important that we must quote them here in full.

Resolutions for the consideration of the Manchester Board of Health, by Dr. Percival, January 25th, 1796:—

"It has already been stated that the objects of the present institution are to prevent the generation of diseases; to obviate the spreading of them by contagion, and to shorten the duration of those which exist, by

¹ H. C., 1816, III., p. 377.

affording the necessary aids and comforts to the sick. In the prosecution of this interesting undertaking, the Board have had their attention particularly directed to the large cotton factories established in the town and neighbourhood of Manchester; and they feel it a duty incumbent on them to lay before the public the result of their inquiries:

"I. It appears that the children and others who work in the large cotton factories, are peculiarly disposed to be affected by the contagion of fever, and that when such infection is received, it is rapidly propagated, not only amongst those who are crowded together in the same apartments, but in the families and neighbourhoods to

which they belong.

"2. The large factories are generally injurious to the constitution of those employed in them, even where no particular diseases prevail, from the close confinement which is enjoined, from the debilitating effects of hot or impure air, and from the want of the active exercises which nature points out as essential in childhood and youth to invigorate the system, and to fit our species for the employments and for the duties of manhood.

"3. The untimely labour of the night, and the protracted labour of the day, with respect to children, not only tends to diminish future expectations as to the general sum of life and industry, by impairing the strength and destroying the vital stamina of the rising generation, but it too often gives encouragement to idleness, extravagance and profligacy in the parents, who, contrary to the order of nature, subsist by the oppression of their offspring.

"4. It appears that the children employed in factories are generally debarred from all opportunities of education,

and from moral or religious instruction.

"5. From the excellent regulations which subsisting several cotton factories, it appears that many of these evils may be in a considerable degree obviated; we are

therefore warranted by experience, and are assured we shall have the support of the liberal proprietors of these factories in proposing an application for parliamentary aid (if other methods appear not likely to effect the purpose) to establish a general system of laws for the wise, humane and equal government of all such works."

There had not yet occurred any great movement of popular sympathy on behalf of the children, but thoughtful persons here and there were studying the matter. This was the time of the eighteenth century awakening, of which Sir Leslie Stephen gives so vivid an account in his volume on Bentham. Societies were being formed in various provincial towns for scientific discussion and investigation, there was a growing interest not only in natural science but in social science, humanitarianism. economics, health, and so on. The state of the factory children attracted the attention of philanthropists. Eden² notes the overcrowding and unhealthy conditions under which children were employed in the Liverpool and Manchester workhouses, sometimes seventy or eighty in a room, and that in the latter town a malignant fever was raging at the time of writing. The educational movement also gave an impulse in the direction of factory reform. William Sabatier³ notes that children employed in manufactures were usually only temporarily required and afterwards sent back to seek another mode of living. "As this discharge is about the age of fourteen, provided in the interim they were taught to read and write, which with their cloaths and food is the least which can be required of their employers, every encouragement should be given to this new method of promoting our manufactures.

"It is one of those plans which, if well regulated, would form the chief happiness of the poor; but if neglected

¹ "English Utilitarians," Vol. I.

² "State of the Poor," 1797.

^{3 &}quot;Treatise on Poverty," 1797.

and left solely to the discretion of interested individuals, avarice, that bane of human happiness will look with callous indifference to every present and future misery in others." (In a footnote) "Nothing less than an Act of Parliament can put this most essential affair universally upon a proper footing, many particulars are necessary to be provided for—

"1st. The wholesomeness of the buildings in which they

work and sleep.

"2nd. Their cloathing, food and cleanliness.

"3rd. Hours of relaxation and sleep.

"4th. Medical assistance.

"5th. Teaching reading, writing and arithmetic.

"Unless these things are attended to, such manufactures will prove the destruction of the people. The want of the four first will ruin their health and impede their growth; the deficiency of the last will fix a considerable bar to their future advancement." T. Gisborne, the author of an "Enquiry into the Duties of Man," published in 1794, was well acquainted with the evils of employment in cotton mills, overcrowding, infectious fevers, night work, &c., and remarked "As interested minds will always feel strong temptations to this practice," i.e., employing children at night, "the case seems to call loudly for the interference of the Legislature." He also points out (p. 202) that "in the case of particular trades and manufactures which under common management prove injurious to the health and morals of the persons employed in them, justices of the peace may sometimes do great service to the community by strongly recommending the adoption of proper rules and precautions, even when the law does not give them the power of enforcing it."

It is worth noticing, in contrast to the excited speeches and overcharged style which characterised the Ten Hours' agitation later on, that this early factory reform movement was eminently a "common-sense" one, and that the tone of the reformers was sober almost to naïveté.

Thus Dr. Ferriar, who was associated with Dr. Percival, writes on the practice of working children all night, that "the continuance of such a practice cannot be consistent with health," and he is "glad to find it does not prevail universally!" Instead of an emotional appeal to humanity, he points out the risk incurred by the better classes from the fevers generated by the dirt and misery of the factory population, and says with perfect truth and perhaps a touch of cynicism, that the "safety of the rich is intimately connected with the welfare of the poor."

It may also be noted here that both Ferriar and Percival advocated stringent inspection and control both of factories and dwelling-houses, as a necessary means for checking the ruinous waste of life and energy, through disease, that they saw going on.² It does not appear that they took this line from any conscious reaction against liberalism and laissez faire towards paternal government; rather it would seem that the conclusion forced itself upon them from the study of facts and from their knowledge of the conditions of life then prevailing among industrial workers.

The evils and horrors of the industrial revolution are often vaguely ascribed to the "transition stage" brought about by the development of machinery and the consequent "upheaval." But the more we look into the matter, the more convinced we become that the factory system and machinery merely took what they found, and that the lines on which the industrial revolution actually worked itself out cannot be explained by the progress of material civilisation alone; rather, the disregard of childlife, the greed of child-labour, and the mal-administration of the poor law had, during the eighteenth century, and probably much further back still, been preparing the human material that was to be so mercilessly exploited.

^{1 &}quot;Ferriar's Medical Histories and Reflections," Vol. I., pp. 261, 289.

² See "Ferriar's Medical Histories and Reflections;" also "Percival's Works," Vol. I., p. 257, note (g).

CHAPTER II.

THE EARLY FACTORY ACTS, 1802-1819.

Cruelty to Apprentices—The Act of 1802—Robert Owen—The Effect of Shorter Hours—The Ten Hours' Bill—Its Rejection—The Act of 1819—Views and Opinions.

WE cannot tell whether the resolutions of the Manchester Board of Health had much result in increasing the vigilance of the justices over the children apprenticed in their jurisdiction. It is mentioned, however, in the Report of Peel's Committee¹ that there began to be an aversion to apprentice children to cotton mills, and the Birmingham justices in particular determined not to do so.² Nor were cotton mills the only offenders, probably not even the chief ones. In 1801, a man named Jouvaux was tried for ill-treating and overworking his apprentices and was sentenced to twelve months hard labour by Mr. Justice Grose. From the report of this trial, it appeared that though the defendant was in destitute circumstances and quite unable to carry on a business properly, the criminal carelessness of the poor law overseers had enabled him to secure the premiums and services of no less than sixteen apprentices, whom he employed in tambour work. It was stated that these sixteen unhappy children had but two beds amongst them, and were kept at work for such hours, and, owing to the nature of the work, in such attitudes, that they came near being deformed and disabled for life. The master was found guilty of "assaulting and cruelly beating Susannah Archer, a child of

¹ H. C., 1816, III.

² Sir Samuel Romilly says in his Diary (Vol. II., p. 374) that he has known cases where the apprentices were murdered by their masters in order to get fresh premiums with new apprentices.

³ Lancashire Gazetteer, July 4th, 1801.

fifteen years, his apprentice; of employing her to work. in his business . . . beyond her strength, at unreasonable hours and times; of neglecting to provide for her proper clothing and necessaries, whereby she was stated to be emaciated and her health impaired." The overseers of the parish and the magistrates who signed the indentures of apprenticeship were severely censured by the judge for neglecting "to inquire and learn how these children were employed, how they were clothed and fed, and whether the employment were suited to their years and conditions." And the judge went on: "Should the manufacturers insist, that without these children they could not advantageously follow their trade, and the overseers say that without such opportunity they could not get rid of these children, he should say to the one, that trade must not for the thirst of lucre be followed, but at once, for the sake of society, be abandoned; and to the other, it is a crime to put out these children, who have no friend to see justice done, to incur deformity and promote consumption or other disease; this obviously leads to their destruction—not to their support." There are several noteworthy points in this interesting trial. The industry was one that had not probably been much if at all influenced by new machinery. Yet we find the apprentice trouble present in its acutest form. The supply of cheap labour offered by the apprenticeship of pauper children acted, as we see by this case, as a temptation to poor and ignorant persons to set up some business which they were incompetent to carry on and could not have started if they had had to pay fair wages and give their workers reasonable conditions. The judge's opinion that an industry carried on in the manner described could be of no benefit to society, but rather the reverse, may be noted as distinctly "advanced." The prevailing tendency was to regard industries as wholly productive and to omit any

¹ See also Hansard, December 9th, 1819, col. 908.

reference to their effect on the health and strength of the community.

It was no doubt in consequence of these and other revelations that Sir Robert Peel, in 1802, brought in a Bill known as the "Health and Morals of Apprentices Act, 1802," which passed with little or no opposition. Its chief provisions may be thus summarised: The working hours of apprentices were limited to twelve a day. Night work (by apprentices) was to be gradually discontinued, and to cease entirely by June, 1804. Apprentices were to be instructed in reading, writing and arithmetic, and a suit of clothing was to be given yearly to each apprentice. Factories were to be whitewashed twice a year, and at all times properly ventilated; separate sleeping apartments were to be provided for apprentices of different sexes, and not more than two were to share a bed. Apprentices were to attend church at least once a month. To secure the proper administration of the Act, the justices were to appoint two inspectors from among themselves, of whom one should be a clergyman, to visit the factories. All mills and factories were to be registered annually with the clerk of the peace. The justices had power to inflict fines of from f_2 to f_5 for neglect to observe the above regulations.

Peel said later on that he had no difficulty in getting this Bill passed, the House being quite convinced of its necessity, and it does not appear that the Act was received in at all a controversial spirit. It was in reality not a Factory Act properly speaking, but merely an extension of the Elizabethan Poor Law relating to parish apprentices. The Government, having taken upon itself the responsibility of bringing up and placing out these children, found itself compelled, when need was shown, to attempt to regulate their conditions of work. Peel rather naively gave as a reason for bringing in the Bill that he was convinced of the existence of gross mismanagement in his own factories, and having no time to set them in order

himself, got an Act of Parliament passed to do it for him. The question was just raised whether the Act should be made applicable to all factories, or only to those where apprentices were employed. In the preamble the Act was made applicable not only to apprentices, but to all cotton and woollen factories in which "twenty or more persons" were employed, but the clause relating to restriction of hours, as well as, of course, those for education, &c., were expressly applied to apprentices only. The whitewashing and ventilation clauses applied, therefore, to all factories. It is certain that there were some who would have made the Act more comprehensive, but it seems to have been hampered, so to speak, by its education clause. In the House of Commons, 1 Mr. Newton suggested extending the provisions of the Bill to "all manufactories and the persons employed in them," but this was opposed on the ground that it would be absurd to extend a Bill "which related merely to the education of apprentices," "to persons employed in free labour, and who were not subject to the control of their employers perhaps for more than a week." This objection amounts to saying that the operation of an Act cannot be extended beyond a certain point because it is to be limited within that point, and it shows that the Act was regarded exclusively as a bit of poor law regulation. The Act in itself was utterly ineffective, both by reason of what it left undone and of what it tried to do. The restriction of hours, for instance, was quite inadequate. Nevertheless, there were good points in it. It was something to get any limitation of hours adopted as a principle by the Legislature, and it is remarkable that, as the Act made no exceptions for age or sex, the limitation applied equally to those apprentices who were grown-up young men and women, and imposed an uniform rule for all. The reliance for inspection on the justices of the peace has generally been assumed to be the chief cause of the failure of

¹ Hansard, May 8th, 1802.

the Act, as the justices were either lax or entirely negligent in its administration. Yet it appears from certain reports¹ that some of them, at least, did their duty, visited the factories, and endeavoured, according to their lights, to control bad conditions where such existed. They soon found, however, that the growing practice was to employ so-called "free" children in preference to apprentices, and in such cases they had no authority. They were also, it must be owned, amateurish in their methods, e.g. one of them mentions in his report that he found sixteen apprentices sharing a bedroom which in his opinion should only have accommodated eight; but he does not state or, indeed, appear to have taken, any measurement of the apartment. Any action of this sort was optional on the part of the justices; they could do as much or as little as they liked, and there is evidence that in some districts the very existence of the Act was unknown. But however unsatisfactory they might be in the difficult and delicate task of inspection, it would be a great mistake to overlook the excellent work done by justices in educating public opinion, at a time when such education was sorely needed. In 1803 the West Riding justices, in Quarter Sessions at Pontefract, passed some excellent resolutions, including one that children should not be allowed to be apprenticed to mills where they would be liable to work at night or more than ten hours by day; this was a considerable advance on the Act.

It soon became evident, however, that the question of parish apprentices had ceased to be important. It was not that they ceased to be employed, but they were not the predominant factor in the problem that they had been, or had seemed to be. As Peel explained in 1815, the adoption of steam-power made great changes. first steam-engine on Watt's pattern had been introduced at Manchester in 1791, but it did not come into general

Lords' Sessional Papers, 1819, XIII.
 See Report of Peel's Committee, p. 479.

use till the early years of the nineteenth century. With the restoration of peace in Europe an immense development of the industry took place. The English manufacturers had been improving their processes, they were now able to send their goods to foreign ports, and proximity to coal, labour, and the world-markets came to be a more important consideration than water power, though this was still used, sometimes as an alternative to steam, sometimes independently. Pauper children had been eagerly demanded by manufacturers whose mills were situate in lonely valleys, where, if water power were cheap, yet labour was scarce; but in the populous centres child-workers could easily be had without the trouble and responsibility of taking apprentices who must be housed, fed and clothed at the employer's expense.

The whole subject now assumes a somewhat different aspect. The factories for the most part were much larger affairs, and much more before the eye of the public. The first factory-owners had been men of no education operatives who had risen-narrow minded, keenly conscious of the difficulty of trading on small capital, and quick to seize any advantage offered by specially cheap or subsidised labour. Twenty years later the class was better educated, if not by schools, at least by their wider life; not likely, perhaps, to fall into the revolting personal cruelties to be read of in Robert Blincoe's memoirs as occurring in the smaller old-fashioned factories, but still hard, grasping and covetous, and entirely convinced that national prosperity and their profits must rise and fall together. Also from this time forward the regulation of factories by the State becomes a highly controversial question. The employers might be known in some quarters as "the Ogres," but, on the other hand, they had become articulate, they could state their case and express their views in a more or less literary form, or at

¹ See Sir James Mackintosh's Diary and Memoirs, under date April 27th, 1818.

all events get some one else to do it for them. Side by side with this new industry, the cotton-spinning on a large scale, there still went on the old hand-loom weaving in cottages and cellars: and for this, according to Kinder Wood's evidence, given before Peel's Committee,2 the children were still sent down from London and apprenticed to the weavers. The Apprentices Act, applying only to mills and factories, had no control here; and the hours worked might be anything the master liked, from none at all on Monday perhaps to fifteen or sixteen on Friday and Saturday.³ Kinder Wood said that such manufacturers employed their own children also, and that when the father was drunk, the mother kept the children to their weaving: "The children support the father, contrary to the common use of nature." This kind of evidence occurs again and again before Peel's Committee. Samuel Stocks said he knew of no factories so damp or unventilated as the weavers' cellars (p. 493). Houldsworth, another witness, speaks of the improvement in the spinners' condition since 1795 and the introduction of steam. Before that date the spinners, working their machinery by hand, could indulge in irregular habits, drink the first days of the week, and work excessive hours the rest, and compel the "piecer" or young attendant to do the same. In these facts one is compelled to recognise that the factory owners, from their own point of view, had a distinct grievance in being selected by the Government as a subject for experimental regulation. Conditions in cotton factories, considered by themselves, were not good, but relatively to conditions in other industries they probably had some advantages. The factories stood more in the

¹ See, e.g., "An Enquiry into the Principle and Tendency of the Bill for imposing certain restrictions on Cotton Factories." London, 1818.

² See Report, p. 442.

^{*} The evidence about hand industries may appear to be somewhat biassed; but it is independently confirmed by the report of the tambour worker's trial quoted above.

light of day, and the evils connected with them attracted more attention than the older handicrafts, where evils no less serious existed in a deep-seated and elusive form, and have proved more difficult to eradicate.

Socially and industrially the first two or three decades of the nineteenth century form a gloomy period, in which, as Spencer Walpole¹ observes, it took twenty-five years of legislation to restrict a child of nine to a sixty-nine hours week, and that only in cotton mills. Almost the only episode pleasant to dwell upon or giving much hope of future progress, is the work of Robert Owen. Instead of requiring an Act of Parliament to regulate his own factory, like Sir Robert Peel, Owen offered the arrangements and rules of his mill as a precedent for universal application. He tried various experiments in reducing child-labour and hours of work, the results of which he gave in his evidence before Peel's Committee. He stated that he employed no children under ten, and the total hours worked were twelve, including one-and-a-quarter off for meals. He had previously worked fourteen, but made the reduction gradually. He desired to make a further reduction of hours, and did not think that manufacturers would suffer by so doing either in their home or foreign trade. He believed that such a limitation of hours would result in a "considerable improvement in the health of the operatives, both young and old, a very considerable improvement in the instruction of the rising generation, and a very considerable diminution in the poor rates of the country." A great improvement "in the general health and spirits" of the people employed by him had resulted from the changes already introduced; he did not think it "necessary for children to be employed under ten years of age in any regular work; "he thought instruction and education were enough. When he was asked, "Would there not be a danger of their acquiring vicious habits for want of regular occupation?" he replied, "My own

¹ "History of England," Vol. III., p. 203.

experience leads me to say that I have found quite the reverse, that their habits have been good in proportion to the extent of their instruction," and he thought children from ten to twelve might be employed as half-timers only.

Nor did he believe that the parents would suffer from not being allowed to employ children so many hours, as in his experience, when children were not employed at an early age, the families were generally in a more comfortable and respectable situation in life than the families whose children were so employed. As to the result to the masters of shortening hours, his experiment had taught him that it was "much less unfavourable than could be supposed." "I find by actual practice . . . that the difference to the proprietors, taking every circumstance in the most unfavourable way in which they can be taken, will not be more than $\frac{1}{2}d$, per yard upon the goods manufactured from the yarn spun at that manufactory; and I have every reason to believe, from the progressive increase in the quantity which has taken place regularly every month since this change took place, that before the end of the year the yarn will be manufactured as cheap, working 103 hours per day, as ever we manufactured it working II3 hours per day. The present loss is not more than $\frac{1}{4}d$. in 1s. 8d.," and in his opinion the loss would soon be made good by the increased strength, activity, and improved spirits of the individual workers, as a consequence of being employed a shorter time. Being pressed by a member of the committee who was incredulous that these conditions could. as alleged, have any influence on the output of machinery, Robert Owen explained further, "A larger quantity may be produced by a greater attention of the hands while the machinery is at work, in preventing breakage, and by not losing any time in commencing in the morning, at meals, or when stopping at night; from the greater desire of the individuals to perform their duty conscientiously; from the great wish to make up for any supposed or probable loss that the proprietors might sustain in consequence of giving this amelioration to their work-people; such conduct to work-people is the most likely to make them conscientious, and to obtain more from them than when they are forced to do their duty." It is unfortunate that Nassau Senior, when writing his "Letters on the Factory Acts" twenty years later, did not make himself acquainted with the practical experience related in Owen's evidence.

Having accumulated this experience in what might be called the humane or social economy of manufactures. Owen called a meeting at Glasgow of the local textile manufacturers for two purposes. One purpose was to petition that the cotton duties, which were burdensome to the trade, should be taken off; this was received with acclamation. The other was to bring before the Government the state of the people employed in textiles. with a view to shortening their hours of labour, and generally improving their conditions. If Owen supposed that by artfully combining the two proposals he could gild the pill and cause it to be swallowed by his brother manufacturers, he was doomed to disappointment; they entirely rejected his second resolution. Seeing that he could get no support from them, he went to London, and approached some members of the Government on the subject. He writes thus in his autobiography¹: "The Government was favourable to my views for the relief of children and others employed in the growing manufactures of the kingdom, if I could induce the members of both Houses to pass a Bill for the purpose." He waited on some leading members, and was generally well received. Peel gave some sympathy and encouragement, but was very dilatory in action, and an opposition party was given time to grow up. "The first plea of the objectors to my Bill was that masters ought not to be interfered with by the Legislature in any way in the

management of their business. After long useless discussion, kept up to prolong time, this was at length over-ruled. The next attempt was to prove that it was not injurious to employ these young children fourteen or fifteen hours a day in over-heated close rooms, filled often with the fine flying fibre of the material used, particularly in cotton and flax spinning mills. Sir R. Peel most unwisely consented to a committee being appointed to investigate this question, and this committee was continued for two sessions of Parliament before these wise and honest men, legislating for the nation, could decide that such practices were detrimental to the health of these infants."

The Act eventually passed in 18191 was very much watered down from Owen's draft. His Bill would have prohibited children working under ten, and would have safeguarded this by requiring evidence of age from the baptismal register or otherwise. The Act merely fixed the age limit at nine years. Owen's Bill would have limited hours of work for all under eighteen to ten and a half a day, exclusive of meal-times; the Act forbade any person under sixteen to be employed more than twelve hours a day, exclusive of meal-times. Owen's Bill provided for the appointment of paid and qualified inspectors; the Act left the matter in the hands of the justices as before, although the system had been proved impracticable by sixteen years' experience. The Act also took account of cotton mills only, whereas Owen's Bill included all cotton, woollen, flax and other mills in which twenty or more persons shall be employed. The one really important provision of the Act remains the prohibition of child labour under nine. Owen wished to have raised the minimum to twelve years, but conceded that it should be ten, and it was further lowered to nine. This, niggardly as it was, was the affirmation of a principle which was perhaps more needed at that time than any other. Many particulars on the subject can be gleaned from the Report

¹ 59 Geo. III. c. 66.

of Peel's Committee. Owen said children were commonly employed at five or six, and instances were given him of some working at three and four years! George Gould said the spinning men and women were allowed to employ children of their own selecting, and if they could get a child to do their business for a shilling or one and six. "they would take that child before they would give three, four, five, six, or seven shillings to an older one." Thomas Wilkinson, a cotton spinner, who gave evidence before the Lords' Committee in 1819, and had been an overlooker, thought that about one half the number employed were under sixteen in the factories that he knew, and about one in five or six was under nine. Sir Robert Peel himself said before the Committee of 1815 that children of seven often worked thirteen or fourteen hours a day. Kinder Wood, a surgeon, being asked at what age children might safely be admitted to factories to work twelve hours a day, said he thought at ten years. It is rather melancholy to notice how low was the standard even of those witnesses who spoke in favour of restricting child labour. Thus Dr. Baillie thought thirteen hours' employment daily too much for any time of life, but was willing that children should be employed at seven years, and at ten should work ten hours. Sir Gilbert Blane thought employment of children under ten, if limited to five or six hours a day, might be "not pernicious but salutary," and on being asked if any restriction could make it proper to employ children under six, cautiously replied that he was so little acquainted with the nature of occupations in manufactures that he could not answer the question. Again and again we find the fixed idea that it was cruel to prevent or restrict children's labour, because they "must starve" without it. The promoters of Factory Bills would be told that they were legislating on the choice between too much work and too little to eat. Mr. Price, however, a magistrate examined before Peel's Committee, pointed out that the system had other bearings, less obvious but more real than this neat antithesis. "If parents were thrown more upon themselves and did not draw a profit from children in their very early years, they might not waste so much of their own time, they would work harder, and probably obtain better wages for better work." Asked if it were not advantageous to the lower orders to have their children employed, he replied cautiously, "It certainly appears to be so, it appears that more money is got: but if the practice were done away as regards the youngest children, I think it would not be so much felt as is supposed." It is rare at this period to find any one distinctly holding the idea that employing children so largely might tend to depress wages. George Gould, however, probably realised it, for he noted the lowness of wages earned by adult "manufacturers," as he calls them, in connection with his evidence as to the very voung children employed. The prohibition of children working under nine in the Act of 1819, was therefore valuable as setting up a standard, though as a regulation it was highly inadequate. It did not even go so far as the practice of the best manufacturers, for not Owen alone, but also Arkwright, deposed that he took no children under ten.

Some of the medical evidence given before the Lords' Committee suggests that at least one or two of the doctors summoned were literally suborned by the masters, so extraordinary were their shifts and evasions to escape answering the questions put to them.¹ That it should have been thought necessary to call expert medical evidence at all, is in itself an indication of the reluctance of the manufacturing interest to agree to even the most elementary measure of reform. Having once established beyond a doubt that fourteen or fifteen hours a day were constantly worked by quite young children, it argues a certain degree of naïveté, whether real or assumed, to call a doctor to say whether it were bad or good for their health.

¹ See Lords' Sessional Papers, 1818, IX., p. 150,

It is not easy to summarise the contents of a report like that of Peel's Committee, so much of the evidence being obviously biassed, and some of it being given by people who, although impartial and humane, were by their own confession not much acquainted with the industry. But there are two points which may be noticed. One of these is the evolution of the factory. Besides the two contrasted types of industry, the weavers working in their miserable homes, and the new factory, such as that of Arkwright, with its relatively moderate hours and good sanitary conditions, we find also the makeshift factory¹, composed of two or more cottages joined together, with a steam engine attached, the premises low, overcrowded with machinery, and unprovided with proper ventilation for carrying off cotton-flue and dust. These makeshift factories were much more unhealthy and unsatisfactory than the factories proper. The other point to be noticed is the view that appears to have been held about industrial regulation. We discover at this period scarcely any signs of the argument used by the modern enlightened individualist Liberal, that it is unfair to deprive the worker of the right to work as long as he likes, to penalise the industrious for the sake of the lazy, and so on. Leslie Stephen remarks,2 the growing class of manufacturers were inclined to Liberal principles not so much from adhesion to any general doctrine, as because restrictions interfered with their own freedom. The arguments used to weaken the Act of 1819 are those that belong to the mercantilist order of ideas, and are based on the twofold assumption that (a) the protection and preservation of industry on its commercial side should be the object of the State, and (b) that the proposed regulation would injure trade and drive it out of the country, eventually reducing not only the capitalists, but also the workers to beggary. This appears to have been the most general line of attack. It is a view still widely held, though perhaps no longer

¹ Page 435. ² "English Utilitarians," Vol. I., p. 65.

with regard to restrictions on child labour. It was evidently this opinion Mr. Justice Grose was opposing1 when he boldly declared that the industry had better go if it involved the slow destruction of the workers. We may note also the singular assumption that—not idleness but—leisure is the root of all evil, and that the people were entirely incapable of employing sensibly even an hour for themselves. This idea recurs over and over again, with reference not only to adults but even to children, who, it was urged, would take to bad courses if allowed any interval between work and sleep. Thus, the curious pamphlet already cited says, "All experience proves that in the lower orders the deterioration of morals increases with the quantity of unemployed time of which they have the command. Thus the Bill actually encourages vice—it establishes idleness by Act of Parliament; it creates and encourages those practices which it pretends to discourage." This line of argument evidently springs from a conception of the manual working or so-called lower classes, as being an order apart, almost an inferior race, without any claim on the humane or liberal side of life, who should be kept carefully to their one proper sphere, namely, hard manual work. A third argument we may distinguish in the year 1819, of a somewhat different and more respectable nature. It might be called the optimistic argument, and was partly based on Adam Smith's doctrine and destined to develop into what has been called "Manchesterism." Its contention was that things were not so bad as represented, that their inherent tendency was to right themselves if let alone, and that conditions were better on the whole in cotton factories than in other industries. In this last statement lay the strength of the position, for there seems good reason to think that in the larger and more fully developed steam factories things were already improving, that a man like Arkwright's son was giving better conditions than the Act

¹ See above, p. 15. ² "An Enquiry," &c., 1818.

required, and infinitely better than those prevailing in the hand industries. But this was not in reality any argument against regulation by law, for the evidence shows that there were other masters, less secure in position than Arkwright, who would gladly have worked shorter hours, and were prevented from doing so by the competition of their neighbours. It can hardly be necessary nowadays to say that to take an absolutely optimistic view of the cotton industry at that time was the outcome either of blind prejudice or of complete ignorance; the whole facts were against such a view.

On the other side we find the view that the so-called industrial revolution came as a sudden disaster on the workers, and brought with it all these terrible conditions of over-work and long hours as something new, as a thunder-bolt falling on an eighteenth century of peaceful industry and domestic happiness. This view seems to have been largely held by those, who, like Owen, initiated the work of reform, and in so far it is entitled to all respect. It may, however, be doubted whether it bears comparison with facts much better than do the others. The true line of reform was to look to the future, not to the past; to utilise the possibilities of increased production and centralised control so as to prevent the exploitation of the workers; not to hark back to industrial conditions which were certainly outgrown, and probably had never been so fair as they were painted.1

¹ It is interesting to note that Samuel Taylor Coleridge was one of those who took an interest in the factory children at this period. In Crabb Robinson's "Diary," Vol. II., pp. 93—95, we find the poet writing to the lawyer to know "if there is not some law prohibiting, or limiting, or regulating the employment either of children or adults or both, in the white lead manufactory? . . . Can you furnish us with any other instances in which the Legislature has directly or by immediate consequence, interfered with what is ironically called 'Free Labour'? (i.e., Dared to prohibit soul murder and infanticide on the part of the rich, and self-slaughter on that of the poor!)" The letter also alludes to circulars drawn up by S.T.C. in favour of Sir Robert Peel's Bill. It would be interesting to know if any of these circulars are in existence

CHAPTER III.

THE APPOINTMENT OF GOVERNMENT INSPECTORS.

Hours of Labour—The Acts of 1825 and 1831—The Difficulty of Administration—Inspection recommended by the Commission of 1833—The Act of 1833.

THE Act of 1819 was quickly followed by a short amending Act, 60 Geo. III., c. 5, permitting time lost by water failure or other accident to be made up by working overtime or in the night. It also relaxed the meal-time rule, permitting the dinner hour to be any time between eleven and four, instead of between eleven and two, and was, on the whole, of a retrograde tendency.

In 1825 an amending Bill was brought in by Sir John Cam Hobhouse, which became law the same year. It may perhaps have been owing to the discussion aroused by this Bill that an anonymous investigator published a pamphlet of six or seven pages, called "Hours of Labour, Meal-times, &c., in Manchester and its Neighbourhood," London, 1825. Apart from the information it contains, this little compilation is interesting as being probably one of the earliest attempts to exhibit material of this kind in a systematic manner. It states that in Manchester the customary working day extended over fourteen hours. The greater number of mills allowed half an hour for breakfast, and either fifty minutes or an hour for dinner. "There are others, however, which allow no time for breakfast. In this place also the men seem for the most part to be dismissed on Saturdays about 4 o'clock p.m. Common hours here are from 6 a.m. until 8 p.m." Some mills worked from 5.30 a.m. to 7.30 or 8 p.m., and a few till 8.30 p.m. "Although meal-times are nominally allowed (and the grown-up spinners are released), the

children or piecers are detained three or four days in each week, during those meal-times, to clean the machinery; consequently they get no exercise nor change of air, and what is worse, are driven to the necessity of snatching by mouthfuls their food during the act of cleaning, whilst dust and cotton-flue are flying and falling thick around them. This remark applies generally throughout these districts, namely, that the children are thus detained three or four times in each week, during the breakfast and dinner hour, to clean the machinery." The writer gives similar details about Stockport, Ashton, and Burnley; at Stockport the hours seem to have been somewhat longer than at Manchester. At Oldham "common hours at this time (there has been an inspection here) are thirteen. No breakfast time generally allowed." At Lees, near Oldham, "common hours twelve-and-a-half (yet no inspection here)." The writer describes conditions at Ballington, Chorley, Preston, Colne, and Bradlev. At the last-mentioned place one master is mentioned as working his mill both night and day. In conclusion, the writer states his opinion that the practice of detaining children during meal-times, as previously described—"in a foul atmosphere, and in a temperature equal to that of a hot-house "—is "by far the most prominent and mischievous of all the violations of the Act; and it is general. Even Manchester is not exempted from the charge; through matters are (for obvious reasons) better at Manchester than in most or any places beside."

The Act of 1825^1 prescribed that no person under sixteen was to work more than twelve hours a day, exclusive of an hour and a half for meal-times, thirteen and a half in all. This only reduced the average working day, as stated in the tract, by one half-hour. The dinner hour was to be between eleven and three instead of eleven and four as previously. On Saturdays only nine hours' work was allowed, between 5 a.m. and 4.30 p.m. Leaving

¹ 6 Geo. IV., c. 63.

work earlier on Saturdays was, as we have seen, already customary in many of the mills. No attempt was made in this Act to check the practice of setting the children to clean machinery or do other work during meal-times. Employers were pronounced free from responsibility as to employing children under the legal age if the parents or guardians of any child declared it to have attained that age. Justices who were themselves proprietors of mills, or the fathers or sons of such proprietors, were prohibited from hearing complaints under the Act. The period within which a complaint must be made was reduced from three to two months after the commission of the offence. In 1831 a further amending Act1 was passed. The period within which complaint must be made was further reduced to three weeks. On the other hand, not only the mill-owners, their fathers and sons, but also their brothers, were now excluded from sitting as justices to hear complaints, and if necessary, other justices of the county, or within a radius of twelve miles, were to be called upon. On proof given that the machinery of the accused had been working during the night, he might be summarily convicted, unless he could prove he had not employed persons below the specified age. This laying the burden of proof on the employer seems to have been done at the instance of the larger manufacturers who. under the pressure of public opinion, were themselves ready to introduce a twelve hours' day, and who desired to prevent their smaller neighbours from competing with them by working longer.2

The Acts of 1819 and 1825 had required an abstract or copy of the Act to be hung up in a conspicuous place in the factory. In 1831 this useful provision was omitted, and in its stead a register was to be kept, in which the employer noted down the actual duration of each working day, and which he had to produce when required by the

¹ I & 2 Will. IV., c. 39.

² See Hansard, February 15th, 1831, col. 585.

justices. The Act of 1831 also extended the twelve hours working day to all persons under eighteen, instead of sixteen, as before and prohibited nightwork to all persons under twenty-one. As originally introduced the Bill was to have applied to all textile industries but to this there was great opposition, and as finally passed cotton mills only were included in its scope.

In September, 1830, Richard Oastler¹ began his series of fiery letters to the Leeds Mercury on the subject of "Yorkshire Slavery." In 1831 Michael Sadler,2 recently elected to Parliament, introduced a Ten Hours Bill at the end of the year, and moved the second reading on the 16th of March, 1832, in a brilliant and able speech. He began by admitting legislative interference to be an evil; but so, he said, was all legislation, only to be tolerated for the purpose of preventing some greater evil. He went on to demolish in a few telling sentences the idea that labourers generally were "free agents." Unless the demand for labour equalled the supply, the employer and employed did not meet on equal terms in the market: on the contrary, the latter was often almost entirely at the mercy of the former; and if this were the case with adults, how much less could children be considered free? Sadler then described the excessive hours, the over-heated atmosphere, and, in some cases, the shocking cruelties, which were the conditions of children's labour in too many of the

¹ Richard Oastler (1789—1861), called the "factory king," was a Churchman, a Tory, and an advocate of the abolition of slavery in the West Indies; led the agitation for the Ten Hours Day from 1830 onwards; opposed the new Poor Law of 1835; was imprisoned for debt in 1840, and during his imprisonment, which lasted three years, published the "Fleet Papers," in which periodical he continually urged the need of factory reform.

² Michael Thomas Sadler. Born 1780. Tory philanthropist and writer on political economy; became interested in the factory children, 1823; M.P. for Newark, 1829; introduced a Bill for restricting children's labour, December, 1831; chairman of Select Committee to enquire into the condition of children employed in manufactures, April, 1832; died 1835.

mills, the impossibility of education, and the lack of time for play and exercise. Sadler's Bill was, however, strongly opposed by the manufacturing interest, and the subject was referred to a Select Committee, over which Sadler himself presided. The Report of this Committee¹ is one of the most valuable collections of evidence on industrial conditions that we possess. Sadler spared no pains to collect evidence from every part of the kingdom; and his toil and anxiety was a contributing cause of his comparatively early death. As his biographer remarks, "It is certain that the exertion shortened his days, but it is gratifying to reflect that the sacrifice was not made in vain."

In the autumn of 1832, Parliament was dissolved, and in the ensuing election Sadler lost his seat. The Rev. G. S. Bull, a devoted worker in the cause of the children, was deputed by the Short Time Committee to invite Lord Ashlev² to take Sadler's place. Lord Ashley's sympathies had already been awakened by the perusal of extracts from the evidence given before Sadler's Committee. He agreed to take up the task, though not without a struggle.3 In the words of his biographer: "He now stood at the parting of the ways. On the one hand lay ease, influence, promotion, and troops of friends; on the other an unpopular cause, increasing labour amidst every kind of opposition; perpetual worry and anxiety; estrangement of friends; annihilation of leisure; and a life among the poor. It was between these he had to choose."

Although the enquiry by the Select Committee had been urged by the manufacturers themselves, and their

¹ H. C., 1831—2, XV.

² Anthony Ashley Cooper, Lord Ashley, afterwards Lord Shaftesbury. Born 1801. Entered Parliament, 1826; interested in the factory children, 1832; brought in a Ten Hours Bill, 1833; succeeded to earldom, 1851 (see Life by Edwin Hodder, 3 vols., 1886, for many and varied labours as social reformer); died 1885.

³ See Life, I., p. 147.

interests had been well represented upon it,1 they were discontented with the results, and now pressed for a fresh enquiry on the spot, to be made by Commissioners despatched from London for the purpose. This Commission was viewed with disfavour, both by the operatives and by their friends in Parliament, and was supposed to be chiefly composed of persons favourable to the manufacturing interest, and willing to accept the hospitality of the mill-owners. In spite of the bias with which they were credited, the Commissioners went to work with energy. and brought out their first report in about two months.2 To the general surprise it was distinctly in favour of legislation, though not entirely on the lines laid down by Sadler and Lord Ashley, whose Bill, the Commissioners thought, went too far in some directions and not far enough in others.3 The principal conclusions of this first report were that children were commonly employed in manufactures for as long a time per day as adults; that the result was in many cases physical deterioration and partial or total deprivation of education; that the children thus employed were not "free agents," and that a case was made out for the interference of the legislators, the existing law being "almost entirely inoperative."

The evidence given before Sadler's Committee had been generally favourable to the tendency of the Acts,⁴ but showed them—as did the Commissioners' Report—to be inadequate to resist the forces tending continually to lengthen the day's work. Dr. Thackrah Turner gives an interesting analysis of the process he saw at work.⁵

"The duration of labour is the opprobriousness rather of our manufacturing system than of individuals. The masters with whom I have conversed are men of humanity,

¹ See Sadler's Life, p. 382.

^a H. C., 1833, XX., XXI.

Hansard, June 17, 1833, col. 914.
 See, e.g., answers to qu. 6,780, 9,378.

[&]quot;Effect of Trades on Health," 1831, p. 46.

and willing, I believe, to adopt any practical proposal to amend the health and improve the state of their workpeople. But they are scarcely conscious of the extent of the mischief. We underrate evils to which we are accustomed. The diminution of the intervals of work has been a gradual encroachment. Formerly an hour was allowed for dinner; but one great manufacturer, pressed by his engagements, wished his work-people to return five minutes earlier. This abridgment was promptly adopted at other mills. Five minutes led to ten. It was found also that breakfast and drinking (afternoon meal) might be taken while the people were at work. Time was thus saved; more work was done; and the manufactured article could be offered at a less price. If one house offered it at a lower rate, all other houses, to compete in the market, were obliged to use similar means. Thus what was at first partial and temporary has become general and permanent. And the unfortunate artizans, working before in excess, have now to carry labour to a still greater and more destructive extent . . . so established are the hours of work, that no individual master can, without loss, liberate his people at an earlier period. A legislative enactment is the only remedy for this."

Legislative enactment, however, was not enough. question was, how was the law to be enforced? Supervision by the justices had not proved a success. expedient had been tried1 of assigning to the informer one half of the fine imposed, which was now raised to from f10 to f20. The weak point of this plan was that, as outsiders had no right to enter the factories, information could only be given by the operatives themselves. Now, although £5 to £10 was a large sum to a factory operative, it would hardly outweigh the dread of the master's displeasure, the probable dismissal and loss of livelihood.2 It appears from evidence given before Sadler's Committee

¹ 42 Geo. III., c. 73. ² See Weyer's "Englische Fabrikinspektion," pp. 16 to 18.

that no operative who gave information, or even appeared as a witness against his master, could get employment anywhere in the district where he was known or where his name could be reported for his identification. There was also the fact, probably overlooked by the framers of the earlier Acts, that the operatives were often (as they are to this day) themselves the employers of the children. The Report of the Commission of 1833 contains a table showing that in seventy mills in Lancashire about half the number of workers under eighteen were employed by operatives instead of directly by factory occupiers. The industrial organisation was thus described by Wm. Longston before Sadler's Committee²:—"A spinner has piecers; they are universally persons who are under the age limited by the law for protection; in case the piecers are taken away from the spinner, he finds then a difficulty in turning off the quantity which is required; and even were it not so, a wish to do as much as they can causes them to keep the piecers more than the law prescribes; the spinners in general (though some of them are wellmeaning people), I think, deserve at the very least censure for their eagerness to keep these little piecers in the factory so many hours." J. Turner³ said the law was generally obeyed in Manchester with only one or two exceptions; but within eight or ten miles was openly violated. The method of evasion was as follows: "A man with a number of children employed under him, say a spinner with three piecers, will send out one of these piecers at a time, when two children will have to do the work of three: and by these means he can work an hour or an hour and a half longer each day. Now, if only a few of the children were sent out, the master would have a pretext to say that he had turned out the children, that none worked more than twelve hours, while perhaps one-half of the children

¹ Supplementary Report, 1834, XIX.. p. 509.

² Q. 9,385. ³ Q. 7,351, &c.

worked thirteen and a half hours. In these instances, where the children are turned out, professedly in obedience to Sir John Hobhouse's Bill, the direct effect is that it imposes an equal term of confinement, calculated upon the whole day."

It is necessary to recognise that the operative class themselves were in this way largely committed to the system of child labour and long hours. Some, whether from need or demoralisation, lived on their children's earnings; others made a profit from employing their own or their neighbours' children; and, however much the better-minded and more intelligent might revolt against the system, there was enough solidarity amongst them to make the position of an informer invidious and impossible. If, however, a complaint was made, it was easy for the master to escape the penalty by pleading failure of water power or some cause of exemption allowed by the Act, and the threat of dismissal was enough to induce the operatives to swear to any such statement. The infliction of a fine was too rare to form a motive for obedience to the law, as the offender could set against it the gain from many profitable evasions.

Where was the remedy to be sought? The Tories seem to have looked for it in the direction of heavier penalties and larger rewards. Lord Ashley wished that, in case of death from accident due to negligence in fencing and guarding machinery, the employer should be committed for trial for manslaughter, and that, for other offences, both the fine and the reward to the informer should be increased. He brought in a Bill in 1833 which enjoined that the register of work-time should be sent quarterly to the clerk of the peace, with a written declaration on oath that the employer had observed all the legal requirements during the past three months, false entries being punishable by a fine of from £50 to £100 (half going to the informer), and also rendering the employer liable to trial for perjury. The penalty for ordinary offences was

still to be £5 to £20; but this was to be doubled for a second conviction, trebled for a third, and in the last case a term of imprisonment over and above the fine was to be imposed. Oastler had, in similar cases, advocated flogging and the pillory. None of these expedients, however desirable on principles of abstract justice, would have met the practical difficulty of getting operatives to complain when it was contrary to their interest and esprit de corps to do so. The enthusiastic advocates of the ten hours day, in their natural and righteous indignation against the evils of the factory system, seem to have overlooked a fact easily recognisable by us at a later date—namely, that it was not so much a war between manufacturers and operatives that was being waged as a disease from which the industrial community was suffering. The Liberal Government of that day, which generally receives very hard measure from philanthropic writers on the subject, was on this point more clearsighted than its opponents. The solution was suggested in part by the manufacturers themselves—that is to say, by those who were invited to advise and give information to the Commissioners of 1833.

The plan they favoured was that of appointing officers charged with the duty of inspecting the factories at regular intervals, and with full power to have the law put in force. This was represented to the Commissioners as the only effective means of enforcing regulations "relating solely to children and not directly conducive to the immediate interests either of masters or operatives." The Commissioners somewhat cynically remark that the proposal was urged upon them chiefly by those manufacturers who desired to see the hours in other factories restricted to the level of their own, but they accepted the recommendation and embodied it in their report. Then the question

¹ Report of Sadler's Committee, H. C., 1831—2, Vol. XV., Q. 9,831.

arose, how should this new service, for which there was no precedent or experience, be constituted? The manufacturers wished for locally resident officials, who should be endowed with exclusive jurisdiction over complaints relating to infractions of the factory laws. The Commissioners rejected this proposal on the score of expense, and favoured the appointment of itinerant inspectors, who should make circuits of the manufacturing districts, and have the right of entering all factories where children were employed, of ordering machinery to be fenced, and of directing all arrangements of a sanitary nature, whilst they were also to take cognizance of the arrangements for the education of the children employed. This suggestion was published in the report and adopted in the Bill. formed the turning point of factory legislation. have here one of the first instances of a special department of the central Government being created for the purpose of administering a particular Act. It was probably due to the well-known zeal for centralised administration of Mr. (afterwards Sir Edwin) Chadwick, a member of the Commission.1 The introduction of an external authority, free from local bias and partiality, greatly improved the administration of the law, lessened the friction between manufacturers and operatives, and provided a medium of communication between the Government and the people at a time when knowledge of industrial matters was scanty in the extreme. The Factory Act of 18332 thus made possible a great advance in administrative efficiency, and was in that respect superior to the Bills it displaced. In the measure of protection which it afforded it was somewhat less gener-0115.

It prohibited night work (that is to say, work between 8.30 p.m. and 5.30 a.m.) to all under eighteen, employed "in or about any Cotton, Woollen, Worsted, Hemp, Flax,

¹ C †. The Public Health Agitation, 1833-48, by B. L. Hutchins, Fifield 1909, Chap I.

² 3 & 4 Will. IV. c. 103.

Tow, Linen, or Silk Mill," with the exception of some subsidiary industries and of lace-making, which were expressly exempted. No person under eighteen was to be employed more than twelve hours a day or sixty-nine a week. No child under nine was to be employed at all except in silk mills. Lord Ashley's Bill, by the way, would have done away with the exemption of silk mills from this rule. No child under eleven, during the first year, twelve, during the second, or thirteen, during the third year, after the passing of the Act, was to be employed more than forty-eight hours a week or nine in one day. The Government took great pride in this special limitation for young children, for whom, they said, a Ten Hours Bill, such as Sadler and Lord Ashley had successively introduced, was not sufficient protection. Experience has, however, shown the difficulty of making distinctions of this kind, and the advantage of a uniform rule. advisability was disputed on medical grounds, thirteen not being a good age at which to increase the burden of work. In silk mills children under thirteen might work ten hours a day. One hour and a half meal-time was to be allowed, and children were not to be permitted to remain after hours in the same room with the machinery or in the mill. Another section noticed the failure of justices to inspect the mills, and required the appointment by the Government of four persons as inspectors, who were given power to enter at will any factories at work, to examine the children, to make enquiries, to call witnesses, and to summon any person to give evidence. The inspectors were also empowered to make such rules and orders as might be necessary, these to be binding on all persons subject to the Act, and to enforce school attendance. They were to make reports twice a year, and to meet also twice a year to confer on their duties and proceedings under the Act in order to attain as much uniformity of action "as is expedient and practicable." The penalty for offences against the Act was from fi to f20, or, at

HISTORY OF FACTORY LEGISLATION.

42

discretion, nothing, and the penalty for obstructing an inspector in the discharge of his powers was not to exceed £10. Finally, by a remarkable blending of judicial with executive authority, the inspectors themselves were granted powers co-oirdinate with those of a justice of the peace, "as regards the Execution of the Provisions of this Act."

CHAPTER IV.

THE TEN HOURS MOVEMENT.

Oastler's agitation and the Short Time Committees—Hobhouse's Act, 1831—Sadler's Ten Hours Bill—Sadler's Committee—Demand for Restriction on Motive Power—Leadership taken by Lord Ashley—Commission of 1833—Factory Act, 1833—Hindley's Ten Hours Bill—Election of 1841—"Free Traders' and "Factory Reformers"—Act of 1844—State of Political Parties—Election of 1847—The Ten Hours Act.

As we have seen in our first chapter, the magistrates at the Manchester Quarter Sessions of 1784 deserve to have the credit of being the first to publicly propose a ten hours day. They resolved unanimously that it was "highly expedient for the Magistrates of the County to refuse their allowance to indentures of Parish Apprentices whereby they shall be bound to owners of cotton mills and other works, in which children are obliged to work in the night or more than ten hours a day." It was Sir Robert Peel, in 1815,2 who brought forward what was always referred to as the first Ten Hours Bill; though it was to apply only to apprentices and other children employed in cotton manufactories. Outside Parliament, amongst the operatives and the popular agitators, the demand was always for an Act which would either directly or indirectly limit the labour of adults as well as of children.3 In 1817 Robert Owen was advocating an eight

¹ Reports, 1814-15, Vol. V.

² See Hansard, Vol. XXXI., p. 624.

³ See, for example, petition presented "from several spinners and others employed in the cotton manufacture in the city of Carlisle . . . praying the House to adopt such measures as will . . . restrict the labour of children and others in the cotton mills to a period daily which will permit their education and promote their health and future welfare in society." Hansard, Vol. XXXIV., p. 1. (Italics added.)

hours day, and in 1818 the operative cotton spinners of Manchester petitioned Parliament for a universal ten and a half hours day, with nine hours for actual work. But these were merely isolated attempts to shorten the hours of working, and did not form part of the great Ten Hours Movement which lasted for over thirty years.

Although this movement may be traced back as far as 1825, Philip Grant, afterwards one of the leaders, says that "the agitation in those days was confined to the cotton districts, and even here it only reached a few of the principal towns, such as Manchester, Stockport, Bolton, Blackburn, and one or two others. Indeed, any meddling with the subject was unpopular, even amongst the masses, and was attended with risk and imminent danger to the situation of any workman that took part in it." It was not until 1830 that the movement got a real hold of the working classes, and it was from Yorkshire that the impetus came. On September 20th of that year Richard Oastler, of Fixby Hall, was staying with John Wood, a large Yorkshire manufacturer, who had for some time been endeavouring in a quiet way to improve the conditions of factory employment. He enlisted the sympathy of Oastler on behalf of the factory children by describing their condition as worse than that of East Indian slaves. It must be remembered that at that time woollen mills were entirely unregulated by law, and it was the usual custom to employ children for thirteen hours in woollen mills and twelve and a half hours in worsted mills, exclusive of meal times.3

² History of Factory Legislation, by Philip Grant, p. 121.

¹ See Hansard, 3rd S. Vol. XXXVII., p. 264.

^{3 &}quot;In the worsted mills they (children) are employed thirteen hours, with an interval of only half an hour, and in the woollen mills they work fifteen hours, with the interval of two hours for meals; they are therefore actually at work twelve and half hours in the former case, and thirteen hours in the latter." Leeds Mercury, October 30th, 1830. See also evidence given by the Rev. G. S. Bull before Sadler's Committee, H. C., 1831—2, Vol. XV., p. 418.

According to the Leeds Mercury, a Whig paper, it was an admitted fact that the children worked thirteen hours a day in the factories at Bradford, with only half an hour's intermission. "This," says the Mercury, "is the case in the vast manufacturing establishments; in others fourteen and even fifteen hours' labour has been exacted, with the same small interval for meals and rest." In the neighbouring villages children are described as being employed overtime, and in particular instances from five o'clock in the morning until nine o'clock at night. with only half an hour for dinner.

Oastler's first step was to write a series of letters to the *Leeds Mercury*, and afterwards to the *Leeds Intelligencer*, headed "Slavery in Yorkshire," denouncing the factory system, and demanding, on the grounds of humanity, a ten hours day for all under twenty-one years of age. In this way public attention was called to the matter, and though Oastler's violent language alienated the sympathy of many, yet none was found to contradict his statements.

An example of the kind of replies sent to Oastler by newspaper correspondents may be given by quoting from a letter written by Samuel Townend, who was opposed to legislative interference with woollen mills. He began by admitting that "the hours of labour, with the intervals in the factories, are as Mr. Oastler states. But," he went on to say, "the occupation of the children is far from laborious, and consists chiefly in the quickness and attention given to the machine, allowing them abundant time to take refreshments during mill hours. . . . I am decidedly convinced that the present method of bringing children forward to useful employment is far from being 'horrid slavery in worsted mills,' that it is rendered a comfort by the regular hours of rising from and retiring

¹ Leeds Mercury, October 30th, 1830.

² See Leeds Mercury, October 16th, 1830, &c., and Leeds Intelligencer, November 11th, 1830, &c.

to bed; and the most systematic regulation by which refreshments are brought to them." The writer went on to describe how the factory children rose to maturity "governed in the School of Industry, useful and efficient members of society, destitute of those vagabond propensities which too often attach to children who are left to ramble at large until twelve or fourteen years of age."1

The appearance of Oastler's letters on Yorkshire slavery mark the beginning of the popular agitation. The most prominent leaders in the movement were Oastler, the Rev. G. S. Bull (Vicar of Bradford), the Rev. J. R. Stephens (who began life as a Wesleyan minister and took a leading part in the Chartist movement), John Doherty (general secretary of the Federation of Cotton Spinners, and a prominent Chartist), George Condy (editor of the Manchester and Salford Advertiser), and Philip Grant. The movement was not confined to any one political party. The Short Time Committees were spoken of as a "strange combination of Socialists, Chartists and ultra Tories."2 Oastler was a Tory to the end of his days, but most of the popular leaders were extreme Radicals. Nor were the Parliamentary leaders drawn from one party. Michael Thomas Sadler, who took the lead in 1831, was a Tory. He was succeeded by Lord Ashley, also a Tory. John Fielden, who took Lord Ashley's place during his temporary retirement from the House in 1846, had been brought up as a Tory, but had become a strong Radical. Amongst other supporters the most prominent were Charles Hindley, Liberal member for Ashton, Lord John Manners, Tory member for Newark, and Joseph Brotherton, Liberal member for Salford.

The first practical result of the newspaper controversy was Hobhouse's Bill of 1831, which, as first drafted, proposed to limit the hours of all persons under eighteen to eleven and a half hours a day, with one and a half hours

¹ Leeds Intelligencer, October 21st, 1830. ² Leeds Mercury, March 23rd, 1844.

for meals, and this was to apply to woollen and silk, as well as to cotton mills. This Bill received warm support from the operatives of the West Riding.¹ But the hours of work for young persons were afterwards extended from ten to twelve a day, and the Bill as passed, owing to the opposition of the Scotch members and the West of England woollen manufacturers, applied only to cotton mills. The woollen manufacturers had raised a twofold objection. In the first place, they maintained that the proposed regulation of hours of employment in woollen mills would be ruinous to the owners of mills turned by water, because in such mills the hours were necessarily irregular. Secondly, they said that the prohibition of night work would compel many masters to make a very great outlay in additional buildings and machinery, or else give up nearly half the amount of their business.² After this failure the Yorkshire operatives began a vigorous campaign. Enthusiastic meetings were held in the manufacturing towns of the West Riding, and gradually the movement spread to Lancashire, where the old Short Time Committees were once more revived.

Complaints were made of the ineffectiveness of Hobhouse's Act. At a meeting of clergy and gentry in Manchester³ it was stated that the law would not have been observed at all had it not been for the formation of an association to prosecute those who violated its provisions. As Charles Hindley expressed it; "The mistake of Parliament has arisen from supposing that they could effectively legislate for children without including adults—they are not aware that the labour in a mill is, strictly speaking, family labour, and that there is no longer the system of a parent maintaining his children by the operation of his own industry."

¹ See Leeds Intelligencer, April 14th, 1831, and Voice of the People, April 16th, and April 23rd, 1831.

² See Leeds Mercury, March 12th, 1831.

³ See Manchester Guardian, March 10th, 1832.

In the autumn of 1831 there was a General Election, and the operatives, though not, of course, enfranchised, could do much, when strongly organised, to influence public opinion. They determined not to support any candidate who did not declare himself to be in favour of a Ten Hours Bill. Sadler was returned for Aldborough, in Yorkshire, pledged to introduce a Ten Hours Bill as soon as Parliament should assemble. The whole of the West Riding was thoroughly aroused, and the following resolutions, passed at a public meeting at Leeds, are but an instance of similar resolutions passed at many other places:

- I. "That the practice of working young children in mills and factories from twelve to sixteen hours a day, and in some instances thirty-five hours, with but very short intermission for meals, is greatly to be deplored, inasmuch as such a system has an exceedingly pernicious effect on their constitutional vigour, health, and morals.
- 2. "That ten hours per day is as long a period for the juvenile population to labour as is consistent with the preservation of health, the allowance of necessary relaxation and rest, and the well-being of society at large, and that it is a stain on the character of Britain that her sons and daughters, in their infant days, should now be worked longer than the adult mechanic, agricultural labourer, or negro slave.
- 4. "That a restrictive Act would tend materially to equalise and extend labour, by calling into employment many male adults, who are a burden on the public, who, though willing and ready to work, are obliged, under the existing calamitous system, to spend their time in idleness, whilst female children are compelled to labour from twelve to sixteen hours per day."2

In this last resolution we get an insight into one of the motives which lay behind what would at first sight appear to be a merely humanitarian concern for the welfare of

¹ See Leeds Intelligencer, September 22nd, 1831. ² Leeds Intelligencer, October 29th, 1831.

the children. The operatives acknowledged that one of their objects was that more adult males might be called into employment. But from the addresses of the speakers at the meetings, and the evidence given before Sadler's Committee and the Parliamentary Commission of 1833, we are left in no doubt that the chief object kept in view was that, by the limitation of the hours of children and young persons, the hours of labour of adults should themselves be regulated. John Doherty, speaking at a meeting of the National Association, at Manchester, declared that "men were as much entitled to protection for their labour as masters were for their machines. But men would not apply for it till convinced it was practicable."2

Again, the Manchester and Salford Advertiser. in an article on the Short Time Bill, referred to the fact that the chief obstacle to some effective legislative enactment had hitherto been found in the arguments brought forward by political economists. "The great difficulty has been to persuade sages like Mr. Hume to pass laws to restrain free labour, it being totally overlooked, in the first place, that Englishmen are not free, that it is because they are not free that they are seeking to become so. It is to avoid this stumbling block that the attempts at regulation have been confined to the case of persons under age though the effect of really preventing them from working beyond fixed hours must have been to interfere with the labour of adults also. It is to avoid this stumbling block that Mr. Sadler has adhered to the principle of legislation for children only."3

While political economists were propounding their theories of the advantages of laissez-faire and freedom of contract between employers and employed, the men who were brought face to face with industrial conditions

¹ See also evidence given before the Select Committee on Combinations of Workmen. Parliamentary Papers, 1837—8, Vol. VIII., Q. 1,368, 3,665, &c.
² Voice of the People, April 16th, 1831.

⁸ Manchester and Salford Advertiser, March 10th, 1832.

recognised that there was no such thing as freedom of contract. Even such an investigator as Dr. Kay, who was himself opposed to any State interference with the hours of labour, thus describes the condition of the operative:—" Whilst the engine runs the people must work—men, women, and children are yoked together with iron and steam. The animal machine—breakable in the best case, subject to a thousand sources of suffering—is chained fast to the iron machine, which knows no suffering and no weariness."

The operatives themselves knew that the adult factory worker was not free to bargain for the conditions under which he should work, that the employers were not free to offer what conditions they liked, and that "without a legislative regulation of the hours of labour the kind and benevolent employer cannot stand against the competition of his less feeling rival."

Tufnell, one of the Commissioners who collected evidence for the Parliamentary Commission of 1833, said that the fact which had struck him most in the course of his investigation was the different grounds on which the Ten Hours Bill was advocated in Parliament, and in the manufacturing districts. He described the cruelty of employing young children for long hours, and the ill usage to which they were submitted, as the "Parliamentary and public ground" for supporting the Bill. "But," he went on to say, "not a single witness that came before me to give evidence in favour of the Ten Hours Bill... of whatever trade or station he may have been, supported it on the above grounds.... I am perfectly satisfied that motives of humanity have not the smallest weight in inducing them to uphold the Ten Hours Bill."

^{1 &}quot;Moral and Physical Conditions of the Operatives Employed in the Cotton Manufacture in Manchester," by James Philip Kay, 1832, p. 24.

³ See resolutions passed at meetings of operatives at Keighley and Dewsbury. *Leeds Intelligencer*, February 2nd and 9th, 1832.
³ Children's Employment Commission. Report by Mr. Tufnell Parliamentary Papers, 1834, Vol. XIX., p. 195.

In support of this view he stated that "the desire for the Ten Hours Bill exists almost wholly among the working spinners, who are the chief supporters of the cry about the inhumanity of employing young children in factories and the narrators of the cruelties practised upon them, which cruelties, it appears, if practised at all, are only practised by themselves."1

By the beginning of 1832 the movement had got a firm hold of the working classes of Yorkshire and Lancashire, and had spread to London, where a Society was formed for the Improvement of the Condition of Factory Children.² Sadler's Bill had been introduced and referred to a Select Committee, which was engaged in collecting information throughout the Session of 1832. The main provisions of the Bill were that no person under eighteen should be employed for more than ten hours a day, nor for more than eight hours on Saturdays. No person under the age of twenty-one was to be employed during the night, which was defined to be from 7 p.m. till 6 a.m., and no child was to be employed under the age of nine years. The only regulation for enforcing the Act was that a time book was to be kept. The Yorkshire operatives, who had hitherto had no experience in the operation of Factory Acts, failed to see the deficiencies in Sadler's Bill, and in a series of enthusiastic meetings passed strong resolutions and forwarded petitions in its favour.4 The meetings in the various towns culminated in a huge county meeting at York on Easter Tuesday, April 24th, which was attended by over twelve thousand persons.

According to the Leeds Mercury account, "The meeting was attended almost exclusively by the manufacturing

¹ Ibid., p. 194. According to one of the witnesses, the Short Time Committees were composed of spinners, weavers, dressers, card-room hands, and engravers. 1833, Vol. XXI., p. 187.

Manchester Guardian, April 7th, 1832.

See Hansard, 3rd S., Vol. II., p. 340, March 16th, 1832.

See, e.g., accounts of meetings reported in Leeds Intelligencer, January 12th, February 2nd and oth, 1832.

operatives of the West Riding, a considerable proportion of whom, being out of employment, were conveyed to York by subscription. . . . Uncommon zeal and perseverance were displayed, all the men going on foot, and travelling by night as well as by day, through an almost incessant fall of rain which lasted the whole of Monday and Tuesday, and which drenched them to the skin. . . . Scenes of immense confusion and real misery took place, both at Leeds and York, especially at Knavesmire, where the supply of bread which had been expected did not arrive, and all York was swept in vain to obtain adequate supplies for the fatigued and famished multitude. . . . The parties from the more distant places did not reach home till late on Wednesday night, or even Thursday."

In Lancashire, during the spring of 1832, similar meetings were held, but the distinguishing feature about the movement in Lancashire was the demand for a restriction on the motive power of machinery, so as to make it illegal for the machinery to be worked except during a specified period each day. This was advocated on the ground that such a restriction would ensure the enforcement of the regulation of the hours of employment.2 The cotton manufacturers and operatives had already experienced the inefficacy of Factory Acts which contained no provisions for securing their enforcement, and even the manufacturers showed anxiety for a legislative enactment which should be uniform in its operation. At a meeting of master spinners, held in Manchester, a petition was drawn up in which the opinion was expressed that "whatever measure be adopted, it ought to be made equal and effectual in its operation, and that from an accurate and attentive examination of the working of the last Act," they were convinced that "no measure can be made effectual which does not place the restriction upon the

¹ Leeds Mercury, April 28th, 1832.

² See resolutions passed at meetings of Lancashire operatives. Manchester and Salford Advertiser, March 17th and 31st, 1832.

power by which the machinery of mills and factories is propelled."

It would be a mistake to suppose from this that the Lancashire Ten Hours advocates were supported by the manufacturers. The manufacturers contended for an effective Bill, whatever the number of hours might be, and the majority were in favour of some enactment which would have made Hobhouse's Bill effective. The operatives, on the other hand, demanded a ten hours day, with a restriction on the motive power, but if the two objects were not attainable at once, they declared they would rather have an ineffective Ten Hours Bill than an effective one for eleven or twelve hours, because they thought that, having fixed the time, the Legislature would be bound in time to adopt means to enforce the limitation; whereas it would be a more difficult matter to reduce the hours when once an effective Act had been passed.²

In the meanwhile Sadler had failed to get a seat in the reformed Parliament. He stood for Leeds, but in a hard fight, which turned largely on the factory question, he was defeated by Macaulay, who was at that time adverse to any legislative regulation of the labour of adults. The

¹ Manchester and Salford Advertiser, February 25th, 1832.

² See Manchester and Salford Advertiser, March 31st, 1832.

³ See letter from Oastler to the operatives of Leeds; also the account of Sadler's entry into Leeds, and the reception given to him by the "ten hours men." Leeds Intelligencer, September 6th, 1832. See also Macaulay's speech to the electors of Leeds, of which the following is an extract:—" Gentlemen, permit me to say that though I distinctly admit that the employment of children in factories does require regulation, I can by no means admit that those topics which I have so often heard advanced on that subject have in them any soundness, and . . . I say that if the labouring classes expect any great or extensive relief from any practical measure of legislation, they are under a delusion. (Hisses.) I believe that they are confounding the symptons with the disease. . . . I believe that the overworking of children is not the cause but the effect of distress. ('No, no.')... Against cruelty, against oppression, and against the excessive overworking of children who are of too tender an age to have the care of their own affairs, I have as fixed and firm an opinion as any one who hears me." Leeds Intelligencer, September 6th, 1832.

leadership then passed to Lord Ashley, who, at the request of the Short Time Committee, promised to take up Sadler's Bill; but his efforts during the Session of 1833 were defeated by the introduction of a Government Bill. and a Commission of enquiry was appointed, on the ground that the Report of Sadler's Committee had been of a partisan character. This was bitterly resented by the operatives, who considered the Commission a mere device for delay. An appeal was sent by the Manchester operatives to the King, petitioning him to withhold, or if issued to recall, the Commission. When it was found that such measures were unavailing, the Short Time Committee decided that they would refuse to give evidence, and presented protests to the Commissioners on their arrival in the various towns.¹ The general feeling throughout Lancashire and the West Riding is forcibly expressed by the following resolutions, passed at a meeting of protest held in Huddersfield before the arrival of the Commissioners.

- I. "That the present factory system can no longer be endured, that the evils it does inflict, and has inflicted, are unspeakably grievous to the working classes and their children, and that the enemies of the poor have added treason and insult to injury, by abusing the prerogative of the Crown, and appointing a set of worthless Commissioners to perpetrate infant murder.
- 2. "That we are at a loss for words to express our disgust and indignation at having been threatened with a visit from an inquisitorial itinerant to enquire whether our children shall be worked more than ten hours a day; we are at once and for all determined that they shall not."2

The same meeting sent a petition to the House of Commons begging that "the pay and expenses of the Commissioners may not be taken from His Majesty's Exchequer; that the persons who have authorised this method of

See Leeds Intelligencer, May 13th, 1833.
Leeds Intelligencer, June 22nd, 1833.

secret examination may be impeached; that Lord Ashley's Ten Hours Factory Regulation Bill may be passed without any delay."

In Leeds, at a meeting of operatives it was unanimously agreed not to communicate with the Commissioners in any way, on the ground that the Commission constituted a "tribunal adverse to the Ten Hours Bill in origin, adverse in spirit, adverse in object, adverse probably in instruction."

In the meantime, Lord Ashley had introduced his Bill, by which the enforcement of the law was to be secured by the drastic penalty of imprisonment for a third offence against its provisions. There was considerable controversy over this clause. The Yorkshire operatives, at the instigation of Oastler, were determined that it should be retained, whilst the Lancashire men, headed by Doherty and Philip Grant, were more moderate in their demands.2 In spite of the enthusiastic support given to Lord Ashley, he was obliged to abandon his Bill on the introduction of Lord Althorp's Government measure, which embodied the chief recommendations of the Commissioners. The most noteworthy features of this Bill were that two sets of children might be employed for a maximum period of eight hours each, and that the Act should be enforced by Government inspectors. Both these provisions met with violent opposition on the part of the Ten Hours men. It was contended that the system of two sets was simply a device to satisfy the universal demand for the protection of children from over-work, and at the same time enable the manufacturers to keep adults employed for sixteen hours a day.3 The provision for inspection met with nothing but ridicule. It was assumed that as the inspectors were to be appointed by Government they would necessarily be mere tools in the hands of the manufacturers.

¹ Leeds Intelligencer, May 18th, 1833.

² See History of Factory Legislation, by Philip Grant, p. 52. See also Leeds Intelligencer, July 6th, 1833.

³ See letter from J. Fielden to William Cobbett, reprinted in

The Pioneer, December 21st, 1833.

The Leeds Intelligencer thus expressed the popular sentiment:—"The inspectorships are a lumbering affair, and will turn out in practice, we suspect, a nullity: their chief recommendation with their projectors is probably the patronage they afford." The Rev. G. S. Bull spoke of their "arbitrary powers," and said that "if these inspectors, in whose appointment the mill owners will have due influence, should take the sides of their patrons and masters, so extensive, so arbitrary are their powers that we shall want nothing but the torture room to complete their character and office as factory inquisitors."2 The popular indignation found expression at a record meeting on Wibsey Low Moor, near Bradford, on July 1st, 1833,3 when between a hundred and a hundred and fifty thousand people assembled to protest against any mutilation of the Ten Hours Bill. Petitions were drawn up. and delegates were sent to London to oppose the Government measure, but to no purpose. The Bill as passed was pleasing to no party. The popular agitation had made legislation of some kind absolutely necessary, and Poulett Thompson, the Vice-President of the Board of Trade, who had taken an active part in carrying it through, spoke of the measure as "an evil forced upon the Government." The Ten Hours men declared that there was greater cause than ever for strenuous exertion. Fielden originated a scheme, by which on the day the Act came into operation all adults were to strike for an eight hours day, with the same wages that they had had for twelve hours. This was advocated on the ground that the Legislature was "too slow for the people, and the adults in factories must by unions amongst themselves make a Short Time Bill for themselves." A committee was formed, which consisted of such leaders in the Ten Hours

¹ Leeds Intelligencer, August 10th, 1833.

² Leeds Intelligencer, September 28th, 1833.

³ See Leeds Intelligencer, July 6th, 1833.

⁴ See Letters to Cobbett's Weekly Register, reprinted in The Pioneer, December 21st, 1833.

movement as John Fielden, Robert Owen, George Condy, John Doherty, and Philip Grant. Robert Owen went into Yorkshire for the purpose of advocating this scheme, but when the time came the men were unprepared, and postponed action until June 2nd, and then until September 1st, after which we hear nothing more of the proposal. The Oldham operatives did indeed, in April, 1834, strike for an eight hours day, and the workers in all trades, both men and women, ceased work, "and held huge meetings on the moor, where they were addressed by Doherty and others from Manchester, and demanded the eight hours day."1 But nothing came of this, and within a week work was resumed. The Short Time Committees decided to give the Act a fair trial, and the years 1834 and 1835 were spent in watching its operation and reporting to the Central Committees in Manchester and Bradford what was going on in the districts.

In December, 1835, an important meeting took place in Manchester between delegates from the spinners and the Lancashire members of Parliament.² The object was to get the opinion of the operatives on the Act of 1833 and to show its utter inefficacy. The delegates expressed themselves freely, and complained that the inspectors had neglected their duties. Charles Hindley, in the course of a long speech, said that this measure, which was intended for the protection of children employed in factories, had almost entirely failed in its object, and the question then arose by what means it could be made effectual. Resolutions were passed in favour of a Ten Hours Bill, with a restriction on the moving power. Similar meetings were held throughout Lancashire in the following January, at which it was declared that many years' experience had shown that "all attempts made by the Legislature for the protection of those employed in

History of Trade Unionism, by Sidney and Beatrice Webb,
 P. 137.
 See Manchester and Salford Advertiser, December 5th, 1835.

factories will be set at nought, and rendered completely abortive, unless the restriction be put upon the machinery."

A Ten Hours Bill was then drawn up by Hindley, embodying these resolutions. Local committees were formed, and six delegates—four from Lancashire and two from Yorkshire—were sent to London to assist him in getting his Bill through. It had been printed and widely circulated, when Poulett Thompson, on March 15th, introduced a Government measure to repeal the thirteen years of age clause in the Act of 1833, and so enable all over twelve years of age to work full time. This provision was only just about to come into force, and the proposal to repeal it gave a tremendous impetus to the agitation outside Parliament. The supporters of the Ten Hours Bill were up in arms, and Oastler, Stephens, and Bull addressed crowded meetings in the manufacturing districts. The movement now assumed a different character, and petitions took the form of strong remonstrances. Dissatisfied as the factory workers were with the Act of 1833, they realised that it contained important principles. They seem by this time to have begun to recognise the benefits of inspection, and now that the Legislature had laid down eight hours as the limit, they were indignant at the idea of the hours for children being increased on any other condition than that ten hours a day for all under twenty-one years of age should be substituted.2

¹ See speech of George Condy, at Ashton, reported in Man-

chester and Salford Advertiser, January 23rd, 1836.

² See Manchester and Salford Advertiser, February 13th, 1836, in which an account is given of a meeting at which the following resolution was moved by the Rev. J. R. Stephens:—"That this meeting will resist, by all lawful means within its power, any attempt which may be made to repeal the eight hours clause of Lord Althorp's Factory Act, on any other condition than that ten hours for all under 21 years of age be substituted in lieu thereof, and that as the Legislature has already acknowledged the great principle of education and inspection, this meeting recommends that in all their future deliberations on this subject, they make it imperative on all parties employing children in such mills and factories to adhere to the law in this respect."

Oastler and Bull, in a circular issued to the factory workers in February, 1836, urged them to "agree to nothing longer than ten hours for all between fourteen and twenty-one, and to insist on it that all under fourteen should work only eight hours, according to the solemn, deliberate, and humane sentence of the Parliament of 1833." Petitions against Poulett Thompson's Bill were sent to the House of Commons. One from Manchester alone was signed by 33,000 operatives. It was arranged that Lord Ashley should move the rejection of the Bill, or propose as an amendment that all persons under twentyone should work only ten hours a day. In the event of the amendment being carried, Hindley was to propose in committee a restriction on the motive power.² On the motion for the second reading, on May oth, the Government had a majority of only two, and Poulett Thompson was obliged to withdraw his Bill. Hindley then asked leave to introduce his measure, but the time was declared to be unfavourable, and he was persuaded to withdraw it, after receiving an assurance from Lord John Russell that the provisions of the Factory Act of 1833 should in future be strictly enforced. This promise was not kept, and preparations were therefore made for the renewal of the contest in the following Session. At a meeting of operatives and manufacturers in Manchester in January, 1837, Fielden referred to the spirit of bitterness and growing disappointment which was being manifested on the part of the operatives, owing to the failure of their repeated applications to Parliament, and he expressed a fear that it would lead to the destruction of property unless something were done to meet their demands.3 Owing to the repeated failure to enforce the law, a growing desire was manifested for a uniform working day of ten hours for all employed. It

¹ Manchester and Salford Advertiser, February 13th, 1836.

² See resolutions passed at public dinner given to Mr. Hindley, at Ashton. Manchester and Salford Advertiser, October 21st, 1837.

³ See Manchester and Salford Advertiser, January 28th, 1837.

was said that "the children and adults are so associated in the work they have to do that they cannot be separated without inconvenience and loss, and that ten hours per day of actual labour in factories is as much as ought to be required from either children or adults." There was no question amongst the operatives of interfering with the freedom of the subject when it was proposed to limit the hours of adults, for in their own words, the factory hands had "no choice but to follow the machine at whatever speed, or whatever number of hours it might be driven, or to starve." They spoke of their industry as "in bonds, bound to the tyrant power of machinery."

It was partly owing to these resolutions in favour of a ten hours day for all under twenty-one, that Lord Ashley was forced to abandon a Ten Hours Bill which he was to have introduced in April, 1837. He was reluctant to do anything which would involve an increase of child labour from eight to ten hours³ a day, whereas the operatives were anxious for a uniform ten hours day, even though it involved an increase of hours for children. The Short Time Committees were so well organised at this time that when, in the autumn of 1837, the Yorkshire mill owners attempted to bring about a compromise and induce the operatives to be satisfied with an eleven hours bill, they were able to send delegates in sufficient numbers to secure a majority of about six to one against the compromise. though they had received no notice of the meeting until four days before it was to take place.4

Little was done in 1838. The Government attempted to satisfy the demand for further legislation by introducing a Bill which left the hours of labour unaltered, and met

¹ See Manchester and Salford Advertiser, January 28th, 1837.

² Ibid.

³ See Manchester and Salford Advertiser, April 21st, 1837.

⁴ See Leeds Mercury, November 11th, 1837, which gives an account of the above meeting. The Rev. J. R. Stephens, in a speech which lasted for two hours, said that the men of Lancashire would give up the Ten Hours Bill "only with their lives."

with no support. Lord Ashley again drew the attention of the house to the evil, and to the need of an amending Act, but the question was shelved on the ground that Lord Ashlev's concern for the children was not genuine, and that his real object was to restrict the labour of adults.

During the next three years the Short Time Committees were able to do little more than keep together. Trade was in a state of depression, the whole country was agitated by the Chartist movement, and the Ten Hours men had for a time lost two of their most active leaders— Oastler and Stephens-who were both imprisoned, Stephens for attending and addressing an unlawful meeting in November, 1838, and Oastler for a debt of £2,000, which had been contracted owing to his refusal to enforce the provisions of the new Poor Law.1

Whatever may have been the cause, when the Government brought forward a Factory Bill in 1839, not a single delegate from the factory districts was sent to support Lord Ashley and Joseph Brotherton in their attempts to amend the Bill.

Two years later, in 1841, the Whig Ministry was defeated, and the Tories were returned to power with a large majority. In the West Riding, and in several manufacturing towns, the election was fought entirely on the factory question, and great things were hoped from the new Government. But it soon became apparent that many of the Tories had favoured factory legislation merely from party reasons, and now that they were in office were as obstructive to real reform as the Whigs had been. Sir Robert Peel formed a cabinet with Sir James Graham as Home Secretary. Lord Ashley refused to take office on the ground that Peel's "opinions on the factory question were not matured."2

¹ See Life of Richard Oastler in the Dictionary of National

Biography, Vol. XLI.

² See Letter from Lord Ashley to Mr. Mark Crabtree, secretary of the Yorkshire Central Short Time Committee. Reprinted in Hodder's "Life of the Seventh Earl of Shaftesbury," Vol. I., p. 359.

In Parliament, the factory question, from this time down to 1847, was really a part of the wider struggle between the agricultural landlords and the manufacturers over the repeal of the Corn Laws. "The Tories were taunted with the condition of the labourers in the fields. and they retorted by tales of the condition of the operatives in factories. The manufacturers rejoined by asking, if they were so anxious to benefit the workman, why did they not, by repealing the Corn Laws, cheapen his bread. The landlords and the mill owners each reproached the other with exercising the virtues of humanity at other people's expense."1

The attitude of the Free-traders towards factory legislation is well expressed by William Cooke Taylor, who refers to the advocates of shorter hours as "those pseudophilanthropists who were exceedingly willing to be generous at the expense of the cotton manufacturers, but who are just as unwilling to be just in a far more atrocious case, which happens to touch their own pockets." Speaking of the distress in the manufacturing districts, he says:-"A remedy, indeed, has been proposed which assuredly has no parallel in the annals of quackery. It is the 'Ten Hours Bill.' The proposers of the Ten Hours Bill have done more—in addition to puzzling posterity they have sorely bewildered the existing generation. At a time when the operatives are suffering from want of employment in consequence of fiscal restrictions on commerce, these pretended benefactors of the operative insist on the continuance of the restrictions, and then propose to diminish the time of his labour, thus increasing the price of his food and decreasing his means of purchasing it."8 To this argument the leaders of the ten hours agitation replied that these recurring periods of depression were in

Morley's Life of Cobden, Vol. II., p. 300.

'A Tour in the Manufacturing Districts of Lancashire," 1842, by William Cooke Taylor, p. 248. 3 Ibid,. p. 131.

themselves a cogent reason for a further limitation of hours. They argued that the twelve hours term of labour could not be maintained throughout the year; the attempt to do so, combined with the increased use of machinery, caused a constant recurrence of gluts due to over-production.1 The remedy for these gluts was a shortening of hours: and with the shorter hours the same amount of work would be got through in the year, because employment would be more regular. In reply to the argument that the operatives could not expect twelve hours' wages for ten hours' work, they maintained that price was dependent upon supply and demand, and that when there was over-production due to the increased use of machinery and the long hours of work, the price of manufactured goods was lowered, and it was not to be wondered at that, coincident with the over-production of machine-made goods, wages and profits had both decreased But even assuming that wages might possibly be reduced to the same extent as the hours of labour, they argued that with a ten hours day as much work would be performed, in the aggregate, taking the whole year round, as was performed under a twelve hours limit, so that if the old rate of wages per pound, or per yard, or per hour were maintained, at the end of the year the same amount of capital would have been distributed in wages as before.2

¹ See report of deputation from the Short Time Committees of the West Riding of Yorkshire, which waited upon Sir James Graham. *Manchester and Salford Advertiser*, January 8th, 1842. See also "Industrial Democracy," by Sidney and Beatrice Webb, Vol. I., p. 440, in which it is shown that, according to a circular issued by the Amalgamated Associations of Cotton Spinners, January 19th, 1845, one of their objects in supporting Lord Shaftesbury's Ten Hours Bill was to secure "a more equitable adjustment or distribution of labour, by means of shortening the hours of labour."

² See Letter from Messrs. Walker and Rand, quoted by Alfred in the "History of the Factory Movement," Vol. II., p. 176. See also speech by Fielden, reported in *Manchester and Salford Advertiser*, December 24th, 1841, in the course of which he said it is "the duty of individuals to curtail the quantity of production when there is an over-abundant supply of the article they

In the summer of 1841 Lord Ashlev made a tour in the manufacturing districts, for the purpose of conferring with the operatives and collecting information. It was a time of great commercial distress. Thorold Rogers says:— "The population of the manufacturing towns was rapidly thinning, and the inhabitants who remained were in serious straits. Cobden stated that in the borough which he represented (Stockport) one house in every five was empty. Harrowing tales were told of the miserable poverty to which the factory operatives were reduced. It was affirmed that men had died at their looms from the exhaustion of famine." In Bolton, out of 8,124 cotton operatives, 5,06r were either standing idle or working only four days a week.2 The general distress, and the presence amongst them of Lord Ashley, stimulated the operatives to renew the agitation. J. R. Stephens was once more out of prison, and Oastler, from the Fleet, was urging them to be "unanimous, vigilant, and energetic."8 In the autumn of 1841 the Short Time Committees were reorganised. Those in the West Riding were particularly active, and in November, 1841, sent a deputation to London to wait on Sir Robert Peel and other Ministers, and to urge upon them the importance of the factory question.4 The deputation also had interviews with Sir James Graham, Gladstone, and others; and met, on the whole, with a favourable reception. Perhaps the least satisfactory interview was that with Sir James Graham, of whom the report speaks as having

produce, rather than increase it and reduce wages." He considered that "a reduction of hours of labour from twelve to ten would have this tendency," and was therefore desirable, as they had already "got mills and machinery to produce more than they could find a vent for at a remunerating price."

Cobden and Political Opinions, by Thorold Rogers, p. 20. ² See Article on Depression of Trade at Bolton, by Henry

Ashworth, Journal of the Statistical Society, April ,1842.

⁸ Manchester and Salford Advertiser, October oth, 1841.

⁴ See reports of the deputation, reprinted in the Manchester and Salford Advertiser, January 8th and 15th, 1842.

"drunk too deeply at the fount of the Malthusian philosophy . . . to be able to get rid entirely of its influence."

The most interesting feature about the report issued by the delegates, on their return from London, is that we now find the ten hours men bringing forward different arguments, and demanding for the first time (so far as we have been able to discover) special restrictions on women's labour. We have seen that, prior to 1833, concern for the children had been the alleged reason for the desire for a ten hours day. After 1833, when it was found that the reduction of the hours for children had been affected, but in such a way as not to limit the labour of adults, concern for the children could no longer be used as an argument for a ten hours day, and the reformers openly demanded the regulation of all factory labour, enforced by a restriction on the motive power. In 1841, when they began to realise that it was hopeless to get the hours of children again increased to ten hours, and that a restriction on the motive power was not yet within the sphere of practical politics, they turned their attention to the women and fought the battle "behind the women's petticoats," just as the Lancashire cotton operatives did thirty years later.1 From 1841 to 1847 the question centred round the women. The deputation of 1841 contended that a ten hours day for all persons between thirteen and twenty-one was more urgent than ever, owing to the immense increase in the number of women working in factories. But there seems to have been also some fear that the women were displacing the men, for the deputation went on to request "the gradual withdrawal of all females from the factories." maintaining that "home, its cares and its employments, is woman's true sphere." When the deputation discussed this matter with Gladstone, he expressed his sympathy with the following recommendations:—I. To fix a higher age for the commencement of what they called "female

¹ See History of Trade Unionism by Sidney and Beatrice Webb, p. 297.

infant labour" in factories. 2. To limit the number of women in proportion to the number of men in one factory. 3. To prohibit the employment of married women in factories during the life-time of their husbands.¹

The restriction on the motive power was not mentioned by the members of the deputation, but the omission was probably due only to the fear of alienating the sympathy of the Government. That the reformers kept this object in view, ready to bring forward when practicable, we gather from their many references to the increased speed and use of machinery, to which they thought the repeated gluts and panics were entirely due.

During the year 1842 the commercial panic was at its height. It was said that the whole of the manufacturing districts were on the eve of a general bankruptcy. Lord Ashley was unable to introduce his Ten Hours Bill, as the Government had promised a Bill which, they said, would settle the whole question. This Bill was introduced by Sir James Graham in 1843, but not passed until the following Session.

The time between the Sessions of 1843 and 1844 was spent in preparing for another campaign. Philip Grant says:—"Never in the history of this great struggle were the friends of the measure better united, nor more resolved to persevere in their good cause. The note of preparation had been sounded in every town and village in the manufacturing districts, and one unanimous voice proclaimed a fixed and firmer determination to stand by ten hours and no surrender."²

The Government Bill of 1844 fixed the hours of young persons and women at twelve a day. The Short Time Committees sent delegates to London, who spent their time in canvassing the members. Their efforts were directed towards securing the limitation of the working

² History of Factory Legislation, by Philip Grant, p. 73.

¹ See report of deputation, reprinted in Manchester and Salford Advertiser, January 15th, 1842.

day from 6 a.m. to 6 p.m. The controversy came to a crisis on March 15th, 1844, when Parliament was definitely called upon to choose between the alternatives of a ten or a twelve hours day for women and young persons, on the distinct understanding that this would involve a similar limitation on the labour of adult men.¹ The result was a majority of nine for Lord Ashley's amendment that "night," during which the employment of women and young persons was illegal, should be the period from 6 p.m. to 6 a.m. instead of 8 p.m. to 6 a.m., as proposed by Sir James Graham. Thus Parliament had actually declared itself in favour of a ten hours day.

A recent report under the Children's Employment Commission² had demonstrated by numerous facts and instances that the loss and not the profit began in the last hour. Yet The Times, while welcoming the amendment as a triumph of humanity, evidently regarded it as a quixotically daring and chivalrous proceeding. "The defeat of Ministers of Lord Ashley's amendment is not a thing to invade the imagination and take it by storm. It appeals to the moral feelings. It is a triumph of humanity. We have to sit still before we can comprehend it. When all is hushed, when the inward ear begins to listen, and the inward eye to gaze steadily, then at last it dawns and grows upon us, though we can hardly believe it . . . that a few hours since . . . one legislative House of the greatest Empire in this world resolved on the largest national interference in favour of poverty and industry to be found in the history of this or any other country."3

¹ See, e.g., speech of Milner Gibson:—"It might be thought that by preventing young persons and women of all ages from working more than ten hours, the labour of male adults was not interfered with. But that was not so. To enact that no young persons or women of any age should work more than ten hours was, in point of fact, to enact that no factory engines should be kept in operation more than ten hours." Hansard, 3rd S., Vol. LXXIII., March 18th, 1844.

² See Children's Employment Commission. Parliamentary Papers, 1843, Vol. XV., pp. 105, 106.

³ The Times, March 20th, 1844.

But the matter was not yet settled. The alteration in the second clause entailed the necessity of altering the eighth clause, which prescribed a maximum of twelve hours' labour, exclusive of meal times. Under ordinary circumstances this consequential substitution of ten hours for twelve hours would have been made as a matter of course; but Sir James Graham was obstinate, and on the 29th of March re-opened the discussion on the whole question. Lord Ashley moved his amendment of ten hours, but on a division being taken, there was a majority of three against it. Thus the House was in the peculiar position of having reversed the decision it had come to a few nights previously, and of having successively rejected both twelve and ten hours.

There is a well known and often quoted passage in the Greville "Memoirs" which describes the curious confusion which took place during the debate on Lord Ashley's amendment. The *Leeds Times* described the same thing

1 The passage referred to is as follows:—"I never remember so much excitement as has been caused by Ashley's Ten Hours Bill, nor a more curious political state of things, such intermingling of parties, such a confusion of opposition, a question so much more open than any question ever was before, and yet not made so or acknowledged to be so with the Government; so much zeal, asperity, and animosity, so many reproaches hurled backwards and forwards. The Government have brought forward their measure in a very positive way, and have clung to it with great tenacity; rejecting all compromise, they have been abandoned by nearly half their supporters, and nothing can exceed their chagrin and soreness at being so forsaken. . . . John Russell, voting for 'ten hours' after all he professed last year, has filled the world with amazement, and many of his own friends with indignation. . . . The Opposition were divided, Palmerston and Lord John one way, Baring and Labouchere the other. It has been a very queer affair. Some voted, not knowing how they ought to vote, and, following those they are accustomed to follow, many who voted against the Government afterwards said they believed they were wrong. Melbourne is all against Ashley; all the political economists, of course; Lord Spencer strong against him. Then Graham gave the greatest offence by taking up a word of the 'Examiner's,' last Sunday, and calling it a 'Jack Cade' legislation, thus stirring them to fury, and they flew at him like tigers." Greville "Memoirs," Vol. V., p. 241.

in the following terms:—"The discussions and divisions on the Factory Bill have been of the most confused and almost ludicrous kind. Whigs, Tories, and Radicals are jumbled together in inextricable disorder. Lord John Russell and Mr. O'Connell vote with Busfield Ferrand, for Hume and John Bright, with Sir James Graham! The Leaguers support the Tory Ministry and a twelve hours' term of labour, the 'Complete Suffragists' supported Lord Ashley and the ten hours clause." Sir James Graham refused to make any compromise, or to leave the measure in Lord Ashley's charge. He himself prepared another Bill, which was passed in the same Session, and prescribed a maximum of twelve hours' labour for women and young persons, to be taken any time between 5.30 a.m. and 8.30 p.m.

The Ten Hours men were nominally defeated, but their hopes were raised by the fact that they had actually secured a majority of the House on the Ten Hours question, and were able now to reckon on their side such prominent Whig leaders as Macaulay, Lord Palmerston, and Lord John Russell. They were determined that the matter should not be allowed to rest. The committees kept together, and during the years 1846 and 1847 issued a widely-circulated weekly paper, the Ten Hours Advocate, giving full details of the movement. In January, 1846, Lord Ashley again introduced his Ten Hours Bill, but shortly afterwards resigned his seat in Parliament owing to his growing conviction in favour of Free Trade. He entrusted his Bill to Fielden, who moved the second reading on the 29th of April, but was defeated.

About a month later Parliament was dissolved, the very day after the repeal of the Corn Laws, owing to the discontent in the Tory party caused by Peel's action. The

¹ Leeds Times, March 30th, 1844.

² This interesting paper is unfortunately not in the British Museum, but can be seen at the Manchester Free Library.

³ See Hansard, 3rd S., Vol. LXXXV., p. 1,222, and Vol. LXXXVI, p. 1,080.

Short Time Committees seized their opportunity. They were well organised, and the enthusiasm of the operatives was again stirred by Oastler, who had just been released from prison. The ten hours men fought the election independently of political parties, and invariably supported those candidates who pledged themselves to a Ten Hours Bill. Lord Ashley lost his seat, but a majority for the Ten Hours Bill was secured. When Fielden again introduced it, its passage was comparatively unobstructed and the third reading was carried by a majority of seventyeight. Thus the Ten Hours Bill finally became law in a very quiet way. The Times,1 in a leading article on the following day, said it was not to be imagined that there had been any considerable degree of conversion on the subject. The argument stood very much where it had done in 1844, and had, in fact, been almost exhausted in that memorable struggle. The absence of fierce opposition was attributed in a large measure to the fact that the chief argument of the opponents—namely, that the country could not spare the last two hours of industry—could not be brought forward in 1847 without inviting its own refutation, for so great was the depression of trade that the mill owners found it impossible to keep their mills working for so long as ten hours.

¹ The Times, May 4th, 1847.

CHAPTER V.

DIFFICULTIES OF ADMINISTRATION.

The Inspectors and their Duties—Education of Factory Children
—The Half Time System—The Relay System—Factory
Women—The Act of 1844—Controversies—Senior, Roebuck,
Macaulay.

In the latter part of the year 1833 the four newly-appointed factory inspectors started on their duties. These consisted primarily and ostensibly in the enforcement of the law—that is to say, in the prevention and detection of offences against the Act of 1833; but the inspectors also had a very important function to fulfil in supplying the Government in their periodical reports with information as to the condition of the factory population. the degree in which the existing law was likely to remedy the abuses that had been pointed out, and the amendments which they considered would tend to correct its many weaknesses. These reports were to be sent in twice a year to one of the Secretaries of State, or oftener if he desired it. From 1836 to 1844 they were sent in every quarter, but only printed every half-year. Sometimes special reports on particular subjects were made by the inspectors, by order of Parliament or of the Government. With the object of rendering the law as uniform in application as possible, the four inspectors were required to meet twice a year in London and agree on a common plan of action as to their official proceedings and policy, and a joint report of these meetings was to be compiled and forwarded to the Secretary of State along with the single reports. The Government and the public were thus kept informed of what went on in the industrial districts, the manners and customs, state of trade, the possibilities of education and so forth, and this has always formed, and still forms a very important part of the inspectors' duties. Defects in the law have probably been much more often caused by ignorance of the real condition of the people than by any deep-set reluctance to improve it; the inspectors' reports have been one of the most effectual means of enlightening that ignorance, and thus constitute an invaluable continuous record of industrial conditions by trained observers, free from local bias and partiality, whose business it was to renew their visits at stated periods and note what changes took place within their view.

The inspectors found themselves charged with the task of bringing regulations made by one class to bear on another, separated from the first by a gulf of mutual ignorance and distrust. Hitherto that gulf had been bridged only by the philanthropists and by the manufacturers themselves. The philanthropist was apt to be biassed on one side, the manufacturer on another. In the observations of the inspectors we get the point of view of the unemotional professional man, who is not committed either way, and whose work is to enforce the law impartially on all alike and see things as they really are.

The first and perhaps most urgent duty of the inspectors was to see that no children under nine worked in the factories, and that none between nine and thirteen¹ worked more than eight hours a day. Here they were at once met by the formidable difficulty of ascertaining the children¹s real ages. In some cases the parents did not know; in others, for interested reasons, they pretended that the children were older than they really were. The requirements, under proper safeguards, of birth-certificates would have been the surest remedy, but it was not until 1837 that it was made obligatory to register births in England; the baptismal certificates sometimes produced were of doubtful value as evidence of age, and the scraps

¹The age limit was to rise gradually, and the restriction to thirteen was not in force till 1836. Mr. Poulett Thompson in 1836 tried to lower it again to twelve by an amending Bill, which was passed by so narrow a majority—two—that he preferred to abandon it. Hansard, May 9th, 1836.

extracted from family Bibles were often obviously altered or forged. The inspectors found it necessary to decline to accept this sort of evidence, and to rely upon sec. 13 of the Act, which required that no child should be employed without a certificate from a surgeon or physician that it was of "the ordinary strength and appearance" of a child of nine years or over. Here again there were difficulties, which are summed up with some naïveté by the Select Committee.1 "The physiological test . . . whereby a medical man may judge from personal inspection the age and capacity of a child for full labour . . . must be subjected to a threefold abatement: first, from the ignorance of some who set up for surgical practitioners; secondly, the dishonesty or negligence of others; and, thirdly, from the defective state of science itself in this particular." It was found that certificates were tendered from cow-doctors, dentists, and various persons by no means qualified for the work.2 Many of the regular surgeons were dependent for their practice on the good-will of mill owners and operatives, and even medical men of good reputation in some cases⁸ showed themselves so ready to meet the views of the manufacturer as regards the standard of "strength and appearance" to be expected of a child of nine, that Mr. Rickards, the first inspector for the Manchester district, took upon himself to appoint a certain number of surgeons to be exclusively authorised to give certificates. This arrangement was first made for Manchester only. Lord Melbourne, the then Home Secretary, would not countenance this exercise of the inspector's authority, but it was subsequently conceded, and Rickards, meeting with no further opposition, extended the system of appointing certifying surgeons over the whole of his district. His example was followed by Mr. Horner, who was at this time inspector for Scotland, and eventually by the other inspectors. But the

¹ H. C., 1841, IX., p. 8. ² H. C., 1840, X., p. 44.

³ *Ibid.*, p. 77. ⁴ See Report of Inspectors, 1834, XLIII.

system was not yet sufficiently safe-guarded. There was a well-known and often practised fraud¹ of sending the older and stronger children to the doctor and passing the younger ones into the factory with the certificates thus obtained. One certificate in this way might serve for a hundred children. In Glasgow a boy was known to have driven a regular trade with age-certificates; he would present himself to one doctor after another, and sell his certificates for a shilling or two. The Manchester inspector therefore advised his certifying surgeons to adopt a system of duplicate forms, and then to visit the factories from time to time and compare the duplicates in their possession with the children working under the certificates issued.

The short day of eight hours for children under thirteen was found much more difficult to enforce than the twelve hours day for young persons between thirteen and eighteen.² Mr. Horner gave evidence before the Committee of 1840³ that the "spirit of competition among manufacturers was a check on working over hours at night," but not on the over-work of children, for the simple reason that "the lights in the window will discover the one but not the other." "As far as young persons are concerned, there is that external check; but as regards the young children, the neighbour has no means of knowing whether the young children are overworked or not . . . The children are often worked irregularly." In the same way, to limit the number of hours that may be worked per week has generally been found to be an illusory protection; yet so

¹ See Weyer, Englische Fabrikinspektion, p. 76.

² Brotherton's speech, Hansard, May 9th, 1836.

³ H. C., 1840, X., p. 15.

⁴ See the remarks on page 2 of Charles Wing's little known and deeply interesting essay, the "Evils of the Factory System," London, 1837. Independent evidence to the same effect occurs in the Report on Combinations of Workmen by a Select Committee of the House of Commons, in Vol. VIII. of 1837—8. It was stated (Q. 1,299) that it was found impossible to procure sufficient numbers of children to work in relays; that (Q. 1,368)

little is this understood, and so little are the historical materials studied, that as lately as the British Association meeting of 1901, ladies appeared at the Economic Section to advocate, in the interest of the workers, the substitution of a weekly for a daily limit.

Mr. Horner considered that the eight hours day for children gave them little protection, prevented their getting instruction, and was impossible to enforce satisfactorily. "The general hours of attendance at schools which would be open to factory children," wrote Mr. Howell, "are in the forenoon from nine to twelve, and from two to four or five in the afternoon, and the pupils at such schools have no other daily occupation; it therefore becomes impossible to consider the effects of the educational provisions of the Factories Acts without considering also the children's hours of daily employment in the mills. The educational provisions apply only to children employed in cotton, wool, worsted, aud flax mills; their hours of work must not begin before 5.30 a.m. or end after 8.30 p.m., nor exceed forty-eight hours in the week, nor nine hours in any one day; the general limit, therefore, of the labour of children between the ages of nine and thirteen employed in the mills above mentioned, may be taken at eight hours daily through the week. . . . But when the full term of eight hours' daily labour in the mill is exacted for the purpose of employing three children working eight hours each upon what is termed the relay the work could not go on without employing children from nine to twelve years old the whole twelve hours—the mill would be stopped; that (Q. 1,320, &c.) there were numerous evasions of the law, and that the masters endeavoured, if possible, to shift the penalty on to the shoulders of the spinner, who usually selected and paid his piecers himself. In consequence of these difficulties, there was a considerable demand for the labour of children old enough to work the full day, and their wages, so it was said (Q. 3,574), had recently risen from 2s. 2d. to 4s. 8d. a week, with the result, as these wages were paid by the spinners themselves, of reducing the spinners' net wages by several shillings a week.

¹ Ibid., p. 182.

system, to do the work which would otherwise be performed by two persons working twelve hours each, it will be seen that it is impossible that the children so employed should be able to attend school daily at the hours, either in the forenoon or afternoon, at which ordinary schools are open. . . There are, however, instances in which the full term of eight hours daily labour is not exacted from the factory children: in such cases the children work only half a day at the mill, and there is then no difficulty whatever in their attending any school in the neighbourhood, even though it should be at some distance from the mill: they who work in the mill in the forenoon have ample time to attend the full school hours in the afternoon, and they who work in the mill in the afternoon have ample time to attend the full school hours in the forenoon. appears to me to be the most efficient and satisfactory observance of the educational provisions of the Factories Act. The children so attending mix with the children of other classes of the community, and receive instruction not as a class by themselves."1

Mr. Horner also before the Committee of 1840² strongly advocated the employment of children in two distinct sets, one working before the dinner hour and the other after. This system, now generally known as the half-time system, was then often referred to as the "relay system." Mr. Horner said:—"The greatest difficulty we have in checking the number of hours in the day the children work is when they work them at irregular periods; one day they work one hour, and another day another hour, and it is almost impossible to check it." And in his tract "On the Employment of Children in Factories" Mr. Horner says:—"Where they work with relays of three children each working eight hours, instead of two above thirteen, working twelve hours each, and where the system

¹ Inspectors' Report on the Educational Provisions of the Factory Act, 1839, p. 370. ² H. C., 1840, X., pp. 48—9.

is regularly attended to, it does quite well, but in the majority of instances, at present, where they employ children under thirteen, they have no relay; they say that they manage to do without them the remaining four hours.' In later times, as will appear hereafter, the "relay system" came to mean this same irregular mode of employment which rendered the legal limitation of hours a farce.

The half-time system was strongly recommended by Horner in his reports 1841 and 1842, in the last mentioned of which he points out the necessity of enforcing it by law, otherwise the greed of the parents and their indifference to their children's interests might impel them—as in a case within his own experience—to withdraw their children from a mill in which "half time" had been introduced in order to give the children the opportunity of attending school, and send them elsewhere to get higher wages.

Besides the difficulty of combining school and factory work, the great obstacle in the way of enforcing school attendance was, of course, the scarcity of schools. Clause 22 of the Act of 1833 had been inoperative, because, though the Act obligingly "authorised" the inspectors to "establish or procure the establishment of such school " (sec. 22), no provision is suggested of means for starting such schools. The educational clauses, although they met with more general approval than any others, and greatly helped to conciliate Liberal opinion, were unfortunately those that were most carelessly drafted and most difficult for the inspectors to enforce. Here and there a mill owner might be a benevolent man and an educational enthusiast, who would follow in Robert Owen's footsteps and himself establish a good school for the children he employed.1 But too often the schools were started in a perfunctory manner, so as just to meet the letter of the law, and the instruction given was of the feeblest kind. Inspector Horner was once offered a school voucher signed

¹ See Report on Educational Provisions of the Factory Act, 1839, p. 5.

with a mark instead of the teacher's name, and on his inviting the schoolmaster to read the document aloud, the latter had to confess his inability to do so. Another time he found the school in the coal-hole, and the stoker alternately feeding the engine fire, and hearing a lesson from books as black as his own coals. Mr. Baker said :-"Factory schools are of many kinds, from the coal-hole of the engine-house to the highest grade of infant educa-The engine man, the slubber, the burler, the bookkeeper, the overlooker, the wife of any of these, the small shopkeeper or the next door neighbour with seven small children on the floor and on her lap, are by turns found ' teaching the young idea how to shoot,' in and about their several places of occupation, for the two hours required by the law." Even if a good National or British school were near the factory the children could often not attend. partly, as already explained, because they were usually at work till the school was closed for the day, partly because the state of their working clothes made them highly undesirable as scholars and companions. The old-fashioned dame schools offered a merely nominal instruction.

The inspectors were at present, therefore, powerless to enforce the law, but they exerted themselves with considerable effect in giving their best advice, help and encouragement to any individual manfuacturers who were inclined to help forward the cause of education, and their wide observation enabled them to report experiments from one part of the district to the other. It is worthy of note that the inspectors' experiences on this subject converted them into convinced adherents of the theroy of State control of education. Mr. Horner thought it altogether unsound in principle to throw the obligation of providing education upon the mill owner, and advocated a local rate for the purpose. Being asked before the Committee of 1840² whether he did not think this measure

Quoted in Journal of the Statistical Society, 1839, p. 179.
 H. C., 1840, X., p. 116.

would not be opposed by those who received no benefit from such schools, he replied he did not think they would be without benefit. "All the inhabitants of a locality have a clear and direct interest in the moral condition of the working class about them, and would derive benefit from the moral and religious education given in that school." Sir James Graham's Bill of 1843 would have provided educational facilities for factory children, but was opposed by the Dissenters on the ground that too much control was given to the Church, and it was consequently thrown out. Factory legislation, as regards children, was doubtless kept back for generations for want of an effective Education Act, and it is rather interesting to notice the mutual reaction of the two causes: education is made the motive and object of restricting children's hours of work, and then the factory inspectors in their turn become promotors and furtherers of State education, because they realise that only thereby can the restriction of hours become effective.

As regards the labour of young persons, Mr. Horner gave gratifying testimony before the Select Committee of 1840¹ that in his opinion a large number of mills worked only twelve hours a day and that the law was probably operative in nine-tenths of them. There remained, however, an unfortunate number of irregularities, and these were very difficult for the inspectors to check on account of the elasticity of the legal working day. Young persons might be worked only twelve hours, but they might be worked any time between 5.30 a.m. and 8.30 p.m. Meal times also might be distributed throughout the day at different times for different people. This system went far to annul the Factory Act regulations. As Mr. Howell confesses,² he had supposed, after the passing of the Act of

¹ *Ibid.*, p. 19.

² In an interesting report dated December, 1843, XXII. of 1849, in which he gives a *résumé* of the history of the "spurious relay system."

1833, that the restriction of the labour of young persons ander eighteen to twelve hours a day would be equivalent to a restriction on the motive power, and consequently on the labour of adults; this undoubtedly was the case with fair-minded employers, but unfortunately there was a minority eager to evade the limitation. As the children and young persons could be kept in attendance in or near the mill during the whole of the permitted working day. from 5.30 to 8.30, provided they were sent out for an hour and a half, and had also a like interval for meals, and as their intervals of rest and meal times were left entirely to the master's discretion, it is easy to see how little difficulty there was in keeping within the letter of the law. or appearing to keep within it, whilst entirely breaking it in the spirit. Even if the legal intervals were observed, it meant no more than that a certain number of children and young persons had to do double work while their fellowworkers were out; but obviously it was easy to disregard the intervals, and the inspectors had little chance of discovering or preventing any offence except that of working over hours at night. Moreover, the hour off, even when honestly given, was of little advantage to those who were sent out, especially if they lived at a distance from the The term "relay system" did not really mean, as the word misleadingly suggested, a system of shifts, one set of workers taking the place of another, as in the halftime system, which was introduced in 1844; the "spurious relay system," invented by the disloyal manufacturers after 1833, involved a complicated plan, or combination of plans, for shuffling the workers and shifting the hours of rest and meal times so that there might never be a complete set of hands working together in the same room at the same time; the inspector might easily be told on his visit that so-and-so was resting and so-and-so dining or breakfasting, and yet have very good reasons for doubting that each individual child and young person were allowed the legal intervals. The law-abiding manufacturers petitioned Parliament to be protected from the immoral competition of their fellows.¹ The inspectors made frequent representations in their reports of the difficulty they had in enforcing the law, and of the evils inflicted on young workers by so prolonged an attendance at the mills. Mr. Horner made it a recommendation that young persons between 13 and 18 should be prohibited from being employed in or about the factory more than thirteen and a half hours (working hours blus meal times) reckoned from the time that any young person began work in the morning.² As we shall see, this regulation found a place in the Act of 1844, and was a material aid in making administration effective. There are many persons at the present day who are disposed to regard the regulations relating to meal times and period of employment with a certain good-humoured scorn, as the vexatious meddling of petty-minded legislators and officials; it is right, therefore, to point out that these apparently trivial restrictions were not invented in a spirit of captious interference, but were literally forced upon the State, as a necessary part of the protection of young workers from the exploitation of unscrupulous employers.

In the spring of 1842 the first Report of the Children's Employment Commission, on Mines and Collieries, appeared. It does not fall within our limits to treat of the Mines Acts in detail. Mining industry is carried on under such different conditions, and is necessarily organised so differently from factory labour, that it demands separate treatment. But we have to note here that legislative control of a very drastic nature for women in mines was demanded and granted, before even the least restriction of factory women's hours had been attempted. The publication of the report made a terrible impression, which was not allowed to fade away without results. It was shown that women were commonly employed

¹ Capital, by K. Marx, Eng. translation, p. 267. ² H.C. 1841, X. p. 177.

underground in West Yorkshire and North Lancashire; that it was a common practice at "Bradford and Leeds, in Cheshire, Lancashire, and South Wales; general in the East of Scotland, rare in the West"; and unknown in Staffordshire, Shropshire, Warwickshire, Leicestershire, Derbyshire, Cumberland, Durham, Northumberland, Gloucester and Somerset, and the whole of Ireland.

The sufferings and exhaustion endured by the women are described in the report, and the details cannot even now be read without pain and shame. It has often been told how from an early age they were employed in dragging trucks of coal to which they were harnessed by a chain and girdle, going on all-fours, in conditions of dirt. heat, and indecency which are scarcely printable. demoralization resulting from such work and its inevitable results on the offspring of women living and toiling in such circumstances were shown in the report, and drove home the conclusion that society must interfere in such cases, or stand idly by to watch the gradual decay and degeneration of the mining population.

Lord Ashley's Bill struck at the root of the matter, and excluded women of all ages-as well as young children of both sexes—from the mines. This is, perhaps, the most high-handed interference with industry enacted by the State in the nineteenth century, and it doubtless led the way to the inclusion of women in the much milder Factory Bill of 1844. The restrictions placed on the employment of children and young persons had caused women to be employed in greater numbers, their labour being cheaper than that of men.1 It is quite likely that trade union jealousy brought some influence to bear, and the Yorkshire Short Time Committees certainly advocated very drastic measures of reform, such as limiting the proportion of women to men in factories, forbidding married women to work, and so on.² But the Commission of 1843, without

See Sir Charles Shaw's "Replies to Lord Ashley," p. 26.
 See above, p. 65, and Manchester and Salford Advertiser, January 15th, 1842.

being biassed by the considerations that might possibly influence trade unions, had brought to light terrible facts of the long hours and miserable conditions characteristic of women's labour.

Another influence that evidently had its share in this, as in most other developments of factory law, was the resentment of the law-abiding manufacturers against what they considered the "unfair" competition of those who worked over hours. Sir James Graham, speaking in the House, May 3rd, 1844, made a curious admission that the Act of 1833 was in fact intended to be of general operation, though ostensibly applying only to persons under eighteen. "The Legislature had already come to the conclusion that twelve hours was a sufficient period. It enacted directly that children and young persons should not be worked beyond that limit, and when it did so it indirectly fixed the principle that twelve hours ought to be the general limit to the worker of machinery. But that rule was in a manner broken by the instrumentality of female adult labour. . . . The restriction which had already been imposed upon the labour of children and young persons had driven those who sought to evade the law in working machinery for more than twelve hours, to avail themselves of the lower-paid labour of females in order to work beyond the limited time." Considering that the restriction imposed by "the law" had hitherto been studiously applied only to those under eighteen, the usual assumption being that Factory Acts were intended only to protect those who by reason of their youth could not be deemed "free agents," it was a somewhat odd position for one of H.M. Ministers to take up that working over hours with adult operatives was "evading the law."

The inclusion of women was violently opposed by Mr. Roebuck, on the ground that factory women were on the whole better off than those employed in other kinds of industry, particularly in agriculture. No justification for this optimistic incredulity was to be found in the inspectors'

reports. In 1843 the inspectors had drawn attention to the extreme overwork to which women were subjected in factories, sometimes from 5 a.m. to 8.30 p.m. Mr. Horner pointed out in his report for October, 1843, that "there is a great deal of illegal over-working; that is, that many under eighteen years of age are worked more than twelve hours a day. In many mills they avowedly work more than twelve hours, turning out all under eighteen, a sufficient number above that age remaining to work part of the machinery; but in many mills the precaution of not allowing any under eighteen to remain is too often imperfectly attended to, or entirely omitted, unless when the inspecting officer is known to be near at hand. . . . A theorist may say that these people (women just over eighteen) are old enough to take care of themselves; but practically there can be no such thing as freedom of labour, when from the redundancy of population there is such competition for employment. Twelve hours' daily work is more than enough for anyone; but however desirable it might be that excessive working should be prevented. there are great difficulties in the way of legislative interference with the labour of adult men. The case, however, is very different as respects women; for not only are they much less free agents, but they are physically incapable of bearing a continuance of work for the same length of time as men, and a deterioration of their health is attended with far more injurious consequences to society."1

Another matter that probably helped to bring the condition of women workers before the Government was the question of fencing machinery. The inspectors had

¹ It is curious to note the different attempts that were made to secure a measure of protection for women. The Bill of 1841 proposed to include all under 21, whether men or women, as young persons within the meaning of the Act; the Bill of 1843 proposed to leave male young persons as they were, but to include all female young persons under 21; the Bill finally passed in 1844 included all women over eighteen under the same regulations as those for young persons.

become cognizant of the terrible accidents that occurred in the mills, and pointed out before the Committee of 1840 that the customary dress of girls and women made them especially liable to be caught by the machinery, and perhaps killed or seriously injured. The Committee drew up some recommendations which were substantially embodied in the Act of 1844.

We are now in a position to consider this Act,¹ and it is remarkable to notice how much it owes to the inspectors' advice and initiative, the most important sections being due to their suggestion.

Women were now included (sec. 32) under the same regulations as young persons.

Machinery was to be safeguarded much on the lines the inspectors had recommended; no child, young person, or woman was now allowed to clean it whilst in motion (sec. 20). And "every fly-wheel directly connected with the steam engine or water-wheel or other mechanical power, whether in the engine-house or not, and every part of a steam engine and water-wheel, and every hoist or teagle, near to which children or young persons are liable to pass or be employed, and all parts of the mill-gearing in a factory" was to be securely fenced (sec. 21).

Although the hours of work and the working day were unaltered from the Act of 1833, the twelve hours' work between 5.30 a.m. and 8.30 p.m. being still permitted, there were several subsidiary regulations which show that the inspectors' minute and careful study of industrial conditions was beginning to take effect. The half-time system for children was enacted (secs. 30, 31); but, as a set-off, children of eight might now be employed (sec. 29).

The Act required that the twelve hours working day must be held to begin from the time that any protected person started working in the morning (sec. 26); that no protected person must remain in the work-room during meal times (sec. 36); and the meal times of all young persons and women must take place at one time.

¹ 7 & 8 Vict., c. 15.

The hours of work and meals were to be regulated by some public clock, to be approved by the inspectors (sec. 26). These regulations amounted to a recognition, if a tardy one, of the need for defining as well as limiting the working day, and they made the inspectors' work much more practicable. The making up of lost time was also placed under stricter control (secs. 33, 34).

Some important alterations were also made in the method of administration. The jurisdiction of a magistrate (sec. 2), which had proved an embarrassment to the inspectors in the exercise of their own proper functions, was now withdrawn. They also lost the power of making rules and regulations on their own authority, this being transferred to the Secretary of State (sec. 6). The inspectors were, however, strengthened in their office in several ways; the superintendents, who were from this time styled "sub-inspectors" (sec. 2), had now the power (sec. 3) to enter and inspect factories and factory schools, for want of which they had been much hindered; the inspectors were given legal power to appoint certifying surgeons (sec. 8), and to disqualify schoolmasters whom they considered incompetent (sec. 39); notice was to be sent to them of the opening or occupation of a factory (sec. 7). Two magistrates were now required for hearing complaints, instead of one, as before (sec. 45), neither a factory occupier nor his father, brother or son might suit to hear complaints (sec. 71), and complaints could be made within two months of the offence instead of fourteen days (sec. 44). The fines were increased (sec. 56). This was a necessary measure, as, owing to the large powers granted to magistrates to mitigate penalties and their alacrity to do so, it was often more profitable to overwork children and pay the penalty than to observe the law. The conventional fine was well known in the Rochdale district as the "sovereign remedy."1

¹ Report Select Committee, 1841, IX., p. 18.

Section 27 required a register to be kept of the children and young persons employed in the factory, and empowered the inspector to demand any extracts or information from the register that he might require.

Section 28 required an abstract of the amended Act to be hung up in the factory so as to be easily read, and to contain names and addresses of the inspector and sub-inspector of the district, the certifying surgeon, the times for beginning and ending work, the amount of time and time of day for meals, time lost and time recovered, and other particulars.

The period between 1829 and 1844 was one of most violent and bitter controversy over the Factory Acts, which was intensified by the simultaneous struggle over the repeal of the Corn Laws. Although the singleness of purpose of such leaders as Sadler and Lord Ashley is of course absolutely above suspicion, it is probable that many of their followers were only too pleased to vote for "Ten Hours" as a means of putting a spoke in the manufacturers' wheel, and taunts were levelled from both sides at the readiness of hon, members to benefit the working classes at other people's expense.1 It must be remembered, however, that the division of opinion was by no means strictly a party one,2 and the exigencies of work on party lines brings it about that we find Sir Robert Peel, for instance, defending the principle of regulating women's labour,3 though he had bitterly attacked Lord Ashley's amendment for making regulation worth having and a reality only two months before.4 Without going into the many side issues raised, it may be said that the line of opposition of this period has little to do with abstract ideas of individual freedom or the philosophic doctrine of laissez-faire, but resolves itself for the most part into

¹ Morley's "Life of Cobden," II., 300.

² See passage in Greville's "Memoirs," quoted in Chap. IV., p. 68.

See Hansard, May 3rd, 1844, col. 658.
 Ibid., March 18th, 1844, col. 1,241, &c.

what we may term the optimistic argument, asserting the alleged overwork to be grossly exaggerated, and the commercial, which went to show that the manufacturing interest could not stand the strain that would be put upon it by the proposed restriction to ten hours. Both these arguments are already old friends, but they received in this period, at the hands of Nassau Senior, a daring and uncompromising treatment that merits some special consideration. In his once celebrated "Letters on the Factory Acts "he wrote thus:—" The following analysis will show that in a mill so worked "(i.e., on the plan of twelve hours a day and nine on Saturday, laid down by the Act of 1833) "the whole profit is derived from the last hour. I will suppose a manufacturer to invest £100,000—£80,000 in his mill and machinery and £20,000 in raw material and wages. The annual return of that mill, supposing the capital to be turned once a year and gross profits to be 15 per cent., ought to be goods worth £115,000, produced by the constant conversion and re-conversion of the \$20,000 circulating capital from money into goods and from goods into money in periods of rather more than two months. Of this £115,000 each of the twenty-three halfhours of work produces $\frac{5}{115}$ ths or $\frac{1}{23}$ rd. Of these twentythree twenty-thirds (constituting the whole £115,000), twenty, that is to say £100,000, out of the £115,000 simply replace the capital; $\frac{1}{23}$ rd (or £5,000) out of the £115,000 makes up for the deterioration of the mill and the machinery. The remaining 23rds, the last two of the twenty-three half-hours of every day, produce a net profit of 10 per cent. If, therefore (prices remaining the same), the factory could be kept at work thirteen hours instead of eleven and a half, by an addition of about £2,600 to the circulating capital, the net profit would be more than doubled. On the other hand, if the hours of working were reduced by one hour per day (prices remaining the same), net profit would be destroyed; if they were reduced by an hour and a half, even gross profit would be destroyed. The circulating capital would be replaced, but there would be no fund to compensate the progressive deterioration of the fixed capital."

This statement of Senior's was introduced into the debate on Lord Ashley's amendment in favour of "Ten Hours" in 1844¹ by Mr. Milner Gibson, who, while approving of the restriction of women and young persons to twelve hours, thought that any further limitation would operate as a restriction on the motive power and on the labour of male adults, and would constitute "an interference with the only property they had to dispose of—namely, their labour." He thought Senior's principle "sound," and said that, "by the depreciation of manufactures, the greatest possible injury would be inflicted upon the operatives."

This speech attracted some attention, and was criticised in the daily and weekly Press. It was pointed out that "no one but a mill owner or Mr. Senior" was unreasonable enough to expect his capital to be returned in one year, a construction which it is incredible Senior could have intended, but was—it must be owned—a perfectly fair inference from his wording. Another absurdity was shown to be contained in Senior's assumption that the same outlay in raw material, &c., would be necessary, although on his hypothesis a smaller quantity would be produced. The Spectator, in a long and interesting article, contended that the loss through shorter hours, if loss there were, might fall on profits, and yet competition might prevent a reduction of output, or, on the other hand, price might be enhanced one-sixth, and consumers would have to pay more or consume less—an "evil" which "does not appear excessive "considered as "the purchase money of two hours leisure per day for the whole slaving population of our cotton manufacture," and likely to be compensated for by the progress of mechanical improvements.2

¹ Hansard, March 15th, 1844, col. 1,110.

² The Times, March 26th and 20th, 1844; Spectator, March 23rd, 1844.

More interesting, perhaps, than any of these, because written in closer contact with facts, were the remarks of Mr. Kennedy in his report on calico printing, which will be considered below.¹

Senior also opposed the Ten Hours Bill on the ground that the work of children and young persons in the cotton mills was so light—" mere confinement, attention, and attendance," as he put it—that it was perfectly possible, not to say desirable, for them to work "extremely long hours." Edward Baines insisted on the same point. "It is," he said, "scarcely possible for any employment to be lighter."2 But he rather damaged the force of this assertion by explaining that "the only thing which makes factory labour trying, even to delicate children, is, that they are confined for long hours and deprived of fresh air; this makes them pale and reduces their vigour, but it rarely brings on disease." It was very usual also to argue against any attempt to regulate factory labour by pleading that worse abuses existed in other industries. This was the burden of Mr. Bright's speech on March 15th, and of Sir Robert Peel's on March 18th, 1844. The latter went so far in his descriptions of the miseries undergone in unregulated industries that the sympathies of the House were enlisted in the direction opposite to that intended by the speaker. He had described so vividly

¹ Chapter VII., p. 125.

² History of the Cotton Manufacture, p. 456.

Baines' description of the prosperous operative illustrates the Philistine ideals of his time with such unconscious humour that we cannot forbear quoting it, although it is not strictly relevant to the question of regulation. "Where a spinner is assisted by his own children in the mill," he says on p. 446, "his income is so large that he can live more generously and clothe himself and his family better than many of the lower class of tradesmen, and though improvidence and misconduct too often ruin the happiness of these families, yet there are thousands of spinners in the cotton districts who eat meat every day, wear broadcloth on the Sunday, dress their wives and children well, furnish their houses with mahogany and carpets, subscribe to publications, and pass through life with much of humble respectability."

and painfully the sufferings and long hours of work undergone by women and children in earthenware making, block printing, the metal trades and other industries, which all, as he stated, involved worse conditions than cotton. that his final appeal came as an anti-climax. right," he asked, "to deal only with one branch of industry and leave others altogether untouched, in which it appears that female children work fourteen, fifteen, or sixteen, or even as much as eighteen hours a day?" He apparently supposed that hon, members would accept this as a reductio ad absurdum of regulation of textiles, whereupon the House turned upon him and greeted the ironical query "If you are prepared to legislate for them" with loud cries of "Hear, hear!" Nevertheless, the arguments which had in March so entirely convinced Sir Robert Peel that State interference was unjustifiable in the case of Lord Ashley's amendment for ten hours, did not, in the May following, prevent his defending Sir James Graham's Bill for restricting women's labour to twelve, and it is not surprising that Lord John Russell, who, though a whig, supported the Ten Hours movement at the cost of offending his family and party,1 used this singular inconsistency against him with considerable effect. Sir Robert Peel's arguments were as valid against a twelve hours, as against a ten hours Act.

Nor was this the only case of inconsistency. In June, 1838, Mr. Roebuck wrote to his wife from Glasgow that he had been to see a cotton-mill—"a sight that froze my blood. The place was full of women, young, all of them, some large with child, and obliged to stand twelve hours each day. Their hours are from five in the morning to seven in the evening, two hours of that being for rest, so that they stand twelve clear hours. The heat was excessive in some of the rooms, the stink pestiferous, and in all an atmosphere of cotton flue. I

¹ Life of Lord John Russell, Vol. I., p. 415.

nearly fainted.1" Yet on May 3rd, 1844, this same Mr. Roebuck, moving a resolution that the House would sanction "no interference with the power of adult labourers in factories to make contracts respecting the hours for which they shall be employed," brought up the old optimistic arguments that the miseries of factory labour were exaggerated, that factory labour was neither laborious nor ill-paid, and, having apparently entirely forgotten his visit to Glasgow only six years before, said passionately, "It won't do to come down to this House with exaggerated descriptions of misery, of want and of suffering. I deny them all ('Oh, Oh!')." In 1860 the same speaker joined Lord Shaftesbury in promoting a Bill for regulating bleaching and dye-works, retracted his opposition, and made a speech on the subject² which his biographer describes as "one of the most marvellous triumphs of rhetoric ever achieved within those walls."

The fact would seem to be that there was really no very definite cleavage on the abstract question of State interference with industry. Each side would occasionally find it convenient to use a few stock phrases about "freedom of labour," or "violating the principle of leaving each individual free to make his own contract"; each side would generally object to the regulations proposed by the other, but it is notable that there was never any real retreat from the principle affirmed by the Act of 1819. Such objections as were raised to later Acts were obiections to the particular extension, or the particular measure that was in question at the moment, and the opponents of the measure would gravely use the old laissez-faire phrases, and perhaps really fancy that they meant them to be taken seriously. Half an hour afterwards they might be found defending the twelve hours day with arguments that were logically destructive of their previous reasoning. Nor can it be denied that some

¹ Life of Roebuck, by R. E. Leader, p. 117; see also pp. 119, 120.

² Hansard, March 21st, 1860

of the arguments used by Sadler and Lord Ashley were equally open to the charge of proving too much. From some of the attacks made on the demoralising nature of the factory industry, it would have logically followed that not only children but women should be entirely excluded from it, in the interests of family life and well-being.

Here and there, however, a note is struck which suggests that the factory reformers were working out the philosophy of the matter, and among much dreary and more or less irrelevant verbiage we occasionally find the real issues set forth in such a direct statement as: "The State has an interest and a right to watch over and provide for the moral and physical well-being of her people." Lord Howick, again, made a valuable and illuminating speech on May 3rd in the same year. agreed with Adam Smith that restrictions upon the freedom of industry, if intended to increase the wealth of a particular class, are unjust-if that of the whole community, are impolitic and miss their aim: "but I contend that you altogether misapply the maxim of leaving industry to itself when you use it as an argument against regulations of which the object is, not to increase the productive power of the country, or to take the fruits of a man's labour from himself and give it to another, but, on the contrary, to guard the labourer himself and the community from evils against which the mere pursuit of wealth affords us no security. . . . There is an important distinction which has not been sufficiently adverted to in these debates, between restrictions imposed upon industry with the visionary hope of increasing a nation's wealth. or with the unjust design of taxing one class for the benefit of another, and those of which the aim is to guard against evils, moral or physical, which it is apprehended that the absence of such precautions might entail upon the people."

¹ Lord Ashley, see Hansard, March 15th, 1844.

In May, 1846, Macaulay himself, in an extraordinarily fine speech, 1 triumphantly demonstrated that "where health is concerned, and where morality is concerned, the State is justified in interfering with the contracts of individuals," and appealed to the experience of the Acts already in force, to prove that the results of shortening hours by law were beneficent rather than disastrous. "I do not mean to say that a man will not produce more in a week by working seven days than by working six days. But I very much doubt whether, at the end of a year, he will generally have produced more by working seven days a week than by working six days a week; and I firmly believe that at the end of twenty years he will have produced much less by working seven days a week than by working six days a week. In the same manner I do not deny that a factory child will produce more, in a single day, by working twelve hours than by working ten, and by working fifteen hours than by working twelve. But I do deny that a great society in which children work fifteen or even twelve hours a day will, in the lifetime of a generation, produce as much as if those children had worked less. . . . Rely on it, that intense labour, beginning too early in life, continued too long every day, stunting the growth of the mind, leaving no time for healthful exercise, no time for intellectual culture, must impair all those high qualities which have made our country great. Your overworked boys will become a feeble and ignoble race of men, the parents of a more feeble progeny; nor will it be long before the deterioration of the labourer will injuriously affect those very interests to which his physical and moral energies have been sacrificed. . . . Never will I believe that what makes a population stronger, and healthier, and wiser, and better, can ultimately make it poorer. . . . If ever we are forced to yield the foremost place

¹ Works, Vol. VIII., p. 360.

among commercial nations we shall yield it to some people pre-eminently vigorous in body and mind."

In 1847 the Ten Hours agitation, which has been described in the previous chapter, found a successful conclusion in the passing of the Ten Hours Act. 1 The second reading was carried by a majority of 108, the third by a majority of 63, and the Bill also passed the House of Lords.2 The minority were as convinced as ever that theirs was the only righteous cause, and the imminence of their defeat did not prevent Joseph Hume, John Bright, Roebuck, and others, from making impassioned harangues on the peril of interference with manufacturers' profits.3 A more modern note of opposition is found in one speech, that of Viscount Ebrington, the present Earl Fortescue, who upheld the economic advantage of shorter hours, while strongly disapproving of State interference with the labour of adults, whether men or women. He considered that the demand of the operatives for shorter hours was defensible, and even imperative, on economical grounds, and he quoted cases. evidently taken from the Children's Employment Commission.4 in which an increase in the hours of work had resulted in positive loss. Nevertheless, so strong were his objections to State interference that, in his opinion, Factory Law ought only to apply to boys until fourteen, and to girls a little longer. It is unusual at that time to find an opponent of State interference appreciating the economy of short hours, and basing his opposition, not on commercial, but on individualist grounds. At present the two positions might probably often be found combined.

^{1 10 &}amp; 11 Vict., c. 29.

<sup>Life of the 7th Earl of Shaftesbury, Vol. II., pp. 190—3.
Hansard, February 10th and 17th, 1847.</sup>

⁴ See below, Chapter VII.

CHAPTER VI.

THE INTRODUCTION OF A NORMAL DAY.

Administration of the Ten Hours Act—The False Relay System—Act of 1850—Establishment of a "Normal Day" for Women and Young Persons—Agitation for a Restriction on the Motive Power of Machinery—Act of 1853—Extension of the "Normal Day" to Children—The Fencing of Horizontal Shafts—Opposition of Manufacturers—Formation of "National Association of Factory Occupiers"—Factory Act of 1856.

During the period from 1847 to 1860 no great extension of the principles of factory legislation took place. period is marked by only two acts of importance—namely, those of 1850 and 1853, which established for the first time a definite normal working day for women, young persons, and children. No new principle was involved in these Acts. They were due to the discovery that the regulations as to hours could not be enforced without such a provision, and they show the need of drafting Acts of Parliament in language so definite that no misunderstanding can arise. But the period derives great interest from two movements; one amongst the working men, who agitated for a restriction on the moving-power of machinery, as the only means of enforcing the regulations as to hours, and another amongst the masters, against what they called "meddling legislation."

When the Ten Hours Bill of 1847 actually became law the greatest rejoicing took place all over the country, especially amongst those members of the Short Time Committees, who for the last thirty years had been working for what they now looked upon as an accomplished fact. We read that on May 22nd, 1847, a meeting of

¹ This expression here, as in Chapter IV., means always a restriction on the number of hours during which machinery might be worked.

delegates from Short Time Committees was held in London, and the following resolution was passed:-" That we are deeply grateful to Almighty God for the success which has heretofore attended our efforts, and now that the object of our labours for the last thirty years is about to be brought to a happy consummation we pledge ourselves to promote by every means in our power those religious and social blessings which it has been the object of the Bill to extend to the factory workers." In June, 1847, after the Bill had become law, the rejoicings throughout the manufacturing districts were such as had never been known before. Demonstrations to celebrate the passing of the Act were held in almost every town in Lancashire and Yorkshire. and meetings were called together by the members of the Short Time Committees, congratulating the working classes on the success of their labours, and urging them to make good use of the extra time which would now be afforded to them.2

It was some time before it was possible to tell what would be the effect of the reduction of hours, for the year 1847 was marked by a great depression of trade. over, the Ten Hours Act only came into operation gradually. The hours were first reduced to eleven, and the ten hours limit was not to come into force until May, 1848.

The extent of the depression of trade may be gathered from the fact that in March, 1847, out of a total of 179 mills in Manchester only 92 were working full time, 68 short time, and 17 were closed. Out of a total of 41,000 hands employed in these mills, 22,000, or about 50 per cent., were working full time, 13,500 were working short time, and 5,500 were stopped. The average number of working hours per day in Manchester was reduced to seven, and in the surrounding districts to eight hours.3

¹ Halifax Guardian, May 22nd, 1847.

² See, e.g., accounts of meetings in Halifax Guardian, June 5th

and 19th, 1847, and Manchester Guardian, June 5th, 1847.

3 See Halifax Guardian, March 6th, 1847. At a meeting of delegate spinners held on October 3rd, 1847, it was stated that

The operative cotton spinners of Lancashire advocated the temporary closing of the cotton mills as the only method of restoring the balance of trade,¹ but the masters refused to consider this, and in Mossley they proposed a reduction of 10 per cent. in wages.²

This example was followed by the manufacturers of other districts. Public meetings of the operatives were organised for the purpose of protesting against the reduction, and it was proposed that there should be a general strike; but several of the delegates were reluctant to adopt such an extreme measure. The spinners in the neighbourhood of Ashton and Dukinfield3 did come out on strike; but in a month they were obliged to return to work on the terms offered by the masters.4 It must be noticed that the reduction was due, not to the Ten Hours Act, but to the depression in trade,⁵ and if there were any doubt about this, it would be dispelled by the fact that after the Ashton men returned to work at the reduced rate, their hours were only seven a day, and the masters stated that "when trade revived they would have no objection to put on the 10 per cent. again."6 In Warrington the

the number of mills which had stopped working was as follows:—Ashton-under-Lyne 16, Bolton 90, Belmont 38, Bosden 18, Chorley 72, Cuerden and Walton 190, Heywood 27, Leeds 12, Manchester 300, Mossley 142, Oldham 26, Leddleworth 24, Shaw Chapel 37, Sansbury 30, Tyldsley 11, Waterhead Mill 40, Withnal 50, Warrington 70, Bury 51. It was stated also that in Preston and Blackburn upwards of 20 mills had entirely stopped working, Manchester Courier, October 6th, 1847. See also "Eight Hours Day and the Unemployed," by J. Rae, in Contemporary Review, 1893.

¹ See Halifax Guardian, September 11th, 1847.

3 See Manchester Courier, October 23rd, 1847.

4 Ibid., December 1st, 1847.

² Ibid., September 18th and October 9th, 1847, and Manchester Courier, September 22nd, 1847.

⁵ For a discussion on the effects of the Ten Hours Act on wages, see "Factory Legislation Considered with Reference to the Wages of the Operatives Protected Thereby," by Geo. H. Wood; read before the Royal Statistical Society, April 15th, 1902.

⁶ See Manchester Courier, November 24th, 1847.

manufacturers had promised that if the men would consent to a reduction, the mills should be worked full time. men did agree, but shortly afterwards the mills were closed altogether. The manufacturers took advantage of the desperate condition of the workmen to get up an agitation for preventing the Ten Hours Act from coming into full force.

Lord Ashley, in a letter to the Lancashire Short Time Committees, warned the operatives of the movement which was being set on foot, and advised them not to move from their present position "by a hair's breadth." Instructions were forthwith sent to every local committee in England, Scotland, and Ireland to meet and reorganise its forces, and to communicate with the operatives in each district with a view to resisting any attempt that might be made for preventing the Ten Hours Act from coming into full operation. At such a time of depression, after two years' suffering among the factory operatives, in consequence of the terrible crisis of 1846-7, a considerable number of them were in great destitution, and it would have been only natural that, when trade revived, many would be anxious to work longer time, in order to make up for past losses. But on the whole they remained firm. Petitions in favour of the repeal of the Ten Hours Act were sent in, but the petitioners themselves afterwards declared under oral examination that they had been forced to sign them on pain of dismissal.

In order to test the general feeling Leonard Horner, one of the inspectors, examined 10,270 adult male labourers in ten factories as to their views on the question, and of these 70 per cent. declared in favour of a ten hours day, even though it might involve a reduction in wages.3 The marfufacturers failed in their attempt to overthrow the Ten Hours Act, and it came into full operation on May 21st, 1848.

Ibid., September 15th, 1847.
 See Halifax Guardian, December 24th, 1847; also "Capital," by Karl Marx, English translation, p. 270.

³ See Appendix to Report of Inspectors of Factories, Parliamentary Papers, 1849, Vol. XXII., p. 147.

The Halifax Guardian stated that "the change . . . came noiselessly and unnoticed by any but those immediately concerned. In fact, Nature has anticipated the Legislature, and, instead of finding the Act of Parliament a burden and an evil, the manufacturers would be only too glad to be able to run their mills for the full time allowed by law."

The reports of the factory inspectors tell the same tale. In June, 1848, Mr. Horner reported that:—"As many mills have been already closed, and a large proportion have shortened their time of working several hours a day, in many cases to half-time; the operation of the restriction of the labour of young persons and women to ten hours a day . . . has been very partially felt."²

But already in 1847 we find the inspectors complaining of indications of a disposition among some manufacturers to resort to plans for evading the law, and to keep their machinery working for more than ten hours a day. This was a comparatively easy matter, owing to the fact that the Factory Acts of 1833, 1844, and 1847, were all three in force, so far as the one did not amend the other; that not one of these limited the working day of the male workers over eighteen, and that since 1833, although the legal hours of work for young persons and women had been reduced from twelve to ten hours, no corresponding reduction had been made in the duration of the legal working day, which still extended from 5.30 a.m. to 8.30 p.m.

Thus the employers who now wished to keep their machinery working for longer than ten hours could do so by supplying the men with helpers by means of shifts and relays of women and young persons.³ This device was

² Report of Inspectors of Factories, Parliamentary Papers,

1847—8, Vol. XXVI., p. 151.

¹ Halifax Guardian, May 6th, 1848.

³ Mr. Horner stated in 1840, that in his district 114 mills were working young persons and women by shifts. "In general the time of working is extended to thirteen and a half hours, from 6 a.m. to 7.30 p.m., with an hour and a half off for meals; but

no new one. It had been largely practised under the Act of 1833, which had restricted the labour of children to nine hours, and that of young persons to twelve hours a day, but had allowed the period of employment to be taken any time within a limit of fifteen hours. The inspectors had complained of the impossibility of detecting overtime employment under such a system, 1 and when in 1844 a Bill had been brought in to amend the numerous imperfections of the Act of 1833, no amendment had been more urgently pressed upon the attention of the Government than that greater security should be provided against overtime employment. It was thought that this end would be accomplished by sec. 26, which enacted that the hours of work of all protected persons "shall be reckoned from the time when any child or young person shall first begin to work in the morning in such factory." This answered the purpose until 1847, but when the Ten Hours Act came into force it was discovered by the employers that the Act of 1844 was "not so stringent in the wording as to preclude altogether the employment of relays "2; and even in spite of the depression of trade, the system was reintroduced in a certain number of mills as early as 1847.

To realise the evils of the relay system we may quote from Mr. Howell's report:—" The system which they seek to introduce under the guise of relays is some one of the many plans for shuffling the hands about in endless variety, and shifting the hours of work and of rest for different individuals throughout the day, so that you may never have one complete set of hands working together in the same room at the same time."

in some instances it amounts to fifteen hours, from 5.30 a.m. to 8.30 p.m., with the same allowance for meals." Report of Inspectors of Factories, 1849, Vol. XXII., p. 287.

¹ See supra, Chapter V., p. 80.

² See Lord Ashley's speech, Hansard, 3rd S., Vol. CIX., p. 884.
³ Report of Inspectors of Factories, Parliamentary Papers, 1849, Vol. XXII., p. 225.

Karl Marx compares the operatives under the relay system to the actors on a stage, and says that, "as on the stage, the same person had to appear in turns in the different scenes of different acts. But as an actor, during the whole course of the play, belongs to the stage, so the operatives, during fifteen hours, belonged to the factory, without reckoning the time for going and coming. Thus the hours of rest were turned into hours of enforced idleness, which drove the youths to the pot-house and the girls to the brothel."

A correspondent from Stalybridge, writing to Lord Ashley in 1850, thus speaks of the relay system:—"I have been to-day to see some factories where the so-called relay system is in full work, and have seen such evidence of the evils of that mode of working the people that I cannot refrain from pouring out my feelings to you. In one factory I found three hundred and thirty-five young persons and women working by relays: they are sent out at different times of the day, so as to bring their actual working to ten hours. They are sent out of the mill without any regard to the distance of their homes of the state of the weather. Some of them, I ascertained, lived two miles off, and then the half-hour, or one hour, or two hours can be turned to no good account. . . . One manager said that 'the factory law has never worked so oppressively to the operatives, as it does now."2

Under such a system the Ten Hours Act was completely nullified, and it was impossible for the inspectors to detect overtime employment. The inspectors all agreed that, according to the strict letter of the law, relays were illegal, but, owing to the different interpretations of the law given by magistrates in cases brought up for trial,³ an appeal was made to the Law Officers of the Crown, who reported

¹ "Capital," by Karl Marx, English translation, p. 277.

² Hansard, 3rd S., Vol. CIX., p. 886, March 14th, 1850. ³ See Report of Inspectors of Factories, Parliamentary Papers, 1847—8, Vol. XXV., p. 245.

that they agreed with the inspectors in pronouncing the relay system to be illegal.¹

In spite of this opinion, many of the magistrates still refused to convict for this offence, on the ground that sec. 26 of the Act of 1844 was loosely worded and would not bear the strong construction put upon it.

The Home Secretary was so overwhelmed with petitions from the employers, that, in a circular of August 5th, 1848, he recommended the inspectors "not to lay informations against the mill owners for a breach of the letter of the Act, or for employment of young persons by relays, in cases in which there is no reason to believe that such young persons have been actually employed for a longer period than that sanctioned by law." The English inspectors declared that the Home Secretary had no power dictatorially to suspend the law, and they continued their legal proceedings against manufacturers who introduced the relay system.

The two inspectors in the East and South of England were generally supported by the justices, but in the important circuit of Manchester Leonard Horner met with great opposition in his determined attempt to enforce the law. He held a difficult post, as he was bitterly reproached by the masters who worked with relays, for taking proceedings against them, and he found it impossible to enforce the law throughout his district, owing to the fact that the magistrates did not support him. The bench was often occupied by employers, who simply dismissed the inspector's complaint without even taking the trouble to justify their decision. In one case Horner reported that "in consequence of a case being dismissed three times . . . all the factories within the magisterial division in which Mr. Greene acts may work by relays of young persons and women without my having the

¹ See letter from Mr. (afterward Sir George) Cornewall Lewis to the Inspectors of Factories, Parliamentary Papers, 1847—8, Vol. LI., p. 244.

³ Parliamentary Papers, 1849, Vol. XXII., p. 134.

power to prevent them." On the other hand, as the relay system spread in Lancashire, Horner was accused of tolerating it by the masters who kept within the legal limits, and they complained that it was impossible for them to compete with other employers who kept their machinery working for a longer time by means of relavs.

James Stuart, the inspector for Scotland, was the only one who refused to concur with the other inspectors in their attempts stringently to enforce the law. He did not deny that relays were illegal, but expressed the view that his colleagues were too anxious for the letter of the law, and that their action "involved a harshness unforeseen and unintended by the Legislature."

The result of the contradictory decisions of the magistrates and of the different attitudes taken by the inspectors was that factory legislation was in a perfect chaos. The masters complained that "a condition of things altogether abnormal and anarchical obtained; one law was said to hold in Yorkshire, another in Lancashire; one law in one parish of Lancashire, another in its immediate neighbourhood."2

In 1849, when good trade set in, the relay system spread rapidly, and in order finally to settle the matter, a test case was brought by Horner before the Court of Exchequer.3 Baron Parke, in giving judgment, declared that the words of the Act were not sufficiently stringent to carry into effect what the Court "strongly conjectured" must have been the intention of the Legislature. the relay system was declared to be legal, and the decision left no alternative but another appeal to Parliament. The Short Time Committees immediately renewed their agitation for a normal working day, enforced by means of a restriction on the moving power of machinery. All the

¹ Report of Inspectors of Factories, Parliamentary Papers, 1849, Vol. XXII., p. 143.

2 "Capital," by Karl Marx, English translation, p. 279.

³ Court of Exchequer, Ryder v. Mills, P.P. 67, Sess. 1850, p. 3.

old committees in Lancashire had been reorganised in 1849, when it had been foreseen that, owing to the extension of the relay system, an appeal to Parliament would be necessary, and when the Court of Exchequer gave its decision, the Short Time Committees were in full working order.

Lord Ashley undertook the Parliamentary business, and on March 14th, 1850, asked leave "to introduce a Bill that would carry into effect what had been the intentions of Parliament in 1844." The clause which he proposed as an amendment to sec. 26 of the Act of 1844 was found to be ineffective, and a conference of lawvers which sat upon it came to the conclusion that the object in view could not be obtained by any single clause unless new regulations respecting meal times were introduced. The Government proposed to meet the difficulty by fixing the hours of work for protected persons within a twelve hours limit—from 6 a.m. to 6 p.m., or from 7 a.m. to 7 p.m.—allowing one and a half hours for meals, and enacting that on Saturdays work should cease at 2 p.m. Sir George Grey, the Home Secretary, in introducing this Bill, said that he had given serious attention to the matter, and did not think it would be possible to enforce the limitation of hours successfully while the range of fifteen hours was left untouched, and he maintained that the Government Bill, though it would involve two hours' additional labour in the week, would more effectively carry out the object of Lord Ashley than the Bill he himself had proposed. Lord Ashley accepted this compromise, and the Government measure became law.

Mr. Saunders, in his report for 1849, says:—"Former reports from some of my colleagues and from myself declare clearly the opinion that nothing but one uniform set of hours for all persons employed in the same mill in each of the protected classes can effectually guard such

¹ Hansard, 3rd S., Vol. CIX., p. 834.

operatives from overwork. I find the truth of this proposition confirmed over and over again."1

The manager of one of the largest mills in Manchester said to Mr. Horner that "If there were twenty inspectors we could defy them all if working by relays were allowed." After wide experience and extensive enquiries Mr. Horner came to the conclusion that if relays were sanctioned " no practical system of inspection could prevent extensive fraudulent overworking."2

Bearing these remarks in mind, it is almost impossible to exaggerate the importance of the establishment by the Legislature of a "normal day" for women and young persons.3

The general attitude of the Short Time Committees towards the Government proposal may be gathered from an account of a delegate meeting held at the Cotton Tree Tavern, Manchester, on Sunday morning, May 12th. The object of the meeting was to consider "What steps should be taken to improve the plan proposed by the Government, by engrafting upon it amendments so as to secure the full advantage of the Ten Hours Act, and in the event of failing in this attempt, whether it is wisdom to throw out the Bill entirely and remain as we are for another year, or whether we will allow the measure to pass, restricting the factory day from 6 o'clock in the morning to 6 o'clock at night, and reserve to ourselves the right of considering the propriety of applying to Parliament next year for the reduction of the two hours which it is now proposed to take from us."

Philip Grant addressed the meeting in favour of the ¹ Report of Inspectors of Factories, Parliamentary Papers, 18:9, Vol. XXII., p. 239.

² Report of Inspectors of Factories, Parliamentary Papers,

1849, Vol. XXII., p. 135.

3 "The whole experience of the Factory Department proves that no limitation of the working day can really be enforced, unless there are uniform and definitely prescribed hours before and after which work may not be carried on." "Industrial Democracy," by Sidney and Beatrice Webb, Vol. I., p. 349.

Government Bill, and after a long discussion, in which a general feeling was expressed in favour of an efficient Ten Hours Act, but, failing that, of the Government proposition, eventually the following resolution was passed:—

"That the limitation of the factory day from 6 a.m. to 6 p.m. is a very important feature in factory legislation, and most desirable to be obtained; that an effort be now made to engraft upon that proposal the limitation of the hours of work to ten hours per day, the undeniable right of the operatives; but, failing in that effort, the meeting will use no efforts to endanger the passing of the Government plan, reserving to ourselves the right of again demanding from the Legislature our just rights in another Session of Parliament." Nevertheless some of the more extreme reformers (including Oastler and J. M. Cobbett)² continued to oppose any compromise, and they considered that Lord Ashley had turned traitor in accepting the Government proposal.

The Act of 1850 was an important turning point in the history of English factory legislation. By it a normal working day was for the first time expressly established, or, in other words, the legal working day was made to coincide with the legal period of employment, allowance being made for meal times. E. von Plener says that "the law, by its clear and distinct provisions, put a speedy and lasting end to the uncertainties and agitation that existed in the manufacturing districts, and met with less resistance and ill-will than had been expected. . . . The gain of nearly the whole of Saturday afternoon was particularly beneficial to the working classes."

But although general satisfaction was expressed with the working of the Act, there still remained some

¹ The Times, May 14th, 1850.

² John M. Cobbett was the son of the famous William Cobbett. He was Liberal member for Oldham during the years 1852—59 and 1872—77.

^{3 &}quot;History of English Factory Legislation," by E. von Plener, p. 41.

anomalies, the chief of which related to the employment of children, for whom there was as yet no normal day. The Act of 1850 was an amendment of the Act of 1847, which dealt only with the labour of women and young persons, so that by the Act of 1844 it was still legal for the period of employment of children from eight to thirteen years of age, to be taken any time between 5.30 a.m. and 8.30 p.m.

Lord Ashley, in 1850, had urged the necessity of including children in the amending Act, and had proposed an amendment to that effect, but it was twice thrown out, first by a majority of thirty, then by a majority of one, on the ground that his real motive was not sympathy for the children employed, but a desire to restrict the labour of adult men, who could not carry on the work of the factory without the assistance of children.¹

The inspectors reported in 1850 that 257 mills were employing 3,742 children as assistants to males over eighteen, after the women and young persons had left off work.² In consequence of the extension of this practice and the numerous evasions of the law a renewed agitation took place among the Short Time Committees.

This time the working men, at their numerous meetings in Lancashire and Yorkshire, definitely stated that their object was to restrict the moving power of machinery. In January, 1850, a large meeting was held at Todmorden, and the following resolution was passed:—"That as the provisions of the Factory Act are in many districts violated, to the manifest injury of the honest employer as well as to the great oppression of the employed, it is the opinion of this meeting that the only efficient means for preventing such violations is by placing a restriction on the moving power."³

¹ See Hansard, 3rd S.; Vol. III., pp. 846 and 1,234, June 6th and 14th, 1850.

 ² See Parliamentary Papers, Vol. XLII., p. 477.
 ³ Halifax Guardian, January 29th, 1850.

During the next few years large and enthusiastic meetings continued to be held with the object of restoring the Ten Hours Bill in all its integrity; and the speakers invariably stated that this could not be done unless the motive power of machinery was restricted. They fully recognised that all factory legislation had indirectly restricted the labour of adult men, but they now boldly demanded that the limitation of hours should be directly extended to themselves.¹

Joshua Fielden, speaking at a meeting at Huddersfield in June, 1853, said:—"We are told by the supporters of long hours that the effect (of the restriction of the moving power) would be to restrict all labour in factories; this is what all the supporters of the present system acknowledge, and Parliament decided that it should be passed (in 1847), and we are now only asking for what they have already granted us." A resolution was passed "That it is the decided opinion of this meeting from past experience that until the moving power be restricted to ten hours per day for the first five days in the week, and seven and a half on Saturday, all legislation upon factory labour will prove an entire failure."

There is no doubt that, before 1847, the working men who agitated for a Ten Hours Bill for women and young persons thought that by so doing, they themselves would be protected from long hours, and when they found that the result was not what they had anticipated, their next step was openly and avowedly to declare themselves in favour of a restriction on the hours of labour of adult men. This fact is interesting and important in the light of the arguments subsequently brought forward against special legislation for women, to the effect that the real object of the men who have agitated for a restriction on women's labour, has been that women might be thrown out of the

¹ See, e.g., accounts of meetings in *Halifax Guardian*, February 12th, April 9th, 1853.

² Halifax Guardian, June 18th, 1853.

field of competition. That this was not the object of the men is shown by the above and many similar speeches. It is equally clear, as a matter of fact, that the regulation of women's hours did not lead to the substitution of men for women.

The following table gives the percentages of the different classes employed in the textile industries:—

| | Children | Youths | Women | Men |
|------|-----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|
| | under 13. | 13 to 18. | above 13. | above 18. |
| 1838 | 5.9 | 16.1 | 55.2 | 22.8 |
| 1850 | 6·1 | 11.5 | 55.9 | 26.5 |
| 1856 | 6.6 | 10.6 | 57.0 | 25.8 1 |

These figures show that during the first six years after the passing of the first Act which effectively restricted the labour of women, the percentage of women and girls above thirteen rose from 55.9 per cent. to 57 per cent., while that of adult males decreased from 26.5 per cent. to 25.8 per cent.²

The agitation for an effective Ten Hours Act continued, and in 1853 J. M. Cobbett brought forward a Bill, which had in view the following objects:—(1) To restrict the labour of women and young persons to ten hours a day; (2) to enact that the motive power of factories should be stopped from 5.30 in the afternoon until 6 o'clock next morning.

Cobbett openly stated in the House of Commons that the real object of this Bill was to regulate the hours of work of adult men. Quoting partly from a speech by Hindley, the member of Parliament for Ashton, denouncing the system of working by shifts or relays, he said: "Is there no consideration for adult men? You have

¹ See Report of Inspectors of Factories in Vol. III. of Parliamentary Papers, Sess. 1857, p. 590.

² After an elaborate statistical analysis of the proportions of different classes of persons employed in the textile industries from 1835 onwards, Mr. G. H. Wood states that "on the whole there seems no evidence of a movement in favour of the substitution of unprotected for protected workers." Journal of the Royal Statistical Society, Vol. LXV., Part II.

already put them in connection with, and chained them to, the mule, and to the loom, and to the engine. You have bound them to iron, and to brass, and to steel, and you are now—whilst they had before certain protection in the physical weakness of the women and youths with whose working they were associated—you are now going to infuse fresh life and blood into those beings with whom they are to be co-workers on the relay system; so that the question is now to be, as to the adult male, whether he shall be worked to death or not?—fifteen hours a day! sixteen hours a day! Allow the relay system, and who will tell where mammon will stop in its attempt to destroy men's lives? For my part I can regard it as little less than murder, and I trust the Legislature will never allow a system to which such strong objections may be offered. The argument on the other side will be 'but these are free men. You talk of their inevitable connection with brass and iron! These are all figures of rhetoric." To this Cobbett's reply was:—" Are these figures of rhetoric? We know here they are practical facts. Talk of freedom! The man in the factory is not free."1

It was a daring thing for Cobbett to advocate so openly the regulation of adult male labour; but the time was not ripe for such proposals, and he was forced to withdraw his Bill. A Government measure brought forward by Lord Palmerston was substituted for it, and passed into law. By this Act the normal day was extended to children. Their legal hours of work—namely, six and a half hours every day, or ten hours on three alternate days—remained the same as before, but children might no longer be employed before 6 a.m. or after 6 p.m.; and in case of time being lost in mills which were worked by water power, children were not to be employed for more than one hour a day in recovering such lost time.

This Act had the desired result of establishing by law a uniform working day for all protected persons, and the

¹ Hansard, 3rd S., Vol. CXXVIII., p. 1255.

masters were now no longer able to work their mills for fifteen hours a day. But though the manufacturers, as a whole, submitted at first to the normal working day, it was not long before they resorted to what the inspectors described as "nibbling"—that is, lengthening the working day by beginning a few minutes before six in the morning, and keeping on until about ten minutes past six in the evening, and shortening the meal times by snatching a few minutes for work at the beginning and the end. In this way unscrupulous employers could gain an additional month's work in the year, and the inspectors found themselves almost powerless to put an end to the practice. By the Act of 1844 the presence of any person in the factory constituted employment "unless the contrary shall be proved." Mr. Horner says:—"Now nothing is easier than for a fraudulent mill owner to prove the contrary. He has only to stop his steam engine as soon as the inspector appears, and then all work ceases, and in every information the inspector must prove that the individual named in the complaint was found actually at work. So soon as the illegal working begins-and it takes place at six different periods of the day—the gross daily amount being made up of small instalments, a watch is set to give notice of the approach of an inspector, and immediately on his being seen a signal is given to stop the engine and turn the people out of the mill."1

The Short Time Committees complained of these extensive evasions of the law, and continued to agitate for a restriction on the motive power. Mr. Cobbett, in 1855, made another attempt to bring in a Bill for this purpose, but leave was refused by a majority of eight, on the ground that "the limitation of the work of adult operatives was a principle which the House had hitherto refused to recognise."²

¹ Report of Inspectors of Factories, Parliamentary Papers, 1859, Vol. XII., p. 160.

² Hansard, 3rd S., Vol. CXXXVII., p. 605, March 15th, 1855.

This seems to have been the last serious attempt to bring in such a Bill, and for the next few years the attention of the Short Time Committees was turned to other matters.

The inspectors at this time were making serious complaints of the absence of precautions against accidents, and of the danger arising from machinery and horizontal shafts being insufficiently fenced. To understand the controversy that followed it is necessary at the outset to explain the difference between machinery and shafting, and the law with regard to protection from accidents. the term " machinery " is meant only that actually used in manufacturing processes, whereas shafts and mill gearing are used to put the machinery in motion. Section 21 of the Factory Act of 1844 required owners to place secure fencing round all shafts and gearing. Section 43 of the same Act enabled factory occupiers to submit any case of dispute with regard to machinery—as distinguished from shafts and gearing-to arbitration. The provision requiring that all mill gearing should be securely fenced was not brought fully into force for nine years. When the Act of 1844 first came into operation, strong representations were made by the occupiers of factories that the fencing of horizontal shafts at a height of more than seven feet from the ground was quite unnecessary. An appalling number of accidents continued to take place, and it was found that no security against accidents of the most serious kind was afforded by the position of the shaft, however elevated, and numerous instances are given of persons having been caught by a shaft quite close to the ceiling when lime-washing, or when oiling the couplings and gearing. Lord Palmerston drew the attention of the inspectors to the fact that many of these accidents were due to their own neglect of duty in not putting the law in force. In January, 1854, a circular was issued by the factory inspectors stating that in future they would require the fencing of all shafts, however elevated.1

¹ The circular is printed in full in the Appendix to the Reports

HISTORY OF FACTORY LEGISLATION. II4

In March, 1854, a deputation of factory occupiers waited on Lord Palmerston to protest against the circular, and to represent to him that only shafts under seven feet from the floor could possibly require fencing; and they succeeding in inducing Lord Palmerston to order that the inspectors' circular should be provisionally suspended, and another one substituted.

The second circular was not clear in its requirements. It allowed a broad interpretation to the term "secure fencing," and manufacturers might adopt various means for protecting shafts above seven feet from the ground. But, having got this concession, the manufacturers failed to take the necessary precautions, and there was no decrease in the number of accidents. In January, 1855. a third circular² was issued, requiring the secure fencing of all horizontal shafts; and stating that no shaft within seven feet from the floor would be deemed securely fenced without a permanent fixed casing. The circular was silent as to what constituted secure fencing in the case of horizontal shafts more than seven feet from the floor.

When the second circular had been issued, a large meeting of manufacturers was at once held in Manchester, for the purpose of considering what course should be taken, and they passed a series of resolutions determining to form a Factory Law Amendment Association3 to relieve the trade from what they described as "undue restrictions and mischievous interference." All factory owners and calico printers were to be admitted on payment of one shilling per horse-power of the machinery they owned.

This Association appears to have been not a mere combination ad hoc against the order for fencing seven-

of Inspectors of Factories, Parliamentary Papers, 1854-5, Vol. XV., p. 423. ¹ *Ibid.*, p. 427.

² Ibid., p. 429.

³ See The Economist, March 10th, 1855.

feet shafts, but a league of all opponents of factory legislation among the employers, directed especially against the effective administration of the existing law. For instance. Mr. Whitworth, one of the speakers at a general meeting held in Halifax Town Hall, said that the Association should "take the Factory Act in its totality, and see whether there were not parts of it that require great alterations, whether other parts did not require to be entirely expunged, and whether there was not a power given to the factory inspector totally at variance with the liberty of the subject." He complained that manufacturers were "liable to be brought before the magistrate any day, and that, too, upon the most trifling charges. Their premises might be entered at any time. No search warrant was required, but the inspectors went to the mills as if the proprietors were the greatest scum of the

earth, and search the premises at any time. He thought they should try to repeal or totally remodify the Factory

Act."1

In March, 1855, a deputation from the Factory Law Amendment Association waited on Sir George Grev. The spokesman, Mr. Grey, stated the case of the mill owners in the broadest manner, referring not only to the regulations for horizontal shafting, but to the whole system of factory inspection and legislation. He complained that the mill owners "as a body were subjected to legislative restrictions and to a sort of inspection, from which all other classes of manufacturers were totally exempt "2; and he urged that either the mill owners should be relieved from these inflictions, or else that the same regulations should be extended to other classes of manufacturers.

Sir George Grey regretted that the successive circulars of the inspectors had created so much confusion, but he would not hold out to the deputation any hope that the

Halifax Guardian, March 24th, 1855.
 Ibid., March 31st, 1855.

Government would take steps for the amendment or alteration of the law. The utmost assistance that he could offer was to aid the promulgation of such instructions as might modify the stringent and literal application of the law.

In April, 1855, the local "Factory Law Amendment Association "were merged into the "National Association of Factory Occupiers," which was continually referred to by Dickens as the "Association for the Mangling of Operatives."² The first report of this Association states that their object was "to watch over factory legislation with a view to prevent any increase of the present unfair and injudicious enactments; to obtain an amendment of the present Factory Laws and their administration, and to protect the members of the Association from improper prosecutions and legal proceedings instituted or promoted by the factory inspectors or by other parties. But the Association shall be precluded from attempting to alter the hours of labour of women, young persons, and children, as by law at present limited, and from attempting to abolish factory inspection."3

In spite of the latter statement it is evident from the report itself, and from speeches made by members of the Association, that the real and ultimate object was the repeal of the Factory Acts. Mr. Thomas Bayley, President of the Manchester Chamber of Commerce, at the public meeting which was convened for the purpose of forming the Association, said that it was "most humiliating that the factory industry of this great country should be compelled to seek to get rid of legislative enactments which ought never to have been passed." In the report of the Association the factory inspectors are referred to as "a body of men, who have assumed to themselves the

Ibid., April 21st, 1855.
 See various articles in Household Words, 1855.

³ For this and the following quotations see Special Report of the Executive Committee of the National Association of Factory Occupiers, Manchester, 1855, C. T., 278.

interpretation of the law, and have tried to intimidate the magistracy into acquiescence in their views. To the unusual liberty of presenting to Parliament a report of their proceedings they have annexed the right in that report to cast imputations on the manufacturers as a class, to falsify the aspect of factory offences, so-called, by denouncing as criminal, circumstances which invoke no moral guilt."

Horner was singled out as a special object of abuse and attack, and the factory occupiers at one time went so far as to request Sir George Grey to dismiss him from office. The Home Secretary himself is, in the report, referred to as "indiscreet," "imperfectly informed," and "from ignorance or want of true information, the mere agent of the inspectors."

The Short Time Committees were fully convinced that the masters had ulterior motives in forming their Association, and in the Halifax Guardian we read: "The ten hours men must prepare for another campaign. . . . The fencing question may be as fatal to the Factory Act as the relay system was to the ten hours limit. The National Association of Factory Occupiers began with the plea that they only wished an amicable settlement of this question. . . . But the mask is now thrown off. The associated masters refuse to advise any system of shaft-fencing, have taken open ground against any legislative interference and have procured the pen of Miss Martineau to write down the Factory Acts themselves as 'meddling legislation.' "1

The controversy over the fencing of horizontal shafts continued, and in 1856 a case, upon which contradictory decisions had been given by two magistrates, was brought before the Court of Queen's Bench, with the result that Lord Campbell ruled that the law must be strictly obeyed.

In April, 1856, the National Association of Factory Occupiers succeeded in carrying through Parliament a Bill

¹ Halifax Guardian, February 16th, 1856.

favourable to themselves. It was introduced by Colonel Wilson Patten, and passed into law in spite of opposition from Cobbett and others. By this Act mill gearing was placed on the same footing as machinery, and the requirement of a secure fencing of mill gearing was to apply only to those parts with which women, young persons, and children were liable to come in contact. In the case of other parts of the mill gearing resort might be had to arbitration in case of dispute between the occupier and the inspector.

The inspectors, in their joint report in January, 1857, thus describe the effect of the Act of 1856:-" Under the new statute . . . the persons whose 'ordinary occupation' brings them near to mill gearing, and who are consequently well acquainted with the dangers to which their employment exposes them, and with the necessity of caution, are protected by the law, while protection has been withdrawn from those who may be obliged, in the execution of special orders, to suspend their 'ordinary occupation,' and to place themselves in positions of danger, of the existence of which they are not conscious, and from which, by reason of their ignorance, they are unable to protect themselves, but who on that very account would appear to require the especial protection of the Legislature.', "2

If an occupier, after having received a notice to fence mill gearing, desired to submit the matter to arbitration, a person "skilled in the construction of the kind of machinery" to which the notice referred had to be appointed. Mr. Horner, speaking of this, said that "the question is one which requires for its solution, not the opinion of professional engineers, but the evidence of intelligent and observant men who are daily employed in the factory." He said that "engineers and machine makers . . . have

See Hansard, 3rd S., Vol. CXLI., p. 351.
 Reports of Inpectors of Factories, Parliamentary Papers, 1857, Vol. III., p. 561.

THE INTRODUCTION OF A NORMAL DAY. 119

really no familiar personal knowledge of the way in which shaft accidents occur "; they "look only to the construction and working of the machinery, which is their business, and not to the prevention of accidents, which is not their business. . . ." Moreover, on account of their connection in trade with the factory occupiers, it was not likely that such arbitration would give an impartial decision.

For these reasons the inspectors refrained from giving any notices, under the Factory Act of 1856, which would call into action "the imperfect extrajudicial kind of arbitration provided by that statute."

Thus the manufacturers gained their point as to the fencing of horizontal shafts, but their efforts failed to bring about any other modification of the Factory Acts. In spite of the fact that they repeatedly declared that either the Factory Acts must be modified or the industry of England would seriously decline, the next ten years witnessed the gradual extension of the Factory Acts from textile mills to other trades and industries.

¹ Ibid., Joint Report of Inspectors of Factories, p. 7.

CHAPTER VII.

THE INCLUSION OF INDUSTRIES ALLIED TO TEXTILES, 1845-1861.

Print Works—Bleach and Dye Works—Lace Factories.

THE extension of the Factory Acts from one industry to others coincides with a change in the manner of regarding the system of regulation and inspection that had been gradually built up in the textile industry. As we have seen, legislation for this industry had been demanded on the ground of certain definite abuses, generally with the implication, tacit or avowed, that these evils were peculiar to textiles, or to the factory industry. The opposition could sometimes retaliate by showing that there was no special virtue in the hardware, pottery, or metal trades. and no special vice in weaving or spinning, that children, women, or young persons should be less protected in the one than in the other. The Commissioners of 1833 frankly admitted¹ that children were probably exposed to no worse conditions in textile factories than in other industries, though they evidently did not realise the latent implications of their argument that regulation must be applied first, not necessarily to the worst conducted trades, but to those best known. The real reason for starting with the children in cotton factories was that the industry being a concentrated one, carried on in large buildings in which great numbers were employed, with a in degree of publicity, it was easier for the Government to learn what the conditions actually were, and how they could be dealt with. The Commissioners failed to recognise that the more the conditions in other industries came to be studied, the more difficult it would be to leave them to unrestricted competition. Although the progressive regulation of the labour of women and children has been slow and dilatory to a degree which, especially in the case of the children, has been little less than criminal, it has been conducted on sound experimental principles. Accurate knowledge of the conditions prevailing in an industry is an indispensable condition of legal regulation. For this reason the cotton trade was the easiest to control, and having once established the principle of regulating hours and conditions of work in this trade, the Government had it continually before their eyes as a point of departure for further legislation. If it could be shown that this regulated industry, far from suffering in competition with others, went ahead, improved its machinery. and developed a higher standard of comfort than its rivals, then, although the improvement might not be due to the legislation, there would be, at all events, a strong presumption that good, and not harm, had been done. And this is what has taken place. No one has ever been able to get up in Parliament or out and say, "Here is your miserable textile industry, your deplorable cotton trade, drooping and ruined all because of Factory Acts-let us repeal them forthwith." What they had to say was that the improvement in the regulated industry was clear and conspicuous, whilst the irregularities in others remained a crving scandal. Gradually the conviction begins to appear in the utterances of public men that the evils of excessive labour and insanitary conditions, far from being peculiar to one or two industries, were, except under specially favourable circumstances, incidental to them all. and that we were, in fact, allowing competition and the capitalist to weaken the national resources by literally "using up" some proportion of the infant population in each generation, without making any return but the children's miserably inadequate wages.

The conversion of public opinion between 1845 and 1860 was curiously rapid and complete. In 1844, as a

reference to the heated debates over the Ten Hours Bill will show, the opposition was at its bitterest; in 1861 the President of the Economic Section of the British Association could say in his address that the results of that Bill were "something of which all parties might well be proud. There is, in truth, a general assent that if there has been one change which more than another has strengthened and consolidated the social fabric in this part of the island, has cleared away a mass of depravity and discontent, has placed the manufacturing enterprise of the country on a safe basis, and has conferred upon us resources against the effects of foreign competition which can scarcely be over-valued, it is precisely the changes which have been brought about by the sagacious and persevering and successful efforts to establish in manufacturing occupations a sound system of legal interference with the hours of labour." Both Roebuck and Cobden, to say nothing of Sir James Graham and other public men, became converted during this period.2 The cause of this change in public opinion is doubtless to be sought in the factory inspectors' reports. The "Manchester School" had taken it as self-evident that the output of industry must be reduced in proportion to the reduction of hours. The inspectors went about making friends with the manufacturers and studying the relation of hours and wages in concrete instances, and discovered, with a surprise that now-a-days strikes us as naïve, that the output of eleven hours' work might be greater than that of twelve.3 Evidence accumulated that the long hours customary in other trades, far from being productive, positively tended to irregularity of trade, periodical slackness alternating with reasons of excessive hurry and work, an amount of labour being put into a few months that might, with

¹ Reprinted in Vol. XXIV. of the Journal of the Statistical Society, 1861.

² Hansard, March 21st, and May 9th, 1860.

³ See Factory Inspectors' Report, May, 1845, p. 20.

better organisation, have occupied a year. By 1866 Mr. Redgrave could write1 that "the opinion had long been exploded," that lessened production must necessarily follow a reduction of the hours of labour, and in 1867 the proposal to extend the operation of the Acts to all factories and workshops was received with general favour.

We must now consider the subject in relation to the various industries that were successively embraced by the Act. It is obvious that this cannot be done here in a perfectly complete fashion, which would amount to little less than a description of the whole manufacturing industry of the country; all we can do is to indicate the steps which led up to the comprehensive measures of 1867. It was to be expected that the first industries to be regulated, outside textile weaving and spinning, would be those most closely connected with the regulated trade by locality and nature of work. Drawing from the same class of labour, the different hours and conditions would be a source of jealousy and friction. Thus, in the print works,2 the inspector found that if he objected to the employment in a mill of a child for twelve hours he was told, "Oh, never mind, she can go to a print field till she is old enough." One mill owner made a point of refusing to employ children who had been previously working at print works, and generally the masters of the regulated trade resented the competition of those who could take children of any age, and work them any hours they liked.

We first get information about the conditions of calico print workers in the Commission of 1843, for which Mr. J. L. Kennedy made an enquiry as to the children and young persons employed in the print works of Lancashire, Cheshire, and Derbyshire.3 He found a large

Inspector's Report, October, 1866, p. 37.
 See Children's Employment Commission, 1843, Vol. XV., p. J. 22. ⁸ H. C., 1843, Vol. XIV., p. 79.

number of children and young persons in the industry, viz.:—

```
M. F.
Adults, 21 and upwards - - 8,620 484
Young Persons, 13—18 - - 4,147 995
Children under 13 - - - 3,616 2,030
```

Mr. Kennedy made careful investigation as to the age of beginning work, and found that out of 565 children taken at random, nearly two-thirds had begun to work before nine years old. Some children and young persons were employed in assisting the elder skilled workmen in colour-making, which sometimes produced pains in the head or faintness from the smell of the colour, but these inconveniences were supposed to be transitory, and the work in itself to be not unhealthy. Others were employed in "back-tenting," which consisted in standing at the back of the printing machine to ensure that the cloth went in evenly and without creases; and in "plaitingdown" or laying the printed cloth in folds after it had passed through the drying-stoves. Children were also employed as "teerers," to spread the colour evenly on a woollen sieve with a small hand-brush, in preparation for the block-printer's work. No power was used in block printing, but it was employed in the roller-printing, dyeing, bleaching, and drying departments.

The hours of work in the machine room were ten and a half per day, but these were constantly exceeded in times of brisk demand,² and the machines were kept at work till seven, eight, nine, ten, and even twelve o'clock, as circumstances might require. The usual hours of work

| 1 | Of that number | I | had | begun | between | 4 | and | 5. |
|---|------------------|-----|--------|--------|---------|----|-----|-----|
| | | _3 | | ,, | ,, | 5 | ,, | 6. |
| | | 68 | | ,, | ,, | 6 | ,, | 7. |
| | | 133 | | ,, | " | 7 | ,, | 8. |
| | | 156 | | ,, | ,, | 8 | ,, | 9. |
| | | 127 | | ,, | ,, | 9 | ,, | IO. |
| | | 49 | | 23 | ,, | 10 | ,, | II. |
| | | 26 | | ,, | ,, | 11 | ,, | 12. |
| | | 2 | | ,, | ** | 12 | ,, | 13. |
| | H. C., 1843, Vol | . X | [V., j | p. 80, | | | | |

for the "teerer" would be from 6 a.m. to 6 or 8 p.m., but were very irregular. Some gross cases of overwork are recorded in this report, and night work was found by Kennedy to be a common practice; there might be no work for two days, and then the hands would work night and day. One witness said he had known a man work three days and three nights without ever going home, keeping the same teerer all the time. But block printing. as it appeared to Kennedy, and as he was told by witnesses, was not in itself an objectionable or unhealthy employment; the harm was in the long and irregular hours of work, which deprived the children of rest and of any chance of education. The shops would take orders that they could not execute within legitimate hours, knowing that night work would be necessary to execute the order.1 It did not appear that the children were otherwise cruelly treated in print grounds, though they may have been in former times. Kennedy recommended the abolition of night work for children, and, assuming new provisions for education to be made, a reduction of their hours of work, and measures to be taken for enforcing attendance at school. In his opinion "restriction of hours of labour of almost any class of children, without adequate provision for their education, would be of doubtful benefit." This piece of priggishness probably belongs more to the period than to the man, and should not be counted against him, for his report, and especially his remarks on the bad economy of long hours,² are of much value. It had been argued, he said, that there was an inherent tendency to work long hours wherever the fixed capital formed a larger proportion than the circulating capital, and that under certain circumstances the profits of the capitalise might depend entirely on his working his machinery to the last hour, but this argument left out of sight the

¹ Ibid., p. 88.

² *Ibid.*, p. 105. ³ By Nassau Senior, see *supra*, p. 88.

important fact that the productiveness of machinery depended on the skill of the operative, and on his power to concentrate and sustain his attention throughout the day; the authors of the theory were mistaken as to the real nature of the labour necessary to ensure uniform production from machinery, and in practice it was precisely in the last hours that the production and profit were found to diminish. Machine tending was by no means so mechanical an occupation as had been supposed. was largely dependent on the skill and diligence of the workman, and experience showed that the attention of the workman, on which the application of his skill and the productiveness of the machine under his care depend. could not be sustained beyond a certain period. lishments which resorted systematically to night work have almost without exception become bankrupt, because the attention and skill of workers could not be kept up." and it was a fact that night work had been generally abandoned in the cotton trade, the industry which had reached the highest point of organisation and economic development.

Kennedy then describes an interesting study which he had been able to make of an exceptionally busy time in a print works, during which the roller printing machine had been working unusually long hours, viz., fifteen a day, to meet a special press of business. During four months the machines never stopped from morning till night, and there was no intermission at the dinner hour. From the beginning of the first month to the middle of the second month production was steady, with a comparatively low proportion of spoiled work; a gradual decrease in production and an increased proportion of spoiled work then became visible, and from the beginning of the first to the end of the fourth month this proportion was actually doubled, the average production of the machines during this time decreasing from 100 to 90 per cent. amount of spoiled work increased to such an alarming

degree that the parties referred to felt themselves compelled to shorten the hours of labour to avoid loss; and as soon as the alteration was made the amount of spoiled work sunk to its former level." In this case the men had been paid extra wages for their extra exertions, and had no motive to produce this result, and Kennedy arrived at the conviction that in trades requiring skill and attention "the loss; rather than the profit, begins in the last hour."

In the Scotch print works a somewhat better condition of things was found.2 The hours of work were usually from six to six, with two intervals of thirty-five to sixty minutes each for meals; and from six to three on Satur-The regular hours were sometimes exceeded, and whenever this was done the children were involved equally with the adults.3 Over hours would not necessarily extend to all the hands in a shop simultaneously; a large order might come in for a particular pattern that happened to have taken; perhaps only some of the printers could do it, or only a limited number of blocks had been cut for it: the goods were wanted in a hurry, and the whole work would fall on a small number of hands. There were socalled "out-by" departments, in which excessive hours were more frequent than in the printing shops. The "outby "workers were those who prepared the goods for the printers, or who finished them after they came from the printers' hands, such as the bleachers, the stove-girls in Turkey red stoves, and the folders and packers. goods printed during the day on the Leven, for instance, might often be dried, finished, folded, and packed the same night in time to arrive in carts at Glasgow the next morning. But the conviction was gaining ground that extra hours were injurious to both parties. Most manufacturers were being forced to the conclusion that overtime was dearly paid and the work worse done, whilst men

¹ Ibid., p. 105.

² C. Emp. Commission, 1843, XV., Tancred's Report, p. 29 and ff.

³ Ibid., p. 32.

on day wages were tempted by the opportunity of getting higher rates for overtime, to neglect their work during the regular working hours.

The most regular hours, and also the steadiest occupation for the hands, were found in those works in which the proprietors either manufactured their own cloth or purchased it themselves, and either had a warehouse at Glasgow where the goods could be deposited till sold or shipped them to their own agents abroad.¹ On the other hand, the most irregular employment and the longest hours of work prevailed where the printer was supplied with the cloth by other parties, who gave him an order to return it with certain patterns worked upon it; these were called "job-printers." In other cases, where the printer purchased his own cloth, but printed it only to order, the goods being disposed of before sold, Mr. Tancred found much irregularity.

The condition of the "stove-girls" in Turkey red works was described as involving much hardship.2 The work of these girls was to hang the goods in the Turkey red stoves. The stoves were usually constructed with barred floors two or three stories high, and over the bars the pieces were suspended by the middle, with their ends hanging down on either side. Mr. Tancred usually found these stoves, when the girls were filling them, heated to a temperature of 110°, or fever heat, the steam from the wet goods making this far more suffocating than any dry heat could be. The girls went in and out of this great heat with bare feet and little clothing, carrying the goods on their backs to the dyeing department, or to the field or park where the cloth was exposed on the grass, and the park-girls" collected it into heaps. The hours of these stove-girls and park-girls were very irregular, and often excessive, as they were sometimes required to come at 5 or even 3 a.m.

¹ *Ibid.*, p. 33.

² Ibid., p. 43.

Mr. Tancred's conclusions1 on the subject of long hours are perhaps worth recording. Unlimited competition, in his opinion. "has a tendency to constrain each individual to adopt practices, not such as he considers abstractedly the best for his own and the public benefit, but such as he finds will best secure him from the rivalry of others." Long hours may be forced upon the manufacturer, not from a persuasion that they are most for his own interest in the abstract, but because if he individually refuses to accept orders on such terms others will secure customers. "A legislative restriction does no individual an injury; it places all upon a footing; it protects the more humane or the more discerning manufacturer from the compulsion exercised upon him by those who do not entertain his objections to excessive hours of labour. An unlimited competition exposes each manufacturer to the caprice, and places him at the mercy of his employer. A combination to resist unfair pressure is possible in a single town," but very difficult over the whole country-hence he argued that an impartial body such as the national Legislature should assume the power to do for all what cannot be done without the assistance of the supreme authority—to coerce the reluctant minority.

Scarcely anything in the whole history of the Factory Acts is more disappointing than the coldness and apathy with which the Report on the Employment of Children in Manufactures was received. The Commissioners did admirable and careful work, and made out a clear case for legislation in several industries. But, with one or two exceptions, these industries received little attention until two decades had elapsed, and the work of enquiry had then to be done over again. Lord Ashley brought in a Bill in February, 1845, to restrict the hours of children in printworks, and though the regulations proposed were less stringent than those of the Factory Act of the previous year, he had considerable difficulty in obtaining the

sympathy of the House, and his speech is couched in pathetically apologetic terms. He feared that "in the frequent reproduction of subjects of the same class "he might become "exceedingly tedious to the House." had been repeatedly taunted with a one-sided humanity, and with leaving untouched worse evils than those he assailed. It had been vain to reply that no one could grapple with the whole at once. On his first introduction of the Ten Hours Bill his opponents sent him to the collieries; when he went to the collieries, he was referred to the print-works-it had been said to him more than once, "Where will you stop?" and Lord Ashley said, "I reply, nowhere, so long as any portion of this mighty evil remains to be removed." His desire and ambition was "to bring all the labouring children of this empire within the reach and the opportunities of educationwithin the sphere (if they will profit by the offer) of happy and useful citizens." This bold declaration of a comprehensive policy, of which his present Bill was but an instalment, doubtless alarmed the House. Sir James Graham, who followed him, took up this point, and said he viewed it with "serious apprehension." He pointed out the difference between print-works and ordinary factory labour. "From the use of machinery, factory labour is necessarily concentrated—therefore easily inspected—therefore difficult of evasion—therefore rendering the operation of the law on the persons employed in the manufacture easy." But the labour in print-works was not concentrated, but dispersed; supervision, therefore, difficult and evasion, easy. Cobden objected further that "in the cotton factory the business was regulated by the steam engine; when that stopped the whole machinery was stopped; but in calico print-works more than half the persons employed were dissevered from the machinery."

Sir James Graham protested strongly against the inclusion in Lord Ashley's Bill of the houses in which the quite

dissimilar operations of dyeing, bleaching and calendering were carried on. He also objected to the limitation of hours on the ground that the demand for labour in the industry was uncertain. "During the time of the demand everything depends on the work being executed with the least possible delay." "It is therefore a material injury, not only to the employers but to the adult workmen, and even to the children themselves, that any attempt should be made to check this labour while the intensity of the demand is great." On the other hand, he offered to support Lord Ashley in prohibiting the employment of children under eight, and the night work of children under thirteen, and of women, on condition that the references to dyeing, bleaching and calendering, and the limitation of children's work to eight hours a day, were dropped. Lord Ashley decided to accept this compromise, and the Act as passed imposed the following meagre restrictions: No child under eight was to be employed in print-works; no child under thirteen or woman was to be employed between 10 p.m. and 6 a.m.; children under thirteen were to attend school thirty days in each half-year.

Parliament refused to include bleaching and dveing in the Print Works Act of 1845, on the score of the supposed inevitable irregularity of the industry. The operatives took a different view, and considered that the excessively long hours which they were frequently compelled to work were a good reason for the law to step in for their protection. In 1853, some of the working bleachers in Bolton formed a short-time Committee, with the object of obtaining the same regulation as the textile operatives. and a similar movement was started in the West of Scotland.2 A large proportion of the masters were not averse to shortening the hours of work, if it could be done by common consent. In June, 1853, thirteen of the employers in Scotland agreed to limit the hours of labour to sixty-six

Hansard, April 2nd, 1845.
 Hansard, July 25th, 1855: Mr. Butt.

hours in the week. On a subsequent occasion twentythree masters, representing a large proportion of the whole, agreed to limit the hours of labour to sixty in the week. but upon the condition that such a regulation was adopted by the whole trade. It was found, however, that it was in the power of two or three masters to defeat such an arrangement, and that it was impossible to carry it out without legislative interference. In November, 1853, the operative bleachers of the West of Scotland presented to their employers a memorial on the subject, which is an interesting document.1 They point out that the long hours of work to which they are subject not only are exhausting and unhealthy, but "leave us no time for the cultivation of our intellectual faculties. . . . Other trades are enjoying the advantage of Mechanics' Institutes, &c., and thereby improving their minds; and if no change takes place in our trade, the consequence will be that your memorialists will feel themselves degraded in the eves of their fellow-workmen. . . . Man needs periodic seasons of rest. If that be infringed on during the six working days it cannot surprise us if nature demands it back on the Sabbath. We are therefore compelled to acknowledge that the present system either forces us to remain at home, or renders us dull, listless and haggard in the House of God." The Memorialists, with that mixture of piety and good sense which so admirably distinguishes the northern part of Great Britain, added the practical suggestion that "a careful examination of work done in the morning and similar work performed after a day of thirteen hours will, we are confident, show that the work done at the thirteenth hour is either unequal in amount or quality to that done at the first. Other trades have the hours of labour reduced, and we believe the result generally is such as to corroborate our statement that short hours produce more work, and that of a better quality than under the old system."

¹ See Tremenheere's "Report on Bleaching and Dyeing, ** H. C., 1854—5, XVIII., p. xxii.

In 1854, Lord Shaftesbury introduced into the House of Lords a Bill for regulating bleaching works, which passed unanimously through that House, was then brought down to the Commons at a late period of the Session, and at the request of some of the workpeople, was taken charge of by Mr. Isaac Butt. It was urged that the nature of the trade would require special provisions, and that further enquiry was necessary. The Bill was consequently withdrawn, and the Government appointed a commissioner, Mr. H. S. Tremenheere, who in due course reported on the conditions existing in the industry at its two chief centres, Lancashire and the West of Scotland.

His report showed in considerable detail the difference between the position of the bleacher or dyer and that of the factory owner. The latter works upon his own materials, and can buy more or less, and work up more or less, as he chooses, while the bleacher or dyer is, or was at the time of Tremenheere's report, in nearly all cases "the servant of the public," i.e. of the merchants who purchase the grey cloth and send it to be prepared. The irregularity with which orders might come in, and the dread of losing business by refusing or failing to execute an order in a given time, were a constant excuse for keeping the hands long hours at work. It should be explained that one important part of the bleaching or dyeing process is called "finishing." The aim is to produce in the goods a gloss or particular appearance, in the quality of which the bleacher or dver's art consists; certain firms have their own particular specialities for different kinds of goods, and, generally speaking, one firm cannot execute the "finish" of another. The merchant would receive an order to send out a certain quantity of a certain kind of

¹ Hugh Seymour Tremenheere (1804—1893), called to the Bar in 1834, was appointed an inspector of schools in 1840, served on numerous Royal Commissions, and was instrumental in bringing about no less than fourteen Acts of Parliament, all having for their object the improvement of the condition of the working classes.

goods by a certain date. When orders accumulate masters have to call on their people to work long hours, for if the cloth could not be bleached and dyed by the day named the order would be lost; or if it was a common kind of cloth the merchant might send it out unbleached, and the bleacher would lose so much employment. The masters questioned by Tremenheere were ready to admit that the hours of work were too long for women and boys. Some masters would have so much employment as to keep the hands at work for twelve months together, from between 6 and 7 a.m. to 8, 9 or 10 p.m., and some of the hands would work to an even later hour, or perhaps nearly all night. Others would only work to this extent during winter and spring months, and have a slack season reaching the lightest point in the autumn.2 Very few of the masters justified the long hours for the young; nearly all were prepared to admit that they were not desirable, and were attended with disadvantage or even loss to the masters; some avoided them as much as possible, and all the masters who resorted to them threw the responsibility upon the merchants, and appealed to the necessities of trade as their justification. Legislative interference was regarded as objectionable, and the masters considered it would be difficult, if not impossible, to carry through.

Tremenheere then took the opinion of certain of the merchants on this point, and found them much more favourable to the extension of the Factory Act—indeed, only four out of fourteen were averse to the legislative restriction of hours.³ A limitation of hours might, it was admitted, occasionally produce inconvenience, but this would by degrees adjust itself. "Merchants would have to think of their orders a little beforehand." If the whole quantity of cloth could not be done by one bleacher in time, the order might be divided among several and the

¹ Ibid., p. ix.

² Ibid., p. vi.

³ Ibid., p. x., also 33 and ff.

merchants did not appear to attribute so much importance to the speciality of "finish" as did the bleachers them-They pointed out that "there were several whose finish was sufficiently alike to enable them to be employed for similar work," and a limitation of hours for boys and women would probably lead to a more regular distribution of work at bleachworks. No change of the kind contemplated could take place, without causing some inconvenience, but the parties affected would learn to adjust themselves to it. One merchant very candidly admitted,1 that, knowing the bleacher would undertake to bleach and finish, say one thousand pieces of cloth in five days, he often, in cases of sudden orders, gave him only five days to do it in: but that if the hours of the boys and women working were restricted, so that he would know the work could not be accomplished in that time, he should have to make his arrangements beforehand to give seven or ten days, or to send part of the order to another bleacher. was pointed out by the same merchant that if a bleacher lost part of an order on one occasion, it would be made up to him on another, and that very possibly the bleachers would enlarge their works and keep more hands ready. If legislation were alike for all, the outlay would do the trade no harm.

We commend this reasoning to the attention of those who oppose legislation for laundry workers, on the ground of the supposed necessary irregularity of the work. It may indeed be pointed out that all the arguments for regulation that have been found sound in the case of bleaching and dyeing works apply with even greater cogency to laundries, as the latter have a virtual monopoly of the home trade, which bleaching and dyeing works have not.

The general purport of the merchants' evidence² on the question of competition at home and abroad was that the home trade was much less of a season trade than was formerly the case. In consequence of the railway facilities,

¹ *Ibid.*, p. 34.

² Ibid., p. x.

instead of laying in large stocks, purchasers could now come down to Manchester every few weeks and select what they required; merchants were therefore, as a general rule, prepared with a stock on hand sufficient for current consumption. Of foreign markets, the American, in consequence of improved means of communication, was already less seasonal, and even if any particular market was left for a while bare of any one description of goods, if there were a legitimate demand, that demand would be supplied in the next season, or after a certain interval. A particular shipping order might be lost, but the main stream of export would remain unaffected as long as the particular class of goods was wanted in foreign markets. Tremenheere arrived at the conclusion that a limitation of women's and boys' hours would cause the masters to enlarge their works and improve their machinery, rather than chance losing an order or lessening their connection¹; and in 1857 his evidence before the Select Committee showed that the mere anticipation of some such measures had caused additions to be made both to buildings and machinery which would considerably augment the firms' power of getting speedily through an increased quantity.2

Finally, Tremenheere, though desirous, in his own words, to "give full weight to the difficulties which press upon the minds of the most conscientious masters," became convinced that the masters greatly over-rated the obstacles to a Factory Act³; that although things might have improved on the whole, and hours shortened, yet women and boys were still liable to work fourteen, fifteen and sixteen hours a day for many months together; and he decided to recommend the extension of the factory day of 6 a.m. to 6 p.m., rather than inclusion under the Print Works Act, which merely forbade work between 10 p.m. and 6 a.m. He thought, however, that the fencing of machinery need not be made compulsory, as accidents

¹ *Ibid.*, p. xi. 2 H. C., 1857, XI., Sess. 2, Q. 164. 3 H. C., 1854—5, XVIII., p. xvi.

were rare, and the inspector's suggestions would probably be attended to.

In consequence of Tremenheere's report, several Bleaching and Dyeing Bills were introduced into Parliament in the ensuing year, but none of them were successful. In 1856 there was a stormy debate1 over one of these Bills which reminds us of the factory crusades of earlier times. Mr. Baxter, taking the traditional view, objected that the work depended so much on the weather, that any limitation of hours would inflict much loss on both parties, and added that "the effect would be to substitute male for female labour."2 Mr. Murrough poetically remarked that the hon. member was bleaching, " not linen, but the blood of boys and girls." Mr. J. M. Cobbett contradicted the statement that shorter hours would involve the loss of the goods, and showed that many masters were in favour of the Bill. Mr. Muntz foreshadowed the modern view in observing that "what was gained in one way was lost in another by over-work, and there was no getting more out of a human being than his constitution would fairly yield."

In the following year a Select Committee of the House of Commons made further enquiry into the conditions of this industry. Mr. Cobbett was chairman, but some members of the Committee were strongly biassed against legislative control, and the report of the evidence reveals in them a tendency to "bully" witnesses whose evidence went against their view. It came out, however, that the workers were subject to the evil of being constantly on foot, exposed to great heat, often 90° to 130° for long hours, occasionally as much as sixteen or eighteen a day. Mr. Richmond, a surgeon who attended a house in which lodged large numbers of women and girls employed in these works, said that the sick list varied in proportion to

¹ Hansard, June 6th, 1856.

² An early instance of an argument that has been much used in later times.

³ See H. C., 1857, XI., Sess. 2, evidence of Richmond, a surgeon, and J. Leck, a master bleacher.

the hours worked; in slack times he would have very few patients among them, and many more when they were working full time or over hours. A master gave evidence¹ that there was no necessity for the long hours of work: he was forced to work late because others did it: the more respectable masters would agree to short time movement, but the smaller bleachers "worked night and day, and supposed they were cheating the landlord by getting double tides out of him for one rent." Another master² found that he lost ten to thirty pieces a day by working overtime. In accordance with the evidence, Mr. Cobbett prepared a draft report to the effect that the hours of work for women and young persons in this industry were excessive, and should be reduced in number, and that this improvement was not likely to be general or lasting unless secured by legislative enactment. Another draft report was prepared by Messrs. Turner and Kirk, unfavourable to legislation. The first was thrown out by a majority of the Committee, and the second was adopted, with a rider "earnestly recommending" the bleachers and dyers of the United Kingdom to reduce the hours of work.

The matter, however, was again agitated in 1860, when Lord Brougham brought it before the House of Lords, urging that some notice should be taken of the evidence given before the Select Committee, which he "had been unable to dismiss from his mind," although the Committee had been so little impressed by it as to report against legislation. The debates in the Commons this year on the Bleach and Dye Works Bill are chiefly memorable for the recantation of both Sir James Graham and Mr. Roebuck. The former owned in a perfectly straightforward, if unenthusiastic manner, that he had been mistaken in believing that the Factory Act would be disastrous to trade, and that, on the contrary, it had "contributed to the comfort and well-being of the working

¹ Q. 3,393. ² Q. 3,439.

³ Hansard, Feb. 27th, 1860.

classes without materially injuring the masters." Roebuck, with characteristic impetuosity, flung himself on the side of regulation with all the enthusiasm that sixteen years before he had devoted to opposing it. "I appeal to this House whether the manufacturers of England have suffered by this legislation? The Hon. Member for Manchester still makes the same objection. He gets up and prophesies all sorts of evil if we interfere now; but he has kept out of view the evils for the prevention of which we are now about to interfere. . . . When he tells me the Manchester manufacturers are likely to suffer, I sav. let them suffer. . . . We complain bitterly of the hours of this House, and if we come at four with liberty to go away and dine at seven, and then do not go home till two in the morning, we say, 'What a terrible night's work we have had!' Well, then, think of the poor child between thirteen and fourteen, or between ten and eleven, not able to go away and get a good dinner, not sitting while at work upon these soft cushions, but standing upon her poor, tired little legs for hours and hours together."2

The evidence had produced its effect, and the Bill passed its third reading July 27th, 1860. It placed bleach and dye works under the Factory Acts, excepting open-air bleaching; but it made the enforcement of the law very difficult by permitting the making up of time lost "in consequence of fluctuations in trade, the nature of the process or any other cause." In 1862 an Act was passed to prohibit night work in open air bleach fields. Inspector Baker, in his Report for October in that year, remarked that, while the Factory Act proper was satisfactory to both parties, the Print Works Act was a failure, and the Bleach and Dye Works Act most uncertain on account of the exemptions and exceptions granted. In 1863 and

¹ Hansard, May 9th, 1860.

² Hansard, March 21st, 1860.

³ 23 & 24 Vict., c. 78.

^{4 25 &}amp; 26 Vict., c. 8.

1864 further amending Acts were passed for the processes of calendering and finishing respectively. In 1867 the Select Committee of the House of Commons, to whom the Factory Extension Bill was referred, recommended that print works and bleach and dye works should not be included in the Bill then before Parliament, on the ground that no enquiry into the operation of the Acts regarding those industries had taken place, the Children's Employment Commission not having included them. Another enquiry was accordingly held in 1868,2 and the Commissioners, Messrs. Tremenheere and Tufnell, reported in favour of levelling up the regulations in these industries to those included in the Act of 1867, with some small modifications. Turkey red dyeing constituted a special difficulty, owing to the danger of the goods taking fire by spontaneous combustion³ in the "oily depot," also because the various processes involved in it were distinct, each process taking a day to itself, and the works were arranged to admit of a certain quantity being put through these processes each day. In the Scotch works the usual hours were from six to six, with two hours for meals. Commissioner, therefore, recommended that young persons and women in this trade should be allowed to be employed "according to the customs of the trade in each locality in which the trade is carried on; provided always, that their total hours of work do not exceed ten and a half in any one day, and sixty in any one week, with not less than the usual intervals for meals." In 1870 an Act was passed to consolidate the various Acts relating to print works and bleach and dye works, and its first schedule permitted overtime in Turkey red dyeing " for the purpose only of preventing any damage which may arise from spontaneous combustion." In other respects print works

 ^{26 &}amp; 27 Vict., c. 38, and 27 & 28 Vict., c. 98.
 Report by Mr. Tremenheere and Mr. Tufnell, in H. C., 1868— 9, XIV.

³ *Ibid.*, p. 110.

^{4 33 &}amp; 34 Vict., c. 62.

and bleach and dye works were placed under the regulations of the Act of 1867, with certain exemptions as to the work of male young persons between sixteen and eighteen, and as to overtime.

In 1860, Mr. Tremenheere was instructed by the Secretary of State to visit the towns and districts in England which were the seat of the lace manufacture, and enquire as to the expediency of imposing the regulations of the Factory Act upon them. This question had come under the consideration of the Government during the enquiries that preceded the Factory Act of 1833, and again during the investigation of the Children's Employment Commission from 1840, to 1843. Detailed evidence had been given showing that women, children and young persons in considerable numbers were employed upon, or in connection with, the lace machines at all hours of the day or night, and that these very early and late hours were in many cases extremely injurious to health, and deprived the young ones of any opportunity of education. But although it was felt that the protection of the law should be given to these classes of persons, both for their own sake and in the interest of the community, there were features in the trade that made legislative interference at this time difficult (Mr. Tremenheere's report says "impossible").

A large proportion of the lace machines were worked by hand in private houses, and it was felt that a domestic industry of this kind could not well be reached by legislation, while, if legislation were extended only to places where power-machines were used, it would indirectly confer an immunity on others which would be unfair to the former, and check the tendency to apply campower to the whole. Since the time of the Children's Employment Commission of 1842, the factories had been gradually driving out the domestic manufacture, and at the time of Mr. Tremenheere's report, he believed that, out of 3,800 to 4,000 machines, not more than

ninety were then worked by hand in private houses; and that these few, being of old-fashioned construction, were not likely to survive, and might be disregarded. Nevertheless, if "legislation to the full extent of the Factory Acts "were to be urged, it would, he said, have to be taken into account that there were certain subsidiary processes which were regarded as peculiarly the province of women and girls, which could easily be done in neighbouring cottages, where the limitation of hours might be evaded. This was especially the case with the work of winding the silk or thread on brass bobbins, which was the principal work done by women. When wound, these bobbins were placed, generally by the boys, in the "carriages" which kept them in place on the machines, and when so placed, the end of the thread was passed through an eye in the carriage, which was thus "threaded." The special peculiarity of the lace manufacture was that, whereas in the trades already under the Act, children and women were employed while the machinery was in motion, in the lace they were employed preparatory to the machines being set in motion, and subsequently in taking out the exhausted bobbins to refill and replace in the machines. The latter operation took two to four hours, and required great manual dexterity. As the pieces were finished (or, in the trade expression, "came off" the machines), at irregular hours, according to the kind or quality of the work done, the women and children were required to be either at the factory or within call for much longer than they were actually employed, and for some hours at a time they might have literally nothing to do. In the opinion of several witnesses examined by Mr. Tremenheere, the most esirable thing for the trade would be that the owners of machines should be induced to get double sets of bobbins and carriages, so that the extra set could be wound and threaded within factory hours. These witnesses were in ¹ Tremenheere's Report, H.C., 1861, XXII., p. 8,

favour of imposing the Act without any relaxation, because they believed that it would have the effect of hastening this improvement; they, however, admitted the danger that the law might be evaded by taking the bobbins and carriages into neighbouring houses or cottages, where unrestricted hours could be worked. As one witness said1: "What is to prevent a man taking his bobbins and carriage across the road into his own house, or into any house, and when they were wound and threaded, bringing them back again? . . . You could not meddle with what was done in a private house." Some witnesses were so impressed with this difficulty, that they advocated a clause being inserted in the Lace Works Bill to the effect that "bobbins and carriages wound out of the factory, and then placed in a machine worked by steam power, should, for the purposes of the Act, be deemed to have been wound and threaded within the factory."

The extreme irregularity in the hours worked by women, children and young persons was due to the custom of the male workers working in "shifts." Two men, or a man and a boy, might superintend two machines. When the machines were kept at work for eighteen hours, the first hand came on at four and worked till eight; the second came on at eight and worked till one; the first returned at one and worked till six; the second from six to ten—thus giving nine hours' work to each hand, with intervals of four or five hours.

It was alleged that, although the youths under eighteen who were taking these shifts with the men might have to keep extremely early or late hours, the mode of work was not attended with any bad effects of a nature to require legislative interference. It was urged that it was essential to the interests of the lace manufacture that youths from the age of sixteen upwards should be allowed to take these shifts with the men, as their replacement by adults would enhance the cost of production; and without this practice

¹ Ibid., p. 88 of Report.

² *Ibid.*, p. 7.

144

the supply of skilled labour would be interfered with. There might be cases of skilled workmen who did not begin till twenty, but as a rule it was necessary to begin at sixteen.

The women and children who did the subsidiary processes previously described might be wanted at any time between 4 a.m. and 10 p.m., or even later, as sometimes the double-shift between them continued till midnight. or even on occasions all night; and it will easily be seen that even if, as the opponents of legislation alleged during this enquiry, the actual hours of work were not excessive. the time during which the workers might be detained, and the deprivation of rest, constituted serious grievances. There were also, as Mr. Tremenheere pointed out. a large number of women and children, stated to be two or three times as many as those actually working in the factories. employed in the dressing and finishing of lace, who were often kept to very late hours. The finishing processes consisted of examining and mending the goods, drawing out threads, clipping, folding, winding, carding, and other light operations, some assisted by light hand machines. All this work could easily be done in any dwelling house. Many very young children were thus employed, and the excuse given for late hours was that large orders often had to be executed at very short notice.

Mr. Tremenheere's recommendations, after taking the evidence, were that the Factory Acts should be extended to lace works with certain exceptions. These exceptions were: firstly, that youths from sixteen to eighteen should be permitted to work between 4 a.m. and 10 p.m. Without this concession he feared that the Act would be extensively evaded, by doing the threading in private houses; and he was also much, and perhaps not unreasonably, impressed with the need of keeping up the supply of skilled labour. The other exception recommended was that the fencing of machinery should not be required in

the lace manufacture, Mr. Tremenheere being satisfied, from evidence, that accidents from machinery were "very rare." and when they did occur, were almost always from a hand or finger being caught in the "acting" part of the machinery, "against which nothing but care on the part of the workman himself can guard." These two exceptions were included in the Lace Works Act of 18612; and the dressing or finishing of lace was also expressly exempted; in other respects the industry was placed on a level with the textile industries. An interesting point, illustrative of the change that was taking place in the feeling of the public and the House of Commons. is that all the amendments made in the Bill tended to increased stringency. Thus, the original Bill³ permitted work on Saturdays till 4.30, and children of eleven to work full time; but in the Committee the age of full time was raised to thirteen, and the Saturday half-holiday was to begin at two.

The Children's Employment Commission, appointed in 1862, was expressly directed to investigate the conditions prevailing in industries " not already regulated by law." Lace-making in factories had alone been reached by the Act of 1861, so the Commissioners had to inquire into various subsidiary processes and work in warehouses and private houses not under the Act. Machine lace finishing was carried on in large buildings called "dressing-rooms" or "getting-up rooms" both in warehouses and in private houses. Even in the warehouses steam-power was only occasionally used. The demand for lace being very irregular and dependent on changes of fashion, the temptation to the owners of these "dressing-rooms" to work long hours in the busy time, when orders came in, was very great, and though ordinary hours of work for twothirds of the year might be only from eight to seven, for the remainder of the year work would be continued till

¹ *Ibid.*, p. 27. ² 24 & 25 Vict., c. 117. ³ H. C., 1861, III.

nine, ten, or twelve o'clock. The great heat needed for the work, the inefficient ventilation, and the frequently crowded state of the workrooms made the long hours of labour specially onerous, and Mr. White, the Commissioner came to the conclusion that the pressure of work was more variable in finishing than in making the lace, and that the workers included "a larger number in greater need of protection." Warehouses also were described to be in a very unhealthy condition from over-heating and bad air. The most interesting part of the reports is, however, that relating to private houses.1 Two classes of these were observed by the Commissioners—i.e.," mistresses' houses" and home-work. The mistresses, commonly called "second-hand mistresses," from their taking work at second hand from the warehousemen or manufacturers. were employers of women and girls, in larger or smaller numbers, according to the size of their rooms and the fluctuating demands of trade. The space allowed for each person in some places was very small, the practice being to put as many into a room as could be crowded together, the children on little low stools and the lace on the ground or on frames, no space being left for any other furniture or for anyone to move about. The space for each person was sometimes as little as one hundred, ninety, or even sixty-seven cubic feet. The children would work with astonishing closeness of attention and quickness. scarcely even allowing their fingers to rest, or their eyes to wander from the work, for fear of losing a moment. The alternate pressure and absence of work, and the anxiety suffered, had the effect of prematurely ageing the home-workers, who appeared painfully worn, and began to lose their sight at a comparatively early age. The employment of very young children was less prevalent than in former times, but was still noticeable. The Commission of 1842 had found children employed for wages

¹ Children's Employment Commission, 2nd Report, 1864, XXII., p. xviii,

in lace-making at three or even two years old; in 1862 it was still customary for them to begin work at five or six. The little ones were generally sent home at eight, after having worked from 8 a.m. The girls from twelve years old and upward would be kept in busy times till 9 or 10 p.m. "If the warehouses were unwholesome from being heated by steam . . . and the quantity of gasburners, they were yet better than the private houses, because the girls did not work so close together." besides the mistresses' houses, large numbers of women worked at lace-mending, drawing, running, &c., in their own houses, singly or with their own children, and often for hours quite as long as those exacted by the mistresses. Dr. Robertson, physician to the General Hospital, Nottingham, expressed his "strong opinion" that to effect any real improvement, moral and physical, in the youthful population of the country, it would be necessary to enforce a systematic and skilled inspection of all establishments where more than, say half a dozen, workpeople were gathered under one roof, the same agency to have power to suggest remedies for defects in sanitary arrangements. The Commissioners came to the conclusion that any measure of relief and protection for children in the various branches of lace finishing should if possible be made to reach both mistresses' houses and private houses.

Pillow-lace making in Devonshire, and in Buckinghamshire and adjacent regions, was also described by the Commissioners. The children usually went to work at "schools" kept by women in their cottages. At these lace schools the children began work at five or six years old, and were at first employed four, six, or eight hours a day, but after the first year or two they were sometimes employed as much as twelve, fourteen, or even sixteen hours in the day. The conditions as to overcrowding were, if possible, worse than in the finishing-rooms already

described; instances of fifty-two, thirty-eight, or even twenty-four cubic feet per person being given. The work thus carried on was of a kind, as the Commissioners pointed out, commonly called a "domestic manufacture," and hitherto supposed to be beyond the province of legislative control, partly with the tacit assumption that no evil was involved of a nature sufficiently grave to make it necessary, partly with the idea that, even if such evil existed, the law could not reach it. The first assumption had been completely disproved by the evidence now accumulated of the injury to health inflicted on the young women and girls employed.2 The other impression as to the impossibility of legal control was considered groundless by the Commissioners, "since the Public Health and Local Government Acts have placed under local authorities all over the kingdom administrative officers who only require to be armed with specific power to deal effectually with cases such as these now in question."3

The Commissioners then boldly recommended the extension of the Factory Act, with certain modifications, to private houses and small places of work generally. "It would be greatly to the benefit of the health, comfort, and means of improvement of a very large body of children, young persons, and women if the protection of the law could be so far extended to them as to ensure for them moderate and regular hours of work and an improved sanitary condition of their places of work. But more especially would such legislation be a protection and benefit to the great numbers of very young children who in many branches of manufacture are kept at protracted and injurious labour in small, crowded, dirty and illventilated places of work by their parents. It is unhappily

¹ Ibid., p. xxx.

² There is a lively description of a lace school, quite as bad as the details given by the Commissioners, in a book by Charlotte Yonge, entitled the "Clever Woman of the Family."

⁸ 2nd Report, 1864, XII., p. xxxi.

to a painful degree apparent through the whole of the evidence that against no persons do the children of both sexes so much need protection as against their parents."

The special recommendations of the Commissioners were as follows:—Dressing-rooms and warehouses to be placed under the Factory Act: work-rooms and mistresses houses where children, women, or young persons work for wages to be considered as warehouses, with trifling modifications. In private houses where children work for their parents only, and not for wages, the following enactments were recommended, the administration to be in the hands of the local authority: No child under eight to be employed. No child under thirteen to be employed more than six hours in any one day or between 7 p.m. and 6 a.m. Every child, young person, or woman to be entitled to the factory hours for meals. No young person between thirteen and eighteen and no woman to be employed for more than ten and a half hours per day, or between the hours of 7 p.m. and 6 a.m. these recommendations were effectively embodied in the provisions of the Workshops Regulation Act of 1867 will appear in the next chapter.

¹5th Report, 1866, p. xxiv.

CHAPTER VIII.

THE INCLUSION OF NON-TEXTILE FACTORIES AND WORKSHOPS, 1864-1867.

The Change in Public Opinion—The Children's Employment Commission—Potteries, &c.—The Act of 1864—Hosiery, Hardware, Apparel, &c.—The Factory Acts Extension Act and the Workshops Act, 1867.

On August 15th, 1861, Lord Shaftesbury in the House of Lords moved for a fresh inquiry to be made into the conditions of employment of children and young persons in trades not already regulated by law. Employment at very early ages—four, five, or six—work at night, long hours, disgracefully insanitary conditions, all of these had been discovered in 1842 to be the characteristic features of such industries as pottery, glass, metalwares, pillow-lace, hosiery, and many others. Since 1842 the evils pointed out had in some cases been mitigated, in others increased; some old trades had become extinct, some new ones had been created. Further information was therefore necessary. The Commission was appointed, and sat for about five years, issuing reports of deep interest.1 The first report, issued in 1863, was devoted to the manufactures of pottery, lucifermatches, percussion-caps and cartridges, hosiery and lace, and to the employments of paper-staining, "hooking and finishing" (subsidiary and unregulated operations of the bleaching and dyeing trade), and fustian cutting. Great stress is laid by some writers on the difference

¹ This Commission is often alluded to, in a misleading manner, as the second Commission on Children's Employment, but it is more accurate to describe it as the third, the first being the Factory Children's Commission in 1833, and the second the Commission of Enquiry into the Employment of Children in Trades and Manufactures, 1842–3.

between a "manufacture" and an "employment," and it is for some reason occasionally assumed that Government is doing a much more startling thing in regulating the one than the other. There seems, however, no essential difference between the spinner or weaver who gives a new form to cotton or woollen threads, and the dyer who gives them a new colour, or between either of these and the shirt or dressmaker who makes them into garments, or the laundress who washes them when soiled. There was, in this respect, no new departure taken in either the enquiry of 1862 or the Acts of 1864 and 1867; for the principle of regulating "employments" had been adopted in the Print Works and Bleach and Dye Works Acts.

The pottery trade showed, in addition to long and irregular hours, and employment of children at too early an age. the prevalence of specially unhealthy conditions, the risk of absorbing lead poison into the human system. and a tendency to progressive degeneration among the workers.2 Medical evidence was given and independently confirmed to the effect that "each successive generation of potters becomes more dwarfed and less robust than the preceding one." In 1862 there seemed to have been no improvement since the Commission of 1842 in the important matter of raising the age of employment, many children being still taken on at six. seven, or eight years old.3 Those employed by the "flatpresser" especially moved Mr. Longe's pity. These children, called "mould-runners," were employed to put the plates or saucers in the stoves or drying-rooms. The temperature of the stoves would be up to 120°, 130°, or even 148°. It was said that the boys thus employed felt the effects even more in after years than at the time.4 The arrangement of the stoves was considered easily capable of improvement, and one master at Cobridge

¹ H. C., 1863, XVIII., p. xxviii.

² *Ibid.*, pp. x., xxv., xxvi. ³ *Ibid.*, Longe's Report, p. 2.

⁴ Ibid., p. 4.

had introduced a stove which neither required the entrance of the boy nor diffused so much heat. So flagrant were the evils that legislative interference was petitioned for even by the masters themselves, of whom an influential body, including such well-known names as Minton and Wedgwood, signed a memorial to the Home Secretary, apparently in 1862,3 deploring the fact that children were frequently employed before the age of ten, pointing out the "moral and physical evils" that resulted, and stating that in the absence of legislative enactment it was impossible to right those matters by voluntary agreement. "as a portion only of the employers could be brought to consent to such an agreement." This opinion seems to have been general, and it came out also that the employment of children was operating as a drag on the development of the industry. Boys were still employed in Staffordshire, in turning the "jigger"—i.e., an appliance for turning the potter's wheel—which was hard work for young children,³ and in some of the manufactories of Glasgow and Newcastle their labour had been advantageously replaced by steam-power. In view of the special dangers to health involved in this industry, the Commissioners advised the appointment of a medical inspector, with power to enter, inspect, and examine all potteries in reference to their construction, ventilation, and other arrangements, so far as these affected the health of children and young persons working therein, and to serve notice in writing on the employer of any defects he might notice. If the employer within fourteen days did not signify to the inspector in writing his intention to remove the cause of complaint, the matter, according to the Commissioners' recommendation, should be decided by arbitration.4

¹ *Ibid.*, p. 4. See also, for improvements introduced, Inspector's Report for October, 1865, p. 16.

² N. D.: printed in 1st Report, p. 322.

³ *Ibid.*, pp. 3, 8. ⁴ *Ibid.*, p. xxiv.

Two specially injurious employments were noted-viz.. "dipping" and "scouring." Boys were employed while very young to carry the ware to the dipper, and they thus spent much of their time in the poisonous atmosphere of the dipping house. Boys of fourteen or fifteen were employed to "gather" the ware from the dipper, and thus came into contact with the glaze more than did the others. Lead entered largely into the composition of this glaze, and "few dippers continued many years at this work without suffering from painter's colic or paralysis; many became crippled at an early age." "Scouring" was largely woman's work. The fine dust diffused through the air of the workshop produced great discomfort in the respiratory organs, and, if the occupation was persisted in, disease. There were, however, efforts being made in some potteries to lessen the evil by introducing appliances to carry off the dust.2 The Commissioners considered that the medical inspector whom they wished to see appointed would be the fittest person to propose, under the sanction of the Secretary of State, "special rules" of a sanitary nature to guard against these specially unhealthy conditions, such rules to be settled with the owner or occupier of each pottery, with power, if necessary, to appeal to arbitration in case of dispute, and the rules when established to receive the sanction of the Secretary of State 3

Overtime seems to have been common. The usual hours of work were from 6.30 to 6.30, but these were frequently exceeded in the case of pressing orders, when children as well as adults might be employed till eight or nine. The men would often waste the first days of the week in drink and idleness and then keep the children late on Thursday and Friday to make up for lost time. It is instructive to notice that the wages of boys employed

¹ *Ibid.*, Mr. Longe's Report, p. 5. ² *Ibid.*, Commissioners' Report, p. xxvi.

³ Ibid., p. xxvii.

in "jigger-turning" and "mould-running" averaged 3s. to 3s. 6d. a week. Boys of nine to eleven got only 1s. 6d. to 2s. 6d.¹ a week, which sum, it should be remembered, represented the sole compensation paid for the privilege of thus wasting the health and potential efficiency of future citizens.

The conditions in lucifer match making were even more terrible. In addition to the usual and oft-recounted evils attending long hours and bad air, it was noticed that this work was apt to produce the peculiar and terrible disease known as necrosis of the jawbone ("phossy jaw"). causing great agony, and sometimes involving death or the loss of the jaw. In percussion-cap and cartridge making the special element was the danger of explosion. which had caused the loss of many lives; women and young girls formed the larger proportion of workers in this industry. Paper-staining resembled the bleaching and dyeing trade, in that it varied at different seasons of the year, and at the busy season the hours of work were apt to be terribly long, from 6 a.m. to 9 or 10 at night. Fustian cutting was carried on both in small workshops and as a home industry. The continually increasing employment of children had greatly reduced the wages of men compared with the standard of 1825. at which time child labour was said to have been introduced.2 It was shown that children were kept constantly at work fourteen hours a day, at the end of the week sometimes eighteen or twenty.3 The Bill introduced in 1864 to deal with these six trades, including the homeworking fustian cutters, was the first that had ever included a home industry. This was candidly pointed out by Mr. H. A. Bruce,4 the Home Secretary, but the House showed no alarm at the novelty, the debate being

¹ Longe, p. 4.

² Factory Inspector's Report, half-year ending October, 1864. ³ Hansard, June 14th, 1864.

⁴ Hansard, June 14th, 1864.

almost unanimously in favour of the Bill, which passed both Houses in the summer of 1864. This Act placed the enumerated industries under the Factory Acts already in force, the definition of a factory being widened so as to include "any place in which persons work for hire?" in any of the trades specified. Masters were empowered to make special rules for the observance of cleanliness and ventilation, and to attach a penalty not exceeding $\mathfrak{L}\mathfrak{I}$ for the breach thereof, the rules so made to be subject to the approval of H.M. Secretary of State. By another section children, young persons, and women were forbidden to take their meals in any room in which certain specified processes were carried on.

The good effects of this Act seem to have been willingly recognised. A letter from a manufacturer stated that "nineteen-twentieths of the earthenware manufacturers were opposed to the Act when it was first introduced, myself among the number. I consider that nineteen-twentieths now would be unwilling to part with it."

In straw-plaiting the employment of mere infants seems to have lingered on long after it had happily been discontinued in industries in which it had formerly prevailed. Children would be set to plait, either at home or in the straw-plait schools, at three years old or even under. In the schools a task of so many yards to plait would be set them by their parents, and the duty of the mistress was to act as overlooker and see that the proper amount of work was done. "The mistresses who get the most work out of them are the most patronised." "The

¹ Ibid., June 17th, 1864.

² It is doubtful, however, whether the expression "working for hire" did not in effect exclude home work. Inspecter Baker, in his report for April, 1867, p. 26, says that if a fustian cutter employed his own family only he might work all night if he liked, but if he employed one or two women he could not work after 6 p.m., that the inequality caused great dissatisfaction, and that a definition of "working for hire" was needed.

³ Birmingham Daily Post, March 19th, 1867.

⁴ Children's Employment Commission, H. C., 1864, XXII., 2nd Report, p. 203, Horley's evidence.

parents . . . only seem to see how much they can get out of them." The actual earnings of these infants were insignificant, but the parents were actuated by the desire to train them to become an early source of profit. The overcrowding in the straw-plait schools was extreme, the allowance of space being twenty-four, eighteen, or even fewer cubic feet per person.

The ancient and interesting industry of hosiery would be a tempting theme on which to linger did not considerations of space compel us to be brief. In 1842 the Children's Employment Commission found it still carried on as hand-work, but in 1846 steam-worked frames were introduced, and in 1852, 3,800 were known to be in existence. The Commission of 1862 thus took up the trade at a time when the effects of the "industrial revolution" might have been expected to be most evident. It was stated that 120,000 persons were employed, directly or indirectly, in the English hosiery trade, and that of these only 4,063 came under the Factory Act. The others were engaged in warehouse work not unlike the corresponding processes of the lace trade—"cutting," "folding," "mending," "packing," "marking," &c.; in working hand-frames in houses or small shops; or in "winding," "mending," "seaming," "stitching," &c., in private houses. The warehouses were mostly situated at Nottingham, Leicester, and Loughborough; the other branches of work were carried on in smaller towns and villages in the counties of Nottingham, Derby, and Leicester 2

The hours in warehouses were stated to be sometimes long, and it was felt to be advisable that an industry which was so close a neighbour to the lace trade should be included in any measure of control which should be applied to the lace warehouses. The masters were in favour of legislative control. The conditions of work in private houses were far worse than in factories. Hosiery

¹ H. C., 1864, XXII., p. 204.

² Ibid., p. xxxii.

work at this time was developing along two distinct lines. A good deal of the work was already done in factories where steam-power was used, and the production was of course far cheaper and quicker than under the old methods. But the best goods could still be shaped only upon hand-frames, and some persons considered it unlikely that these could ever be entirely superseded. In some cases wider frames, not worked by power, had been introduced, and these were concentrated, thirty, forty, or double that number, in large shops, the work being chiefly done by men and big youths, as it required greater strength than the old-fashioned narrow frames, which could be worked by women and children.1 The goods thus made were to a great extent finished by handneedlework, mended, seamed, stitched, and so forth in the country, by women in their own homes, helped by their children, though some were done in warehouses by girls. Children were also largely employed in the domestic manufacture, and owing to the irregular habits of the men, they would be idle the early part of the week and then over-worked. It was said that "an excessive pressure of work is thrown periodically upon very young children, and some are employed almost as infants." Some, indeed, began to work at three and a half, four. or five years. It was common for girls, as well as women. to sit up all Friday night to work, and even for children to be kept up till some time past midnight. The shops were "unfit as places of work for the young," or (as the reader of a later date may consider) for anyone else. Often one to four frames might be placed together in the only living-room, poverty not allowing the double cost of fire and light for a second room. "Many of these rooms are squalid far beyond what is usual in the country dwellings of the poor and of necessity in these, crowded as they are with frames, furniture and inmates, and noisy with the rattle of frames meals such as can be had

¹ H. C., 1863, XVIII., White's Report, p. 264.

are cooked and eaten, infants nursed or put to sleep, and other housework done." . . . "The scanty light by which poverty often obliges the seamers to work must add much to the strain upon the eyes in night work. Weak sight is common among seamers." Some details in the hosiery report are singular enough to startle even the most seasoned reader of Employment Commissions. As the Commissioners frankly pointed out, it was the parents who were most answerable for the overwork of children. One child of five and a half was reported "very clever, having been at it for two years; . . . she used to stand on a stool to see up to the candle. . . . Little children are often kept up shamefully late on Thursday and Friday till II or I2. . . . Mothers will pin them to their knee to keep them to their work and give them a slap to keep them awake. If the children are pinned up so, they cannot fall when they are slapped or go to sleep. . . . The child has so many fingers set for it to stitch before it goes to bed and must do them."1

The Commissioners recommended placing work in shops and in private houses under the same control as that suggested for lace.

In the Birmingham hardware manufactures the hours of labour were found to be on the average shorter than in some of the instances previously noted, but irregularity was great, and children and young persons were liable to be kept at work very late towards the end of the week. The employment of the very young was also noted here, and it was estimated that in Birmingham alone about 2,000 children under ten were at work, one-fourth of whom were probably under eight. The conditions of many of these industries were found to be unhealthy, principally owing to the amount of dust generated in the processes, which was apt to produce phthisis and irritative diseases of the lungs and mucous membrane. The difficulty of extending the Factory

¹ 2nd Report, p. xxxvi. ² 3rd Report, pp. xii. and xiii.

Act did not lie so much in any special unwillingness on the part of Birmingham manufacturers, many of whom expressed themselves in favour of it, as in the peculiarities of the place, the extraordinary number and variety of the industries, and the fact that many of them were carried on simultaneously in large factories and in workshops of all sizes. In the small places the children worked both younger and longer; it was stated that there was no regular limit to the hours, and the small masters with a scanty business had work only by fits and starts, and had to do it when they could get it. "From the number of small employments, children's labour is so profitable in Birmingham that I believe many parents come to live in the town for the sake of their children's earnings. . . . Big girls, if quick, can make half a man's wages, and there are plenty who make ios. or ies. a week...."

The Commissioners came to the conclusion that to place large factories under legislative control and leave workshops free—the same kind of work being carried on in both, and the need for supervision and control being conspicuously greater in the latter—would be an injustice to the one and would actually put a premium on the abuses in the outer. They recommended that workshops, large and small, should be put under the factory inspectors if possible; but, if the expense were deemed an insuperable obstacle, that the local sanitary authorities should be required to take over the supervision.²

In consequence of the Commissioners' Reports and of the general dissatisfaction with existing conditions, the Birmingham manufacturers in some cases voluntarily

¹ To this day pearl buttons, for instance, are made in Birmingham in large factories with steam engine and elaborate appliances, in large workshops with thirty hands or thereabouts, working with hand-presses, and in tiny domestic workshops, where the "scrap" collected from the larger places is carefully utilised, and the smallest possible buttons are made from the odd corners. ² 3rd Report, pp. xx., xxv.

introduced the ten and a half hours day, even before they were placed under the regulations of the Act. 1 Nothing is more remarkable in the reports and enquiries of these years than this friendly spirit towards State control, and the disposition to welcome and hope much from its extension. Nor is it necessary to suppose that this was entirely due to philanthropic spirit on the part of the masters; it is evident that they had begun to recognise that an improvement in the character of labour would be to their advantage, and that this could only be attained through an improvement in education and a lessened strain on workers in early youth.

In the multifarious industries relating to wearing apparel the Commissioners had perhaps the hardest and most complicated task of all.² To simplify it in some degree, they decided to restrict themselves entirely to the study of the work of women and girls, the few boys and vouths employed in tailoring and boot and shoe making being left to a subsequent report. There remained the work of dressmakers, milliners, and mantlemakers, considered as one class, and in another all kinds of seamstresses, including shirt makers, collar makers, ladies' outfitters, stay makers, crinoline makers, necktie, belt, and brace makers; tailors, hatters, cap and bonnet makers, boot and shoe makers, glovers, &c. In each of these two main divisions, according to the census of 1861, somewhat under 300,000 females were employed, nearly 600,000 in all, to which had to be added upwards of 112,600 in Ireland and 51,000 in Scotland. One obvious complication of the subject at once met the investigators. Many of those occupations, though sometimes carried on separafely, are in other cases blended together; thus the great mercers or drapers combine millinery and dressmaking, and perhaps several or all of the other kinds of ¹ Inspector's Report, 31st October, 1865, p. 128, also communicated to the present writer by a Birmingham employer from his own recollection. (B.L.H.)
² 2nd Report, H. C., 1864, XXII., p. xlv. and ff.

work under one roof with their proper trade. The introduction of the sewing machine had bound many of those trades together, and had so changed the organisation of the industry that the Commissioners confidently expected within a few years to see "a complete revolution in every species of needlework," an expectation which, it is hardly necessary to say, has scarcely been realised. As one keen-sighted witness told the Commissioners, "the increased application of steam-power will depend altogether on the price and supply of outdoor labour. If that becomes scarce a greater number of machines will be em-With the present price of labour the application of the sewing machine cannot be profitably extended. Many kinds of hand-labour are cheaper than the same work could be done by the sewing machine." There was. however, already a strong tendency to develop the making of wearing apparel into a factory industry. Steam-power was already used for sewing machines in some cases. Women were employed in large numbers in making shirts, collars, and general underclothing, also in tailoring and cap and boot making. An Army clothing factory employed over a thousand persons, nearly all women and girls. At no point, however, could a satisfactory line be drawn between establishments such as this, which were practically factories, and work in private houses. Private houses of the higher class sometimes kept a stock of materterial and refused or were reluctant to make up dresses unless supplying the material, and thus "were properly retail houses,"3 whilst dressmaking and millinery were done to order on the premises of the large shops. "It is difficult to see the distinction between a large retail drapery establishment having rooms set apart for work and merchants' warehouses having rooms also set apart

¹ Ibid., p. xlvi.

² Ibid., p. 59.

³ Ibid., p. B. II. This seems to be a mistake of the Commissioners, as dressmakers of this class do not sell material by the yard.

for work, e.g., the shirt or sewed muslin warehouses, the work itself being substantially the same. . . . As to the class of persons employed, there is indeed a wide difference between the refined milliners and dressmakers of the higher kind and the ill-clothed and untaught workers of whom many are found in some of the factories; but this difference is imperceptibly shaded off, and more variation is found, owing rather to the standing of the different establishments and local circumstances than to the nature of the work. In the same shirt factories may be seen many persons quite equal to dressmakers, &c., in the smaller houses, and a number of others neither in dress appearance nor in education at all superior to the poorest workers in common factories."

Children under thirteen were rarely found employed, even in the lower class dressmaking, excepting that, where sewing machines were used, girls of eleven and twelve were occasionally employed as assistants to the machinists. In consequence of so many persons setting up in business for themselves or marrying, comparatively few women above thirty were found in the regular establishment.2 In millinery and dressmaking girls were generally apprenticed, or taken on as learners or pupils for a period varying from a few months to three or four years, the periods being usually longer in the higher class of houses. In some places it was usual to have a formal agreement drawn up, including stipulations as to hours, which were considered by the assistants to be very useful. Apprentices lodged in the house usually paid a premium varying according to the character of the firm from £20 to £50; outdoor apprentices sometimes paid a small premium, sometimes not. It was stated that a high premium was sometimes found to be objectionable, as the girl's friends would naturally be reluctant to remove her and lose the money, however unsatisfactory might be the conditions. Indoor assistants were usually paid a yearly salary, which

¹ *Ibid.*, p. B. 11.

² Ibid., p. xlv.

might seem very advantageous to the worker, as it would not be affected by fluctuations of employment and would secure her maintenance. There was a set-off, however, in the fact that, in the absence of any distinct agreement, the employer would be able to extort a good deal of extra work without extra pay. Day-workers being usually paid for overtime, it would be profitable to the employer to get extra hours out of the indoor hands.¹

Workrooms were found in many cases overcrowded to a most objectionable degree. Ventilation was in many cases defective, and the small fragments and particles of dust, shreds of wool, cotton, &c., which pervaded the atmosphere of workrooms were a dangerous source of lung irritation.2 In some cases workrooms were used by night as bedrooms.3 The hours of work, though still undesirably long, were found by the Commissioners to have been shortened since the previous enquiry of 1842. Miss Newton, manager of the Association for the Aid and Benefit of Dressmakers, gave evidence to that effect, but she also stated that fashionable dressmakers, "unless they are very good managers and have excellent first hands, cannot get on with less than fourteen hours a day in the height of the London season," and there were still some houses where they worked continually for sixteen or eighteen On the other hand, there were more enlightened employers who recognised the disadvantage of late hours. Mr. Levilly was convinced that the most fashionable houses could do their work in the season between o a.m. and 10 p.m., and at other times between 9 and 9. "I cannot see," said Mr. Einstein, "why young ladies should have to work the hours that men will not, and indeed cannot, endure. . . . The only thing needed is that it should be quite general; but that cannot be ensured by any mere moral pressure or social influence. Government

¹ *Ibid.*, p. B. 12.

⁴ Ibid., p. 121.

² *Ibid.*, p. li. ³ *Ibid.*, p. 13.

⁵ *Ibid.*, p. lviii.

must do it if it is to be effectual."

The Commissioners arrived at the conclusion that there was "nothing in the dressmaking and millinery business which would be incompatible with the hours of work prescribed by the Factory Act."

In the case of seamstresses the introduction of the sewing machine had been a single benefit. It had necessitated the employment of older children and girls, the usual age for commencing being about fourteen; and the wages of machinists, 14s. or 16s. a week, were stated to "be at least one-third higher than those of handworkers in the same department."2 Hours of work were more regular and limited in factories—a few of which had adopted Factory Act hours-than in "home-work" and in the houses of small employers. With these latter the hours were frequently long and excessive. "Of all classes the evidence shows that the most prolonged labour occurs in the case of individuals working for themselves; shirtmakers often work from 5 a.m. to 8 p.m., and in the boot trade some hand-workers are occupied from 7 a.m. to 10 p.m." Meal times, both in dressmaking and among seamstresses, were found to be most irregular and insufficient.

The Commissioners considered that it would be impossible to draw a line in sewing trades between the small employers and the large establishments; and that "to interfere with so important an industrial department only where large numbers are collected together, whilst the smaller employers in the same business are left uncontrolled, would naturally cause great dissatisfaction and have the appearance of great injustice." They concluded that all these trades should be placed under the regulations of the Factory Acts, subject to their previous remarks as to subjecting the smaller places of work to the administration of the local authority.3

Ibid., pp. 79, 80.
 Ibid., p. lxvii.

³ *Ibid.*, p. lxxvii. Other industries inquired into by the Commissioners were the paper tube or spool manufacture, handloom

It may seem that we have dealt at needless length with the details brought out by the Commission. This has been with no desire to weary the reader with so many particulars, but solely for the sake of the principle they disclose. In industry after industry it was revealed by these reports that there was nothing special about excessive hours of work, insanitary conditions, overstrain, and waste of life and power; that these were not peculiar to any one kind of work or any one form of industry, but might be found wherever the workers were cheap and competition unregulated, existing perhaps in their acutest form in the "cottage homes of England." It was the study and observation of the actual facts that brought home to the Commissioners that while regulation was imperatively necessary in factories, it was still more needed in the smallest workplaces. Thus we see public opinion driven forward, reluctantly, perhaps, and slowly, but with irresistible force, towards the principle of collective control of all workers. On March 1st, 1867, Mr. Walpole introduced a Factory Acts Extension Bill into the House of Commons, and at the same time a Bill for the regulation of workshops, entitled the "Hours of Labour Regulation Bill." In the course of his speech he said that the success of the Factory Acts had been so great, their beneficial results so marked and so universally admitted, and the evils still existing in some unregulated trades so flagrant, that the time had come for extending the principle of those Acts more widely than ever before contemplated. "We may even act, I will not say upon a new principle, but upon one that before the present occasion has never received full recognition." The principle weaving in Ireland and Scotland, metal manufacture, iron shipbuilding, letter foundries, copper works, tobacco manufacture, bobbin manufacture, indiarubber works, artificial flower and feather making, paper manufacture, glass manufacture, printing, bookbinding and stationery, silk manufacture, rope manufacture, ribbon trade, brickfields, miscellaneous trades, and employment in agricultural gangs.

¹ Hansard, March 1st, 1867, p. 1272.

alluded to is not explicitly stated, but comes out a little later on in the speech. Mr. Walpole had become convinced, he said, that the evils incident to the employment of women and children were found to be "aggravated to a tenfold degree in the small workshops in which children were found at work." He alluded to the objections that might be urged against interference with private dwellings or parental rights, but he showed that passage after passage from the Commissioners' report had demonstrated the necessity of supervising dwelling-houses, and the need for the State, "the parent of the country," to fill the place of the natural protector of the child where parental duties were neglected. It was assumed, however, that all workplaces, large and small, could not be dealt with on a uniform principle, and the dividing line between the large and small establishments, Mr. Walpole thought, could not be made with reference to the nature of the work done in them, for it was more or less the same in both. The dividing line suggested by the Commissioners was to distinguish the larger from the smaller establishments by the number of persons ordinarily employed in them, the larger to be made subject to the regulations of the Factory Acts and the supervision of the factory inspector, the smaller to a modified system of regulation and to local supervision. The number that was to constitute this dividing line was 100 in the original Bill, but this was altered in Committee to 50.

This Bill met with little opposition in the House, and that little by no means of a violent nature.2 Even Mr. Fawcett, later on a strong opponent of State interference with women's labour, spoke in favour of the measure. He defied that it involved "any contravention of the principle of economy in legislation"; he said that working men were glad to welcome similar measures, and

Ibid., p. 1,277.
 Hansard, March 1st, 1867; July 30th, 1867. ³ See next chapter.

reminded the House that those who in the first instance had opposed the Factory Acts were now the foremost to come forward and speak in favour of them. Several speakers objected to the dividing line being drawn by the number of persons employed, which experience was to prove to be a fruitful source of embarrassment. But the general principle was admitted with all but unanimity. The day after Mr. Walpole's introduction of the two Bills The Times had a leading article, the tone of which indicates how greatly public opinion had changed. So far from being regarded as romantically philanthropic, like the ten hours amendment of 1844, which had been styled "a triumph of humanity," the Bills of 1867 were taken as a mere matter of common sense and economic It was pointed out that "the worst result of prudence. the old system of unrestricted freedom was that it tempted men to indulge in alternate fits of idleness and excessive labour. They would be drunk for two days at the beginning of the week and would then endeavour to recover their lost wages, not only by overworking themselves during the remainder of the week, but by compelling their wives and children to work unreasonable hours. The result was that no more money was gained on the average than would have been earned by steady, moderate labour. After all, there is but a certain amount of work to be got out of men, women, or children in the twenty-four hours. Only a certain amount of work is, in point of fact, got out of them, and the effect of this regulation in the Factory Acts is simply to recognise the fact and induce all classes to act upon it. . . . Nothing can be gained in the end by anticipating our resources, and to employ women and children unduly is simply to run in debt with Nature." It is significant that this leading article seems to contemplate even the regulation of men's hours as coming within the range of practical politics, and it would be a tempting subject of speculation whether at 1 Italics added. ² The Times Leader, March 4th, 1867.

this time, with the researches of the Employment Commission fresh in people's minds, a comprehensive scheme of labour regulation, including even adult men, would not have found a hearing. If such a comprehensive measure had been passed, it would have saved a great deal of the bitterness and reaction against special interference with women's labour that was destined to appear in the next decade. We have here, however, only to chronicle what actually happened, and must next consider the Act as passed.

The statute of 1867¹ is one of the most complicated of Factory Acts. It was not a consolidating Act, and made no change in the regulations already in force in textile factories, bleach and dye works, lace factories, or the industries falling under the Act of 1864. It brought a large number of new industries under control-viz., blast furnaces, copper mills, mills or forges in which any process is carried on for converting iron into malleable iron, steel, or tin plate, or for making or converting steel; iron foundries, copper and brass foundries, premises in which power is used for the manufacture of machinery, metal articles and gutta percha; any premises in which paper, glass, or tobacco manufacture, letter-press printing, or bookbinding is carried on; and, finally, any premises in which fifty or more persons are employed in any manufacturing process. Here, it is apparent, we get a new definition of a factory, not co-incident with, but supplementary to, the previous scheme of reference, and likely to lead to confusion in application. All these places of work were placed under the sanitary provisions of the Act of 1864 and the regulations in force as to hours of work, age of child labour, fencing machinery, and education, of the Acts of 1833, 1844, 1850, 1853, and 1856. The provision of the Act of 1864 empowering the master to make special rules for dangerous trades, subject to the approval of the Secretary of State, was also repeated, and several restrictions on dangerous processes were included in the

¹ 30 & 31 Vict., c. 103.

Act itself. No boy under twelve and no woman was to be employed in melting or annealing glass. No child under eleven was to be employed in grinding in the metal trades. No child, young person, or woman was to be allowed to take meals in any part of a glass factory. The inspector was empowered to require the use of a fan or other mechanical means to carry off dust generated by grinding, glazing, or polishing on a wheel, and liable to be inhaled by the workmen to an injurious extent.

The list of modifications and exceptions in this Act is a long one, occupying about twice as many pages as the sections themselves. It is an instance of the curious half-heartedness that seems always to have dogged industrial control in our own country, that even when the principle was so fully admitted as in 1867, and the enactment framed and passed, the Legislature should have gone on to add modifications which nullified half the good the regulation might have done. Male young persons of sixteen and upwards might be employed in certain classes of factories, under a special order of the Secretary of State, and also in letter-press printing, to work for a period not exceeding fifteen hours in any one day. Young persons of fourteen and upwards and women might be employed in bookbinding for a period not exceeding fourteen hours in any one day. The prohibition of women, young persons, and children remaining in the workroom in meal times was withdrawn in regard to iron mills, paper manufactories, and letter-press printing. In blast furnaces, iron mills, letter-press printing, paper mills, and any factory in which the mechanical power was water, male young persons over sixteen might work at night. Various other exemptions and modifications in regard to holidays, fencing machinery, and work by Jews on Saturdays nights were also included.

We now pass to the consideration of the Workshops Regulation Act^1 which was made applicable to any

¹ 30 & 31 Vict., c. 146.

establishment in which fewer than fifty persons were employed in any manufacturing process, except such factories as were already included under the Factory Acts. The Act of 1864 had made a beginning in the direction of regulating workshops in certain special industries, and this was now to be made general and comprehensive. "Employed" was to mean occupied in any handicraft, whether for wages or not, under a master or under a parent. A "workshop" was to mean "any room or place whatever, whether in the open air or under cover, in which any handicraft is carried on by any child, young person, or woman, and to which and over which the person by whom such child, young person, or woman is employed has the right of access or control." "Handicraft " was defined as " any manual labour exercised by way of trade or for purposes of gain in or incidental to the altering, repairing, ornamenting, finishing, or otherwise adapting for sale any article." The Act in theory was comprehensive, making no exception for children employed by their own parents or for women in their own homes, though it may be noted as a technical point that it did not include out-workers, who were either intentionally or inadvertently excluded by the definition of a workshop as a place to which the employed has right of access and control. In this respect the Act did not go so far as that of 1864, in which no such qualifying clause is to be found, but it is notable that it went further in the regulation of home-work. The Act of 1864 included only places where persons work for hire, the case of children working with their parents without wages being thus excluded. This caused great dissatisfaction among the fustiancutters, who found that when an occupier employed only his own family, he might work all night if he chose: but if he employed one or two women he could not work after six. The Workshops Act of 1867, by its definition of "employed" as "occupied with or without wages,"

¹ Inspector's Report, April, 1867, p. 26.

included all home industry, and we thus get the curious position that, while by the Act of 1864 out-workers, but not home-workers, were placed under regulation, the Act of 1867 controlled home-workers, but not out-workers. The discrepancy would probably have attracted more notice than it did, but for the fact that the administrative weakness of the Workshops Act absorbed the attention of all interested in the matter, and in 1878 both Acts were repealed by the general consolidating Act.

Under the Workshops Act, no child under eight was to be employed in any handicraft; children from eight to thirteen might only be employed under the half-time system, as in factories; young persons and women might only be employed for twelve hours, less one and a half for meals, and no child, young person, or woman might be employed after two on Saturdays, except in establishments employing only five or fewer persons. But it must be observed that, though working hours were thus restricted to the same number as those of the Factory Act in force, the limits within which these hours might be taken were much wider. Children might work between 6 a.m. and 8 p.m., young persons and women between 5 and 9. This was beginning precisely on the same lines as the early Factory Acts, which had been framed in all good faith to admit of an "elasticity" which was supposed to be desirable, and with the view of interfering as little as possible with industry. But the experience of the inspectors had shown how illusory such protection was, the only security for observance of the law being the establishment of a "normal day"—i.e., a fixed period of employment equal in duration to the number of working hours permitted, plus meal times. Nevertheless, experience was thrown away, our legislators being perhaps not greatly in the habit of reading blue-books a generation old, and the lesson had all to be learnt afresh in regard to the industries then newly taken under control.

By clause 8 the inspector of the Local Authority was

empowered to require the provision of a fan or other mechanical means to carry off noxious dust. This was in consequence of the terrible disclosures made by the Children's Employment Commission as to the disease and mortality among Sheffield grinders. Children were to attend school for a minimum of ten hours a week. instead of three hours a day or on alternate days, as in factories. There was no provision in the Act requiring notice of occupation, the exhibition of an abstract in the workshop, surgeons' certificates, measures for cleanliness, or the adoption of special rules. This inequality of the law excited unfavourable comment, especially in Birmingham, where workshops were greatly in the majority. and two classes of manufacturers carrying on the same business in competition with one another might be placed under regulations pressing much more heavily on one class than on the other. It was noticeable that the Bills were generally attacked merely on questions of detail, and not on the principle of opposing State interference. meeting of manufacturers was held at the Birmingham Chamber of Commerce, March 18th, 1867,2 opposing the divisions of workplaces into factories and workshops, and favouring a uniform system based on the Workshops Bill; but no great bitterness was shown, nor was it suggested, as had so frequently been the case twenty or thirty years before, that the trade of the country would be ruined for want of the last hour of children's labour. Some preferred to dispense with children in their business altogether, and the need for extending, and giving time for education was unanimously recognised. Amid much doubt, uncertainty, and failure in insight and administrative efficiency, society was gradually groping towards the idea that found expression only a few years later: "The ultimate end of factory legislation is to prescribe conditions of existence below which population shall not decline."3

¹ Birmingham Daily Post, March 15th, 1867.

² Birmingham Daily Post, March 19th, 1867.

³ The Times, June 12th, 1874,

CHAPTER IX.

THE WOMEN'S RIGHTS OPPOSITION MOVEMENT.

1874-1901.

The Nine Hours Bill—The Consolidation Commission, 1876— The Act of 1878.

After the Ten Hours Act of 1847 had been passed, together with the Acts completing and amending it in 1850 and 1853, no fresh legislation respecting the hours of labour in textiles was enacted for twenty years. It is not necessary to infer that the operatives were satisfied with what they had attained. In 1867 we find the textile trade unions agitating for an eight hours day, and in 1872 the delegates of various societies met together and formed the Factory Acts Reform Association in order to amend the law as regards hours. The eight hours day was, however, deemed visionary and unrealisable, and the programme of the 'seventies was to secure a fifty-four hours week—that is to say, nine and a half hours daily and a half-holiday on Saturday.

Contemporary observers seem to have been struck by the admirably business-like manner in which this nine hours movement was engineered, forming a strong contrast with the burning excitement and bitterness of the ten hours movement of the 'thirties and 'forties.¹ The Factory Acts were no longer passed as mere measures of benevolence to allay agitation and discontent, but were carefully arranged and thought out as part of the organisation of labour between employer and employed, and then brought before Parliament in order to receive the sanction required to make the agreement binding.²

In the early part of 1873 Dr. Bridges and Mr. Holmes

¹ See Inspector of Factories' Report for 1872.

² See The Times, June 12th, 1874.

were instructed by the Local Government Board to hold an enquiry in the textile districts to obtain information both from employers and employed, and to draw up a report1 on the health of women, children and young persons engaged in textile manufactures. They found, after taking evidence from both sides, that since the Factory Act of 1847, there was a tendency for greater pressure to be put upon the workpeople, this increased strain occurring in three ways: (a) Each operative had a larger quantity of machinery to attend to; (b) the machinery was driven at a greater speed; (c) the practice of giving overlookers and foremen a premium on the amount of work done led them to exact steadier and harder work than formerly. In view of these changes in the conditions of employment, it was submitted in the report that ten and a half hours of monotonous unceasing labour, even under the most favourable circumstances, might fairly be considered longer than was consistent with the health of young persons between the ages of thirteen and eighteen, and of women generally.2 And this grievance had become especially prominent since the adoption of the nine hours system by so many of the men's unions in other trades.

In addition to these general complaints, special evils were alleged to exist in the manufacture of flax and cotton. In both cases the atmosphere of the workrooms was apt to be loaded with fine dust, the inhalation of which was inevitable in the absence of mechanical appliances to carry it off, the consequence being in many cases disorders of the chest and lungs.³ The Commissioners remarked that the use of fans in carding-rooms, so far from being universal or general, was quite exceptional. Increased sympathy with industrial conditions is undoubtedly a sign of the times, whether we regard it as indicating a higher

¹ Report to Local Government Board in H. C., 1873, LV.

² *Ibid.*, p. 40. ³ *Ibid.*, p. 8.

moral tone or a tendency to slackness and effeminacy, and it is interesting to note that these Commissioners went so far as to consider the point of the extreme monotony of factory work. "The exquisite ingenuity which has invented a separate machine for each minute step in the manufacture entails upon the person in charge of such machine a constant repetition during the working day of the same action, unrelieved by any interest in the thing itself, any difficulty calling for the exercise of the mind," yet calling for unremitting attention, this call being "increased . . . by the increased speed of machinery and the constant demand for increased production."

The Commissioners, in closing their report, recommended the reduction of working hours from sixty to fifty-four a week, holding, on mature consideration, that even supposing a proportional diminution of earnings to be brought about, six hours a week additional leisure for the workers would promote their health to an extent which would not be counterbalanced by the fall in wages.

The result was that a Nine Hours Bill for textiles, somewhat absurdly denominated a "Factories (Health of Women) Bill," was introduced into Parliament in 1873 by Mr. Mundella. It met with considerable opposition from Mr. Fawcett and other doctrinaire Liberals—an opposition which, it has been shrewdly guessed, contributed largely to the defeat of the Liberals in 1874. Working-class opinion now inclined to the belief that the Conservatives were, on the whole, more favourable to labour aspirations than the Liberals; the possessors of inherited wealth were less likely to use it meanly than self-made men; Conservative employers were reputed to be less tyrannical than Liberal. Those who had made their money had supported the Nine Hours Bill, others, whose fortunes were

 ¹ Ibid., p. 43. See also Dr. Crichton Browne's address to Leeds Philosophical Society, January 7th, 1873, reported in Leeds Mercury, January 8th.
 2 See article by E. S. Beesly, Beehive, May 16th, 1874.

not yet made, opposed it.1 These hopes were doomed to partial disappointment. Mr. (now Viscount) Cross, the Conservative Home Secretary, introduced a Factory Bill for textiles in May, 1874, but the regulation as to hours was only a trifling improvement on the existing law. ignored the representations of Dr. Bridges and Mr. Holmes, and left the period of employment still twelve hours daily, merely deducting an additional half-hour for rest and meal times, or two hours daily in all. This Act raised the age at which work in factories should be permitted to nine, and to ten after one year's lapse, and it made no provision for overtime, which was thus implicitly forbidden. These last were extremely valuable regulations, and though in some respects the Act must be pronounced a disappointment, its clear and stringent regulations served a useful purpose by drawing attention to the chaotic state of the law generally, and to the varying degrees of laxity of the regulations imposed on other than textile industries. It began to be seen that although, as the Factory Acts had been gradually extended to various trades, certain modifications at the outset had been necessary in order to suit the needs of different industries, the wishes of the manufacturers, and the habits of the operatives, yet the time had come when it was both possible and desirable to simplify these modifications.2

In 1876 a Commission was appointed to consider the consolidation of the factory and workshop laws, and was at once confronted with the inconveniences and anomalies that resulted from the unequal pressure of the Acts. Places in which manufacturing industry was carried on were observed to fall into three classes—textile factories or manufactories under the Act of 1874 (excluding works in which no steam, water, or other mechanical power was used), factories in general, "regulated by Factory Acts other than that of 1874," and workshops.

¹ Ibid

Report of Inspector Redgrave, October 31st, 1874 (1875 XVI.), p. 8.

In the first of these classes, as we have seen, the age of first employment for children had been raised to ten years; ten hours only were permitted for work, with two hours for meals, which had to be taken within a fixed period of employment, either from six to six or from seven to seven: no modifications whatever were permitted, the former statutory exceptions in favour of children in silk mills and for the recovery of lost time in water mills having been abolished. In other factories ten and a half hours work was permitted to one and a half hours meal times, the period of employment being from six to six (or seven to seven in winter); but a large variety of exceptions and modifications of these hours were permitted, the number and complexity of which caused "considerable difficulty in the administration of the Acts." It was noticed by the Commissioners that no modifications whatever were granted in favour of the six trades brought under regulation by the Factory Acts Extension Act of 1864^{1} —*i.e.*, earthenware, lucifer matches, percussion caps, cartridges, paper staining, and fustian cutting; in the case of these occupations, no matter how small the number of hands employed, any workplace was a factory, under the strictest existing regulations.2

In workshops and non-textile factories children might be employed at eight years old. In workshops the general system of regulation was in most respects far laxer than in either class of factories, and differed especially in regard to the period of employment. Children might work their six and a half hours a day any time between 6 a.m. and 8 p.m., and young persons and women their ten and a half hours any time between five and nine. The inspectors were strongly in favour of abrogating this difference, which made it very difficult to enforce the law in workshops, and was a continual source of jealousy and irritation. Workshops, it will be remembered, were at that time legally

¹ See above, Chap. VIII.

² Report of Commission, H. C., 1876, XXIX., pp. xii. to xiv.

distinguished from factories by the number of hands employed—i.e., fifty or more hands constituted a factory, no matter what the occupation carried on. To employ less than fifty hands meant coming under the designation of a workshop, and under the regulation of the Workshops Act; but again, workplaces in which certain trades were carried on were, as we have seen, factories under factory law, no matter how small the number of hands employed. The following examples may perhaps make the matter clearer: "a bookbinding shop or printing office is a factory by the Act of 1867, no matter how many or how few hands are employed, while a cornmill, a sawmill, or distillery, a brewery, or a manufactory of the most noxious or dangerous chemical compounds, for instance, is only such where fifty or more hands are employed. A brick or tile works is a workshop in nine cases out of ten, but in the tenth, if it should also produce any kind of pottery, even to the mild extent of a flower-pot or the rudest kind of earthenware, it is a factory." In the same town and in the same street, in establishments engaged in the same trade, the taking on or dismissal of a single hand would decide whether a particular set of premises were a factory subject to a strict code of regulation or a workshop subject to a lax one. The inspectors were practically unanimous in recommending the repeal of the Workshops Regulation Act, and the placing of all workshops, or places employing less than fifty hands in trades not specified, upon the same plane of regulation as the larger establishments in the same trade. As Mr. Redgrave explained, the inequalities were a subject of frequent complaint by all factory occupiers, large or small, who found themselves bound to various irritating regulations from which others were exempt, those others being in many cases their keenest business competitors. The conclusion which the Commissioners arrived at was to recommend the extension of the

Westminster Review, January ,1877.
 Minutes of Evidence, H. C., 1876, XXX., Q. 184.

factory "period of employment" to workshops, so that "the limits of hours for labour should be in all factories and workshops 6 a.m. and 6 p.m., 6.30 a.m. and 6.30 p.m., or 7 a.m. and 7 p.m. all the year round." It was their opinion that "experience has proved that the only way to enforce a law against overwork is to provide not merely a maximum period of labour in the day, but maximum limits within which such period may be taken. . . . The existence of a laxer law in workshops causes the larger establishments to farm out work among the smaller, where it is done under less favourable conditions, both sanitary and educational. The imperfection of the law thus produces an aggravation of the evil it was intended to alleviate."2 "The necessity of placing under regulation even those employed in dwelling-houses was . . . clearly demonstrated in the Second and Third Reports of the Children's Employment Commission.³ . . . Dwelling - houses in which any child or woman is employed in a handicraft are by the existing law under regulation and inspection. The absence of all complaints of the manner in which the inspectors have exercised the power entrusted to them proves in our opinion that it is one that can safely be left in their hands."

It is disappointing, after this apparently full concurrence in the comprehensive policy of 1864, to find the Commissioners going back on their own avowed convictions, and advocating relaxations in domestic workshops which are a sheer contravention of the principles they themselves had just laid down. "Domestic employment" (defined as "the case of employers carrying on business in their dwelling-houses and employing none but inmates ") was recommended for special exemption, not only as regards fixed meal times, which might perhaps be inevitable, but also as regards "requirements in the shape of registers and notices "4" and period of employment. "We recommend

¹ *Ibid.*, pp. xxxiv., xcviii.

² Ibid., p. xvi.

that all domestic employment, as above defined, should be left under the system at present in force in workshops, as we think it desirable to interfere as little as possible with the habits and arrangements of families."1 inconsistencies of these various pronouncements were too much for the O'Conor Don, who prepared a separate report, in which he urged that "the work carried on in these places (i.e., ordinary workshops) is just of that character that it can, with the greatest facility, be transferred from the workshops to the homes of the people. . . . Dressmaking, tailoring, boot and shoe making, seaming, glove making, and a host of other workshop employments, can all be carried on in the homes of the workpeople. They are to a great extent so carried on at present and under conditions of labour far more injurious to the working people than if carried on in workshops, and the undoubted effect of any further unnecessary restriction on the hours of women's labour would be to drive the work out of the workshop into the dwelling-house."2 The point of this separate report was that work in factories in connection with machinery could not be carried on except with the assistance of the machinery, while work in workshops could be readily transferred to homes; ergo, there is competition between homes and workshops, but none between workshops and factories. This rather leaves out of sight that in most factory work there are subsidiary operations, such as the "finishing" and mending of hosiery or lace, for instance, which are done quite independently of machinery. The O'Conor Don's report is more consistent than the Commissioners', but the evidence he quotes is a demonstration rather of the need for strengthening the control of home work than relaxing that over workshops.

The Commissioners also recommended certain relaxations³ for the labour of women in workshops where no children or young persons were employed, and advised the

¹ Ibid., p. xl. ² Ibid., p. cxi. ³ Ibid., p. xvii.

retention of the existing provision giving power to employ women in fish curing and fruit preserving for fourteen hours on ninety-six days in the year. Relaxations relating to overtime in certain trades "liable to emergencies" were recommended for inclusion in a schedule to the Act. These emergency trades included such manufactures as bricks and tiles, which are more or less dependent on the weather, occupations such as job-printing, millinery, dressmaking, and the like, in which a sudden press of work may occur, more especially, as the Commissioners very feelingly remark, "in connection with weddings and Court Drawing Rooms, and above all the funerals and mourning orders."2 "We trust in time that the use of overtime in trades of this class may be restricted down to the vanishing point; and we believe that not even in the most extreme case set before us, that for instance of a general Court mourning, is it absolutely necessary to the interests of society that those who minister to its wants should be overtasked to supply them. At the same time. we recognise that, at the present day, rigidly to enforce in these trades the rule of hours would probably result. only in part, in inducing customers to give more time for the completion of orders, and in part would drive work out of workshops to a greater degree than at present, to be done under no conditions of supervision or regulation in the ill-ventilated bedrooms of the workers."3 Weddings, funerals, and Court mournings are doubtless institutions that should be treated with all respect and considered sacred; but it is less easy to understand why the Commissioners included "shirt and collar makers, boot and shoe makers, bon-bon and Christmas present makers, valentine makers, almanac makers and finishers. fancy box makers,"4 as suitable subjects for relaxation and exemption.

¹ *Ibid.*, p. xli.; cf. 33 & 34 Vict., c. 62, schedule 2.

² Ibid., p. xli.

³ Ibid., p. xlii.

⁴ Ibid., p. xcix.

It is gratifying to notice that the report recommended that the sanitary provisions of the Act of 1864, with the addition of provisions from the Public Health Act as to privy accommodation, should be made general, "except in dwelling-houses," which were supposed to come under the Public Health Acts. The provisions relating to fencing of machinery were recommended for extension, and the somewhat absurd limitation of the requirement to those parts only of the machinery "near to which any child or young person is liable to pass or be employed," which had found a place in the Act of 1856, was advised for repeal.²

It was on these recommendations that the Act of 18783 was in the main based. It got rid of the arbitrary distinction between factories and workshops as places where more or less than fifty persons were employed, and substituted for it the general definition of a factory as premises where any articles are made, altered, repaired, ornamented, finished or adapted for sale by means of manual labour exercised for gain, if mechanical power is used on the premises, though some works, enumerated in the Fourth Schedule, Part I., were included as non-textile factories. whether power is used or not. The workplaces to which the Act applied were classified as five: (1) Textile factories, which were and still are restricted to somewhat shorter hours than others; (2) non-textile factories; (3) workshops in which children, young persons, and women are employed; (4) workshops in which no children or young persons are employed (called women's workshops); (5) domestic workshops in which only the members of a family were employed. The conditions of employment in non-textile factories and workshops were

¹ Ibid., p. ciii. For further details see below, Chap. XI.

² Ibid., p. lxxv.

³ As this Act is of great length and is easily accessible in the admirable test-books of Abraham and Davies, Evans Austin, or Redgrave, it is not considered necessary to give an abstract in the text.

assimilated, but were left very lax in women's workshops and domestic workshops, the period within which work might be done being from 6 a.m. to 9 p.m., in spite of the many years' experience which showed the impossibility of effectively enforcing the ten and a half hours day within this wide margin.

It will be noticed that the policy of the Act with regard to home-work shows a distinct retrogression from the comprehensive control recommended by the Commissioners of 1866, and aimed at by the Workshops Act of 1867. We have now to go back a little and notice the phenomenon that, at the very moment when the principle of the Factory Acts was becoming more entirely accepted than ever before, when the growing interest in education, in sanitation, and in the condition of the working classes, had in great measure broken down the old commercial and self-interested objections of the employers, there came a reaction, a "throw-back" against that important class of restrictions that related to the employment of women. Exactly how and when this movement began it is difficult now to ascertain. It would seem to have originated in a certain confusion between the social and customary disabilities placed on women's work in the professions followed by the upper and middle classes, and the restraints placed by law on the overwork of women in industry. There really is no parallel between the two classes of restrictions. The limitations of opportunity suffered by women of the professional classes have their roots deep down in class custom and social history, and doubtless were and are a distinct grievance, sometimes more and sometimes less keenly felt, according to the nature of the desired occupation. English professional men are quite as conservative of their privileges and as jealous of interference as the trade unions which they criticise with so much detachment in the daily papers, and it is only after a tremendous struggle that women have won and justified admission even to that one of the professions for which they are most plainly endowed and fitted by Nature. Far otherwise is the case with women in the humbler walks of industry. Not exclusion, but exploitation, is the trouble here. Women have their share, and more, of the hard manual and unskilled work of the world; they are not denied the "opportunity" of exercising their muscles as their better-off sisters were or are of exercising their brains; and the relative cheapness of their labour caused them to be eagerly seized upon by the machine industries and the factory system. But unfortunately the agitation which began in the 'seventies and has been continued to our own day, though no longer in a very enthusiastic fashion, has always been more or less dominated by this middle-class preconception of the woman being denied her "opportunity." It was true that the woman with her living to earn had her grievance in being restricted to the one overcrowded profession or teaching; it was equally true that the well-off woman of leisure had hers in being denied an outlet for her energies. or restricted to the uninspiring and mediocre ideals of her own class; numbers of intelligent but half-educated girls have rightly enough recoiled from spending their best years in idleness or in unavailing efforts at "doing good" à la Lady Bountiful. The mistake that some of them have made is in transferring their own grievance to a class whose troubles are little known and less understood by them; in supposing that while they pined to spend themselves in some "intolerable toil of thought," Mary Brown or Jane Smith should also pine to spend herself in fourteen hours a day washing or tailoring. Work was their watchword. The employment of women in some hitherto unaccustomed species of labour was apt to be hailed as a sign of "progress," when it probably only meant that it was cheaper to employ women than men. Miss Blackburn says indignantly in her tract on "Women's Work and the Factory Acts ":- "It appears that the chief temptation of the British workwoman is to work too long, to be too ready to give up holidays. That which has hitherto been regarded as a virtue has been turned into an offence." But precisely! The social conscience has travelled beyond the point at which exhausting soulless toil is regarded as a "virtue," it recognises the danger of intolerable strain both to women themselves and to their actual and possible offspring, and it sees in the frantic efforts of the unskilled, unorganised woman to work for impossible hours, to undersell her competitors and lower both her and their standard of life, an "offence" which, however pardonable in an individual, must in a member of society, by some means, be controlled or prevented for the general good. We cannot discuss these matters on purely individualist lines, as if, in a complicated society like ours, anyone could work for himself alone without affecting others. The one worker, whether man or woman, who works excessive hours sets the pace, compels others to work long hours also, and inevitably lowers the rate of pay for all. There is no parallel between suicidal competition of this kind and Carlyle's gospel of work, any more than there is between legal regulation of women's hours and social exclusion from certain occupations.1

From 1844 to 1878 "women" (defined as female persons over the age of eighteen) were under the Factory Acts subject to the same regulation as to hours, meal times, &c., as "young persons." In the discussion over the Bill of 1874, Mr. Fawcett moved to exclude women from the operation of the Act altogether, on the ground (among others) that the decision of the time for leaving work, or working at all, "ought to be left to the good sense and increasing intelligence of the people themselves."

¹ See "Die Frauenfrage," by Lily Braun, Leipzig, 1901, p. 463 and ff., also "Archiv fur soziale gesetzgebung und Statistik," Vol. VIII., part 4, 1895, for an interesting discussion of this subject. The situation of working women, in this writer's opinion, is a labour, rather than a sex question, and it is a tactical blunder for them to combine with women of another class against the men of their own.

He also denied that the conditions of work or health of the women employed in textile industries were such as to need interference. This argument was neatly turned against him by Mr. Evelyn Ashley, who pointed out that there could be no better testimony of the value of past Factory Acts than the fact that nothing startling or harrowing was to be found in the medical evidence brought before the Commission. Mr. Fawcett returned to the charge on June 23rd, and said "there was something worse than work, and that was want." He accused the men's unions of trying to exclude women from employment, and asked how were women to live if the men would not recognise their right to work? His amendment "to omit the word woman" was lost by 242 votes to 59.

It is impossible not to be amused at the situation between the trade unionists and the Liberals in 1873 and 1874, as described by Mr. and Mrs. Webb² and the incident is one of those bits of genuine comedy that occasionally light up the somewhat dreary controversy over the Factory Acts. The Factory Acts Reform Association wanted shorter hours for themselves, and scouted the idea that legislative interference with adult male labour was

¹ Hansard, June 11th, 1874.

² History of Trade Unionism, p. 296. Twenty years later the Cotton Factory Times, May 26th, 1893, gave a very frank explana-tion of the incident. "Cotton operatives have been able, through the influence of their trade unions, to secure shorter hours of labour, but the manner in which such concessions have been obtained from Parliament has been of a character which the promoters of the movements never dared make public; but now the veil must be lifted, and the agitation carried on under its true colours. Women and children must no longer be made the pretext for securing a reduction of working hours for men; the latter must speak out and declare that both they and the women and children require less hours of labour in order to share in the benefits arising from the improvements in productive machinery. The working hours cannot be permanently reduced by trade union effort, and as proof for this we need go no further than the cotton industry, where the employers require an army of Government inspectors to prevent them from working the operatives contrary to the regulations laid down by law."

an economic error. They, however, dreaded the prospect of going to the House of Commons for an avowed restriction of men's hours. Nor was it necessary from their point of view to do so. Any effective limitation of the working day of factory women and children could not fail to shorten equally the hours of the male operatives working with them. Their Bill was therefore so drafted as to apply only to women and children, and the benevolent public was appealed to for sympathy. But they could hardly have reckoned with the fact that the women's unions, being largely dominated and controlled by ladies of pronounced Liberal views, would be, and were, arraved against the Bill, which was denounced to the middle-class public, who mostly knew no better, as an attempt to supplant women's work by men's. The real fact was, of course. as even The Times pointed out, that the men's unions aimed, not at the exclusion of women in order to work longer themselves, but at the virtual shortening of their own hours by setting this law in motion for the women 2

There the subject rested for a time as far as Parliament was concerned, but the party adverse to regulation of women's labour was not idle. The women's unions were at this time under the dominant influence of Mrs. Emma Paterson, who was an ardent promoter of educational and sanitary science, and of the enfranchisement of women, both politically and socially. Although favouring the Factory Acts as far as they dealt with the restriction of child labour and with the enforcement of proper sanitary conditions in factories and workshops, Mrs. Paterson was convinced that the limitation of women's hours of work was prejudicial to their opportunities of employment. With this end in view, she headed a deputation that came before the Factory and Workshops

¹ June 13th, 1873.

² Mr. Fawcett at times appeared to recognise this; see, e.g., Hansard, June 11th, 1874; cf. supra, Chap. IV., p. 65.

Acts Consolidation Commission in 1876, and edited a magazine, "The Women's Union Journal," in which many articles and notes to the same effect appeared. Another magazine, "The Englishwomen's Review," still in existence, worked stoutly for "the cause." In 1878 a kind of crusade was led against the Consolidation Bill, and over and over again in Committee came the amendment by Mr. Fawcett, Mr. Muntz, the O'Conor Don, and others, "to omit the word woman," in the various clauses of the Bill. None of these were accepted as far as factories textile or non-textile, or ordinary workshops were concerned (i.e., those employing children and young persons as well as women). But in "women's workshops" (that is, those employing no children or young persons) a laxer system was permitted and endorsed. Domestic workshops, according to the Bills introduced into Parliament in 1877 and 1878 respectively, were to be put under a certain amount of control as to hours—that is to say, the young persons and women were to work only ten and a half hours per day, and might work between 6 a.m. and o p.m. Even this not very stringent measure was attacked as regards women, and here Mr. Fawcett's party scored a distinct triumph, for the word "women" was cut out in Committee. One of the arguments used by Mr. Fawcett with respect to women's employment in workshops was, that if the proposed restrictions were made, the employer would say to himself, "I won't be bothered with employing women," and would not employ them. Only two years before Mr. (afterwards the Right Hon.) Joseph Chamberlain, himself an experienced employer of labour in Birmingham, pre-eminently a centre of women's industry, had shown before the Commission of 1876 that this idea was fallacious. He stated that women's wages in Birmingham had considerably increased, perhaps by as much as 20 or 25 per cent., within ten years—that is, within the period that the limitation of hours had been extended to the trades most characteristic of Birmingham. However, no one appears to have cited any of his evidence during the debates on the Consolidation and Amendment Bill of 1878; and on the whole it would seem that public opinion was somewhat shaken by the new arguments of the individualists, and was even inclined to sit in sackcloth and ashes. This is the note of a curious article in the Saturday Review for March 2nd, 1878: "Philanthropy no longer spoke with a certain sound . . . it had come to be doubted whether we were not subjecting women to disabilities when we thought we were protecting them. It might be very well, where there was a husband or father, to restrict the women to home employment, but what if large numbers of women have to shift for themselves as completely as men have? This consideration introduces a wholly new element." (!) The discovery that there actually are single women and widows who work for themselves and for others dependent on them can hardly have been "new" to most people even in the 'seventies; but it was a pity that the Saturday Reviewer, having once started on his voyage of discovery, did not enquire whether the women who had "to shift for themselves" usually got better pay under the Factory Acts or outside their range. The article, however, seems a fair index to the kind of thing that amiable cultured people probably thought and talked at the time. The "women's rights" opposition was confined to a small set; the old-fashioned bitter commercial opposition was out of date; on the other hand, the enthusiastic optimism of earlier reform movements had waned, and the benevolent public was as well disposed as ever, knew as little of industrial life and wages as ever, and consequently could not give a reason, even a bad one, for the faith that was in it.

The evidence given on this subject before the Commission of 1876 had been conflicting. Working women and philanthropic ladies came up to protest against "any interference with adult labour." The Working Women's

¹ Minutes of Evidence, H. C., 1876, XXX., p. 641 and ff.

Protective and Provident League resolved almost unanimously to a similar effect, and the Commissioners were urged to recommend the amendment of the Acts "in the direction of repeal rather than of further restriction." Mr. Joseph Chamberlain and Mr. Arthur Chamberlain, both Birmingham manufacturers in a large way of business, gave evidence,2 the one in favour of, and the other against the regulation of women's labour by law, the one demonstrating that the economic position of women was thereby improved and the demand for their labour increased: the other that their wages had risen little, if at all, and that "if there were no restrictions. women now getting their 8s. or 9s. would get 30s." The House of Commons, attacked on both sides, not unnaturally said, "A plague on both your houses," and compromised. The structure of factory legislation that had been built up for the protection of women's health and efficiency was not damaged in its main fabric, but suffered a breach in its weakest outworks—viz., the clauses relating to women's workshops and to women employed at home. A decade later the evidence given before the Lords Committee on the Sweating System in 1889 showed plainly that this lack of uniformity, so far from being an economic advantage to the woman worker, had served only to depress her wages. In women's workshops the ten and a

5,249, &c., Mr. A. Chamberlain's, Q. 4,954, &c.

¹ H. C., 1876, XXIX., App. E. 9. The Commission, however, while welcoming attempts to organise working women, seems to have recognised that such organisation as existed could hardly be considered genuinely representative of working women's views. "The trades unions which have been organised in London by benevolent persons," they remark, "are but sickly plants. . . . While recognising the value of the movement as showing a desire on the part of working women to protect themselves instead of depending for protection upon Acts of Parliament" . . . and agreeing that new restrictions should be carefully watched, "we do not think the time is come either for altogether rescinding this section of the factory laws or for any serious modification of their restrictive provisions."

² Minutes of Evidence. Mr. J. Chamberlain's evidence, Q.

half hours work could, under the Act of 1878, be taken at pleasure between 6 a.m. and 9 p.m., so that the inspector had no means of checking the number of hours worked. The woman who worked illegal hours in a woman's workshop might get perhaps 7s. for her work; another having a girl under eighteen in her shop must stop at 7 p.m., and might find she only earned 5s. 6d.; if she complained, she would be told, "Oh, Mrs. So-and-so can earn 7s."; and thus by breaking the law, the one woman would prevent the wages of the other being rated on a fairer standard. An inspector of workshops under the town council in one of our largest provincial towns told the present writer that he thought wages in small workshops had recently gone up owing to increased stringency as to hours by H.M. Inspector; "when the masters could work the women as long as they liked, they cut them down in their wages." It is necessary to go into these concrete details if the "case for the Factory Acts" is to be understood.

In 1891 the controversy again raged over the propriety of limiting women's hours in workshops and laundries.² But the opposition seems to have been weaker, and, no doubt, in consequence of the Report on Sweating, an important step was gained in the Act of that year by Clause 13, which required the period of employment in women's workshops to be a specified period of twelve hours between 6 a.m. and 10 p.m., instead of leaving it to the employer's pleasure. In domestic workshops, however, women's work still remains totally unregulated.

In 1895 Mr. Asquith's Bill met with renewed opposition on the part of the women's rights party and the Society for Promoting the Employment of Women. Their views were voiced in Parliament by Mr. Stuart

¹ C. Hoare's evidence, Q. 22,936.

² See debates in Hansard, especially an interesting discussion in the House of Lords, July 13th, 1891.

Wortley, who boldly challenged the right of the House to interfere with the labour of an unenfranchised class. (He did not explain, by the way, whether he proposed to advocate the repeal of all other legislation affecting women or other unenfranchised classes.) He contested the clause giving power to the Home Secretary to prohibit the employment of protected persons in dangerous trades. This had been done on the recommendation of the White Lead Committee, and women were excluded by the Bill itself from certain processes of the manufacture. The champions both for and against the so-called freedom of women were well represented at Nottingham at the National Union of Women Workers in 1895, where it was pleaded, on the one hand, that there was "terrible injustice" in thus legislating for the poorest and most helpless class of the community; and, on the other, "who so much as the poor and helpless needed the protection of the law?" It must be owned that arguments of this rhetorical nature are not satisfactory. Anyone can assent to general statements that the law ought not to do "injustice" to the weak, but ought to "protect" them; what we want to know is whether the particular regulation in question tends to "injustice" or to "protection." And we come then to this significant fact. Since 1833 the opposition to the Factory Acts has in great measure restricted its area, limited its scope, and softened its tone. The regulation of children's labour is accepted by almost all. The regulation of adult labour, so far as provisions for health and safety are concerned, is accepted by almost all. Even the limitation of women's hours is no longer seriously attacked as far as work in factories or better class workshops is concerned. The opposition has been gradually driven to abandon one position after another, until, by a curious irony of fate, it comes about that it is precisely in those industries that are most unregulated that regulation is made a bugbear. It used to be pleaded in the 'seventies, as we have seen, that the movement for regulation of women's labour was inspired and initiated by the men's unions, who were supposed to be jealously desirous of supplanting women in their employment. When it was pointed out that men were earning higher wages and working shorter hours than women, and therefore had nothing to gain by "supplanting" them, a sudden change of front occurred. Several ladies of the Women's Liberal Federation wrote to the Daily Chronicle 1 to explain that they were not afraid, "as you suppose," of women being supplanted by men who were earning higher wages and working shorter hours; what they dreaded was the competition of "disorganised men," the unemployed, and men working irregularly. It is needless to explain to anyone who knows the history of the movement that this was equivalent to the abandonment of one of the party's most cherished and frequently-used arguments. And it is surely extremely significant that whilst the attack on the regulation of women's labour has been fruitless in better organised industries—that is, in those which can make their wishes felt—it has taken effect precisely in those industries which are unorganised and collectively inarticulate. By the admission of the opposition itself, the women whose trades have been under State control for thirty, forty, or fifty years are now so strong, so efficient, and so well organised, that even those who most strongly disapprove of State control do not wish to withdraw it from them.² Yet we are told that to those who are still working long hours, in insanitary conditions, State control would mean lowered wages, and perhaps ruin.3

In 1891, Lord Dunraven described in the House of Lords the result of a canvass of the laundries in different

¹ May 16th, 1895.

² Hansard, July 13th, 1891.

³ See Spectator, May 25th, 1895, letter from Women's Libera Federation in Daily Chronicle, May 16th, 1895, and recent tract by Miss Boucherett, "The Factories and Workshops Bill."

parts of London—an overwhelming majority of workers being in favour of inclusion under the Acts. In 1895 Mr. Asquith's Bill would have placed steam laundries under the same regulations as non-textile factories, and hand laundries under those applicable to workshops, exempting altogether those employing only the members of a family. The reception of the clause by the trade shows that the general feeling was in favour of still stricter control, and of placing hand laundries under one uniform rule with the others. It was pointed out that a large steam laundry with a large trade cannot get its work done more speedily than a small hand laundry with a smaller but proportionate quantity of work; that hand laundries were not always small, nor steam laundries large—the former sometimes employing fifty to two hundred and fifty hands, the latter sometimes not more than twenty—it was unfair to handicap the one and exempt the other, and the exemption of laundries carried on in families would open the door to grievous abuse.1 One would have supposed that, "foreign competition" being the favourite bogey to frighten the promoters of a Factory Bill, opposition would not have been offered to the inclusion of an industry which is so little likely to be taken abroad as the laundry. But laundry work, being almost exclusively a women's industry, offered a great opportunity to the women's rights' party, and the agitation for control of laundries was ascribed by Mr. Stuart Wortley to "the general spirit of trade unionism, directed, not exclusively, and he did not believe anybody could pretend in a preponderating degree, by or in the interests of the women themselves."2 The middle-class dread of personal inconvenience also came in, the Women's Employment Defence League said that no Factory Act would succeed in changing the customs of the British public, 3 and the difficulty of reducing

¹ See paragraphs in The Times, May 6th, p. o. May 11th, p. 15. June 22nd, p. 15, 1895.

Hansard, April 22nd, 1895.

³ Fortnightly, May, 1895, p. 736.

hours in laundries was pronounced insuperable. The Tory Opposition revived the stale and obsolete Liberalism of thirty years before, and in the Standing Committee on Trade Mr. Chamberlain and Mr. G. Bakfour voted for extending laundrywomen's hours to founteen a day. Lord Salisbury and Mr. Jesse Collings pleaded pathetically in Parliament against crushing out the small laundry. The result was the miserably inadequate protection afforded by Clause 22 of the Act of 1895, which fixed the weekly limit of hours at thirty for children, sixty for young persons and women; but allowed children to work ten hours a day, young persons twelve, and women fourteen.

It may, perhaps, be here noted parenthetically that Mr. Asquith's proposal to extend the prohibition of boys under sixteen working at night to the four or five trades which were still exempt was defeated, the age limit being merely raised from thirteen to fourteen. The provision of his Bill forbidding women and young persons to clean machinery in motion suffered the deletion of the word "woman." In each of these cases Mr. Chamberlain's vote was recorded against the Government, and in 1901, in spite of the enormous majority behind the Unionist Government, no improvement of laundry hours was obtained by the Factory and Workshops Act, while the extra hour's holiday on Saturdays was secured to textile workers by an amendment in which the Government was defeated. The raising of the minimum age of employment was carried in 1891 by a Liberal amendment to a Conservative Bill. It can hardly be said that the confidence placed by the workers in the industrial programme of the Conservatives of 1874 has been justified by subsequent events, and the rather interesting question occurs, whether the two parties have not made an exchange of policy on this subject.

¹ Parliamentary Papers, 1895, X.

See supra, p. 175.

² Hansard, July 3rd, p. 144, and July 5th, p. 228, 1895. ³ Sec. 13(3, 4) of the Act of 1901 prohibits women cleaning mill gearing while the machinery is in motion.

What proportion of the factory code is due to either of the great parties, which for so many years succeeded one another in the government of the country, would not be very easy to determine. Factory legislation is not really a party question, and only seemed to be so for a time because it happened to be taken as a counter-cry at the period of the Free Trade and Reform movements. Even then, as we have shown, the dividing line was not clear, and it is probably still less so now. It does, however, appear that, on the whole, the persons really interested in the reform of industrial conditions could get more help from the Tory party in the old days, while in more recent times the Liberals have been the more favourable of the two.1 The obvious explanation doubtless is that the particular class interests represented by Liberals in the early period have gradually come more and more to be represented by Conservatives. Something, also, is probably due to the fact that the modern Conservative has absorbed a good deal of the old-fashioned Whig individualism, while many Liberals are now more or less under the influence of socialistic ideas. The early Factory Acts were wrongly supposed by many to be of a retrograde tendency, harking back to the mediæval standpoint, while the whole series is now, rightly enough, seen to be latently socialistic.

It is, however, a subject for congratulation that the opposition to the Factory Acts has lost much of its bitterness, and is now mostly of a kind that better knowledge and better understanding would help to remove. The aversion that is felt towards interference with the hours and conditions of adult women is more doctrinaire than economic. The old-fashioned manufacturer wanted "freedom" to work children as long and as hard as he liked; the modern individualist wants "freedom" for the woman worker to work as long and as hard as she likes. The

¹ See, for instance, Mr. Herbert Samuel's book, "Liberalism": London, 1902, especially p. 94.

hours in laundries was pronounced by men-surely the Tory Opposition revived the stale and ors! In the main, of thirty years before, and in the Standiwhich there is no Trade Mr. Chamberlain and Mr. G. Babut in a mobile extending laundrywomen's hours to fouremarcation of Lord Salisbury and Mr. Jesse Collings² pleadanent, there ally in Parliament against crushing out the smand no one The result was the miserably inadequate is concrete afforded by Clause 22 of the Act of 1895, whichwing to the weekly limit of hours at thirty for children, sixtere is young persons and women; but allowed children to wn to ten hours a day, young persons twelve, and women fourteere-

It may, perhaps, be here noted parenthetically that? Mr. Asquith's proposal to extend the prohibition of boys under sixteen working at night to the four or five trades which were still exempt was defeated, the age limit being merely raised from thirteen to fourteen. The provision of his Bill forbidding women and young persons to clean machinery in motion suffered the deletion of the word "woman." In each of these cases Mr. Chamberlain's vote was recorded against the Government, and in 1901. in spite of the enormous majority behind the Unionist Government, no improvement of laundry hours was obtained by the Factory and Workshops Act, while the extra hour's holiday on Saturdays was secured to textile workers by an amendment in which the Government was defeated. The raising of the minimum age of employment was carried in 1891 by a Liberal amendment to a Conservative Bill. It can hardly be said that the confidence placed by the workers in the industrial programme of the Conservatives of 1874 has been justified by subsequent events, and the rather interesting question occurs, whether the two parties have not made an exchange of policy on this subject.

¹ Parliamentary Papers, 1895, X.

4 See supra, p. 175.

² Hansard, July 3rd, p. 144, and July 5th, p. 228, 1895.

³ Sec. 13(3, 4) of the Act of 1901 prohibits women cleaning mill gearing while the machinery is in motion.

themselves, but to secure shorter hours all round. The trade unions, whatever the faults in their economics or the lacunæ in their reasoning, have never fallen into the blank and unfruitful individualism that has blighted the women's movement in the middle class; and the working woman, we would submit, has a far better chance to work out her economic salvation through solidarity and cooperation with her own class than by adopting the tactics and submitting to the tutelage of middle or upper class organisations which rise to no higher conception of women's work than that of ceaseless competition with men, and blindly fight for a so-called "freedom" to carry on that competition by out-worn methods and in unhealthy conditions. The motives of the ladies who take this view are unquestionable; it is all the more regrettable that their neglect to make themselves better acquainted with the history and facts of the matter should cause them inadvertently to throw their influence on the side of the sweater and the bad employer.

At the present time, as far as non-textile factories are concerned, the legal limitation of women's hours has become out of date, the usual hours of work being only nine or nine and a half a day. These are likely to be still further reduced. In such work as brass-stamping or pattern making, for instance, any master will explain the loss in economy of material and machinery that ensues from fatiguing the hands. Mr. Arthur Chamberlain, though himself an extreme opponent of legislative interference, requires only forty-eight hours work a week in the Kynoch Company's works, and considers the reduction of hours profitable to the manufacturer. At Mr. Cadbury's works at Bourheville the working day is only seven hours and forty minutes long. After half a century's experience of regulation, the best of the manufacturers, who may surely be supposed to know their own business, are found voluntarily reducing the working day to one, two, or even three hours less than the maximum permitted by law.

In the lower class tailoring and dressmaking, on the contrary, and in the industries to which the Act has not yet been applied, or in which it is insufficiently enforced, we find that the long hours that characterised the factory industry fifty or sixty years ago still prevail, and are considered as indispensable in the laundry and small workshop as they once were supposed to be in cotton mills. These facts appear to indicate that the old-fashioned commercial arguments still occasionally heard are no longer really applicable, and that the whole subject requires to be thought out on grounds larger than the needs of any one class.

Note to the Second Edition .- Since 1903 the line of attack on the restriction of women's hours of work has somewhat changed, and it is now more usual to urge that it is unfair that women should be subject to special regulations whilst having as yet no voice in the selection of the government that makes the regulations. The present writers would beg those who take this view to consider the question in the light of history, and with regard especially to the mass of evidence which tends to show that women industrial workers whose employment is regulated by the Factory Act, do enjoy comparatively more freedom, leisure, and economic independence than those who are exposed to unregulated and uncontrolled competition. The Lancashire women who for generations have been defended by the law and trade-unionism from industrial exploitation, and have thus gained at least some time to think for themselves and some experience in working with their fellows, are much more able to take part in any political movement they may wish to support than are the sweated workers of East London and elsewhere, who, in Professor Ashley's phrase, form a supply of "cheap and docile labour," unprotected by law or by trade union, without heart or strength to stand up for themselves, and seldom able to understand any purpose wider than that of supplying the most immediate need. We therefore, believing that women are injured as citizens by being excluded from the right and duty of exercising the vote, would yet urge militant suffragists not to oppose legislation which in any way helps to remove the disabilities of women in the industrial world merely on the ground that the women themselves have not had a voice in the passing of such legislation

CHAPTER X.

REGULATIONS IN THE INTEREST OF HEALTH AND SAFETY.

1878-1901.

Dangerous Trades—The Sweating System Report—Lists of Outworkers—Particulars Clause—Shop Hours.

THE early factory movement, as we have seen, was an emotional, religious, charitable one. The long hours then commonly worked, the bad conditions then commonly endured in some of the factories, amounted to hardship and oppression that any sympathetic person could understand. Measures were tried for the relief of the symptoms. without much consideration being given to the causes to which the suffering from long hours and bad conditions were due. In later years society has been studied from a scientific (or shall we say, a quasi-scientific?) point of view, and it has become more and more evident that a great deal of ill-health, disease, and consequent waste of human life is due to preventable causes. More recently still, another idea has been working itself out, viz., that much of this disease and waste cannot possibly be got rid of by individual effort alone, but requires a concerted and thought-out attack from the reasoned sense of the community acting as a whole. The study of questions pertaining to public health seems to act as a solvent of academic scruples as to the liberty of the subject. Liberty for each man to carry on his business in the way that seems best to him may be a beautiful ideal, but what if it works out in practice that the said business becomes a centre of infection to other people? "An Englishman's house is his castle, of course; but no one has a right to turn his castle into a Black Hole of Calcutta." The

¹ D. Schloss in the C. O. S. Review. 1888, p. 10.

Sweating System Report, the Labour Commission's Report, and the researches of Mr. Charles Booth and others have weakened the superstition about individual liberty as no amount of socialist theory could have done. Society shows an almost pathetic desire to be well and strong, if it may be; and has given expression to its craving in many ways, amongst them the various measures taken to extend the operation of sanitary regulations in industries. The transition stage is marked by the Act of 1878, which showed an amiable, if oddly directed, respect for the freedom of the "small master" and the "home industry," by expressly exempting women's workshops and domestic workshops from the provisions of the Act relating to "cleanliness, to freedom from effluvia, or to overcrowding," an absurdity which the investigations of later years has sufficiently demonstrated, and which subsequent Acts have done something to counteract. But, besides the enforcement of a certain standard of cleanliness and sanitation, there has come up the question of the dangers incidental to certain trades, which make it necessary to take specific measures to guard against specific diseases. We might describe the evolution of Factory Act regulations as starting from a vaguely benevolent and general type of enactment—the early Acts scarcely amount to more than a pious opinion that children should not be worked more than so many hours—and becoming constantly more particular, more detailed, and more scientifically directed as time goes on.

The Act of 1864 was passed to deal with certain trades supposed to be especially unhealthy, as pottery, lucifers, and some others; but no specific precautions were enacted beyond the very general provision of Clause 4, that "every factory to which this Act applies" should be kept in a cleanly state, and be ventilated in such a manner as to render "harmless so far as is practicable" any gases, dust, or other impurity generated in the process that might be injurious to health. The occupier of any factory was

empowered by Clause 5 to make special rules for compelling the observance by the workmen of the conditions necessary for cleanliness, which rules, when approved by the Secretary of State, were to be printed and hung up in the factory, with a penalty annexed for disobedience. These regulations were evidently of a tentative nature, and were intended to feel the way.

The Factory Extension Act of 1867 went a little further in the same direction. By Clause 8, children, young persons, and women were not allowed to take their meals in any room in which grinding or cutting glass was going on; by Clause 9 the inspector was empowered to require a fan or other mechanical means to carry off the dust generated by grinding, glazing, or polishing on a wheel. This provision was also included in the Workshops Act of the same year.

In 1878 the employment of children and young persons was forbidden in certain branches of the white lead and other factories. In 1883 an Act was passed requiring the occupier of every white lead factory (sec. 8) to draw up special rules, which were to be transmitted to the Chief Inspector of Factories for approval by a Secretary of State, who on his part was empowered to alter them as he thought fit, on giving sufficient notice to the occupier to enable him to state his objections, if any, to such alteration; and it was made unlawful to carry on a white lead factory (secs. 2 to 6), unless it was certified by an inspector to be in conformity with the schedule to the Act, which required ventilation, lavatory accommodation, baths for women with hot and cold water, a proper room for meals ("not in any part of the factory where work was carried on "), overall suits and respirators, and a sufficient supply of acidulated drink accessible to all persons employed in the factory. We may observe that it was already considered necessary and desirable to go into this considerable degree of detail.

Corresponding precautions have been enacted in the case of certain trades where a dangerous degree of dust is

generated, and also in the case of cotton industries, to provide against damp and vapour. In 1891 the Secretary of State (sec. 8) was empowered himself to draw up special rules when in his opinion any machinery or process or particular description of manual labour is dangerous or injurious to health, or dangerous to life and limb. A still more remarkable departure was taken by applying the sanitary provisions of the principal Act to men's workshops. In 1895 we find the Secretary of State authorised by sec. 28 of the Act of that year to make special rules or requirements prohibiting the employment of, or limiting the period of employment for all or any class of persons engaged in any process; and power to impose special rules was granted in regard to workshops in which only men are employed. In these apparently unimportant provisions which at first sight read only like a trifling extension of regulations already enacted, the principle is, however, implicitly granted that, cause being shown, the protection of the law can be extended to men as well as to women and children. And it is worthy of notice that the opponents of special regulations for women are precluded from opposing hygienic regulations that apply to both sexes. From Mrs. Paterson's time onwards they have steadily declared themselves in favour of sanitary control, and opposed merely to special restrictions for women.

In 1896 we find a Departmental Committee, consisting of Mr. Tennant, M.P., Miss Abraham (afterwards Mrs. Tennant), Dr. Oliver, and Captain Smith, appointed to consider the "conditions of work as they affect the health of the operatives" in certain industries and processes. This Committee published some valuable reports on the dangers incidental to indiarubber works, wood-sorting, lead works, and many other trades, and various "special rules" were issued from the Home Office in accordance with the Committee's recommendations. The subject is obviously one of great difficulty, as the conditions to be

¹ Cotton Cloth Factories Act, 1889.

dealt with are sometimes highly complex, and the rules must be so definite as to be easily enforced, or they are useless. Further, we have to overcome not only the indifference of employers, but the inertia of some workers who are themselves exposed to danger. It is not, perhaps, necessary to dwell much on this latter difficulty, however, as it receives ample justice at the hands of certain employers as an excuse for their own negligence. As one of the lady inspectors has pointed out, when the washing appliances required by the Act are represented by a scanty number of basins, perhaps with no water, or water that has to be fetched from a distance, and with a "plentiful lack" of towels, &c., it is not so very surprising that wearied girls and women do not care to sacrifice their rest and meal-time to the duty of toilette. Superior persons are apt to wax very irate over the recklessness of working people, and to ascribe accident and disease more to fault than misfortune. Here, again, it is as well to remember that constant exposure to danger does tend to induce a certain recklessness—a merciful provision of nature, that, for what life would be worth having, constantly in dread of an agonising death?—but, on the other hand, the vigilance of inspectors and employers has an educating influence, and precautions taken for the workers' benefit, even if at first considered inconvenient and distasteful, are sometimes gratefully accepted later on. It is evident that, especially in such matters as these, the tact and sympathy of ladv inspectors is invaluable, and they do not disdain to spend time and thought over such matters as adapting of a "face-guard" or a respirator, and the persuasion of—sometimes refractory—wearers, in order to induce them to avail themselves of the means of protection.

A notable result of the diversion of State control of industry into this field of hygienic precaution, has been the increasing attention given to domestic workshops and

¹ Chief Inspector's Report for 1897, p. 102.

home work. As long ago as Peel's Committee in 1815, it was pointed out, probably with perfect truth, that while the proposal before the Government was to regulate the hours and conditions of children in cotton factories, the children employed by hand-loom weavers in their own cottages worked longer hours and under worse conditions. The same is still true of many industries to-day, and since the improvement of factory labour, the contrast has become more marked. The organisation of work into factories is complete only in a few trades; in others, there is a tendency for obsolete or semi-obsolete methods to "survive" as home industries, handicapped by the competition of the factory with improved machinery and appliances, and having hopelessly lost the advantages once enjoyed by the small master, or "domestic manufacturer." The file-cutting industry is a curious and interesting instance.1 At Sheffield this famous trade can be seen carried on after three distinct fashions, firstly, in the larger works aided by machinery, where the workshops are, on the whole, well constructed, and where there is sufficient cubic space, the better class employers being usually ready to adopt the suggestions of the Departmental Committee and do what they can to prevent leadpoisoning, the special and terrible danger of this work. But besides these there are the "small masters," who carry on their work in small, poorly-constructed outhouses, with deficient cubic space and inadequate ventilation. The customs of the trade are curious, and caused some debate between the Chairman of the Committee and the Secretary of State as to the legal position of persons working at it. In hand-cutting the worker is seated at what is known in the trade as a "stock," which consists of a stone block, into the centre of which a smaller steel block, called a "stiddy," is inserted, the surface of which is raised slightly above that of the "stock." The file is

¹ See Report of Departmental Committee, "Dangerous Trades," 1898, 1899.

placed upon the "stiddy" to be cut, each individual tooth being formed by a stroke of a heavy hammer on a chisel. "The owner of a shed or room lets out the 'stocks' contained in it to different persons; it is not unusual for each 'stock' to be rented by a different person. these persons may be working for different firms. What is the nature of the place in which they work? If each of these persons is an 'occupier,' then is the 'shop' in which the work is carried on a 'workshop'? An essential qualification for a 'workshop' is that the employer of the persons working therein should have the 'right of access to or control over the premises, room, or place.' But in such a case, who is the employer with this right? The Secretary of State replied that the relationship of emplover and employed must exist in the shed or room before it can be constituted a 'workshop.' When that relationship is found, the law as to workshops would apply; but it should be understood that this application is strictly limited to the part of the shed or room which is rented by a person who employs some one else. The following situation, therefore, arises:—In the same room are found workers, some subject to the law, others totally exempted; both classes may be working for the same firm; the physical and sanitary conditions of work are identical; the only difference is that some of the women or young persons rent their own 'stocks,' whilst the others work for a person who rents their 'stocks' for them. a condition of things which, in the judgment of the Committee, must be recognised as not only highly undesirable, but calculated to bring the law into ridicule. Where each of the persons engaged is the lessee of the 'stock' at which he works, no part of the place is a 'workshop,' and the only provision which could be applicable to such a place is the requirement as to the list of out-workers which has to be returned, no matter where the out-worker may ply his calling."1

¹ 3rd Interim Report, 1898, p. 10, in H. C., 1899, XII.

Unfortunately, this exemption from the control of the law is enjoyed by a class of workers to whom it is most prejudicial. The dangers of file-cutting are aggravated by the conditions under which the work is carried on. The workshops are ill-ventilated, overcrowded, dark, dirty, and insanitary. Many of the shops appear not to have been built for the purpose, but to have been simply out-houses belonging to dwelling-houses, which in the absence of any control have been transformed into workplaces; they are frequently built against a blank wall, with a "shed" or sloping roof, so that through ventilation is impossible. In most of the shops, however, the cubic space is said to be now just sufficient to meet the requirements of the law, viz., 250 cubic feet, while a few years ago they were overcrowded to a much greater extent. The constant hammering and brushing of files causes large quantities of dust to be inhaled, and this dust is found to contain a "large proportion of lead, as well as chalk, charcoal, steel and granite." The habits of the workers are incredibly dirty and reckless as to leadpoisoning. The men have a habit of licking their fingers to hold the chisel, frequently eat their meals without washing their hands, and take dinner in the workshop where the files are cut, thus continually absorbing the poison.

Besides the "shops," in which several persons work

Besides the "shops," in which several persons work together, though independently of each other, and besides the factories, where the conditions of work are usually better, the home is also used as a place in which the filecutter carries on his calling. The evils and risks connected with the trade are, according to medical evidence, accentuated in the case of the home workers, since these are generally persons reduced by poverty, occupying a house of the poorest description, without either the income or the will to secure proper cleanliness. Many of them are women who have learnt the trade before marriage, and

 ⁴th Interim Report, p. 16, in H. C., 1899, XII.
 3rd Interim Report, 1898, p. 10.

afterwards eke out their means by continuing to carry on the trade in the intervals of domestic duties. Dr. Inkster. who reported in 1899, said that, "an outsider can form no idea of the amount of suffering, disablement, and premature deaths caused by lead poisoning among such workers." In his opinion nothing would stop lead poisoning among the small shops and home workers but the stoppage of the trade, which fortunately is being rapidly achieved by the introduction of machinery. There is, perhaps, no clearer case than that afforded by this industry of the need for enforcing and extending the provisions of the Factory and Workshops Act, so as to hasten the evolution of the industry, and the adoption of improved methods. At present the ordinary provisions of the Acts as to ventilation and cubic content. meal-times. holidays, abstracts and notices do not apply to domestic workshops, nor can special rules be enforced in them.2 Homes used by adults as workplaces are under no regulations as to hours. Even where children and young persons are employed in them, if the labour is exercised at irregular intervals and "does not furnish the whole or principal means of living of the family," the room or rooms is not considered a workshop. It will be seen that while public opinion has become relatively advanced as to the degree of "collective control" it will sanction in the interests of public health and for the prevention of diseases attendant on certain trades, the law is stultified and rendered useless by the scruple as to interfering with "the home" which is still crystallised in the various legal exceptions and exemptions to be found in the Act. The law, in fact, is still ostensibly based on the idea of

¹ 4th Interim Report, p. 26.

² Since the above was written, the Act of 1901 has come into operation. By I Edw. VII., c. 22, sec. 112, if any occupation which is certified by the Secretary of State to be dangerous is carried on in a domestic factory or a domestic workshop, all the provisions of the Act apply as if the place were an ordinary factory or workshop. File-cutting was certified as a dangerous trade in 1903.

"protection for those who cannot protect themselves," instead of openly and avowedly adopting the more fruitful principle of raising the standard of life and health for the common good.

We cannot go here into detail on the subject of all the "dangerous trades" which have been enumerated as such under the Act. Ample information on the subject can be found in the reports of the Departmental Committee since 1896, in the Inspectors' Reports, in Dr. Arlidge's work on "Diseases of Occupations," and other similar works.¹ The Women's Trade Union League have made a special study of the lead-poisoning in the potteries, and many articles on the subject can be found in their Quarterly Report.

We may here mention an admirable provision of the Act of 1878 (sec. 82), according to which the fine for neglecting to fence machinery might be applied to the benefit of a person injured by such neglect, or of his family. The Act of 1895 (sec. 23) extended this provision to docks, wharves, quays, and warehouses, and to premises where machinery is used for building purpose. A similar provision was made with regard to neglect to observe the special rules for dangerous trades. The present tendency seems to be towards the inclusion of male workers, at all events in regulations that have technically to do with health; and it may be hoped that this beneficent process will cause the whole question of labour regulation to be re-studied on larger issues, and will help to rob the opposition to special regulations for women of its bitterness.

Among provisions in the interests of health and safety, we must here note Clause 17 of the Act of 1891,² which ran thus: "An occupier of a factory or workshop shall not knowingly allow a woman to be employed therein within four weeks after she has given birth to a child." In 1873

¹ More recently a large and important work on the subject of "Dangerous Trades" has been edited by Dr. Thomas Oliver, who has also published a book on the "Diseases of Occupation," infra p. 284.

² Now incorporated as Clause 61 of the Act of 1901.

Dr. Bridges and Mr. Holmes, whilst inquiring into the conditions of women's employment in the textile districts. had been impressed by the risks and dangers incidental to infant life, where the mothers were accustomed to work in factories. They had recommended that some arrangement should be made by which mothers of young infants should either be employed half-time, or be excluded for a time from the factories altogether. But the Commissioners of 1876 declined to recommend any legal restriction on the work of women either before or after confinement, not that they underrated the existing evils. but because they considered it "out of the question to charge the inspectors with the duty of enforcing any such restriction." In 1891, however, the Government introduced the clause above quoted into the Factory Bill of that year, in accordance with a promise made at the Berlin Conference.³ This clause was supported by Mr. Sydney Buxton and other members of the Liberal Opposition in the Commons, but was strongly opposed in the Lords by Lord Wemyss.4 He acted as the spokesman of the women's rights party, and produced evidence intended to prove that the clause was unnecessary, as many women were capable of returning to work in a period less than the four weeks prescribed, and that it would result in great hardship to widows, deserted wives, and unmarried mothers who were compelled to work for their living. Lord Wemyss revived the arithmetical argument of Senior

¹ Report to Local Government Board, H. C., 1873, LV., p. 61.

² H. C., 1876, XXIX., pp. lxxvi., lxxvii.

³ The Berlin Conference was convened in March, 1890, by the German Emperor, who invited the Governments of England and some other countries to enter into an international discussion for the purpose of coming to "an agreement on the more important questions concerning the welfare of the working classes." Among several resolutions relating to the regulation of the labour of women and children, one was to the effect "that women after child-birth be not admitted to work for four weeks after their delivery." Parliamentary Papers, 1890, LXXXI., pp. 531, 613. Hansard, Feb. 26th, 1891; July 23rd, 1891.

and the older economists, and suggested that the clause would take away "literally one-twelfth of a woman's earnings in the year." Lord Salisbury pointed out that none of these arguments were germane to the real issue involved, which was the interest of the child. The clause became law, but there can be little doubt that it is practically inoperative. The inspectors are not supported by the women themselves, who are impelled to return to work as soon as possible, for fear of losing their place. The clause is therefore difficult to enforce, and must be regarded as a hopelessly inadequate safeguard of that which Lord Salisbury indicated as the true object in view, namely, the care and nurture of the infant. The difficulties of initiating further and more drastic legislation under this head are so obvious that they need not be pointed out here. As it stands, the clause must be regarded as ineffective for the end in view, but may, it is to be hoped, have some educational value as an affirmation that the State has, at least, an opinion on the subject of the deplorable waste and neglect of child life characteristic of most industrial districts.

Section 18 of the Act of 1891 raised the age of employment of children to eleven years.

We have hitherto done no more than allude to the important report of the Lords' Committee on the Sweating System. Although the Factory Acts have hitherto expressly exempted home work from any but a lax control as to hours and conditions of labour, the last decade of the nineteenth century witnessed a kind of awakening to the idea that it might be necessary in the interests of public health to exercise some stricter supervision over out-workers employed in their own homes, and the indignation aroused by the oppression of the sweated, their miserable pay, their long and irregular hours of work, has resulted in indirect measures, which might at first sight seem very wide of the mark as far as these particular sources of misery were concerned.

In 1884,1 much attention having been drawn to the condition of the workshops in which various occupations. and especially tailoring, were carried on in the East End of London, the inspectors undertook a special inspection of these places. Many of these were rooms in dwelling houses, and in the course of a house-to-house visitation. instituted with a view to ascertaining the sanitary condition of these workplaces, three inspectors, Messrs. Lakeman, Vaughan, and Snape, amongst themselves visited 1,478 workshops. In as many as 724 out of the 1,478 the inspectors had no jurisdiction whatever, and in 387 others no jurisdiction over the sanitary conditions, which were under the control of the local authorities. It was found that in 907 of these workshops improvements were required, and full details of the defects discovered were sent to the local authorities of the respective districts, and a further inspection by local officers was set on foot.

In 1887 the Chief Inspector in his report² again called attention to the evil. Workshops in which no motive power was used, and only male adults were employed, were still expressly exempted from all the enactments of the Factory Act. Workshops in which women, but no children or young persons were employed, were only partially affected by the factory regulations, as the sanitary enactments and the exhibition of an abstract of the law did not apply, and the regulation of hours, as already explained, was so lax as to be almost useless. But it began also to be more clearly realised that the worst evils were those existing, not in the factory or workshop, but in the workplace that was not, properly speaking, a workshop at all—a mere room or rooms in a dwelling-house, utilised, but not really adapted, for industrial purposes. As in the enquiries into dangerous trades, it was seen that the special provisions for health and safety could be enforced without much difficulty in the factory, with

¹ See Chief Inspector's Report for that year, p. 35 and ff, ² H. C., 1888, XXVI., p. 72.

somewhat more, but not insuperable difficulty in the workshops, while they remained practically a dead letter for the home-workers, so with the East End industries which claimed so much intermittent interest in the 'eighties and 'nineties. The better masters, employing forty or fifty people, might have "good regular work, fair prices, cheap labour, and large profits"; but with the smaller sweaters, in the vast majority of cases, work would be carried on under "conditions in the highest degree filthy and insanitary. In small rooms not more than nine or ten feet square, heated by a coke fire for the pressure irons, and at night lighted by flaring gas jets, six, eight, ten and even a dozen workers may be crowded," in complete disregard of the Factory and Public Health Acts. It was reported that the existing systems of inspection were "entirely inadequate . . . even if no divided authority tended to weaken the hands of the inspectors."1 But in the case of home-workers, the inspectors had not even the semblance of authority.² The workrooms might be damp, dirty, redolent of bad smells, the backyard with its offensive dust-bin, and domestic arrangements all that was objectionable; but the inspectors had no power to enforce any improvements, and it is greatly to their honour that they seem at times to have achieved something by means of persuasion and influence. But the question was, what was to be done? It was easy to start a wave of popular sympathy with the underpaid and overworked, but very difficult to utilise the sympathy in any practical reforms. Public opinion was still, as indeed it probably is now, unconverted as to the possibility of inspection or control of dwelling-houses; and though desirous of "doing good," and no longer much hampered by the academic doctrine of liberty, was extremely nervous as to the economic effects of labour

¹ Report of Mr. Burnett, Labour Correspondent to the Board of Trade, on the sweating system in the East End of London, H. C., 1887, LXXXIX.

² Chief Inspector's Report for 1887, p. 73.

legislation on the workers themselves. It is often supposed that greater stringency as to sanitary measures or restricting hours of labour will increase the cost of production and raise prices, so that the sweated worker would presumably lose as a consumer, what he might gain as a worker by his improved conditions of work. The detailed investigations into the actual conditions of industry that have since been published by Mr. Charles Booth, Mr. and Mrs. Webb, and others, have revealed how groundless this fear is. Properly organised and efficiently conducted industry can turn out goods as cheaply as the miserably underpaid home-workers, even in open market, and who shall measure the difference of cost to the community in life and health? This, however, was little understood, even so recently as the 'eighties, and it is curious to study the utterances of public men in this connection. On February 28th, 1888, in the House of Lords, Lord Dunraven moved for the appointment of a Special Committee to enquire into the sweating system at the East End of London; and his lordship, well known as a supporter of Factory Acts and measures for the protection of women and children in industry, said that the "evils of the sweating system were but the fringe of a much larger question, perhaps the greatest of the problems of the present time, and that problem was whether, under the present circumstances of the world, under the extraordinary advance which science had made, and which enabled the inhabitants of different parts of the world and the products of their labour to be brought so easily and quickly together—whether under these circumstances it was or would long be possible for a manufacturing country like this to maintain its labouring population at a fair standard of decency or living without endangering the interests of its great manufacturing industries."

The mode of statement is a measure of the distance we have travelled since 1888, for probably almost any student of modern economics and social questions, if asked to

read the above rapidly, would automatically insert a not, invert the clauses, and read the whole as a question whether this country would not "endanger the interests of its great industries" unless it could contrive to maintain its labouring population at a fair standard. The disclosures of the Lord's Committee on the Sweating System showed, among other things, that so far from being socially economical or useful, the industries carried on in the workers' miserable homes were really dragging back the industry as a whole, competing unfairly with the firms carrying on business under factory law, and thus hindering these last from perfecting their methods and machinery. Thus we find the trade union officials who gave evidence before the Lords' Committee strongly in favour of placing the chain and nail makers' domestic workshops under the inspectors. "If a man goes and lays violent hands upon himself and attempts to commit suicide, then comes the strong arm of the law upon him; but a man may stop and work at home and bring on a suicidal death, and may be gradually committing sucide and worse than suicide, and they do not interfere." It does not appear, by the way, that the working classes themselves regard the inspectors' visits with the aversion and dread that the upper class world supposes them to inspire.2 However this may be, it has gradually become evident that factory law is hopelessly incomplete as long as the home-workers are free to make their workrooms the centres and their products the disseminators of dirt, infection, and disease. In 1891 Mr. Matthews excused himself for exempting domestic workshops from the sanitary provisions of his Factory and Workshops Bill, with the remark that "in

H. L., 1889, XIII., Q. 18,308.
 The present writer has been privileged to accompany an inspector of workshops and a lady health visitor on their respective rounds, and is inclined to put a very high value on the educational influence of similar visitations in raising the standard of cleanliness and decency. A great deal can be done by suggestion and persuasion when it is known that in the last resort the law can be put in force.—(B. L. H.)

the domestic workshop you have not got the presence of employer and employed, you have the members of the same family . . ." adding that it seemed to him we might allow a man and his family "to work in a place which is sufficiently good so far as sanitary conditions are concerned for him and his family to live in"; but he was instantly met by the rather frivolously worded but unanswerable question from Mr. Baumann: why, if a man chooses to employ in a workshop "his sisters, and his cousins, and his aunts," he is to be allowed to poison them with foul air and bad drains? ¹

There is yet another point of view from which the regulation of home-work must be considered—that of wages. The sensation that has been created at different times over the cruelly low wages of certain trades, the lowest class tailoring and underclothing, the nail and chain making and others, has left the public conscience in a vaguely compunctious mood, feeling that "something" ought to be done, but with no very clear idea what the something should be. Opinion is not yet converted to the legal regulation of wages, nor likely to be for a considerable time yet.2 And the investigations of the last two decades have repeatedly brought to light the fact that the "sweater" is by no means always—though he may be sometimes—the typical sort of hard, rich, man, grinding the faces of the poor, and literally wresting his own wealth from the blood and sweat of his unfortunate employees, that the popular imagination at first supposed him to be. On the contrary, he might be, and often is, very little better off than those he employs. of much the same class, living with them on more or less friefidly terms, and quite incapable of paying a generous or adequate scale of wages. It may seem to many of the benevolent and philanthropic-minded that the amendments of factory law suggested at this time

¹ See Hansard, Feb. 26th, 1891, col. 1735.

² Written in 1902. The Trade Boards Act was passed in 1909.

were the very coldest comfort for low wages and poverty that could have been imagined. Notice to be given of the occupation of workshops, lists of out-workers to be kept, power to close a workplace found to be in an insanitary or dangerous condition—what could all these do to check sweating? Would they not even diminish the workers' chance of earning a livelihood?

The answer to this question is to be found in a study of the actual conditions under which industry is carried on. As Mr. Burnett said in his report, already quoted. "The ease with which men can become sweaters greatly intensifies the evil. It is the desire of every man who works under the system to get into business on his own account. The number of sweating dens therefore increases with startling rapidity. . . . The contractors and sub-contractors play the sweaters off against each other with a view to the reduction of prices, a process in which they are too generally successful." Conditions like these have again and again been urged in Parliament as a plea for relaxing the law; the exemption of this and that class of persons has continually been carried in the dread of throwing them out of employment. And it is quite true that to impose a minimum of air space, a minimum of sanitation, or to restrict the number of hours that may be worked, does cause a certain number of establishments to be shut up. The lowest class masters, those who have the least margin, who "do the commonest work, have the lowest prices, pay the least wages and exact the maximum of toil from their workers,"4 have to go. But there is not necessarily any narrowing of the field of employment. The community needs quite as many coats and trousers, nails and chains, as before, and has quite as much money to pay for them. There is therefore no reason why the

¹ Act of 1891. ² Act of 1895.

³ Deputation from Women's Employment Defence League to the Home Secretary on the subject of home-work. See *Times*, May 21st, 1895, p. 12.

⁴ H.C., 1887, LXXXIX, Burnett's Report, p. 15.

discharged workers and the ci-devant masters, now disqualified, should not find employment in the shops which are able to reach the legal standard of health and decency. and yet pay better wages. Here is the link between the investigations of the Lords' Committee and the somewhat tentative provisions of the Acts of 1891 and 1895, which. at first sight, seem so lame and impotent a conclusion. They show a dawning recognition of the latent meaning of the various Acts that have been framed to regulate labour during the century. That meaning is not—it can hardly be too often explained—a merely philanthropic one. A Factory Act is not something "given away," like coals or blankets at Christmas time. It represents. rightly understood, the reasoned effort of the best sense of the community to raise its industrial and social life to a higher plane. Failure to attain the standard set by the Act is equivalent to being ruled out as incompetent for the responsibility of employing others. And the experience of a century shows how necessary it is that some such standard of fitness should be set. The extreme inequalities of wealth, the immigration of destitute aliens, the necessities of women and children thrown on the world without a head of the family, all these and other causes provide a constant supply of cheap labour which can be exploited because it is practically unable to organise itself for resistance or self-defence. The hardships of the parish apprentices of a hundred years ago were only extreme instances, as Sir Robert Peel found out, of what occurs continually under competitive conditions, unless checked by wise measures of safeguard. Cheap labour—labour, that is, which can be employed under conditions and paid at a rate sufficient only for the needs of the moment, and less than sufficient for the maintenance of the race in health and efficiency—makes it possible for the incompetent to set up in business as an employer, and the result of responsibility being thus placed, unchecked and unchallenged, in the hands of the unfit, is usually the

physical and industrial deterioration of those they employ. But the enforcement of a decent and sufficient standard of sanitation, &c., weeds out the unfit, and places the control of industry more and more in the hands of the relatively competent. It is hardly necessary to say that we have by no means as yet reached this point, but there is no doubt that the Act of 1891 initiated a new departure. which, if followed up, may lead to most beneficial results. The improvement need not be confined to the matters actually touched by the Acts. The driving more business out of the sweating dens into the hands of the better masters, as Mr. Schloss pointed out,2 is likely to "bring in its train, among many other advantages, a higher scale of wages, hours of labour less unreasonably protracted, and greater regularity of employment."

The regulations for out-workers have developed as follows: By the Act of 1891, every occupier of a factory or workshop (including men's workshops) must, if so required by the Secretary of State, keep lists of all persons employed by him, whether as workman or contractor. in the business of the factory or workshop, outside the factory or workshop, and the places where they are employed, and every such list must be open to the inspection of the factory inspector and the officers of the local sanitary authority. By the Act of 1895,3 the list must be not only kept by the occupier, but sent to the factory inspector. By the Act of 1901 the occupier or contractor is required to send lists to the district council in which the factory or workshop is situated, and the district council to forward names and addresses of out-workers employed for firms within its district to the council of the district where such out-workers are resident. These regulations represent, as Mrs. Tennant and Mr. Davies remark, "the first attempt to deal effectively with sweaters' dens." By

¹ See a discussion on "Parasitic Trades," in "Industrial Democracy," by Sidney and Beatrice Webb, p. 749.

² Charity Organization Review, 1884, p. 11. ³ Sec. 42, sub-sec. (1).

them the occupier or contractor was made responsible for the condition of the places where work given out by him is done, and if the inspector certifies such place to be dangerous or injurious to the health of the persons employed, on one month's notice being given, the inspector may proceed against the occupier, and a Court of Summary Jurisdiction may, on conviction, fine him £10. Giving out wearing apparel to be made, cleaned, or repaired in a house where any inmate is suffering from scarlet fever or small-pox rendered the employer liable to a similar penalty.

Perhaps a still more remarkable attempt was made by sec. 24 of the Act of 1801, which is now replaced by the more elaborate and comprehensive sec. 116 in the Act of 1901. By this clause, known as the "Particulars Clause," the occupier of a factory or workshop is required to furnish in writing particulars of the rate of wages to each worker, so that the latter may ascertain the amount of wages to which he is fairly entitled. This clause in 1891 applied to certain classes of workers in textile factories only, but it was extended in 1895 to all textiles, and might be extended to non-textile factories and workshops by order of the Secretary of State. It has, in fact, been thus extended successively to the making of certain articles of clothing, to the making of iron and steel cables, chains, anchors and grapnels, locks, latches and keys, felt hats, wholesale tailoring, and in 1900 to pens. Two classes of particulars must be supplied to the workpeople, particulars of rate of wages and particulars of work to be done. The particulars clause applies to all classes of workers, except men in men's workshops, and though, of course, it has no direct effect in regulating wages, it acts indirectly as check on sweating. In this connection we may here mention the Wages Board Bill brought in by Sir Charles Dilke and others in 1900, the object of which was to provide for the establishment of Wages Boards, with power to fix the minimum rate of wages to

be paid to workers in particular trades. The Bill was especially intended for sweated industries in which outworkers are largely employed, and though it did not, of course, become law, and is scarcely likely to do so for some time to come, it is a very interesting piece of history that it should have been introduced at all.¹

The regulation of hours and conditions of work in retail shops has been considered more difficult, and is still more backward than in workshops. In 1886 a Select Committee of Enquiry was held, before which evidence was brought that the hours of shop-assistants ranged in many places as high as from eighty-four to eighty-five hours per week, with disastrous effects, especially on girls and women: also that the hours in warehouses and wholesale houses were sometimes prolonged so as to cause considerable injury to health; also that in shops to which workrooms were attached, young women, who could not be employed in the latter beyond the statutory hours of the Factory and Workshop Act, are called upon to serve after their tasks in the workroom are finished. In shops used by the wealthier classes the hours generally appear to be shorter, but those frequented by the working classes are liable to be kept open very late, especially on Saturday. The shops frequented by better-off purchasers usually now close earlier than in former years, but the difficulty of dealing with the matter without unduly inconveniencing the working-class customer is undoubtedly great, though probably exaggerated, and it has stood in the way of any effective regulation of shop hours. A weekly limit of seventy-four hours for young persons was fixed by the Act of 1886, but no interference with adults was considered advisable, in spite of the evidence of the injury to women's health caused by the long standing. The Act "remained generally unenforced and even to a great extent unknown."2 It was renewed in 1892, and

¹ See p. 216 n., and *infra*, p. 266-9.
12 Report of Select Committee on Shop Hours Regulation, 1892, p. iii.

the administration placed in the hands of local authorities, with power to County and Borough Councils to appoint inspectors.

Women have not so far been included in the provisions of the Shop Hours Act. While conditions have without doubt greatly improved in better class shops, in many quarters the hours are still a terrible grievance, and fraught with the worst possible consequencies to health.2 The excuse is sometimes made that the work is less hard than in manufacturing industry. This may be true to a certain extent, but it leaves out of account that the attitude of standing, if maintained for any length of time, is quite as fatiguing as, and probably more injurious than. movements that involve more muscular effort; also that. after all, nobody's day is more than twenty-four hours long, whatever work he may do, and the mere fact that any particular work done is less heavy and strenuous than some other kinds does not ipso facto give the worker any more hours for rest, relaxation, or recreation. Some good has been effected by voluntary association for early closing, but it has to be remembered that voluntary effort of this kind makes it all the more tempting for the unscrupulous to remain outside the pale, and gain by withdrawal of others from competition. It is highly probable that the supposed inconvenience to the working-class consumer of early closing is more a matter of habit than necessity, and that if an uniform limit were applied, gradually reducing the hours that could be worked in shops, the habits of the community would adjust themselves to the change without involving any hardship or tyranny nearly so oppressive as that now endured by the employees themselves.3

A clause in the Act of 1892 prohibits employment of a young person in a shop and in a factory or workshop on the same day for longer than factory hours.

¹ In London, the London County Council.

² See "Death and Disease behind the Counter," by Thomas Sutherst, London, 1884, a useful little book which did much good in calling public attention to the matter.

³ See p. 257, infra.

CHAPTER XI.

ADMINISTRATION BY THE HOME OFFICE AND LOCAL AUTHORITIES, 1867–1902.

Recommendations of Children's Employment Commissioners, 1862-4—Administration of the Workshops Regulation Act, 1867, by Local Sanitary Authorities—Defects in the Act and Failure of Local Authorities to undertake Inspection of Workshops—Administration of Workshops Regulation Act handed over to Factory Inspectors in 1871—Recommendations of Commissioners of 1876—Report of Select Committee of the House of Lords on the Sweating System—Acts of 1891 and 1895—Dual Control—Inspection of Out-workers—Act of 1901—Extension of Duties of Factory Inspectors.

In dealing with the administration of the Factory and Workshops Acts from 1867 to the present time, the chief interest centres round the various experiments which have been made with regard to the inspection of workshops; and the relative advantages of central and local control.

The Factory Acts Extension Acts of 1864 and 1867 extended the operation of the Acts from the so-called factory districts to the whole country, and brought under regulation not only mills in which machinery was used, but small workshops in out-of-the-way country towns, and even dwelling-houses and rooms used as workplaces. The question naturally arose as to how the law was to be enforced under these changed conditions. The Children's Employment Commissioners had faced the difficulty in 1864. They reported that the experience of thirty years' administration of the Factory Act had convinced them that "no administrative machinery could be suggested so efficient and satisfactory as the existing one of factory inspection." They therefore recommended that if the

¹ Children's Employment Commissioners, 3rd Report, H. C., 1864, XXII., p. 339.

expense were not too great, the law should be administered by the factory, inspectors, but that as an alternative, the smaller factories and workshops should be placed under the supervision of the Medical Officer of Health and other sanitary officers of the Local Board of the district. They especially recommended this in the case of "private houses" in which the manufacture of lace, hosiery, straw plait and other industries were carried on. We have already seen how far ahead of their time were the Commissioners of 1862-4, in that they advocated a modified system of protection, not only for children. young persons, and women employed in the so-called "mistresses' houses," and straw plait schools, but even for workers in "private houses" in which the parents were the employers of the children.2 They pointed out that hitherto "domestic manufacture" had been commonly thought to be "beyond the province of legislative supervision," partly owing to the tacit assumption that no evil accompanied it of "a nature sufficiently grave to involve the general interests of the public, partly that, even if such evil existed, the law could not reach it."3 This latter impression the Commissioners considered to be groundless, "since the Public Health and the Local Government Acts have placed under the direction of the local authorities all over the kingdom, officers who only required to be armed with specific power to deal effectually with cases such as these now in question."

But it is interesting to notice that the Commissioners were fully alive to the disadvantages of local control; and recommended it only "with reluctance and as an alternative." "We are not insensible," they said, "to the objections which may be stated to the administration of any portion of the Factory Acts by the local authority, objections arising from conflicting interests, local influences,

See Chapter VIII., p. 165.
 See 2nd Report of Children's Employment Commission, H.C., 1864, XII., p. xxvi.

³ Ibid., p. xxxi,

indisposition to carrying the law into effect, and other circumstances."

In 1864 the difficuty of administering the Factory Acts, owing to the increased number of places brought under control, was met by appointing an additional number of sub-inspectors acting under the directions of the district inspectors of factories; but in 1867, when by the Workshops Regulation Act of that year, practically all "manual labour exercised by way of trade or for purposes of gain" was brought under inspection, the experiment was tried of making the local sanitary authorities responsible for the administration of the law in workshops.

Mr. Walpole, in introducing the Bill, explained that, if factory inspectors were appointed to supervise the whole of the trades to which the measure applied, "they would find it a matter of impossibility—so numerous are the workshops scattered over all parts of the kingdom—to discharge that duty with anything like efficiency." The administrative clauses of the Bill met with no opposition, and it therefore became the duty of the local sanitary authorities to enforce the Workshops Regulation Act.

This experiment, which lasted for four years, proved, with very few exceptions, to be a complete failure, and apart from the permissive nature of the Bill, this failure may be attributed to two causes, (I) the inadequate power given to the officers of the local authority, and (2) the indefinite nature of the regulations themselves. Before the Officer of Health or other inspectors under the local authority could enter a workshop, they had to obtain an order from a justice of the peace empowering them to do

¹ Children's Employment Commission, 3rd Report, H. C., 1864, XXII., p. 339.

² Hansard, March 1st, 1867.

³ The "local authority" varied from place to place. In large towns it was usually the Town Council, in other places the Police or Improvement Commissioners, or other Local Board, and in London it was the Vestry.

so within forty-eight hours from the date of issue of such order, and orders were only to be given when it appeared to a justice that there was reasonable cause for believing that the provisions of the Workshops Regulation Act, or of the Sanitary Act, 1866, were being contravened.

The factory inspectors and sub-inspectors, on the other hand, had the right of entry into workshops at any time. They had the same powers of inspection and examination as the officers of the local authorities, with additional ones as regards the enforcement of the educational clauses of the Factory Acts; but they had no power of prosecution.

Ouite apart from the inadequate power given to the local inspectors, the Workshops Regulation Act was a very difficult one to administer. The Act is remarkable as an evidence of the neglect of legislators to learn from past experience, for its distinguishing feature is the absence of all those safeguards against evasions of the law, which had found a place in the Factory Acts from 1833 onwards. The Act did not require the sending of notices of occupation, the exhibition of abstracts, certificates of age or registers of persons employed, and though the period of employment was limited to twelve hours a day for women and young persons, and six and a half hours for children, the period for women and young persons might be taken at any time between 5 a.m. and 9 p.m., and that for children between 6 a.m. and 8 p.m. The Act required that one and a half hours out of the twelve should be given for meals, but the times were not fixed, and the

¹ The Workshops Regulation Act, 1867, contained no sanitary provisions. The sanitary condition of workshops was regulated by the Sanitary Act, 1866, which included under the definition of a nursance "any factory, workshop or workplace . . . not kept in a cleanly state and not ventilated in such a manner as to render harmless as far as practicable any gases, vapours, dust, or other impurities generated in the course of the work carried on therein that are a nuisance or injurious or dangerous to health, or so overcrowded while work is carried on as to be dangerous or prejudicial to the health of those employed therein" (29 & 30 Vict. c. 90, sec. 19).

only provision with regard to education was that children must attend school for ten hours during the week, instead of for three hours a day, as was the case in factories. To those who have studied the administration of the Factory Acts before the establishment of the "normal day" in 1850 and 1853, the impossibility of enforcing such an Act is self-evident.

Moreover, the Act was a permissive one, it being left to the local authorities to enforce or not, as they thought fit. Even the largest municipalities at that time were incredibly backward in matters of sanitary reform. Except in a few large towns such as London, Liverpool, Leeds, and Bristol, medical officers of health were unknown. The City Council of Manchester did not appoint a medical officer until 1868. The staff of sanitary inspectors was everywhere inadequate for the work which lay before them, and as no pressure was brought to bear by the central authority, either directly, or by the indirect method of grants in aid, it is little wonder that the members of the health and sanitary committees of the town councils, who were often themselves owners and occupiers of workshops, did not bestir themselves in the matter; and the Workshops Regulation Act remained in consequence a dead letter.

The factory inspectors did all in their power to arouse the local authorities to a sense of their duty. Mr. Redgrave reported that the administration of the Workshops Regulation Act had been "the cause of very great anxiety" to him and to the members of his staff:—"In the course of our duties we found, side by side with factories in which we had to insist on the cessation of work at 6 p.m. and the attendance of children at school,

¹ See return made to the House of Commons, March 3rd, 1870, showing the "boroughs and districts in which the Workshops Regulation Act has been enforced by the local authorities . . . also the boroughs and districts in which the local authorities have refused or neglected to enforce the said Act." Parliamentary Papers, 1870, Vol. LIV., p. 555.

workshops in which such regulations were not only disregarded, but not even known. We could not silently pass by such a palpable anomaly. . . . From the passing of the Workshops Regulation Act in 1867, the members of my staff have been assiduous in offering their services in explaining the Act, and in smoothing the way for its introduction. First we met the Chambers of Commerce and local authorities, next we have met the occupiers of workshops collectively, or visited them individually to aid and advise them."1

But there was a general unwillingness on the part of the local authorities to undertake work of so novel a character. The members of the town council "did not care for making themselves obnoxious by interfering with their fellow townsmen. If they did so it would probably be remembered against them at the next election of town councillors, and it would end in their rejection."2

Mr. Baker quoted one case in which a manufacturer, who was a member of a local governing body, told him that they had given all their officials notice that if any of them gave information about the workshops in the district they would be instantly dismissed.3

In some of the largest towns, in particular in Liverpool, Birmingham, Bristol, Stockport, and Chester, no steps were taken to put the Act into operation even after the fullest discussion and the offer of assistance from the factory inspectors.

In some places, such as Sheffield, Paisley and Chichester, the local sanitary authority absolutely refused to administer the Act. In the majority of places it was simply ignored. Either no action was taken, or the inspection of workshops was formally delegated by the town council to the sanitary or watch committee, and

¹ Report of Inspector of Factories, H. C., 1870, Vol. XV., р. 126.

² Ibid., 1869, Vol. XIV., p. 465. ³ *Ibid.*, 1868—9, Vol. XIV., p. 565. ⁴ *Ibid.*, 1871, XIV., p. 87.

there the matter dropped. In the few places where inspectors were appointed it was usually either without salaries, or with salaries so inadequate that it was impossible for them to devote the time to the duties which the Act required.

Leicester, Nottingham, Leek, and Stafford were laudable exceptions to the general neglect,2 and are particularly interesting as showing what might have been done had every local authority performed its duty so well. In Leicester the town council at once instructed three or four men to obtain the information necessary for enforcing the Act, and the work of inspection was afterwards carried on by the inspectors of nuisances. In Nottingham the town council appointed a detective police inspector to see that the Act was observed, and this was attended with good results. But the most striking example of the success which might attend local administration was afforded by Leek. There the Police Commissioners appointed Mr. Farrow as inspector of workshops. He appears to have performed his duties in a remarkably efficient manner, and he submitted a monthly report to Mr. Baker, the factory inspector for the district, in which, amongst other matters, he accounted for the attendance at school of all children employed in workshops.8 So good were the results that the Commissioners continued to employ Mr. Farrow as inspector of workshops until 1876, five years after the administration had been handed over to the factory department.

The unequal administration of the law in workshops, as compared with that in factories, resulted in growing

¹ The Local Board of Leicester had originated enquiries into the sanitary condition of workshops as early as 1864, but this example had not been followed by any other local authorities. See second "Report of Children's Employment Commissioners." 1864, XXII., p. xxxvii.

² See Report of Commissioners, H. C., 1876, Vol. XXIX., p.

² See Report of Factory Inspectors, H. C., 1871, Vol. XIV., p. 109.

dissatisfaction. When it is remembered that the distinction drawn between a factory and a workshop was the arbitrary one depending upon the number of persons employed, and not upon any difference in the character of the industry, it is easy to understand the anomalies which existed, and the advantages which would be enjoyed by the small master over his competitor who happened to employ more than fifty persons, and who therefore had to conform to the law.

After a trial of four years it was recognised that the attempt to make use of the existing local sanitary authorities for the inspection of workshops had failed, and that something must be done to diminish the discrepancies which existed between factories and workshops. Various recommendations were made by inspectors and others.

Mr. Baker suggested that local authorities should appoint sub-inspectors of workshops to act under the direction of the factory inspectors, and, with a view to making them independent, he recommended that the power to dismiss them from the office should rest with the Secretary of State. It was finally decided to hand over the administration of the Workshops Regulation Act to the factory inspectors. In the words of the Factory Act of 1871, "it shall cease to be the duty of the local authorities to enforce the provisions of the Workshops Acts, 1867 to 1871, and it shall be the duty of the inspectors and sub-inspectors of factories to enforce the provisions of these Acts." This transfer of power from the the local authorities to the Home Office increased the number of places under the control of the factory inspectors from 30,000 in 1867 to 110,000 in 1871. Thus a great deal of additional work was thrown upon the factory inspectors, for not only was the actual number of places under inspection about four times as great as it had been before, but many of the workshops were situated in out-of-the-way

¹ See Report of Inspector of Factories, H. C., 1871, XIV., p. 188.

districts, and owing to the smallness of their size it was impossible for the factory inspectors, who then merely paid occasional visits from London, to make themselves acquainted with the workshops in these out-of-the-way places.

A reorganisation of the factory department became necessary, and the difficulty was partly met by creating a new class of junior sub-inspectors. But the work thrown upon the factory inspectors was even then more than they could efficiently perform, and the result was that the periodical inspection of factories was neglected—in order to make time for the inspection of workshops. The inspectors complained that they found less regularity in nearly every factory they visited, and they found it "impossible to discover all the workshops in large towns or scattered workshops in country districts. Moreover, when one visit has been paid, and the law explained, some years must elapse before the workshop can come in rotation to be revisited."

Although the administration of the Workshops Regulation Act had been transferred to the factory department. it must be noticed that until 1878 the factory inspectors had no direct authority to enforce sanitary regulations in workshops. Their power with regard to sanitation was limited to that of enquiry and advice. The sanitary condition of workshops was still regulated by the Sanitary Acts, 1866 and 1875, which were administered by the local sanitary authorities. The Public Health Act of 1875 had the curious result of exempting a large number of workshops from any sanitary regulations whatever. Under the Sanitary Act of 1866 the word "nuisance" included "any factory, workshop, or workplace not already under the operation of any general Act for the regulation of factories or bakehouses, and not kept in a cleanly state."2 This definition was repeated in the

Report of Inspectors of Factories, H. C., 1873, XIX., p. 139.
 33 & 34 Vict. c. 104, sec. 3.

Public Health Act of 1875, and as the Commissioners of 1876 pointed out, "the word 'already' in the above definition, on its transference from the Sanitary Act of 1866 to the Consolidated Act of 1875, seems to have caused a dropping by the way, out of the provisions in question, of all workshops which in 1866 were not, but in 1875 were already under the operation of a general Act for the regulation of factories and bakehouses." Thus from 1875 to 1878 all those workshops to which factory legislation had for the first time been extended in 1867, were entirely unregulated with regard to their sanitary condition.

The factory inspectors had, however, the power of enquiry into such matters, and evidence is given that they exercised this power to a considerable extent, and did their utmost to induce employers to adopt their suggestions for improving the sanitary condition of workshops.

The factory inspectors were not long in discovering those defects in the Workshops Regulation Act, which made its enforcement such a difficult matter; and they reported on the need of a greater uniformity in the regulations for workshops and factories, if the inspection of workshops was to be rendered more effectual. The mere fact that there might be two establishments in the same trade, distinguishable only by the number of persons employed, yet subject to totally different regulations, was enough in itself to complicate greatly the work of inspection, and to increase the difficulties of the officials who had to enforce the two systems.

The Commissioners of 1876 went fully into the matter, and agreed with the inspectors in recommending the assimilation of the law relating to workshops with that in force in factories. They pointed out that "the mere economy of energy which would result from having but one system to administer instead of 'two,'" was "expected by some of the inspectors to compensate greatly,

¹ Report of Commissioners, H. C., 1876, Vol. XXIX., p. lxxiii.

if not completely, for any insufficiency in the staff to cope with the work laid upon it."1

The evidence given before the Commission showed the absurdity of supposing that the laxer regulations for workshops could ever be satisfactorily enforced, for not only did the occupiers of workshops derive safety from their numbers and obscurity, but, whilst quite as slow as the old factory occupiers to accept the interference of Government in their concerns, the workshop employers were even more slowly convinced of the reason and benefits of regulation; thus evasions were shown to be more frequent, detections more difficult, and hence the need of greater stringency in the regulations.²

But while the Commissioners of the "'sixties" had been so strongly impressed with the bad conditions observed in many home workshops, and the tyranny exercised by ignorant and brutal parents, that they were ready to advocate the extension of full factory law to homes, the Commissioners of 1876, whether more alive to difficulties of administration, or more under the influence of individualistic scruples, were inclined to deprecate any interference therewith. They therefore recommended that the sanitary provisions of Factory Acts should be extended to all places of work, except to dwelling-houses where none but the inmates were employed, which should, they thought, be left under the laxer regulations of the Public Health Act, administered by the local authorities. further recommended that the enforcement of the sanitary provisions of the Factory Acts should be expressly made the duty of the inspector of factories in all places to which their powers extended.3

These recommendations were practically embodied in the Consolidating Act of 1878. By this Act the definitions of "factory" and "workshop" were altered in such

¹ Ibid., p. xvi.

² *Ibid.*, p. xvii.

³ *Ibid.*, p. lxxvii.

a way that the distinction between the two was made to turn, not, as hitherto, on the numbers employed, but upon the use of motive power, and the important change was made of bringing all "ordinary" workshops—that is, workshops in which children or young persons are employed—under precisely the same regulations as nontextile factories as regards hours of work, sanitary and other conditions of employment; but no notice of occupation was required to be sent in, in the case of workshops. and the extraordinarily retrograde step was taken of exempting women's workshops (i.e., workshops in which women, but no children or young persons are employed) and domestic workshops from the regulations relating to sanitation, simultaneous meal-times, holidays, the affixing of notices and abstracts, and the notification of accidents. Also the regulations as to the hours of women in women's workshops, and of young persons in domestic workshops, though they limited the period of employment to ten and a half hours a day, were rendered practically nugatory owing to the fact that the legal employment might be taken any time between 6 a.m. and 9 p.m., whilst in domestic workshops the hours of women were entirely unregulated.

The factory inspectors were charged with the duty of enforcing all the provisions of the Act of 1878, and for this purpose they were given the power of entering by day or night any factory or workshop in which they had reasonable cause to believe that persons were employed, with the exception of places used as dwellings as well as factories or workshops, in which case an inspector, before he could enter, had to obtain written authority to do so from the Secretary of State or a Justice of the Peace.

The result of the exemptions granted by the Act of 1878 to particular classes of workshops was a curiously anomalous state of things with regard to the division of duties between the factory inspectors and the inspectors of the local sanitary authority. From what has been said,

it will be seen that women's workshops and domestic workshops were, as regards their sanitary condition, still under the somewhat indefinite regulations of the Public Health Act of 1875, which were, of course, administered by the local authorities. The result was that in these two classes of workshops, practically all that the factory inspector could attempt to do was to enforce the regulations as to hours for protected persons. In domestic workshops in which no young persons or children were employed the factory inspector had no control whatever. It will be realised how difficult was any effective administration under such a system of inspection. One or two imaginary instances will serve to illustrate this. Suppose a case in which twenty men and women were employed. with one girl or boy under the age of eighteen years. Such a place would be an ordinary workshop under the entire supervision of the factory inspectors. Six months hence the factory inspector might again visit the workshop, and find that the boy or girl had been removed, and that he therefore had no power to insist on the observance of sanitary conditions.¹ The place would then be a woman's workshop, and as such its sanitary condition would be regulated by the Public Health Act, administered by the local authority.

Again, the dividing line between domestic and non-domestic workshops was equally fluctuating. Imagine a family working at home, and some one from outside, say a boy or girl of seventeen, is brought in to assist. Such a place would then, technically speaking, cease to be "domestic," and would therefore fall under the administration of the factory inspectors.

Under such a system of divided authority, coupled with the fact that in certain classes of workshops no notice of occupation was required, it is scarcely surprising that

¹ See Lakeman's evidence given before the Select Committee of the House of Lords on the Sweating System, Parliamentary Papers, 1888, Vol. XXI., p. 436 (Q. 16,476).

thousands of workshops escaped inspection altogether, sometimes owing not so much to unwillingness on the part of the local authorities, as simply to ignorance as to what workshops really came under their control. Manchester is a case in point. Considerable interest amongst members of the City Council was aroused by a special report which appeared in the Lancet on "Sweating amongst Tailors at Liverpool and Manchester," in which it was shown that the evils of sweating were not confined to the metropolis, but were extensively practised at Manchester, Liverpool, Leeds, Bristol, and other important towns. The writer of the article urged the necessity, on grounds of public health, of enforcing sanitary regulations, even in workshops in which there was no limitation of hours. "It is high time," he said, "that the attention of the authorities and the public should be awakened, and the investigation extended." In the absence of the chairman of the nuisance committee, the Mayor of Manchester at once caused an inspection of workshops to be made in order to ascertain how much truth there was in the statement made in the Lancet report as to the conditions prevailing in the tailoring shops. The inspectors reported to the improvement committee that in the district they had visited they found 129 workshops, of which fifty-six were registered under the Factory and Workshops Act, 1878, and, so far as could be ascertained, the remaining seventy-three, or at all events a large proportion of them, ought also to have been registered. From the discussion which ensued it is evident that a great deal of confusion existed in the minds of the members of the City Council as to who was responsible for the sanitary condition of workshops. In the words of the Mayor: "There was evidently a missing link in this business, and it was this, that nobody seemed to know where the duty of the sanitary inspector ceases, and that of the factory inspector begins, in connection with premises which gradually and

¹ See Lancet, April 14th and 21st, 1888. .

unconsciously become transformed from dwelling-houses into workshops."¹

In Birmingham, also, the attention of the City Council was aroused by the Lancet report to consider the question of workshop inspection. But, though there was a considerable amount of co-operation between the officers of the health committee and the factory inspectors, great difficulty was experienced in discovering the whereabouts of the small workshops, dwelling-rooms, and garrets in which work was carried on.² The evidence given before the Select Committee of the House of Lords on the sweating system made it abundantly evident that insanitary conditions, long hours of work, and starvation wages-in fact, all the characteristics of what is known as the sweating system—were to be found in their most aggravated form in precisely those classes of workshops to which special exemptions had been granted in 1878. For this reason most of the witnesses who gave evidence before the Select Committee urged the necessity of placing women's workshops upon the same level as other workshops as regards their sanitary condition, and the requirement as to notices, abstracts and other matters; and some witnesses went a step further, and advocated the extension of Factory Act regulations to domestic workshops.3

From the evidence given by factory inspectors and others before the Select Committee, it was clear that one of the great difficulties which had attended any attempt on the part of either the local authorities or the factory inspectors to enforce the law in domestic and other small workshops was the impossibility of ascertaining the

¹ See Manchester City News, May 5th, 1888.

² See evidence given before Select Committee of the House of Lords on the Sweating System, 1889, Vol. XIV., by Alderman Cook, M.P., Chairman of the Health Committee of the Birmingham City Council (Q. 27,547—27,601), and by Mr. Knyvett, the District Factory Inspector (Q. 27,602—27,645).

³ See H. L., 1889, XIII., Q. 17,967, 18,307, 18,623, &c.

whereabouts of places in which work was carried on.1 It was pointed out that occupiers of workshops were not required to send any notice of occupation, and that it was therefore "matter of chance" whether or not the inspectors discovered the "sweaters' shops" which were continually springing up in back streets, where people worked in their own homes.

It was therefore recommended by inspectors and other men of experience who gave evidence before the Select Committee, that all workshops should be registered.² and. partly with a view to facilitating the discovery of workshops whose occupiers failed to send notice of occupation, it was recommended by Mr. Redgrave, Oram and others that lists of out-workers should be kept by employers and contractors who were in the habit of giving out work to be done.3

These recommendations were to some extent carried out in 1801. In that year no less than three Factory Bills were introduced, and Mr. Matthews, the Home Secretary, in moving the second reading of the one which finally became law, said that the "design and object" of the Bill was "to bring all workshops and all factories up to the same sanitary level."4

By the Factory Act of 1891 the special exemptions hitherto enjoyed by women's workshops were repealed, and the sanitary regulations were extended to workshops in which only adult men are employed; but the regulations as to domestic workshops remained unaltered, except that inspectors were given the right to enter such workshops without the writ or warrant which had hitherto been required.

¹ See Report of Select Committee of House of Lords on the Sweating System, 1889, XIV., Q. 27,598 and 28,403.

and 32,332.

² There was some difference of opinion as to whether this recommendation should apply to domestic workshops in which only adults were employed. See Oram's evidence, 1889, XIV., Q. 32,328—32,332. See also Redgrave's evidence, 32,416.

3 See evidence given by Redgrave and Oram, *ibid.*, Q. 32,467

⁴ Hansard, February 26th, 1891.

An important change was made with regard to the administration of the law. It was decided again to try the experiment of making use of the existing local sanitary authorities, by transferring to them the supervision of the sanitary condition of workshops. The reason for this change, as explained by the Home Secretary, was that now that they were "extending the sanitary provisions of the Factory Act to all workshops throughout the country, of whatever kind they may be . . . so that every cobbler's shop, every blacksmith's shop, every tailor's shop in towns and in the country will come under the provisions of the sanitary law, it seemed foolish not to take advantage of the existing machinery provided by the local authorities." At the same time, a certain "dictatorial" power was reserved to the factory inspectors to act in default of the local authorities.²

The transfer of powers was brought about by exempting workshops from those provisions of the Factory Act of 1878, which related to cleanliness, ventilation, overcrowding, and limewashing; and the sanitary condition of workshops was henceforward to be regulated by the Public Health Acts, supplemented by sec. 4 of the Factory Act of 1891, which made further regulations with regard to limewashing and freedom from effluvia. For the purpose of exercising their duties with respect to workshops, the sanitary authorities and their officers were given "all such powers of entry, inspection, taking legal proceedings or otherwise, as an inspector under the principal Act."

The Act of 1801 required that notices of occupation of workshops (including men's workshops) should be sent to the factory inspectors, and the latter were required to forward to the local authorities all such notices received by them. The medical officers of health were required to notify to the factory inspectors the existence of any workshop in which they became aware that "protected

¹ Hansard, Fe bruary 26th, 1891, col. 1715.

² See 54 & 55, Vict. c. 75, sec. 2, and 58 & 59 Vict. c. 37, sec. 3.

persons" were being employed. By this means it was intended to throw upon local authorities the responsibility of bringing to light unnotified workshops, for it was felt that the sanitary inspectors, in their rounds of house-to-house inspection, were the people most likely to discover the existence of such workshops.

The recommendations given before the Select Committee on the Sweating System, with regard to lists of out-workers, found a place in the Act of 1891, which required that such lists should be kept by occupiers and contractors in any trades or industries to which the requirement might be extended by order of the Home Secretary, and be open to inspection by the factory inspectors and local authorities, and in 1895 the further step was taken of requiring the lists to be sent to the factory inspectors twice a year. Inadequate as these regulations have proved, we can hardly exaggerate their importance, from the point of view of administration. quite apart from that of public health, for, if strictly enforced, the result of extending them to all industries in which work is given out, would be that information would be available of the whereabouts of every place in which industrial work is being carried on; and such information is the first step towards securing the enforcement of minimum conditions of employment over the whole of the industrial world.

We now come to consider the way in which this system of dual control has worked out in practice.

In the reports of the factory inspectors from 1891 onwards, the fact is brought out that while great improvements have taken place in some of the large towns, where the municipal authorities are alive to their responsibilities, yet in the small towns and rural districts practically nothing is done. The members of the town councils are reluctant to make themselves obnoxious by interfering with their fellow townsmen, and by raising rates for the payment of additional officials, and the number of sanitary

inspectors is seldom sufficiently large to allow of a systematic inspection of workshops where no special inspector has been appointed for the purpose.

The Factory Act of 1895, which made it compulsory for local authorities to report to the factory inspector the proceedings taken with regard to complaints received from him, marks a great advance in the activity of sanitary authorities. Before 1895 the reports of the medical officers of health show that, with few exceptions, they do not seem to have considered it their duty to take any initiative with regard to the inspection of workshops, and at the most attended only to complaints.

Since 1895 the responsibility of the local authorities has been more widely recognised, and in some of the larger towns, notably in Liverpool, Manchester, Nottingham, Leeds, Bradford, and several of the borough councils of London, special inspectors of workshops have been appointed. Their appointment has invariably been attended with success, and in such places evidence has been given of the effective administration of the law in workshops which might have resulted from local control, had some sort of compulsion been brought to bear upon the local authorities to undertake the duties laid upon them by the Factory Acts of 1891 and 1895.

But, with these few exceptions, it is no exaggeration to say that the local authorities have failed to recognise their responsibility in the matter, for where no special inspectors are appointed, no register of workshops is kept, no systematic inspection is carried on, and practically the only workshops visited are those of which complaints have been received from the factory inspector. Now, in districts in which the local authority inspects merely upon complaint, the object of the Legislature has been

¹ The districts which afford the best example of effective local administration are Kensington, Islington, St. Pancras, Hackney and Marylebone. In all these districts women inspectors have been appointed. See "The Inspection of Women's Workshops in London," *Economic Review*, Jan., 1901, cf. p. 251, infra.

entirely defeated, for the sanitary inspectors do nothing to aid the factory inspectors in the discovery of unnotified workshops, and it is precisely those workshops in which insanitary conditions are most likely to exist that escape inspection altogether, for they remain undiscovered either by the factory or the sanitary inspector.

It is on these grounds that some people, in their laudable anxiety to see an effective administration of the Factory and Workshops Acts, entirely condemn the present system of dual control, and advocate the placing of all factories and workshops wholly under the factory department. But the question before us is not, what is the most ideally perfect system of control that might be devised for a new society, but how—given the existing machinery—to make it possible to bring every workplace. and dwelling-room in which work is carried on, under legislative control and inspection. The only way in which this is possible is to make use of the officers of the local sanitary authorities, who in the poorer districts of large towns generally make house-to-house inspections for sanitary purposes, and are therefore better equipped than anyone else to discover the numerous out-of-the-way places in which work is carried on in the homes of the workers.

The Act of 1901 has been condemned for giving increased powers to local authorities, instead of handing over the administration of the law in workshops to the factory department. Mr. Ritchie, speaking before the Grand Committee on Trade in the House of Commons, on the machinery for the inspection of out-workers, said "it was clear that without an enormous addition to the staff the factory inspectors could not undertake the work, especially when it was remembered that in some localities the homes of workers were to be counted not by tens but by hundreds, and even thousands. The local authority was responsible for the administration of the sanitary laws and had the machinery for the purpose. The argument that some local authorities would be indifferent

was not sufficient to take away from them duties they were willing to perform and which would rest upon them. He would not be responsible for asking the House of Commons to enact clauses which would be ineffective or inoperative, and these provisions would be so if the local authorities were struck out. It would be impossible to obtain from the Treasury the money to provide an efficient staff of inspectors."

The cause for the partial failure of dual control, up to the present time, is to be found, not in any inherent weakness in the system itself, but in the imperfections of the law, the chief of which have been (i.) the insufficient powers given to local authorities; (ii.) the overlapping of functions between factory and sanitary inspectors; and (iii.) the lack of any adequate central control by which compulsion might be brought to bear upon defaulting local authorities.

Much excuse for the neglect of local authorities to undertake their duties with regard to the inspection of workshops is to be found in the insufficient powers given to them. Hitherto they have been hampered for want of information as to the existence of places in which work is carried on in the homes of the workers. A large proportion of these are "out-workers," and by reason of the fact that the work is often carried on "at irregular intervals, and does not form the whole or principal means of living to the family," such places would not come within the scope of the Factory Acts, were it not for the regulations referring to out-workers, and in any case their sanitary condition is regulated by the Public Health Acts only. The inspection of out-workers is therefore chiefly a matter for the local sanitary authority, but hitherto the lists of out-workers have been sent to the factory inspectors only, who were not required to forward them to the local authorities. Thus the sanitary inspectors, though responsible for the enforcement of the sanitary conditions in such places, have had no means of ascertaining the whereabouts of the out-workers who reside in their districts; and the only way in which they could discover out-workers, except by house-to-house visitation, was to make copies twice a year of the lists of out-workers at the factories and workshops in the district—a proceeding which was not provided for in the Factory Acts, and would obviously occupy a large amount of time. Moreover, in London, these lists were practically useless, owing to the fact that more often than not the out-workers live in a different district from the one in which their employer's factory or workshop is situated, and the Act of 1891 and 1895 did not provide for any interchange of lists of out-workers.

An example of the difficulties encountered by those local authorities who endeavoured to carry on an effective inspection of workshops and workplaces is given by Islington, where two inspectors of workshops were appointed in 1896. Islington is remarkable for the number of outworkers who live in that parish but work for City and other firms. The vestry of Islington was one of the first to take up the inspection of out-workers, and the Medical Officer of Health adopted the plan of voluntarily sending on to other local authorities the names and addresses of out-workers who, though taking out work from Islington firms, lived in other districts. But as, with a few exceptions, similar lists were not received from other vestries, the inspectors of workshops in Islington had great difficulty in ascertaining the names and addresses of the out-workers who lived in their district, and any efficient system of inspection was almost impossible.

Bearing in mind the difficulties hitherto encountered by Islington, Hackney and the few other local authorities who have to some extent taken up the inspection of outworkers, the importance of the change made in the Act of 1901, which requires that lists of out-workers should be sent to the district councils as well as to the factory inspectors, and which provides for the interchange of such lists between local authorities, will be fully appreciated. Now that some of the difficulties have been removed, there will be less excuse for defaulting bodies. The Act of 1901 has been condemned for giving further powers to local authorities, but this is precisely what was required. In answer to objections which were raised by Sir Charles Dilke in the House of Commons, on the ground that powers were being taken away from the factory inspectors and handed over to local authorities, Mr. Ritchie explained that "the existing law does not provide for any inspection of out-workers worth anything," and that the aim of the Bill was "to amend the law so as to make inspection effectual."

With regard to the division of functions between factory inspectors and sanitary inspectors, the new Act makes little change. Some amount of confusion is the inevitable consequence of a divided authority, and the result is not so much that friction is caused by two sets of officials doing the same work twice over, as that the work gets neglected owing to the fact that both sets being partially responsible, neither makes itself entirely so; that is to say—in the words of a phrase which deserves to become classical—the danger is "not overlapping, but hiatus."²

For example, there is no doubt that the Factory Act requirement of 400 cubic feet of space for each worker employed overtime is practically a dead letter in the smaller workshops. It is a disputed point who is really responsible for its enforcement. The local authorities are primarily responsible for the enforcement of the provisions against overcrowding, but no local authority has yet undertaken to inspect workshops at a time when overtime would be worked. As a matter of fact, the factory inspectors are able, when evasions are detected, to enforce

¹ The Times, June 29th, 1901.

² See Sir Edward Grey's speech in the debate on the Education Bill, *The Times*, May 7th, 1902.

the requirement as a condition of overtime employment, but owing to the length of the working day, inspectors find great difficulty in detecting overtime employment in women's workshops. Another disputed point is the regulation of temperature. The provision of the Act of 1895, which requires that a reasonable temperature must be maintained in the workrooms, is not included in the regulations for which the local authorities are made primarily responsible, and so, though a sanitary provision, it appears to be a matter which should be left to the factory inspectors. But some medical officers of health maintain that the enforcement of a reasonable temperature is among the duties of the sanitary inspectors; in which case they have to take action under the Public Health Act, and prove that the workroom in question is "in such a state as to be a nuisance, or dangerous or injurious to health."

The enforcement of the obligation to supply a sufficient number of sanitary conveniences is in the hands of the sanitary authority in all places where the borough or district council has adopted sec. 22 of the Public Health Acts Amendment Act, 1890, but elsewhere it is the duty of the factory inspectors to see that there are sufficient and suitable sanitary conveniences. In London the factory and sanitary inspectors have hitherto had concurrent powers in the matter, but by the Act of 1901 the responsibility is definitely thrown upon the sanitary authorities.¹

By the Act of 1901 a step forward has been taken in the direction of bringing compulsion to bear upon local authorities to undertake the inspection of workshops. It requires that the medical officers of health shall keep registers of the workshops in their district, and shall in their annual report to the district council make special mention of the work done by them during the past year under the Factory and Workshops Acts, and copies of such reports are to be forwarded to the Secretary of State. By this means some amount of publicity will be provided for, and it will enable a comparison to be made between the number of workshops on the register, and the number under inspection. Whether under the new Act sufficient pressure will be brought to bear upon local authorities remains to be seen. From the experience of their inertness in the past, it would appear that nothing short of an actual compulsion to appoint special inspectors of workshops would suffice. The appointment of an adequate number might be encouraged by the indirect, but very effective method of grants in aid—the central authority contributing towards the salaries of inspectors of workshops, with power to withhold the grant in cases where the local authorities do not come up to the required standard of efficiency.

The work of the factory inspectors during the last twenty years has gone on increasing in extent and efficiency. In 1878 bakehouses were for the first time included under the term non-textile factories and workshops, and as such were placed under the control of the factory inspectors' department from 1878 until 1883, when the local authorities were made responsible for the sanitary condition of retail bakehouses. Since 1895 laundries have been under inspection either as factories or workshops according to whether motive power is used or not. The work of the factory inspectors has also been considerably increased by legislation which has extended their jurisdiction beyond the administration of the ordinary regulations of the Factory and Workshops Act.

¹ Bakehouses were first brought under regulation in 1863, by an Act (26 & 27 Vict. c. 40) which prohibited the work of young persons at night (i.e., from 9 p.m. till 5 a.m.) and made certain regulations for securing sanitation and cleanliness. The administration of this Act was left to the local sanitary authorities, and as bakehouses were not included in the Factory and Workshops Acts of 1867, the factory inspectors had no right of entry into bakehouses until 1878.

Under the Truck Act, 1887, the enforcement of the provision against the practice of truck in factories and workshops was handed over to the Home Office. The administration of the Cotton Cloth Factories Act, 1889, rests with the inspectors of factories. Under the Protection of Children Act, 1894, which, under special circumstances, empowers magistrates in petty sessions to license the employment of children between the age of eight and ten in public entertainments, the inspectors of factories are authorised to interfere if the conditions under which a licence is granted are not observed.

But in spite of this increase in their duties the work of the factory inspectors has been considerably simplified by the introduction into the Factory Acts of 1878-1901 of regulations whereby the detection of evasions is attended with less difficulty than was formerly the case. Amongst such regulations are the requirement that occupiers shall notify to the district inspector their intention to work overtime, not later than 8 p.m. on the day on which the overtime is to be worked,1 and the requirement that no work shall be taken home to be done, except during the legal hours of employment in the factory or workshop.2

Again, the regulation whereby occupiers of factories must keep a list of all the accidents which have occurred in the factory³ has done much to make administration effective. Numerous other instances of the same kind might be quoted, but these will suffice as illustrations.

During the last ten years the staff of factory inspectors has been increased, and two new departures have been made. In 1893, in accordance with a request contained in a memorial of trade unionists, it was decided to appoint a certain number of working men as "assistants" to the inspectors of factories, whose special duty it should be to assist in administering the law in workshops. It

¹ 41 Vict. c. 16, s. 66. ² 58 & 59 Vict. c. 37, s. 16. ³ 58 & 59 Vict. c. 37, s. 20.

is somewhat doubtful whether this new departure has been attended with the success which was anticipated by its advocates. It is evident that the work of inspection requires many qualities which are to be found only in educated men, endowed with a considerable amount of tact; and this, perhaps, is even more necessary in dealing with the small employers in workshops, than with large employers who are more familiar with the requirements of the Factory Acts. In the same year (1893), a trial was made of appointing two women inspectors, "to make special inquiries in the principal towns, acting as peripatetics, and not being attached to any fixed districts . . . to be always ready to receive and attend to anv complaints received from, or relating to, the employment of women in any part of the United Kingdom." The number of women inspectors have now been increased to eight.1 Their appointment has been attended with undoubted success, and they deserve much credit for the zeal they have shown in securing an effective administration of the Factory Acts.

We have said enough to show that within the last thirty-five years, although in theory there has been some retrogression, as in the special exemptions granted to certain classes of workshops in 1878, there has at the same time been a considerable advance in administrative efficiency. The recognition of the necessity of making Factory Acts so definite as to render evasions difficult has been embodied in the stringent regulations enforced in textile factories, but there are hundreds of trades to which special exemptions are granted, and the majority of workshops may be

¹ In 1910 there are nominally 18 women factory inspectors, though the effective strength is one or two short of this number. A system has recently been introduced under which their work is localised in 4 main centres—Belfast, Glasgow, Manchester and Birmingham—in addition to the staff centralised in London. The name and address of the Senior Lady Inspector for the district is now printed in the Abstracts and elsewhere, with the object of giving the workers a readier access to the inspector.

said to be in very much the same position that cotton factories were in the early part of the nineteenth century, when the law, from its indefiniteness, and the absence of specific requirements, remained almost a dead letter.

It is perhaps hopeless to expect that the regulations for home-workers will ever be brought up to the level of Factory Act requirements, but it is imperative to ensure that all workshops shall be subject to inspection and con-It is useless to expect occupiers of small workshops, who are mostly ignorant of the law, to send in notices of occupation, and perhaps the best plan which has been suggested for bringing them under inspection is the compulsory registration of all places in which work of any sort is carried on, and the enforcement of a penalty for carrying on work in any place not so registered and licensed. Until this is done, the tendency of factory legislation in unskilled trades must be, to some extent, to drive work into the homes.² That such a tendency is sometimes perceptible, is one of the most formidable arguments wielded by the opponents of State interference.

¹ See, e.g., Bill for Regulation of Home Work drawn up by the Women's Industrial Council and the Scottish Council for Women's Trades. This Bill, however, would place all workplaces under the control of the factory inspectors only. In a Factory and Workshops Act Amendment Bill, introduced by Mr. Sidney Buxton, in 1891, it was proposed that a register should be kept by occupiers, of all persons to whom work was given out, and that such registers should be open to inspection not only by the officers of the sanitary authority, but also by the secretary of any trade society (61 of 1891, sec. 39. See Parliamentary Papers, 1890–1, Vol. IV., p. 171). Trade unionists themselves are anxious to obtain this power, because they consider that the sweating of unknown and unorganised workers can best be checked by the publicity which would thus be afforded.

² This tendency is only to be found in *unskilled* trades. In skilled trades employers find that it pays better to have the work done on the premises by regular workers. In those trades where lists of out-workers are required to be kept, the tendency of factory legislation (as stated by several large employers in Bristol and Gloucester to the present writer), has been to prevent the giving out of work owing to the "inconvenience" of keeping the

lists.—(A. H.)

It is, however, an argument not for relaxing control over workshops, but for strengthening it and extending its area, so that no workroom, however small, should be outside its scope. Difficult as it would be to enforce regulations in such places, enough has been said to show that in some few instances there has been carried on, for some years by the local authorities, as efficient an inspection of workshops and out-workers as the law would allow. This is sufficient proof that if pressure were brought to bear by the central authority on defaulting bodies, these difficulties would no longer be insuperable.

POSTSCRIPT TO CHAPTER XI.

As we believe that the above chapter gives an accurate picture in regard to the state of things existing in 1902-3 we have preferred to leave it for comparison, noting here the changes that have taken place since that date, rather than recast the whole. In the intervening years there can be no doubt that a great advance in administrative efficiency has taken place. Nearly all the large cities and towns and most of the London boroughs have appointed women sanitary inspectors, and in other ways have initiated a more drastic control of industrial sanitary conditions. The factory inspectors are able to record that many local authorities actively co-operate with their efforts to improve sanitary conditions in workplaces. Nevertheless it unfortunately remains true that a proportion of local authorities still neglect their duties in this matter, though the proportion is much less considerable than in 1902. The Factory Inspectors' report for 1909 shows that both the S.W. and S.E. districts are backward in this matter. Many local authorities are slow to recognise the need for exercising the power they possess for sanitary control, and in many small towns and country districts nothing is done except upon recommendation. Ireland is also reported to be exceedingly backward in the matter.

Since 1906 returns have been issued giving statistics of the administration of the Act by local authorities in regard to workshops and out-workers. These returns have shown great discrepancies in the returns of outworkers, and it is not an easy matter to determine how much of the discrepancy is due to the slackness of some local authorities, how much to the inherent difficulties of the case. As one out-worker may work for several employers, it is evident that the lists may contain much repetition, and this may in part account for the disparity that has been noticed in the figures of addresses of out-workers referred to and from other local authorities, as the same out-worker may be counted several times in lists from different employers. and only once by the receiving authorities. Again, the number of inspections of out-workers appears extraordinarily small in the returns relating to certain boroughs, which is, however, partly to be accounted for by the fact that in progressive boroughs where sanitary work is carefully looked after, a good many of the out-workers are visited in the course of ordinary house-to-house sanitary inspection, and an additional visit to them as out-workers may not have been deemed necessary. Also the absence or fewness of notices and orders to unwholesome or infected premises which is remarked in some of the returns, is reported to be due, in many instances, to the fact that the local authority has been able to secure discontinuance of work by verbal instructions, without resorting to more formal procedure. The out-workers' statistics taken by themselves, would certainly justify very pessimistic conclusions, but when interpreted in the light of knowledge from other sources, it becomes plain that these particular returns are an inadequate measure of what is being done. In the more advanced and publicspirited towns great progress is being made, although unfortunately other districts are conspicuously below the standard.

CHAPTER XII.

1903-1910: A RETROSPECT.

I.—The Physical Deterioration Committee. The Laundries Act, 1907.

In the years that have elapsed since the preparation and publication of the above chapters, no Factory Act of first-class importance has been passed, but the movement towards the collective control of industry in the interests of health and efficiency has taken several important steps forward, and there has been a deepening and a strengthening of the sense of public responsibility for the conditions of labour and wages. In 1903 an Interdepartmental Committee was appointed to enquire into the alleged physical deterioration of certain classes of the people. The findings of this Committee were scarcely conclusive, and its recommendations were not particularly drastic. Yet, as a social document, it would be difficult to overestimate its importance. It was, if not widely read, at least widely discussed, it has been used as material for newspaper articles, debated in unnumbered study circles and class meetings, and quoted continually. Miss Anderson's evidence, for instance, telling of the "strain and stress" endured by women working in the textile mills, and her firm belief that it is possible and practicable to conduct factory work without any harm to the persons employed, must have lingered in the minds of many as being at the same time full of warning, yet full of hope.

Miss Anderson also pointed out that while great improvements had been made, especially in the application of exhaust ventilation to the removal of injurious dust, and in remedying defective structural conditions in

factories, an enormous amount of work remained to be done. Greater cleanliness was needed, better ventilation and light, freedom from dust and from extremes of temperature, adequate provision of proper sanitary conveniences, reasonable length of hours, and in order to attain all these, sufficient inspection, and where necessary, amendment and strengthening of the law. Miss Anderson emphasised the point that "progress in health in factory and workshop life is mainly a question of raising the ordinary general hygiene," and in her opinion these general measures of improved hygiene are even more important for the general good, than special regulations for injurious trades.

In regard to conditions as to health in workplaces, it is plain from the inspectors' reports that much remains to be done. "It is deplorable" writes Miss Squire, "how low a standard is still permitted in many towns. Even in cities of world-wide reputations, not only for wealth, but for advancement in civic life, sanitary conveniences are erected which outrage the women's sense of decency and fitness." Miss Paterson writes: "Nothing can exceed the discomfort in which one often finds meals taken, the food often placed on the corner or edge of a work table covered with work. . . . Still worse is the position of those who spend the time in a hot or steamy laundry workroom . . . many laundries have now excellent messrooms, but these seem to be still lacking where they are most required." Miss Perry writes: "Lavatory accomodation is most inadequate." These remarks are taken almost at random from the report for 1909, which includes many other similar and some more serious statements.

Of 331 accidents to women and girls working in laundries, it is stated that a large number might have been altogether avoided if the machines had been properly fenced. Conditions in industrial workplaces are far from ideal, far indeed from what is required for the health, safety and efficiency of our citizens. In practice the

standard is being driven upwards, slowly and surely, and administration is becoming year by year more efficient. The number of "defects notified to sanitary authorities" rose in 1909, but this is probably due to the increased staff and to the absolute rise in the number of inspections. A much needed amendment of the law is the extension of the requirement of washing appliances in factories and workshops generally; it can at present be legally enforced only in certain specified dangerous trades.

In regard to the hours of work, Miss Anderson and other lady inspectors evidently feel strongly that the hours customary in textile trades, combined with high speed and great pressure as to output, are too long for the average worker's health. It is a fact that although non-textile works may legally work half an hour longer than textile mills, yet in practice shorter and easier hours obtain in earthenware and porcelain works, for instance, and in many Birmingham trades, than in either cotton or jute mills. An amendment of the law is needed in order to lessen the strain in those industries where the full legal hours are customarily worked.

In 1907 a Laundries Act was passed which did something to remove the anomalies existing in this trade, which have been noted above (p. 194). Under this Act laundries came under the ordinary law for non-textile factories and workshops, but they are still permitted certain special relaxations in regard to the hours of employment of women. The amount of overtime permitted is, however, considerably restricted by the Act of 1907, 9 o'clock being the latest hour up to which work is permitted, and the women factory inspectors in their report for 1909, note that the number of complaints of excessive hours in laundries has steadily fallen, showing that this fixed limit has facilitated the enforcement of the law, and brought nearer the prospect of a normal day. It is to be regretted, however, that the scheme of hours under this Act is still more complicated than is desirable, in deference to the peculiar difficulties and longstanding irregularities of the trade. It may be hoped that the Act of 1907 will be a step towards the normal day which the experience of generations in regard to other industries has shown to be in the best interests, not only of the workers, but of the trades concerned. Moreover, this industry, being free from the strain of foreign competition, has even less than other trades to fear from regulation and control.

The Act of 1907 included hotel and other laundries carried on as auxiliary to another business or incidentally to the purposes of any public institution. It also placed charitable and reformatory laundries under inspection by the factory inspectors, when not subject to inspection by any other Department, but permitted various modifications in the system of control.

Florists' shops have been recently declared subject to the law of factories and workshops, under a decision of the High Court (Hoare v. Green) in 1907, and a special order was issued allowing a certain amount of overtime, on account of the perishable nature of the material. factory inspectors' Report for 1909 states that, prior to the visits of inspection that have now been made, women and young persons in florists' shops were known to have been employed for cruelly long hours, even from 5 a.m. to 10 p.m., without a weekly half holiday or proper times for meals. Some opposition was raised to the inclusion of florists' shops as workshops within the meaning of the Act, on the ground that the regulation of hours would cause women-workers to be replaced by male foreigners, and it has been urged that still longer overtime should be permitted. On investigation, however, the Home Office officials found that there were no grounds for supposing that the order had caused women to be dismissed and replaced by foreigners. Under the existing

 $^{^{\}rm 1}$ Mr. Masterman's speech in the House of Commons, Times, July 21st, 1910.

law women can be employed from 6 to 6, 7 to 7, or 8 to 8, with two hours overtime during five weeks in the year, provided notice of overtime is sent to the factory inspector on the day on which it is intended overtime should be worked.

In 1910 Mr. Churchill introduced an important Shop Hours Bill, limiting the hours of work, both for men and women to sixty per week, and requiring that an assistant should not be employed after 8 p.m. more than three times a week. It is hoped that this Bill may become law at no distant date.

II.—The Employment of Children Act, 1903.

The period under consideration has been one of especial heart-searching in regard to children. Medical inspection and feeding of school children, technical training to prevent young people drifting into occupations that give no hope or prospect for the future, separate courts of justice for child offenders, measures for the prevention of cruelty, all these questions have assumed increasing importance in the twentieth century, and they are all more or less related to the problem of regulating child labour. The employment of children in street-trading, agriculture, and various forms of home work and casual work, was, until recently, quite unregulated, save indirectly through the operation of the Education Acts. Owing in great measure to an agitation carried on by the late Mrs. Hogg, whose work in this cause should never be forgotten, and also by Sir John Gorst and others, in 1901 an Interdepartmental Committee, consisting of members representing the Home Office, the Board of Education, and the Board of Trade. made a careful and searching enquiry into the subject of wage-earning children. They estimated that at least 200,000 children were employed in these irregular trades, 22,000 being under ten, and no fewer than 5,000 under eight years old. Nearly 18,000 were found to be selling newspapers, or hawking various articles in the streets, their hours of labour varying from ten to seventy per week, and their conditions of employment being often exceedingly bad for their health, morals, and future industrial efficiency. As a result of the disclosures of this committee, aided by the untiring efforts of Sir John Gorst and other workers in the cause, the Employment of Children Act was passed in 1903, prohibiting the employment of children in any occupation likely to be injurious to their physical health and condition or their education. The employment of children between 6 a.m. and 9 p.m. was also prohibited, and their employment in street trading under the age of eleven, was made illegal. Local authorities were given powers to make by-laws to regulate child labour in their own districts. It is not considered that this Act is adequate to meet the evil, and in 1910 a Departmental Committee of the Home Office formally recommended the prohibition of street trading by boys under seventeen and girls under eighteen. The labour of children in cotton factories has been under inspection and control for nearly eighty years, yet even in this case we are beginning to regard the legislation in force as insufficient. In 1844 it was a great step forward that the employment of children should be restricted to "half-time." with a requirement of school attendance in the hours left free. In later years we are inclined to doubt whether elementary schooling thus combined with wage-earning can really achieve its end, and whether the conjoined strain of manual work and learning is not, at such a tender age as twelve or thirteen, injurious to the immature brain and muscles. A vigorous agitation for the abolition of the present half-time employment has been set on foot; the measure was recommended in both the Majority and Minority Reports of the Poor Law Commission, and will probably become law at no very distant date.

III.—Sweated Trades and Trade Boards.

The movement for the regulation of the sweated trades has made good progress since 1903. In the winter, 1905-6, an exhibition of the products of home work was held in Berlin, and information was collected and tabulated for visitors showing the miserable wages obtained by this class of workers. In the following spring the proprietors of the Daily News arranged for a similar exhibition at the Queen's Hall, London. Explanatory notes analysing the rate of pay, hours of work, deductions for material, and average earnings were given in the programme. the case of some industries, workers were retained to do their work before the public. Lectures were given day by day to attentive and sympathetic audiences, describing the conditions of sweated industries, the exploitation of unorganised workers, and suggesting the need for carefully thought-out legislation. Great interest was aroused by this exhibition. In the following October a Conference was held at the Guildhall at which papers were read by many representative economists and persons of expert knowledge on the evils of sweating, and various remedies were suggested. A National Anti-Sweating League was formed to promote legislation against sweating. The House of Commons appointed a Select Committee to consider the matter, and the Home Secretary, Mr. (now Lord) Gladstone, sent Mr. Ernest Aves as a special commissioner to study the wages regulations which had already been in force for several years in some of the Australasian colonies. Mr. Aves' report was uncertain and inconclusive, but the information collected by him was full of interest. It will be convenient at this point to go back a few years and enquire into the origin of wage regulations in Australasia.

In a new country wages are usually expected to be high, owing to the relative scarcity of labour and abundance of land, and there is no doubt that on the whole the manual working class in Australia and New Zealand enjoys and has enjoyed a fair amount of prosperity. "There is nothing in colonial cities as bad, or nearly as bad," Mr. Pember Reeves tells us, "as the slums of New York and London, or as thousands of city spots which are not slums, but which are soulless, ugly, and dispiriting." But it is a fact of observation that comparatively high wages and a high standard of comfort may be enjoyed by the majority in a country and yet avail little or nothing to prevent the growth and development of sweated industries. In the decade between 1881 and 1801, wealth was increasing, population was growing; the workers were believed to have a full share of the general prosperity, yet it was asserted at Melbourne that, although on the surface progress, prosperity and political equality made so fair a show, in reality some of the industrial evils of the old world were already taking root. The Age, the leading Melbourne newspaper, began a crusade against sweating in the "'eighties." In 1882 the women employed in the Melbourne clothing trade struck against intolerable conditions and were aided by public sympathy to form a union, the first women's tradeunion organised in Australia. The facts brought to light by the Age, and the complaints of the work-girls led to the appointment of a Royal Commission to enquire into the relations of employers and employed. This Commission examined into the state of forty trades, and protected witnesses by withholding their names from publication. It did not obtain evidence from the worst class of masters, yet its discoveries were startling enough for those who supposed that, in the colonies at all events, all was well with labour. It is desirable to recall these investigations at the present time, because Mr. Aves, in his report already referred to, evidently inclined to the belief that the comparative absence of sweating at the present time might be accounted for by the generally

¹ W. P. Reeves, "State Experiments in Australia and New Zealand," II., p. 6.

favourable position of labour in the market. According to this report of 1884, however, the hours of labour varied from eight to as many as eighteen for male, and sixteen for female workers. The prices fixed under the factory "log" in the clothing department were systematically undercut by a regular process of giving work to be done outside at starving rates. "The usual trick was played with apprentices; children were taken on to be taught this trade, were paid nothing, and taught little, and were dropped at the end of their three years' term, if they had not been got rid of on some excuse before. . . . Young people were taken on in numbers, to be turned adrift as soon as they grew up and ventured to hint at adults' wages." In 1890 the Age again brought up the subject and declared that "sweating—mean, frowsy, depraved and pitiful—" was carried on in Melbourne, that "overwork, under pay, and wretchedness" were the characteristics of certain industries, and that girls were found stitching in dens for twelve hours a day, earning from two to twelve shillings a week. Nor was this state of affairs confined to Melbourne. Similar investigations yielded similar results in Sydney, Brisbane, Adelaide, Dunedin, and other towns."

These dreary and sordid facts are common to most industrial states. What is special to the Australian colonies is that two of their number, New Zealand and Victoria, have been the first among the governments of the world to make a determined effort to grapple with the enemy. It must first be noted that their factory legislation, which we have not space to describe in detail, is extremely drastic, the eight hours day for women and young persons being the general rule. In New Zealand, men's hours also are restricted to forty-eight per week, with some exceptions. Stringent rules for the inspection

¹ For details, see W. Pember Reeves, "State Experiments," Vol. II., chap. I., and the reports mentioned in our bibliography, infra, p. 275.

of even the smallest workrooms have been in force since the "nineties." In some states the sub-letting of contract work is forbidden and home work is everywhere hedged round with careful restrictions and regulations. Over and beyond these measures, methods of wage regulations have been adopted, which fall into two classes, the wages boards of Victoria, and the Arbitration Act of New Zealand. both of which have been imitated, with some modification, in other states of the Commonwealth. In 1804 the Parliament of New Zealand passed a law creating a compulsory Court of Arbitration, with power to make awards in trade disputes, including the fixing of wages and hours of labour. This machinery, which was primarily designed for the prevention and settlement of labour disputes, is also made use of for the prevention of sweating. The conciliation boards which are set up in each district have authority to fix a minimum wage. The basis of the institution is trade unionism, and it might therefore be supposed that it could do little for unorganised workers, especially women. But in practice it has done much. Where there is no regular trade union, any five workers can join together to form one, and can register without cost. If sweated workers want improvement in the conditions of their work, they have only to file a statement of claim in the office of the nearest conciliation board. Working women have invoked the aid of this Act, though not so often as men. Female typesetters have been declared to be entitled to be paid on the same scale as male printers; women employed in the boot factories have shared in the benefits of the award regulating their work, and the tailoresses of different districts in New Zealand have obtained advances in their wages and improvement of their conditions of work through the Arbitration law. The Victorian Commission on Factory Law which enquired in 1902 said of the New Zealand Conciliation and Arbitration Acts that "they are the fairest, most complete and most useful labour law on the statute books of the Australian States . . . protecting, on the one hand, the fair-minded employer from the dishonest competition of the sweater, who keeps down cost of production by paying miserably low wages, and on the other, the toiling thousands to whom a rise in wages of a few shillings a week when an industry can fairly bear it, often means the difference between griping poverty and comparative comfort."

In Victoria wages regulation was initiated in the Factory Act of 1896, in consequence of the exposure of sweating that had been repeatedly made in the columns of the Age, backed by the agitation of the Victorian Anti-Sweating League. It was enacted that special boards should be appointed to fix wages and piecework rates for persons employed either in or outside a factory, in certain specified trades, the boards to consist of not less than four or more than ten members and a chairman. and to hold office for two years. Half the members were to be representatives of employers and half of employees. This is the method of wages regulation which the Select Committee on Home Work in 1908 decided to recommend rather than the arbitration and conciliation machinery of New Zealand, which was given the palm by the Commission that sat at Melbourne in 1902-3, and which some social reformers would, for various reasons, have preferred to see adopted here.

Mr. Aves' evidence is here of interest. Although himself doubtful of the advisability of setting up machinery of wages regulation in England, he was constrained to admit that "the boards, especially those formed in the women's trades are greatly valued and are widely believed in. . . . The boards have helped both in the home and in the factory, and probably not simply in the trades under them, to set a more certain standard. They are also believed to mark out a point below which, should

¹ Report of Royal Commission on the Factories Law of Victoria, Melbourne, 1902—3.

reaction come, wages will not at least without greater difficulty, fall." The high value set upon this system by the Victorians themselves may be gauged by the rapid increase in the number of boards established. April, 1897, and March, 1908, the number of factories under special boards increased from 273 to 3,272, and the number of employees in board trades has come to be nearly twice as many as the number in non-board trades.1

This marked tendency of the system of wages regulation to grow and expand was scarcely given its full weight by Mr. Aves in his report. It may also be pointed out that while his report tends to explain the present comparative absence of sweating in these colonies by referring it to the expansion of trade, the system of protection, and the comparative scarcity of female labour, rather than to the operation of the legal measures adopted, yet in point of fact sweating had occurred in earlier years, had even been "rampant" in some trades, according to the Victorian Commission, when all those conditions had been present, but wages boards had not yet been adopted. Nearer home, the case of Germany, where sweated industries form a widespread and terrible problem, is a sufficient proof that a great expansion of trade accompanied by drastic protection is not in itself any safeguard whatever against sweating.

Meantime the Select Committee in London were receiving sufficient evidence to convince them of the misery of the sweated workers. They found that "the earnings of a large number of people—mainly women who work in their own homes—are so small as alone to be insufficient to sustain life in the most meagre manner, even when

² Quoted in Report of the Select Committee on Home Work, 1908, p. x.

¹ Aves' Report on the Wages Boards and Industrial Conciliation and Arbitration Acts of Australia and New Zealand, p. 24, Cd. 4,167 of 1908.

they toil hard for extremely long hours. The consequence is that when those earnings are their sole source of income, the conditions under which they live are often not only crowded and insanitary, but altogether pitiable and distressing." Among the causes which bring about this state of things the most notable indicated by the Committee are the weak and unorganised condition of the workers themselves, especially when these are women, as the majority are; and the fierce competition existing among some of the employers. The Committee did not find that to any very considerable extent sweating was due to a deliberate harshness and cruelty on the part of the employers, "grinding the faces of the poor" by inadequate payment, and themselves taking a disproportionate profit. Prices are cut in contract work to the finest point possible, the less reputable employers underbidding their competitors and seeking to recoup themselves by reducing the remuneration of the workers. The Committee received evidence that material differences existed in the rates of payment usually paid by different employers in the same town at the same time for the same work,1 and they were impressed by the testimony they received that most if not indeed all employers would be glad to have fixed a rate of payment and conditions below which neither they nor their competitors should be allowed to go. The Committee also were evidently impressed by the evidence they received that greater improvement in the standard of sanitation could hardly be obtained without a rise of wages. The three conditions, hours, sanitation, and cleanliness are in fact more or less bound together.2 Extreme under-payment induces long hours of work and saps the energy that flight go to maintaining neatness and order. Some patient, much-

¹ Report of Select Committee on Home Work, p. vi., 246 of 1908.

² Compare H. E. Barrault, "Le Travail à domicile en Angleterre," p. 5, and Miss Irwin's "Home Work in Ireland," p. 26.

enduring home-workers do wonders in this way, but it is too much to expect of the average man or woman.1

The Select Committee, after nearly two years' deliberation and taking evidence, arrived at the conclusion that the balance of evidence showed the desirability of wages regulation, and they recorded the opinion that it was as legitimate to establish by law a minimum standard of remuneration as it is to establish such a standard of sanitation, cleanliness, ventilation, air-space, and hours of work. If a trade will not yield an income "sufficient to enable those who earn it to secure at any rate the necessaries of life . . . it is a parasitic trade, and it is contrary to the general well-being that it should continue. Experience, however, teaches that the usual result of (such) legislation . . . is not to kill the industry but to reform it. Low-priced labour is a great obstacle to improvement. It discourages invention and removes or prevents the growth of a great stimulus to progress and efficiency."2

The Committee, therefore, made a definite recommendation for setting up special machinery for regulating the wages of sweated home workers in certain trades, the Secretary of State to be given power after enquiry to establish similar machinery in other trades. The special measures recommended by the Committee were based, in their broad outline, on the Wages Boards of Victoria, Australia, which had already been adopted as the model of Sir Charles Dilke's Wages Boards Bill.3 The wage boards were to be established for certain specific trades, and were to consist of representatives of employers and employed in equal numbers, with a chairman chosen by the members, or failing agreement, by the Home Secretary. The special suggestion formulated by the Select Committee was that in order to overcome the difficulty

¹ See Miss Squire's evidence before the Select Committee on Home Work, especially queries 1101, 1103.

² Select Committee on Home Work, 1908, p. xiv.

³ See above, p. 220.

of arriving at a "fair" or "living" wage, which must necessarily, in the case of home workers, be expressed in piece rates, the wages boards should be required in every case first of all to formulate a general minimum rate of time payment for an average home worker, and secondly, to agree on minimum piece rates which would enable an average worker to earn not less than the equivalent of the minimum time rate.

This definite recommendation of wages regulation by a Committee of the House of Commons came almost as a surprise to some of those who had been watching and hoping for some measure of the kind so long that they could scarcely believe in its realisation at a near date. The projected Bill to establish wage boards was made a Government measure. Instead of being entrusted to the Home Office, however, as recommended in the report, the Bill was re-drafted by the Board of Trade and introduced by Mr. Winston Churchill. It passed both Houses in 1909 with the minimum of opposition, and came into force on January 1st, 1910.

The difficulty of devising any machinery of election of representatives to the boards has resulted in the adoption of a scheme whereby the Board of Trade selects representatives of both employers and employed from among names supplied by the two parties respectively. The Board of Trade also itself appoints some members, who must be fewer than half the number of representative members, and has power, if it deems that either party, the employers or the employed, is inadequately represented on the trade board, to nominate additional representative members, not to exceed four, two for each side. Women are eligible, and where women are largely employed, one appointed member must be a woman. administration rests with the officers of the trade boards, but the factory inspectors are instructed to co-operate with these last by informing them of any contravention they may notice in the course of ordinary inspection, and by forwarding any complaint they may receive to the proper quarter.

The four trades first scheduled were chain-making, box-making, lace-mending and finishing, and the making of ready-made clothing. In the chain-making a wages board was at once started and began its enquiry and negotiations early in 1910. This trade being localised in a small area and comparatively free from foreign competition, presents fewer difficulties than the more scattered trades. Its problems therefore are relatively simple, and it thus offers a good field for experiment. The home workers in this trade have been recognised for years as being among the worst cases of sweating, the women quite commonly receiving no more than 5s. or 5s. 6d. for a hard week's work. The women, however, were in a measure organised, and their organisation was able to select the persons who should represent them on the board. Subsequently, when the Board of Trade called a meeting to elect workers' representatives, the candidates chosen by the union were voted for by the women almost en bloc. The first determination was published in March and amounted to an increase of not less than 100 per cent. for many of the women, 11s. 3d. being agreed upon as the standard time rate for a week of fifty-four hours. It is as yet too early for any definite information as to the good or ill-success of the measure. There will doubtless be difficulties of administration, and there is likely to be some unemployment due to the fact that there was a rush of orders in 1909 by dealers who feared they might have to pay higher prices under the new régime. this need not be more than a temporary dislocation. experience of the past has taught us that a rise in wages does not always mean a rise in prices. One especially hopeful feature in the situation is that women in the industries affected are taking heart to join their trade unions, some of which have received large accessions of members. A frequent objection to wages regulation has been that it would be useless in unorganised trades which are the very ones that need it most. The actual fact seems to be that the prospect of wages regulation is encouraging organisation by giving these poor workers the sense of some public support at their back.¹

The Box Board, the Lace Board, and the Wholesale Tailoring Board did not hold their first meetings until late in 1910. The difficulties in these trades will in some respects be greater than in the strongly localised chainmaking, but the work of organisation is being pushed forward by the Anti-Sweating League and the Women's Trade Union League. In the last resort the success of the Act will depend on whether the workers can be roused to co-operate in the administration of the law, and the experience of 1909—10 has been unexpectedly favourable in stimulating a class of workers hitherto especially helpless and isolated to a new sense of fellowship and solidarity.

IV .- International Conventions on Labour Conditions.

International labour regulation has been the dream of social reformers for nearly a century. In the early days of the factory reform movement those who advocated shorter hours and improved conditions of work were invariably confronted with the bugbear of foreign competition. In the long run, no doubt, as most economists have come to believe, industries are not weakened but actually strengthened in their capacity to brave the struggle for existence by improved conditions of labour, which tend to increase the efficiency both of employers, and employed, but there is no denying that there may temporarily be some difficulty in introducing factory regulations which are conspicuously beyond the standard

¹ See Fourth Annual Report of the Anti-Sweating League, 34, Mecklenburgh Square.

The case for a minimum wage, both theoretical and practical, has been stated in "Industrial Democracy," by S. and B. Webb; and also in "Socialism and National Minimum (Fifield, 6d.) See also "Sweated Industry" by Clementina Black, for a simpler and more popular exposition.

of a foreign competitor, not to mention that the nervousness and irritation of employers are in themselves evils to be avoided. The fears of the trade, whether well or ill-founded, are a drag and a hindrance to the statesman. who may find himself confronted with the dilemma. whether to stand by and see the physique and morale of our workers deteriorated by bad conditions and long hours, or to run the risk of temporarily raising the cost of production, and so perhaps injuring the industry and therewith the workers. It has therefore long been felt that the ideal to aim at is that the industrial states should have an agreement among themselves as to the broad lines of their factory legislation and similar measures for the protection of workers. In 1818 Robert Owen advocated international limitation of the working day. Other manufacturers of enlightened aims have urged the measure, which was brought before the Congrès International de Bienfaisance by Hahn, at Brussels, in 1856. In 1857 the congress passed a resolution in favour of international regulation of the hours of work, which has been agitated for on various occasions more recently.

In the "'eighties" the Swiss Federal Government made considerable efforts to promote international labour agreements and arranged a conference to be held at Berne in May, 1890, when Europe was astonished by the rescript suddenly issued by the Kaiser, Wilhelm II., calling a conference at Berlin two months earlier, viz., in March, 1890. The reforms advocated by his Imperial Majesty in the rescript were sufficiently advanced to be denominated State Socialism. In the conference actually held at Berlin, however, no binding agreements were registered. The proposals formulated were not of a very drastic nature, the most notable being the recommendation to prohibit child labour underground in mines, under the age of fourteen, and in manufactories, under twelve; and to prohibit the employment of women within a month after their confinement. The latter resolution was adopted in the English Factory Act the following year. The prohibition of child labour under twelve did not become law in the United Kingdom until 1901. Considerable advances have, in the intervening period, been made towards international co-operation in factory legislation. In 1900 the International Association for Labour Legislation was founded as the result of a conference held at Paris, and has done active propaganda work ever since.

In 1906 two important conventions regulating conditions of labour were concluded. The first of these, signed by practically all European States, prohibits the night work of women in industry. The second, concluded by Denmark, France, Germany, Holland, Italy, Luxembourg and Switzerland, prohibits the use of yellow phosphorus in the manufacture of matches, and the sale of matches manufactured with yellow phosphorus in those countries. Great Britain in 1906 declined to sign the latter of the two conventions, but has more recently fallen into line. The prohibition of night work for women was already law in regard to factories and workshops in this country, and all that was necessary was the passing of a short Employment of Women Act (7 Edw. VII., c. 10) repealing a trifling exemption in regard to flax-scutch mills and work above ground in coal mines, which had hitherto been permitted. The manufacture, sale, and importation of matches made with white phosphorus was prohibited in an Act passed December 21st, 1908 (8 Edw. VII., c. 42). The Conference at which these conventions were concluded was called by the Swiss Government at the suggestion of the International Association for Labour Legislation. This Association has it's Central Office and Executive at Basle, a national section in most European countries and in the U.S.A. It causes reports to be prepared and circulated on special points concerning labour legislation. It publishes a bulletin containing a record of all factory laws and other laws concerning labour, with a bibliography of official documents, books and pamphlets on the same subject. It continually brings before the Governments concerned the need and desirability of International agreements. Conferences are held every two years and discuss important questions relating to labour law and the deliberations of these Conferences pave the way for future International Agreement. Even when the question is one not ripe for international treatment, the meeting of experts for study and comparison of what is being done in different countries is both stimulating and salutary. Nor need we doubt that the very interesting Conference held by the Anti-Sweating League in London. 1908, at which papers on the subject of home work and the minimum wage were read by M. Fontaine (Director of the Labour Department of France) and M. Vandervelde. (Leader of the Socialist Party in the Belgian Parliament). had an influence on the decision of our Government to initiate wage regulation in sweated trades. It was brought out at this Conference that in this, as in other questions of social reform, international action becomes possible only when some individual nation has led the way, and it was stated that the results of our Wages Boards Bill would be watched in France and Germany with a sympathetic interest. At the Lucerne Conference of the International Association, 1908, great interest was evinced by the representatives of some foreign powers in our trade boards proposals, and the very brief experience of the working of trade boards which had been attained before the Lugano Conference in September, 1910, was carefully considered at that meeting. A resolution was passed recommending the establishment of wages boards, similar to those provided for in the British Act, with power to fix minimum rates for home workers in certain industries, payment of the prescribed rates to be enforced by inspectors. The Lugano Conference, it may also be noted, was the first occasion on which the British Government was officially represented at a meeting of the International Association for Labour Legislation.

APPENDIX A.

ORDERS IN COUNCIL.

THE power to issue Orders dealing with factory legislation was first given to the Secretary of State by the Factory Extension Act, and the Workshop Regulation Act of 1867. Owing to the extension of the Factory Acts to trades hitherto unregulated, it was found impossible to apply one uniform code of regulations to all factories and workshops. The peculiarities of different trades had to be taken into consideration, and some relaxation allowed in certain cases. For this purpose the Secretary of State was authorised to issue Orders modifying the general provisions of the Factory and Workshop Acts "on proof to his satisfaction that the customs or exigencies of trade" required some alteration to be made. But, although the Home Secretary might apply the Orders to any trade, the modifications allowed by the Act of 1867 were definitely laid down in that Act. Overtime was permitted in any trade by Order. The Secretary of State was enabled to sanction the employment of male young persons not under 16 as if they were over 18 years of age, or for 15 hours a day on 72 days in the year (30 & 31 Vict. c. 146, Schedule I. (9), an 30 Vict. c. 103, Schedule (11)).

Night work of male young persons might also be allowed by Order in any trade (30 & 31 Vict. c. 146, Schedule (7)).

The Secretary of State was empowered to authorise the substitution of 7 a.m. to 7 p.m. and 8 a.m. to 8 p.m., as the legal working day, instead of 6 a.m. to 6 p.m. (30 & 31 Vict. c. 103, Schedule (12)).

He might also, by Order, allow the substitution of eight half-holidays for the legal four whole holidays in the year, or allow holidays to be taken on different days by different sets of children, young persons, and women. Orders might be issued modifying the regulations with regard to the fencing of machinery where it appeared that this was necessary, and could be done with due regard to the safety of protected persons (Schedule (25)).

The Home Secretary had power to extend the list of factories in which children, young persons, and women were allowed to remain in the work-room during meal-times, and in which the meal-times need not be the same for all the young persons employed (Schedule (16)).

The number of modifications permissible was increased by

subsequent amending Acts.

In 1870 the Home Secretary was authorised to extend to any trade the permission to employ children, young persons, and women for an additional half-hour when engaged in an

incomplete process (33 & 34 Vict. c. 62, Schedule).

In 1871 power was given to the Home Secretary to exempt Crown establishments from the Factory and Workshops Acts in case of any public emergency, and to permit the employment of young persons above 14, and women, for 14 hours a day in brickmaking and in trades depending on the weather, or subject to seasonal fluctuations (34 & 35 Vict. s. 10, and Schedule I.).

In 1876 the Commissioners appointed to inquire into the working of the Factory and Workshops Acts, went into the question of regulation by Order, and in their Report they say:—

"When modifications are accumulated in such number and variety as in the present Factory Acts, the whole law assumes a character of complexity and difficulty which is apt to be taken to justify its neglect. These evils are aggravated when. as in most cases under the existing law, the relaxation is granted at the option virtually of the inspectors of factories, the officials who are charged with enforcing the law. . . . The circumstances of different trades are too various and complex to allow us to dispense with all special relaxations of the law. We have endeavoured, however, in the course of our inquiry to discover in what particulars the existing multitude of them might be diminished. All those of which we shall recommend the retention should, we think, be granted in each case upon some intelligible principle which should be embodied in the law, and should in all respects, so far as possible, be made statutory. For this purpose each relaxation should be granted, if granted at all, generally to the trade at large, and not to individual employers. The trades to which it seems proper to extend it should be specified in a schedule, and the reason for which it is granted to them should be embodied in the Act. Power might then be reserved, we think with advantage, to the Secretary of State to extend the relaxation to other trades and processes in which

the same reason could be shown to exist as is specified in the Act in respect of the scheduled trades. Such cases are not likely to be frequent, and should be narrowly scrutinised before the concession is made. We recommend that this power should be exercised by Orders to be laid on the table of both Houses of Parliament, and only to have the force of law, if not objected to by either House, within a certain number of days. By this means we expect that provision can be made for the unforeseen exigencies of particular trades, while at the same time the use of all relaxations will be restricted to cases of absolute necessity."1

These recommendations were embodied in the Act of 1878. The modifications were given in the form of statutory enactments. The lists of trades and processes to which they applied were in most cases given in the schedules to the Act, and the Secretary of State merely had power to extend those modifications by Order to other trades and processes in which similar conditions prevailed.

The Factory Bill of 1900 contained clauses which, if passed, would have invested the Home Secretary with powers which have hitherto been exercised only by Parliament.

It was proposed to repeal the whole of the existing law relating to laundries, and to substitute for the statutory enactments of 1895 a system under which the Home Secretary could, by Order, "apply to laundries . . . the provisions of the Factory Acts, or any of them, subject to such modifications as may, in his opinion, be necessary for adapting those provisions to the circumstances of the case."2

It was also proposed to repeal Schedules II. and III. of the Act of 1878, and leave it to the Home Secretary to decide what classes of factories and workshops were to be subject to

special restrictions and exemptions.3

The whole tendency of the Bill of 1900 was, in fact, to substitute a system of Order by the Home Secretary for statutory enactments, and thus revert to the state of things which prevailed between 1867 and 1878, and was condemned by the Commissioners of 1876.

The Factory Act of 1901, however, adheres to the principle laid down in the Act of 1878; and the Home Secretary's power is practically confined to that of extending certain definite modifications to specified industries.

¹ H. C. 1876. XXX. p. xxxvi.

² Factory Bill, 1900, sec. 21. 3 Ibid., sec. 36.

The Orders which may be issued under the Act of 1901 may be divided into—

I. Orders extending Regulations.

II. Orders varying Regulations. III. Orders relaxing Regulations.

I. Orders extending Regulations.—The most noteworthy example of the Home Secretary's power to extend regulations is in the case of dangerous trades. He may, by Order, certify any trade to be dangerous or injurious to health or dangerous to life or limb, and require special rules to be enforced for the protection of the persons employed. These rules may include regulations prohibiting the employment of, or modifying, or limiting the period of employment for all or any class of persons engaged in dangerous processes (I Edw. VII. c. 22, ss. 79-83).

The Home Secretary has also power to extend the list of notifiable diseases occurring in factories or workshops (sec. 73).

The following regulations may, by Order, be extended to

other manufactures or processes :--

Section 78, which prohibits a child, young person, or woman from taking meals, or remaining during meal-times in factories or workshops where certain dangerous or unhealthy processes are carried on.

Section 116, which requires particulars of work and wages

to be given by the employer.

The Secretary of State is also authorised to issue Orders requiring the adoption of special sanitary regulations as a condition of the exceptional employment of a child, young person, or woman, either during overtime or at night, and this includes the power to fix the total number of hours of employment in each week, the periods of employment, and the intervals between such periods, which are to be the conditions of the employment of women and young persons at night (sec. 58).

For the prevention of overcrowding, Orders may be issued increasing the amount of cubic space required for each person in any particular manufacturing process, or for any period during which artificial light, other than electric light, is used

(sec. 3).

The Home Secretary has also power to direct that thermometers be provided (sec. 6). and that a specific standard of ventilation be maintained in any class of factories or workshops (sec. 7), and may require certificates of fitness of young persons for employment in certain classes of workshops (sec. 66).

The regulations with regard to lists of outworkers, and the giving out of work, may be extended by Order to other trades (secs. 107, 108, 110).

II. ORDERS VARYING REGULATIONS.—The following variations may be allowed by Order of the Secretary of State when it is "proved to his satisfaction" that "the customs or exigencies of the trade" require that some alteration should be made.

Employment may be taken between the hours of 9 a.m. and 9 p.m. (sec. 36).

The Saturday half-holiday may be replaced by a half-holiday on some other day of the week (sec. 43).

The yearly holidays may be given on different days to different sets of children, young persons, and women (sec. 45).

The table in the Cotton Cloth Factories Act, which prescribes the maximum limits of humidity allowed, may be varied, or it may be repealed and a new table substituted for it (sec. 91).

III. Orders Relaxing Regulations.—The modifications as to overtime and night work in the Act of 1901 differ from those in the Act of 1867 in this important particular—that, instead of leaving it entirely to the discretion of the Home Secretary to decide when these exceptions shall be granted, the Act of 1901 embodies the modifications in statutory enactments, and in Schedule II. a list is given of the factories and workshops to which the modifications apply. The modifications may then be extended by the Secretary of State to similar classes of factories and workshops in which overtime is required owing to press of work, the perishable nature of the goods, incomplete processes, or the loss of time in factories driven by water power (secs. 49-52). Thus, wherever possible, modifications and exceptions are embodied in the Act, and the power of the Home Secretary to issue Orders is reserved for cases which could not be foreseen at the time of the passing of the Act.

The same principle is followed out in the case of the special exceptions. Wherever possible, a certain definite limit is laid down beyond which the modification cannot be increased.

The following are examples:-

Section 39, which permits a spell of five hours' work in textile factories under certain conditions. This may by Order be extended to other textile factories when the customary habits of the persons employed therein require the extension thereto of this exception, and if it can be granted without injury to health.

Section 40, which allows exception to the requirement that meal-times should be simultaneous, and meals not taken in a room where a manufacturing process is carried on. The Home Secretary has power to extend this exemption to other trades when special circumstances require, and he is satisfied that it can be done without injury to the persons employed.

Section 114, which exempts from the definition of a workshop a private house or room in which members of the same family are employed in certain handicrafts. This exemption may be extended by Order to other handicrafts when owing to their light character it seems expedient to do so.

The following are the cases in which exemptions are not embodied in the Factory Act, but may be allowed by Order:—

Section I, which provides for the limewashing of factories. This may be relaxed by the Home Secretary in any class of factories where it appears that the Factory Act requirements as to cleanliness can be observed, without these regulations.

Section 46, which prohibits employment inside and outside the factory or workshop on the same day. The Home Secretary may grant an exception to this regulation when it is proved to his satisfaction that the customs or exigencies of a trade require that it should be exempted.

In the case of creameries, the Secretary of State may by Order vary the beginning and end of the daily period of employment of the women and young persons, and the times allowed for their meals, and may allow their employment for not more than three hours on Sundays and holidays, provided that the Order shall not permit any excess over the daily or weekly maximum number of hours of employment allowed by the Act (sec. 42).

The arbitrary use of the power of the Home Secretary to issue Special Orders is guarded against by the requirement that all Orders shall be laid as soon as possible before both Houses of Parliament, and if within forty days either House resolves that the Order ought to be annulled, it shall, after that date, be of no effect.

APPENDIX B.

SELECT BIBLIOGRAPHY OF ACTS OF PARLIAMENT, REPORTS, AND OTHER DOCUMENTS RELATING TO FACTORY LEGISLATION.

I.—THE PRINCIPAL FACTORY ACTS.

- 1802. 42 Geo. III., c. 73. The Health and Morals of Apprentices Act. (Repealed 1878.)
- 1819. 59 Geo. III., c. 66. An Act for the Regulation of Cotton Mills and Factories. (Repealed 1831.)
- 1833. 3 & 4 Will. IV., c. 103. An Act to Regulate the Labour of Children and Young Persons in Mills and Factories. (Repealed 1878.)
- 1844. 7 & 8 Vict., c. 15. An Act to amend the Laws relating to Labour in Factories. (Repealed 1878.)
- 1847. 10 & 11 Vict., c. 29. An Act to limit the Hours of Labour of Young Persons and Females in Factories. (Repealed 1874.)
- 1864. 27 & 28 Vict., c. 48. The Factory Acts Extension Act. (Repealed 1878.)
- 1867. 30 & 31 Vict., c. 103. The Factory Acts Extension Act. (Repealed 1878.)
- —— 30 & 31 Vict., c. 146. The Workshops Regulation Act. (Repealed 1878.)
- 1874. 37 & 38 Vict., c. 44. An Act to make better Provision for improving the Health of Women, Young Persons and Children employed in Manufactures. (Repealed 1878.)
- 1878. 41 & 42 Vict., c. 16. An Act to Consolidate and amend the Law relating to Factories and Workshops. (Repealed 1901.)

- 1891. 54 & 55 Vict., c. 75. An Act to amend the Law relating to Factories and Workshops. (Repealed 1901.)
- 1895. 58 & 59 Vict., c. 37. An Act to amend and extend the Law relating to Factories and Workshops. (Repealed 1901.)
- 1901. I Edw. VII., c. 22. Factory and Workshop Consolidation Act.

II.—PARLIAMENTARY REPORTS AND PAPERS.*

- Report of Select Committee on Factory Children's Labour. (Known as "Sadler's Committee.") H.C., 1831-2, XV.
- Reports of Commissioners on Employment of Children in Factories. H.C., 1833, XX. & XXI., and 1834, XIX. & XX.
- Reports of Commissioners on Employment of Children in Trades and Manufactures not already regulated by law, viz., Potteries, Lucifer Matches, Fustian-cutting, Lace and Hosiery Machinery, Chimney sweeping. H.C., 1863, XVIII.

Lace, Hosiery, etc., H.C., 1864, XXII.

Metal Manufactures, H.C., 1864, XXII.

Metal and other trades, H.C., 1865, XX.

Printing and miscellaneous trades, H.C., 1866, XXIV.

Agriculture, H.C., 1867, XVI.

- Report to the Local Government Board on Proposed Changes in Hours and Ages of Employment in Textile Factories, H.C., 1873, LV.
- Report of Commissioners appointed to inquire into the working of the Factory and Workshops Acts with a view to their consolidation and amendment. H.C., 1876, XXIX, XXX.

^{*} The Roman numerals indicate the reference to the bound volumes in the British Museum,

- Reports of Select Committee of the House of Lords on the Sweating System. H.L., 1888, XX. & XXI., 1889, XIII. & XIV.
- Reports of the Royal Commission on Labour. H.C., 1892, XXXIII.-XXXVI., and 1893, XXXII-XXXIX.
- Reports on the Employment of Women, by the Assistant Lady Commissioners. H.C., 1803-4, XXXVII.
- Minority Report of the Labour Commission, 1894, XXXV.
- Report of the Inter-Departmental Committee on Employment of Children during School Age, 1902, XXV. (Cd. 849 and 895.)
- Report of Inter-Departmental Committee on Physical Deterioration, 1904, XXXII. (Cd. 2175, 2210, 2186.)
- Report of the Select Committee on Home Work, 246 of 1908. (See also Minutes of Evidence printed in 1907, VI., (290 of 1907.)
- Report of Departmental Committee on Street Trading by Children. (Cd. 5229 and 5330, 1910.)
- Annual Reports of Factory Inspectors, 1834-77.
- Annual Report of H.M. Chief Inspector of Factories and Workshops, commencing 1878.
- Annual Reports of H.M. Lady Inspectors, commencing 1893, are included with the above.
- The Labour Gazette. Published monthly by the Board of Trade, price id.
 - For information on Wages-Regulation in Australasia, the following should be consulted:
- Report on Compulsory Conciliation and Arbitration Laws, by Judge Backhouse, Judicial Commissioner, Sydney, N.S.W., 1901.
- Report of Royal Commission on Factories Law of Victoria, Melbourne, 1902-3.
- Report to the Home Secretary on the Wages Boards and Industrial Conciliation and Arbitration Acts of Australia and New Zealand. By Ernest Aves, 1908. (Cd. 4167.)
- Annual Reports of Factory Inspectors in the several States.

III.--MISCELLANEOUS.*

- THACKRAH, C. T. The Effects of the Principal Arts, Trades, and Professions on Health and Longevity. London, 1831, 1039, 1.28.
- KAY, J. P. The Moral and Physical Condition of the Working Classes employed in the Cotton Manufacture in Manchester. London, 1832. 8276, de. 13 (10).
- GASKELL, P. The Manufacturing Population of England. London, 1833. 1027, i. 13.
- URE, A. The Philosophy of Manufactures. London, 1835 2502. i. 13.
- OASTLER, R. Slavery in Yorkshire. Bradford, 1835. 10347, f. II (2).

 Also many other pamphlets.
- Baines, E. History of the Cotton Manufacture. London, 1836. 1044, g. 23.
- GASKELL, P. Artisans and Machinery. London, 1836. 712, c. 14.
- FIELDEN, J. Curse of the Factory System. London, 1836. T. 2134 (5).
- OASTLER, R. Fleet Papers. London, 1841-3. P.P. 3378.
- "Alfred" (i.e., S. Kydd). History of the Factory Movement. London, 1857. 8282, d. 44.
- OWEN, Robert. The Life of Robert Owen. By Himself. London, 1857-8. 10826, e. 14.
- GRANT, P. The Ten Hours' Bill. The History of Factory Legislation. Manchester, 1866. 08277, g. 4.
- MARX, K. Das Kapital. Hamburg, 1867. (English Translation by Marx and Aveling, 1886.)
- PLENER, E. V. English Factory Legislation. With an introduction by A. J. Mundella. London, 1873. 8276, bb. 35.
- REDGRAVE, A. The Factory and Workshop Act. London, 1878. 6426. de. 2.
 (Repeatedly revised and re-issued, brought up to date.)
- * When possible, the press mark in the British Museum Catalogue is given.

- PODMORE, F. Robert Owen: A Biography. London, 1906. 10827. df. 17.
- BARRAULT, H. E. La Réglementation du Travail à Domicile en Angleterre. Paris. Larose. 1906.
- CADBURY, E. and SHANN, G. Sweating. (Social Service Handbooks.) is. 1907. 08282. f.
- BLACK, C. Sweated Industry and the Minimum Wage-Duckworth. 1907. 3s. 6d. 08275. a. 41.
- Tuckwell, G. M. and Smith, C. The Worker's Handbook. Duckworth, 1908. 2256. d.
- OLIVER, Sir T., M.D. Diseases of Occupation. Methuen, London, 1908.
- British Association for Labour Legislation. Report on the Administration of Labour Laws in the United Kingdom. 4, Bloomsbury Square, London. 1908. 6d.
- Webb, Miss B. L. Hutchins, and the Fabian Society. Fifield, 1909. 6d.

The Bulletin of the International Labour Office. Quarterly. 8s. per annum.

(Includes a summary of Labour Legislation throughout the World, with bibliography of works and articles dealing with the subject. To be obtained from the British Association for Labour Legislation, 4, Bloomsbury Square.)

- Current movements in regard to women's labour and legislation relating thereto can be followed in:
- "Women's Industrial News." Quarterly. Published by the Women's Industrial Council, 7, John Street, Adelphi. 2s. 6d. per annum, post free.
- "The Women's Trade Union Review." Quarterly. Published by the Women's Trade Union League, 34, Mecklenburgh Square. Is. 6d, per annum, post free.

INDEX.

| ABSTRACT OF THE ACT to be hung | Agricultural Labourers' Condition |
|---------------------------------|------------------------------------|
| up in Factory, 32, 87 | under the Corn Laws, 62 |
| Accidents: | Anderson, Miss, 253 |
| List of accidents to be kept at | Anomalies in the Law, 235 |
| Factory, 248 | Anti-Sweating League, 259, 269, |
| Machinery, see Fencing | 272 |
| Acidulated drink in white lead | Apprentices: |
| works, 202 | Act of 180216, 20 |
| Acts, see Factory Acts | Cruelty to, 6, 14 |
| Administration of the Law: | Dressmakers, 162 |
| Administrative Machinery, | Hand-loom Weavers, 20 |
| 1867—1902, 223 | Statute of Apprentices, I |
| Difficulties of, 71 | Arbitration in Machinery Fencing |
| Adult Labour: | Cases, 113, 118, 152 |
| Macaulay's Opposition to | Arguments against Legislation, 24, |
| regulation of, 53 | 62, et seq., Chap. IX |
| Men's Labour, Restrictions | Arkwright, Robert, 26, 29 |
| upon, 109, 110, 167 | Arlidge, Dr., 209 |
| Reduction of Children's and | Artificial Flower and Feather |
| Young Person's Hours, | Making, 165 note |
| alleged effects on Adult | Ashley, Evelyn, 186 |
| Labour, 48, 80, 97, 108. | Ashley, Lord, 34, 34 note, 46, 54, |
| Uniform Working Day for | 61, 87, 93, 99, 102 |
| Adults and Children, 59. | Bill of 183338, 41 |
| Women's Employment, see | Bleaching Works Bill, 1854, |
| that Title | 92, 133 |
| Women's Rights Agitation, | Fencing Machinery, Penalties |
| 189 | for Neglect suggested by,38 |
| Age of Employment: | Mines, Exclusion of Women |
| Eight years, 85, 177 | and Children from, 82 |
| Nine years, 24, 41 | Motion against Poulett |
| Ten years, 176, 177 | Thompson's Bill, 1836, 59 |
| Eleven years, 211 | Print Works Bill, 1845129 |
| Twelve years, 271 | Relay System, proposed Bill, |
| Public Entertainments, in, | 1850105 |
| 248 | Ten Hours Bills, 55, 60, 69 |
| Street Trading, in, 258 | Tour in Manufacturing Dis- |
| Birth Certificates for, 72, 74, | tricts, 184164 |
| Boys at night, of, 195 | Asquith, H. H., 191, 195 |
| Medical Opinions on, 25 | Aves, Ernest, 259, 263, 264 |
| Modern View, 258 | |
| Owen's View, 21 | " Back-Tenting" in Print Works, |
| Agricultural Gangs, Employment | 124 |
| in, 165 note | Bailey, William, 6 |

Baillie, Dr., 25 Baines, Edward, 90 Bakehouses, Regulation and Control of, 247 and note CADBURY'S Baker, Robert, 230 Balfour, Gerald, 195 Bargaining, Unequal, between Employer and Workman, 33 Barrault, H. E., 265 note Bath-rooms in White Lead Factories, 202 Baumann, A. A., 216 Baxter, W. E., 137 Bayley, Thomas, 116 Beesly, E. S., 175 note Berlin Conference, 210, 270 Berlin Exhibition, 259 Birmingham Chamber of Commerce Meeting, 1867..172 Birmingham City Council, Inspection of Workshops after Lancet Report, 1888..237 Birth Certificates, 72, 74 shops, 215 Black, C., 269 note Blackburn, Miss, 184 Blane, Sir Gilbert, 25 Bleaching and Dye Works: Chap. VII Bon-bon and Christmas Present Making, Overtime allowed for, 181 Boot and Shoe Makers, Overtime Title allowed to, 181 Booth, Charles, 201, 214 Borough Councils, Shop Hours Act Inspectors appointed by, 134 Boucherett, Jessie, 193 note Box Board, 269 Bradford Meeting, 1833, Ten Hours Bill, 56 Braun, Lily, 185 note Brickfields, Employment in, 165 Bridges, Dr., 173, 176, 210 Bright, John, 69, 90, 95 British Association, Economic Section, Président's Address, 1861..122 Brotherton, Joseph, 46 Brougham, Lord, 138 Browne, Dr. Crichton, 175 note Lace Manufacture, 141—143 Bruce, H. A., 154 Leeds Resolutions, 1831—48 Bull, Rev. G. S., 34, 46, 56, 59 Mines and Collieries, 81 Burnett, Mr., 213 note Night Work, 12, 150

Butt, Isaac, 133 Button Manufacture, 159 note Buxton, Sydney, 210, 250 note Works, Hours Work in, 198 "Calendering" in Bleaching and Dye Works, Act of 1863..139 Calico Print Works, Conditions of Employment in, 123 Cellars, Hand-loom Weaving in, Certificates of Birth, 72, 74 Certifying Surgeons: Age of Children to be certified by, 73 Appointed by Inspectors, 86 Duplicate Certificates for Prevention of Fraud, 74 Unqualified, 73 Chadwick, Edwin, 40 Chain and Nail Makers' Work-Chainmakers' Board, 268 Chamberlain, Arthur, 180, 198 Chamberlain, Joseph, 188, 190, Chartist Movement, 61 Childbirth, Employment of Women after, Restriction of, 200 Children's Employment: Age of Employment, see that Apprentices, see that Title Bleaching and Dye Works, Child Labour in the 18th Century, 3 Commissions, see that Title Committees, see that Title Cotton Mills circ., 1819..19 Depression of Wages caused by employing Children, 26 Dressmaking, 162 Early Reforms, 11 Education, see that Title Evasions of the Law, 37, 74 Half-time System, 22, 76, 85, Hardware Manufacture, 158 Hosiery Manufacture, 156-7

| Children's Employment—continued | Commissions, Royal—continued. |
|---------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------|
| Non-textile Factories and | Factory Acts Consolidation, |
| Workshops, 1863—67150 | 1876176 |
| Normal Day Agitation, 107, | Labour, 1893—94, 201 |
| III | Trades, Unregulated, 1863— |
| Overcrowding and Unhealthy | |
| Conditions of Work, 1797, | 67, 145, 150 |
| II | Committees, House of Commons |
| | and Departmental: Bleaching and Dye Works, |
| Print Works, 123 Public Entertainments, 248 | |
| | 1857—58136, 137 |
| Silk Mills, Act of 183341 | Dangerous Trades, 1896—97, |
| Straw-plaiting, 155 | 203 Factory Children |
| System of two sets, 55 | Factory Children: |
| Street-trading, in, 258 | 1816 (Peel's), 14, 20, 21, 25 |
| Textile Factories, 1873 174 | 1831 (Sadler's), 34, 39n, |
| Uniform Working Day for | 44", 49, 51 |
| Children and Adults, 59 | Home Work, 259, 264-7 |
| Warehouses, etc., other than | Lead Industries, 1893—94, |
| Factories, 145 | 192, 203 |
| Workshops Regulation Act, | Mills and Factories Regula- |
| 1867169 | tion, 184076, 79 |
| Churchill, Rt. Hon. Winston, | Shop Hours, 1886221 |
| 267 | Committees, House of Lords: |
| Cleaning Machinery: | Factory Children, 1819 25, 26 |
| Children Cleaning during | Sweating System, 1888190, |
| Mealtimes, 31 | 191, 201, 211, 214, 240 |
| Moving Machinery, Cleaning | Competition by Unscrupulous |
| of, prohibited, 85 | Manufacturers, Results of, 81, |
| Women Cleaning Machinery | 83, 129 |
| in Motion, 195 | Condy, George, 46, 57, 58 note |
| Cleanliness of Factories and Work- | Consolidation Commission, 1876, |
| shops, Special Rules, 153, 155 | 176 |
| Clock, Public, for Regulating | Control by Local Authorities, see |
| Hours, Meal-times, etc., 86 | Local Authorities |
| Clothing Factories, 160, 161 | Controversies over Act of 1844 |
| Cobbett, J. M., 107, 110, 112, 137 | 88, Acts of 1874 and 1878, Chap. |
| Cobden, R., 122, 130 | IX. |
| Coleridge, S. T. on the Condition | Conventions, See International |
| of Factory Children, 29 note | Copper Works, 165 note |
| Collar and Shirt Factories, 160, | Corn Laws Repeal, 62, 69, 87 |
| 162 | Cotton Cloth Factories Act, 1889, |
| Collings, Jesse, 195 | Administration of, 248 |
| Commercial Distress due to Re- | Cotton Mills: |
| strictions on Trade, Overpro- | Apprentices, Cruel Treatment |
| duction, etc., 63, 66 | 14 |
| Commissioners' Reports: | Closing Temporarily during |
| Bleaching and Dye Works: | Trade Depression, 98 |
| 1854133 | Conditions of Work in, 174 |
| 1868140 | Hobhouse's Act, 1831, limiting |
| Lace Manufacture, 1861141 | Hours in, 47 |
| Commissions, Royal: | Humidity, Special Rules, 203, |
| Children's Employment: | 277 |
| 1853—3435, 49, 50, 54 | Restrictions in, 20 |
| 1842—4567, 81, 141 | Spinners employing"Piecers," |
| 1863-67145, 150 | Evasions by, 37 |

| County Councils, Shop Inspectors | Domestic Workshops-continued. |
|-------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------|
| appointed by, 222 | Factory Acts, Provisions ap- |
| Craft Guilds, Labour Ordinances of, I | plicable and non-applicable to, 208 |
| Creameries, Exemptions in, Special | Hours of Labour, 234 |
| Orders, 278 | Hygienic Precautions, 204 |
| Cross, Viscount, Factory Bill, 1874, | Locality of, Difficulty of As- |
| 176 | certaining, 237—8 |
| Crown Factories, Special Exemp- | Special Exemptions for, 170 |
| tions, in, 274 | "Dressing-rooms" in Machine |
| Cubic Space for Workers, 245 | Lace Works, 145 |
| D N F | Dressmaking, 160 |
| Daily News Exhibition, 259 | Apprentices, 162 |
| Dangerous Trades: Cleanliness and Ventilation | Bedrooms, Workrooms used as, 163 |
| in Factories for, 201 | Day Workers, 163 |
| Commission, 1863—67, Re- | Indoor Assistants, 162 |
| ports on, 150—154 | Overcrowded Workrooms, 163 |
| Committee, 1896—97203 | Retail Houses, 161 |
| Explosives Manufacture, 150 | Sewing Machines, Effect of |
| 154, 177 | introducing, 161 |
| File-Cutting certified as, 208 | Shops, Dressmaking done in, |
| note | 161 |
| Leud Poisoning, see that Title | Ventilation, Defective, in |
| Negligence on the Part of | Work-rooms, 163 |
| Workers, 204 Restrictions and Special Rules | Dunraven, Lord, 193, 214 Dust, Carrying off by means of |
| 168, 276 | Fans, 169, 172, 174, 203, 253—4 |
| Davies, A. L., 219 | Dwelling-Houses, Regulation of |
| Depression of Trade, 1847—97 | Employment in, 179 |
| Depression of Wages caused by | Dye Works, see Bleaching and |
| Child Labour, 26 | Dye Works |
| Deterioration, Physical, 253 | |
| Dickens, Charles, 116 | EDUCATION: |
| Dilke, Sir Charles, 220, 245, 266 | Apprentices, 16 |
| "Dipping" in Pottery Works, 153 | Dame Schols, 78 |
| Dissenters' Opposition to Educational Clauses, Bill of 1843 | Factory Children, 75, 79 |
| 79 | Half-Time System, 22, 76, 85 Inefficiency and Scarcity of |
| Distinction between Workplaces | Schools, 77, 78 |
| under or not under Factory | Owen, Robert, on, 21—22 |
| Act, 166, 178, 230 | Print Works, 125 |
| Distress in Manufacturing Dis- | Workshops Act, 1867172 |
| tricts, 184162, 64 | Eight Hours Day: |
| District Council, Outworkers' Lists | Education of Factory Chil- |
| to be sent to, 219 | dren under, 75 |
| Docks, Wharves, etc., Accidents | Strike Scheme, 183356 |
| at, Provisions as to, 209 | Emergency Trades, Overtime al- |
| Doherty, John, 46, 55, 57 Domestic Workshops, 182, 216, | lowed, 181 "Employed," Definition of Term |
| | 170 |
| 233, 237, etc. Administration of the Law in, | Employers and Occupiers: |
| 224 | Birmingham Employers' Vol- |
| Anomalies caused by Exemp- | untary Shortening of Hours, |
| tions for, 235 | 159 |
| | |

| | _ |
|-----------------------------------------|-------------------------------------|
| Emplement and Occupions | To the second of |
| Employers and Occupiers—cont. | Factory Acts—continued. |
| Competition by Unscrupulous | 1845131, 136 |
| Employers, 81, 83, 129 | 184795, 97, 173 |
| Early Factory Owners, Posi- | 185096, 107, 168, 173 |
| tion of, 19 | 1856118 |
| Education to be provided by, | 1860139 |
| 77, 78 | 1681145 |
| Fines for Illegal Practices, 38 | 1862139 |
| | |
| Glasgow Meeting, 181823 | 1864139, 151, 155, 168, 182, |
| Inspectors, Complaints of, | 201, 223, |
| 115, 116 | 1867140, 151, 168, 183, 202, |
| Interference by Government, | 223 |
| Employers' Objections to, | 1870140 |
| 23, 96 | 1874176 |
| Justices of the Peace, Em- | 1878171, 182, 201, 209, 234 |
| ployers as, Restrictions | 1883202 |
| upon, 32 | 1886221 |
| National Association of Fac- | 1891209, 219, 220, 238, 241, |
| | |
| tory Occupiers, 116, 117 | 244 |
| "Ogres," Factory Owners so, | 1892221 |
| called, 19 | 1895195, 220, 241, 244 |
| Outworkers, Rules in regard | 1901220, 242, 244, 246, 271 |
| to, 219 | Factory Acts Reform Association, |
| "Employment" and "Manufac- | 173, 186 |
| ture," Distinctions between, 151 | Factory Bills: |
| Employment in a Factory, Defini- | 1837 and 183860 |
| tion of, 112 | 184379 |
| Employment of Children Act, | 184466, 82 |
| | 1845129 |
| 1903, 257 Englishwoman's Review, 188 | |
| | 1867165 |
| Entry, Powers of, 86, 225, 234, 238 | 1873175 |
| Evasions, 37, 75 note, 79, 100, 112, | 1891250 note |
| 226, 248 | 1895191 |
| Evolution of the Factory, 27 | Factory Law Amendment Associa- |
| Exceptions to Regulations, 169, | tion, 114 |
| 273 | Family Labour in Mills, 20, 26, 37, |
| Exhibitions of Sweated Trades, | 47 |
| 259 | Fans, Ventilation by means of, 169, |
| Explosives, work on, 150, 154, | 172, 174 |
| 177 | Farrow, Mr., Inspector of Work- |
| *// | |
| E. cropy. | shops at Leek, 229 |
| FACTORY: | Fawcett, Henry, 166, 175, 185, 188 |
| Definitions of, 155, 166, 168, | Felkin, W., 6 |
| 178, 182, 233—234 | Fencing of Machinery: |
| Opening and Occupation of— | Act of 1844, Provisions en- |
| Notice to be given to In- | forcing, 15 |
| spector, 86 | Bleaching and Dye Works, 136 |
| Factory Acts: | Fines for Neglect, Giving to |
| 180216 | Injured Employé, 209 |
| 181924, 32, 92 | Inspectors' Circular, 1854 |
| 182030 | 114 |
| | |
| 182530, 32 | Orders in Council, 273 |
| 183132, 47 | Penalties for Neglect, 38 |
| 183340, 57, 58, 83, 100, 168 | Provisions of various Acts, |
| 184481,85,100,112,113,168 | relating to Fencing, 113, 182 |

| 290 | 1321. |
|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Ferrand, Busfield, 69 Ferriar, Dr., 13 Fever Epidemic at Manchester, 17847 Fielden, John, 46, 56, 59, 69 Fielden, Joshua, 109 File-Cutting Industry, 205, 208 note Fines for Non-Compliance with Acts, 86 "Sovereign Remedy," 86 "Finishing" in Bleaching and Dye Works, 133 Fish Curing, Exemptions for, 181 Flax Mills, Conditions of Work in, 174 Florists' Shops, 256 Fontaine, Monsieur, 272 "Free Agents," Fallacy of, 33 Free Traders and the Factory | Handloom Weavers: Apprentices, 20 Ireland and Scotland, Inquiry, 1864—67, 164—5 note. Hanway, Jonas, 7 Hardware Manufactures, Conditions of Work in, 158 "Health and Morals of Apprentices Act," 180216 Health and Safety Regulations, 1878—1901Chap. X. Hindley, Charles, 46, 47, 57, 58, 59 Hire, Working for, included in definition of Factory, 155 Hobhouse, Sir John Cam, 30 Hobhouse's Act, 183132, 47 Holidays: Orders in Council, 273 Saturday Half-Holiday, 32, |
| Question, 184262 Freedom of Contract, 49, 92 Fruit Preserving, Exemptions for, 181 Fustian Cutting, 150, 154, 170, 177 | 105, 107, 145, 195, 277 Holmes, T., 173, 176, 210 Home Secretary: Local Authorities' Powers transferred to, 230 Powers of, 86 Petitions to, 103 |
| GENERAL ELECTIONS: 183148 184161 "Getting-up" Rooms in Machine Lace Manufacture, 145 Gibson, Milner, 67, 89 | Special Orders, 203, 273 Truck Acts, Enforcement by Home Office, 248 Home Work: Act of 1867171, 180 Control of Home Workshops, |
| Gisborne, T., 12 Gladstone, W. E., 64, 65 | Diseases among Home Workers, 208 |
| Glass Works, 168, 169, 202 Gluts and Panics due to Over-Production, 63, 66 Gould, George, 25 Government Inspectors, see Inspectors Graham, Sir James, 61, 64, 66, 67, 69, 83, 91, 122, 130, 138 Grant, Philip, 44, 46, 55, 57, 106 Greville Memoirs, 68 Grey, Sir Edward, 245 note | Domestic Employment, The O'Conor Don's Report, 1876, 180 File Cutting, 207 Fustian Cutting, 154, 155 note in Ireland, 265 note Regulation of Home Work Bill, 250 note Sanitary Provisions, Enforcement of, 233, 242, 252 |
| Grey, Sir George, 105, 115, 117 Grose, Justice, 14, 28 HAHN, 270 Hale, Sir Matthew, 16834 Half-Holiday on Saturday, Regulations, 32, 105, 107, 145, 195 Half-Time System, 22, 76, 85 "Handicraft," Definition of, 170 | Select Committee on, 259, 264—7 Straw Plaiting, 155 Sweating System, 213 Wages, 216 Horner, Leonard, 74, 76, 81, 99, 100 note, 103, 117, 118 Hosiery Manufacture, 150, 156 |

Hours of Labour: Adults and Children, Uniform Working Day, 59, 67 Bleaching and Dye Works, Dangerous Trades, 154 Domestic Workshops, 234 Opinions on, 1815 and 1819... 25; at present time, 198 Handloom Weavers' Apprentices, 20 Hobhouse's Act, 1831—46 Lace Manufacture, 141 Limitations of, Bill of, 1844.. Long Hours, Spoiled Work a result of, 126
"Nibbling," 112 Normal Day, 96, 106, 107, 171, 255, 256 Orders in Council, 273 Overtime, see that Title Print Works, 1843..124 Provisions of Various Acts, 31, 32, 33, 85, 176, 177, 195 Shop Assistants, 221 Shortening, Robert Owen's Views on, 22 Ten Hours Day, see that Twelve Hours Day, see that Weekly Limit, Inefficacy of, Women's Workshops, 234 Workshops Act, 1867..171 "Hours of Labour in Manchester," House of Commons and Lords Committees, see Committees Howell, T. J., 79, 101 Howick, Lord, 93 Huddersfield Meeting, 1833..54 Hume, Joseph, 69, 95 Humidity in Cotton Mills, Special Orders, 203, 277 IMPRISONMENT PENALTY, 1833..

India-rubber Works, 165 note,

Inequalities in Legislation for

Factories and Workshops, 178 Infectious Diseases, Manchester

Board of Health Resolutions, 9

Informers of Illegalities in Factories, Position of, 36, 38 Inkster, Dr., 208 Insanitary Workshops, Closing, 217 Inspectors: Administration of the Acts by, Chap. XI Advocated, 13 Apprentices Act, 1802..16 Children's Employment, Duties as to, 72 Commendation by Commissioners of, 1876..179 Duties of, 40, 71 Employers' Complaints of, 115, 116 Entry of Premises, Powers of, 86, 225, 234, 238 Increase of Powers, 86 Inquisitors," Inspectors described as, 56 Itinerant, 40 Junior Sub-Inspectors, 231 Local Authorities, Relations with, 227, 251 Meeting for Conferring upon their Work, 71 Names and Addresses of Inspectors to be exhibited in Factories, 87, 249n Neglect of Duties, Complaints of, 1835..57 Obstruction of Inspectors, Penalties for, 42 Opening and Occupation of Factories, Notice to be given to, 86; of workshops, 216, 234, 236, 239 Opposition against, 55, 56 Outworkers Lists to be examined by, 219 Potteries, Medical Inspectors in, 152 Powers of, 41, 71, Chap. XI Registers of young Employes to be open to, 87 Reports by, 41, 71, 72 Rules and Orders made by, 41 Sanitary Inspectors, 225, 243, 245, 251, 252 Sanitation of Workshops, Advice of Factory Inspectors, 231

| -7- | |
|---------------------------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------|
| Inspectors—continued. | Laundries—continued. |
| School Attendance to be En- | Hotel and Institution, 256 |
| forced by, 41 | Hours, Limitation of, 191, 255 |
| Schoolmasters Disqualified | Inclusion under Factory Acts, |
| by, 86 | Workers in Favour of, 193 |
| Shop Hours Act, Inspectors | Inspection of, 247 |
| under, 222 | Irregular Work, Cause for |
| Staff Increase of, 248 | Non-Legislation, 135 |
| Sub-Inspectors, 86, 225, 230 | Orders in Council, Suggestions, |
| Women as, 204, 241,249 249 | 275 |
| note 251 | Steam Laundries, Proposed to |
| Workers not Objecting to | Regulate as Non-Textile |
| | Factories, 194 |
| Visits of, 215 and note Working Men "Assistants," | Lavatory Accommodation, 202, |
| 248 | 246 |
| Interference of Government with | Lead Poisoning: |
| | Dangerous Trades Committee, |
| Employers, Objections to, 23 International Conventions, 269, 271 | 1896, Reports on Lead |
| International Labour Legislation, | Works, 203 |
| | File-Cutting Industry, 205 |
| 269, 272 Islington, Inspection of Out- | Inkster's Report, 1899208 |
| Islington, Inspection of Out- workers in, 244 | Potteries, 151 |
| Irwin, Miss, 265 note | White Lead Factories, 29 note, |
| 11 W111, 14133, 205 Mote | 192, 202 |
| JEWS, SATURDAY NIGHT EMPLOY- | Leeds Meeting, 183348, 55 |
| MENT 160 | Leek Police Commissioners, Ad- |
| MENT, 169 "Job-printers," 128 | ministration of Workshops Act |
| Justices of the Peace, see Magis- | by, 229 |
| trates | Legal Age, see Age of Employment |
| CL W COS | Letter Foundries, 165 note |
| Kay, Dr. J. P., 50 | Limewashing of Factories, Special |
| Kennedy, J. L., 90, 123, 124 | Exemptions, 278 |
| Kirk, William, 138 | Local Authorities: |
| Kynoch Company's Factories, | Administration by, 224, 225, |
| Hours of Work in, 198 | 240, 251—2 |
| ,,,,,,,,, - | Bakehouses, Sanitary Super- |
| LABOUR COMMISSION, 1893201 | vision of, 247 |
| Lace Board, 269 | County and Borough Council's |
| Lace Manufacture: | Inspectors under Shop |
| Act of 1861145 | Hours Act, 221 |
| Conditions of Work, 142 | Defaulting—Lack of Control |
| Exemptions in, 144 | over, 243 |
| Pillow-Lace Making, 147 | Complaints, Inspection upon, |
| Tremenheere's Report, 1860— | 241 |
| 61141 | Compulsory Inspection, 246 |
| Laissez-faire Doctrines, 28, 49, 92 | Factory Inspector's Advice |
| Lakeman, J.B., 212 | and Assistance Offered to, |
| Laundries: | 227 |
| Accidents to Girls in, 254 | Home Office, Transfer of Local |
| Act of 1907, 255 | Authorities' Powers to, 230 |
| Hand Laundries, Proposed | Insufficient Powers of, 243 |
| to Regulate as Workshops, | Neglect or Refusal to Enforce |
| 194 | the Acts, 227 |
| Health, Conditions as to, 254, | Shop Hours Act, 1892, Ad- |
| 255 | ministration of, 221 |
| | |

Local Authorities-continued. Manchester—continued. Successful Administration, In-Meeting at, Ten Hours Agitastances of, 229, 251 tion, 57 "Manchesterism," 28, 49, 92, 122 Varying in different Centres. "Mangling of Operatives," 225 note, 251 Workshops, Sanitary Supersociation for, 116 vision of, 159, 225, 239, 241 Manners, Lord John, 46 London County Council, Adminis-Manslaughter - Accidents from tration of Shop Hours Act, 221 Unfenced Machinery, Suggested Longe, F. D., 151, 153 note Trial of Owner for Manslaughter Longston, William, 37 Lost Time, Recovery of, 30, 86, Mantle-making, 160 111, 177 Married Women's Employment, Lucifer Matches, see Match Works 66, 82 Lucerne Conference, 272 Marx, Karl, 102 Lugano Conference, 272 Masterman, C. F. G., 256 note Masters, see Employers MACAULAY, LORD, 53, 69, 94 Machine Tending, Skilled Workers Match Works, 150, 154, 177 Matthews, H., 215 Required for, 126 Meal-times: Machinery: Act of 1825, Regulations, 31 Cleaning, see that Title Clock, Public, for Regulating, Fencing, see that Title Illegal Employment, Owners' Dangerous Processes, Meals Liability, 32 Regulations, 155, 202 Motive Power, Restriction on, Domestic Employment, Ex-52, 57, 59, 66, 96, 109 Machinists' Wages and Hours of emptions, 180 Irregularity of, 79, 80 Work, 164 Orders in Council, 276, 278 Magistrates: Textile Factories, 177 White Lead Works, 202 eddling Legislation," 96 Entry of Workshops, Order required for, 225, 234 " Meddling Legislation, Fencing Machinery Cases, 117 Medical Evidence on Child Labour, Fines Imposed by, 16, 36, 86 1819..25 Medical Officers of Health, 224, Inspectors empowered to act as, 42 227, 239 Inspectors Judicial Powers Melbourne, Lord, 73 Withdrawn, 86 Men's Labour, see Adult Labour Mill-Owners and their Rela-Men's Workshops: tions Prohibited from hear-Dangerous Processes, Special Rules, 203 ing Complaints, 32 Occupation, Notices of, 230 Relay System Cases, 103 Male Adults, see Adult Labour Sanitary Regulations, Exten-Male Young Persons, see Young sion to, 238 Sweating System, 212 ff. Persons Manchester: Metal Manufacture, Inquiry into, Board of Health, 1795, Infec-1864-67..165 note Mill Gearing, Fencing of, 113, 118 tious Diseases, Resolutions Millinery Trade, 160 as to, 9 Fever at, 1784..7 Hours of Work, Meal-times, Mines and Collieries, Children and Women's Employment in, 1842, etc., 1825..30 Workshops Inspection of Minimum Age, Raising, 195 Mistresses' Houses," Conditions after Lancet Report, 1888... 236 of Work in, 146, 224

Oldham: Monotony of Factory Work, 175 " Mould-runners," 151 Hours of Work, Meal-times, etc., in Oldham Factories, Mundella, A. J., 175 Muntz, P. H., 188 Oram, R. E., Sprague, 238 Murrough, J. P., 137 Orders in Council, 273 "Out-by" Departments in Scotch NAIL AND CHAIN MAKERS, 215 Print Works, Excessive Hours, National Association of Factory 127 Occupiers, 116, 117 Out-Workers: National Union of Women Work-Control of, Acts of 1864 and ers, 192 1867..171 New Zealand, Factory Law of, Inspection of, 242, 252 261 Islington, 244 Arbitration Act of, 262, 263 Newton, Miss, Evidence as to Dressmaking Work, 163 Lists, 216, 219, 238, 240, 250 note, 252 Regulations for, 219 "Nibbling," 112 Returns of, 252 Night-work: Overalls for Workers in Lead Fac-Act of 1833, Limitations, 40 tories, 202 Boys, 195 Over-Crowding: Children, 13 Children in Factories, 11 " Night Period," 67 Dressmakers' Workrooms, 163 Open-Air Bleach Fields, 139 Straw Plaiting Schools, 156 Orders in Council, 273, 276 Over-Production causing Decrease Print Works, 125 of Wages, 63 Of Women, 271 Nine Hours Bill, 1873..175 Overtime: Nine Hours Movement among Act of 1820, Permissions for, Textile Operatives, 1872..173 Difficulties of Detection, 101, Non-Textile Factories: Age Limit, 177 102, 246 Notice of Intention to work Definition, 182 " Particulars" Clause, Op-Overtime, 248 Potteries, 153 eration in, 220 Press of Work, Overtime al-Workshops included as, 177 lowed for, 181 Normal Day, 96, 106, 108, 171, Shirt and Collar Makers, 181 Special Orders, 276 Notices of Occupation of Workshops, 217, 234, 235, 239 Number of Employés made the Women's Workshops, 246 Overwork, 185 In Print Works, 125 Basis of Legislation for Work-Owen, Robert, 5, 21, 23, 29, 43, 57, places, 166, 178, 230 Owners of Factories, see Employer OAKUM PICKING in Workhouses, and Occupiers 1732..3 Oastler, Richard, 33, 39, 44, 53, 55 59, 61, 64, 70, 107 Occupation of Workshops, Notices, PALMERSTON, LORD, 69, 111, 113 Paper Manufature, 165 note Paper-staining, 150, 154, 177 217, 234, 235, 239 Occupiers, see Employers and Oc-Parasitic Trades, 218 note Parents as Employers of their cupiers Children, 20, 26, 37 O'Connell, Daniel, 69 Parish Apprentices, see Apprentices O'Conor Don, The, 180, 188 "Ogres," Factory Owners " Park-girls," 128 so Parke, Baron, 104 called, 19

| | 75 |
|--------------------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------------|
| "Particulars" Clause, Act of 1895, | Printing and Bookbinding, Young |
| 220 | Persons and Women's Employ- |
| Paterson, Mrs. Emma, 187 | ment, 169 |
| Paterson, Miss, 254 | Private Houses, Workshops in: |
| Patten, Colonel Wilson, 118 | Administration of the Acts, |
| Pauper Children, Mortality in | 224 |
| 1767 among, 7 | Dwellings, Employment in, |
| Pearl Buttons Manufacture, 159 | 179 |
| note | Recommended Extension of |
| Peel, Sir Robert, the Elder, 16, 25, | the Acts to, 148 |
| the Younger, 61, 64, 87, 90, 91 | Hosiery Manufacture, 157 |
| Percival, Dr., 7, 9 | Sweating System in, 212 |
| Period of Employment: | Privy Accommodation, Act of |
| Domestic and Women's Work- | 1867182 |
| shops, 180, 183 | Protection of Children Act, |
| Irregularities of, 177 | 1894248 |
| Perry, Miss, 254 | Public Health Act, 1875231 |
| Petitions in Favour of Ten Hours | Public Health Acts, Sanitation of |
| Bill, 1832, 44, 51, 54 | Workshops regulated by, 239, |
| Petty, Sir William, 4 | 246 |
| "Phossy Jaw," 154 | |
| Phosphorus, yellow, Prohibition | REDGRAVE, ALEXANDER, 123, 178, |
| of, 271 | 227, 238 |
| Physical Deterioration, Committee | Reeves, W. P., 260, 261 |
| on, 253 | Registers kept by Employers, 32 |
| Pillow-Lace Making, 147 | Domestic Employment, Ex- |
| "Plaiting-down" in Print Works, | emptions for, 180 |
| 124 | False Entries, Penalties for, 38 |
| Political Opinions of Leaders of | Registration of Mills and Factor- |
| Ten Hours Agitation, 46 | ies, 16 |
| Poor Law Children, see Apprentices | Relaxations and Exemptions, for |
| Potteries: | certain Trades, 181 |
| Conditions of Work in, 150, | Relay System, 76, 79 note, 80, 100, |
| 151, 153, 209 Madian I Transplant and Internal | 103 |
| Medical Inspector appointed | Respirators for Workers in Lead |
| for, 152 | Factories, 202, 204 |
| Memorial by Pottery Owners, | Rest Intervals, Irregular, 80 |
| 1862152 | Ribbon Trade, 165 note |
| Overtime in, 153 | Rickards, G. H. L., 73 Right of Entry in Factories, 86, |
| Special Rules suggested, 153 Press of Work, Overtime allowed | 234, in Workshops, 225, 234, 238 |
| for, 181 | Ritchie, C. T., 242 |
| Print Works: | Roebuck, J. A., 91, 95, 122, 138 |
| Act of 1845131 | Rogers, Thorold, 64 |
| Act of 1870140 | Russell, Lord John, 59, 68 note, 69, |
| Bleaching and Dyeing not in- | 91 |
| cluded in Act of 1845131 | |
| Conditions of Work in, 123 | SABATIER, WILLIAM, 11 |
| 128 | Sabatier, William, 11 Sadler, M. T., 33, 46, 51, 53, 87, 93 |
| Education of Children work- | Salisbury, Lord, 195 |
| ing in, 125 | Samuel, Herbert, 196 note |
| Hours of Labour in, 124 | Sanitary Act, 1866, Provisions re- |
| Scotch Print Works, 127, 140 | lation to Workshops, 226 note |
| Tremenheere and Tufnell's | Sanitary Conveniences, 182, 202, |
| Report, 1868140 | 246 |
| - | |

Sanitary Inspectors: | Shortening of Hours:

| Duties and Powers of, 225, | Eight Hours Day, see that |
|--------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------|
| Overlanding Functions with | Title |
| Overlapping Functions with | Output of Machinery increasd |
| regard to Factory Inspec- | under, 22 Owen, Robert, on, 22 |
| tors, 236, 243, 245 | Ten Hours Day, see that Title |
| Salaries, Inadequate, 229 Unnotified Workshops more | Silk Mills, Children's Employment |
| easily detected by, 242 | in, 41 |
| Women employed as,241 note, | "Slavery in Yorkshire," Oastler's |
| 251 | Letters on, 33, 45 |
| Sanitation of Workshops regulated | Smith, Adam, 5, 28 |
| by Local Authorities, 159, 224, | Snape, G. B., 212 |
| 225, 231 | Society for the Improvement of |
| Saturday Half-Holiday, Regula- | Condition of FactoryChildren, 51 |
| tions, 32, 105, 107, 145, 195, 277 | Society for Promoting the Em- |
| Saturday Review, Article on | ployment of Women, 191 |
| Women's Work, 189 | "Sovereign" Remedy, 86 |
| Saunders, R. J., 105 | Special Exemptions and Excep- |
| Schloss, D. F., 219 | tions, 169, 179, 277 |
| Scottish Council for Women's | Special Rules in White Lead |
| Trades, Regulation of Home- | Works, 202 |
| work Bill, 250 note | Squire, Miss, 254 |
| "Scouring" in Potteries, 153 | State Interference with Adult |
| Seamstresses, 164 | Labour Controversy, 93, 95, 189 |
| "Second-hand Mistresses," 146 | Steam Power, Introduction of, 18 |
| Secretary of State for the Home | Stephen, Sir Leslie, 27 |
| Department, see Home Secre- | Stephens, Rev. J. R., 46, 58 note |
| tary | 61, 64 |
| Select Committee on Home Work, | Stockport Factories, Hours of |
| 259, 264, 265-7 | Work, Meal-times, etc., 1825, 31 |
| Senior, Nassau: | "Stove-girls" in Turkey Red |
| Letters on the Factory Acts, | Works, 127, 128 |
| 23, 88 | Straw-Plaiting, 155 |
| Ten Hours Bill opposed by, 90 | Stuart, James, 104 |
| Sets, Employment in, 55 | Surgeons, see Certifying Surgeons Sutherst, Thomas, 222 note |
| Sewing Trades, see Dressmaking Shaftesbury, Earl of, see Ashley | "Sweated Industry," by C. Black |
| Shafting, Fencing of, 113, 117 | 269 note |
| Shaw, Sir Charles, 82 note | Sweated Trades, 212, 259, 264 |
| Shifts, Working in, 100, 143 | Sweating System: |
| Ship Building, 165 note | Inspection, 1884211 |
| Shirt and Collar Making, 160, 162 | Lancet Report, 1888236 |
| Overtime allowed in, 181 | Lords Committee, 1889190 |
| Shop Assistants: | 191, 201, 211, 214, 240 |
| Conditions of Work, 221 | Private Houses, Sweating in |
| Early Closing Association, 222 | 212 |
| Young Persons employed in | Wages, 216 |
| Shop and Factory on the | |
| same day, Regulations, 222 | TAILORING BOARD, 269 |
| Shop Hours Acts, 1886 and 1892, | Tailoring Trade, 160, 212, 236 |
| 221 | Tancred, W., 128 |
| Short Time Committees, 34, 46, 57, | Taylor, William Cooke, 62 |
| 60, 61, 70, 82, 96, 99, 104, 106, | "Teerers" in Print Works, 124 |
| 112, 117 | Temperature in Factories, 246 |

| 1112211. | | |
|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--|
| Ten Hours Act, 184795, 96, 99, 173 Ten Hours Advocate, 69 Ten Hours Bill: 1815 (Peel's), 43 1831 (Sadler's), 51 1835 (Hindley's), 58 1843—44 (Ashley's), 66 1846 (Ashley's), 69, 70 Ten Hours Day Agitation: Cotton Districts, 44 Deputation to Peel, 184164 General Election, 1831, Effect of Agitation upon, 47 Oastler's Agitation, 44 Leeds Resolutions, 183148 Manchester Quarter Sessions, Proposals for Ten Hours Day, 9, 43 West Riding Justices' Resolutions, 180318 Ten-and-a-half Hours Day: Birmingham Hardware Manufacturers introducing, 159 Owen's Bill, 23, 24 Petition for, 44 Tennant, Mrs., 219 Textile Factories: Age of Employment in, 72. 85, 176 Ages of Workers Employed, Table, 110 Consolidation Commission, 1876176 Cross's Bill, 1874176 Legislation confined to, up to 1845120 Local Government Board Inquiry, 1873174 Nine Hours Bill, 1873175 Owen's Bill, 23 "Particulars" Clause, 220 Saturday Half-Holiday, 105 Theatres and Public Entertainments, Children's Employment in, 248 Thompson, Poulett, 56, 58 Time Books, 51 Tobacco Manuscature, 165 note Townend, Samuel, 45 | Trade Unions and the Women's Rights Movement, 185 Trades, Unregulated, Commission on, 1863—67150 Tremenhecre, H. S., 133, 140, 141 Truck Act, 1887, Enforcement by Home Office, 248 Tufnell, E. C., 50, 140 Turkey Red Dyeing, 140 Turner, Dr. Thackrah, 35 Turner, J., 37 Twelve Hours Day, Acts Relating to: 180216 181924 183132 183341 184466, 85 UNDERGROUND EMPLOYMENT C WOMEN, 81, 82 Underpaid Work in East End Industries, 213 "Unfair Competition" of Unscrupulous Employers, 81, 83, 129 Unnotified Workshops, 242 Unskilled Trades, Homework in, 250 VANDERVELDE, Monsieur, 272 Vaughan, A. P., 212 Ventilation: Dressmakers' Workrooms, 163 Fans, Use of, 169 Special Rules, 153, 155 White Lead Works, 202 Victoria, Australia: Factories Law of, 262, 263 Wages Boards in, 263, 264 WAGES: Depression caused by Child Labour, 26 Occupation with or without Wages, 170 Over-production of Machinemade Goods, Effect on, 63 "Particulars," Clause, 220 Potteries, Boys' Wages in, 153 Reduction of, 184798 Sweated Trades, 216, 217, 259 Wages Board Bill, 1900220 | |
| | | |
| Trade Boards 250—260 | Walpole, Spencer, 21 Walpole, Spencer Horatio, 165,225 | |
| Trade Boards, 259—269 Trade Boards Act passed, 267 | Warehouse Work, 156 | |
| Trade Depression, 184797 | Unhealthy Conditions, 146 | |

298 INDEX.

| Veavers, see Handloom Weavers | Women's Workshops—continued. |
|------------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------|
| Webb, S. and B., 106 note, 186, 214, | Exemptions and Relaxations |
| 219 note | in, 180, 181, 212, 234, 238 |
| Weekly Limit of Hours, Proposed | Overtime, 181 |
| Substitution for Daily Limit, 75 | Wood, G. H., 98, n., 110, n. |
| Vemyss, Lord, 210 | Wood, John, 44 |
| White Lead Factories, see Lead | Wood, Kinder, 20, 25 |
| Poisoning | Woollen Mills, Hours of Work in, |
| Wibsey Low Moor Meeting 1822 | |
| Wibsey Low Moor Meeting, 1833, Ten Hours Bill, 56 | 47 Wool-sorting, 203 |
| Wilkinson, Thomas, 25 | "Working Women's Protective |
| Wine Charles 74 mote | and Provident League," 189 |
| Wing, Charles, 74 note | |
| Women's Employment: | Workshops: |
| Act of 184485 | Age Limit, 171, 177 |
| Bleaching and Dye Works, | Anomalies caused by Exemp- |
| 134 | tions, 235 |
| Childbirth, Employment after | Closing Insanitary Workshops, |
| 209 | 217 |
| Clothing Trades, 160 | Cubic Space Regulation, 245 |
| Definition of "Women," 185 | Definitions, 170, 182, 234 |
| Dressmaking, see that Title | Exemptions, 278 |
| Hosiery Manufacture, 157 | Extension of Factory Acts to, |
| Increase of Women Factory | 150 |
| Workers, 184165 | File-Cutting Shops, Insanitary |
| Lace Manufacture, 141143 | Condition of, 207 |
| Mines and Collieries, 1842 | Inspection of, 159, 225 et seq. |
| 81 | Local Authorities, Sanitary |
| Normal Day for, 105, 107, 256 | Supervision by, 159, 225, |
| Overwork, 84 | 231, 239, 241 |
| Printing and Bookbinding, 169 | Occupation, Notices of, 216, |
| Shop Assistants, see that Title | 234, 236, 239 |
| Special Restrictions, 184165 | 234, 236, 239 "Particulars" Clause, Opera- |
| Textile Factories, 1873174 | tion in, 220 |
| Women's Employment Defence | Registration of, 238 |
| League, 194 | Sweating in Private House |
| Women Factory Inspectors, 204, | Workshops, 212 |
| 249, and note | Temperature of, 246 |
| Women Sanitary Inspectors, 241, | Workshops Regulation Act, 1867, |
| 251 | 149, 169, 225, 227, 231 |
| Women's Industrial Council, Regu- | Wortley, Stuart, 191, 194 |
| lation of Home Work Bill, 250 | 1, |
| note, 284 | YORK MEETING, 1832, TEN HOURS |
| Women's Liberal Federation, Let- | MOVEMENT, 51 |
| ter to Daily Chronicle, 1895193 | Young Arthur 258 |
| Women's Rights Opposition Move | Young, Arthur, 258 Young Persons' Employment: |
| ment, 173, 183 | Clothing Trades, 160 |
| Women's Trade Union League, | Exemptions, 169, 195 |
| 209, 284 | Hours of Labour, 33, 41, 79 |
| Women's Union Journal, 188 | Lace Manufacture, 141, 143 |
| 'Women's Work and the Factory | Normal Day for, 105, 107 |
| Acts," by Miss Blackburn, 184 | |
| Women's Workshops: | Orders in Council, 273 |
| Women's Workshops: | Print Works, 123 et seq. |
| Conditions of Work in, 190 | Printing and Bookbinding, 169 |
| Consolidation Act, 1878, Pro- | Shop Assistants, see that Title |
| visions Relating to, 234 | Textile Factories, 174 |

STUDIES IN ECONOMICS AND POLITICAL SCIENCE

A Series of Monographs by Lecturers and Students connected with the London School of Economics and Political Science

EDITED BY THE DIRECTOR OF THE LONDON SCHOOL OF ECONOMICS AND POLITICAL SCIENCE

- 1. The History of Local Rates in England. The substance of five lectures given at the School in November and December, 1896. By Edwin Cannan, M.A., LL.D. 1896; 140 pp., Cr. 8vo, cloth, 2s. 6d. net.

 P. S. King & Son.
- 2. Select Document Illustrating the History of Trade Unionism. I.—The Tailoring Trade. By F. W. Galton. With a Preface by Sidney Webb, LL.B. 1896; 242 pp., Cr. 8vo, cloth. 5s. net.

 P. S. King & Son.
- 3. German Social Democracy. Six lectures delivered at the School in February and March, 1896. By the Hon. Bertrand Russell, B.A., late Fellow of Trinity College, Cambridge. With an Appendix on Social Democracy and the Woman Question in Germany. By Alvs Russell, B.A. 1896; 204 pp., Cr. 8vo, cloth. 3s. 6d. net. P. S. King & Son.
- 4. The Referendum in Switzerland. By M. SIMON DEPLOIGE, University of Louvain. With a letter on the Referendum in Belgium by M. J. VAN DEN HEUVEL, Professor of International Law in the University of Louvain. Translated by C. P. TREVELYAN, M.A., Trinity College, Cambridge, and edited with Notes, Introduction, Bibliography, and Appendices, by LILIAN TOMN (Mrs. Knowles), of Girton College, Cambridge, Research Student at the School. 1898; x. and 334 pp., Cr. 8vo, cloth. 7s. 6d. net. P. S. King & Son.
- 5. The Economic Policy of Colbert. By A. J. SARGENT, M.A., Senior Hulme Exhibitioner, Brasenose College, Oxford; and Whately Prizeman, 1897, Trinity College, Dublin. 1899; viii. and 138 pp., Cr. 8vo, cloth. 2s. 6d. net. P. S. King & Son.

- 6. Local Variations in Wages. (The Adam Smith Prize, Cambridge University, 1898.) By F. W. LAWRENCE, M.A., Fellow of Trinity College, Cambridge. 1899; viii. and 90 pp., with Index and 18 Maps and Diagrams. Quarto, 11 in. by 8½ in., cloth. 8s. 6d.

 Longmans, Green & Co.
- 7. The Receipt Roll of the Exchequer for Michaelmas Term of the Thirty=first Year of Henry II. (1185). A unique fragment transcribed and edited by the Class in Palæography and Diplomatic, under the supervision of the Lecturer, HUBERT HALL, F.S.A., of H.M. Public Record Office. With thirty-one Facsimile Plates in Collotype and Parallel readings from the contemporary Pipe Roll. 1899; vii. and 37 pp.; Folio, 15½ in. by 11½ in., in green cloth; 5 copies left. Apply to the Director of the London School of Economics.
- 8. Elements of Statistics. By Arthur L. Bowley, M.A., F.S.S., Cobden and Adam Smith Prizeman, Cambridge; Guy Silver Medallist of the Royal Statistical Society; Newmarch Lecturer, 1897-98. xii. and 336 pp., Demy 8vo, cloth, 40 Diagrams. 1901; Third edition, 1907. 10s. 6d. net.

 P. S. King & Son.
- 9. The Place of Compensation in Temperance Reform. By C. P. SANGER, M.A., late Fellow of Trinity College, Cambridge; Barrister-at-Law. 1901; viii. and 136 pp., Cr. 8vo, cloth. 2s. 6d. net.

 P. S. King & Son.

 (Out of print.)
- 10. A History of Factory Legislation. By B. L. Hutchins and A. Harrison (Mrs. Spencer), B.A., D.Sc. (Econ.), London. Second Edition. With a Preface by Sidney Webb, LL.B. 1911; xvi. and 298 pp., Demy 8vo, cloth. 6s. net. P. S. King & Son.
- 11. The Pipe Roll of the Exchequer of the See of Winchester for the Fourth Year of the Episcopate of Peter Des Roches (1207). Transcribed and edited from the original Roll in the possession of the Ecclesiastical Commissioners by the Class in Palæography and Diplomatic, under the supervision of the Lecturer, Hubert Hall, F.S.A., of H.M. Public Record Office. With a Frontispiece giving a Facsimile of the Roll. 1903; xlviii. and 100 pp., Folio, 13½ in. by 8½ in., green cloth. 15s. net. P. S. King & Son.
- 12. Self-Government in Canada and How it was Achieved: The Story of Lord Durham's Report. By F. Bradshaw, M.A., Senior Hulme Exhibitioner, Brasenose College, Oxford. 1903; viii. and 414 pp., Demy 8vo. cloth. 3s. 6d. net. P. S. King & Son.
- 13. History of the Commercial and Financial Relations Between England and Ireland from the Period of the Restoration. By ALICE EFFIE MURRAY (Mrs. Radice), D.Sc. (Econ.), former Student at Girton College, Cambridge; Research Student of the London School of Economics and Political Science. 1903; xviii. and 486 pp., Demy 8vo, cloth. 3s. 6d. net. P. S. King & Son.

- 14. The English Peasantry and the Enclosure of Common Fields. By GILBERT SLATER, M.A., St. John's College, Cambridge; D.Sc. (Econ.), London. 1906; 337 pp., Demy 8vo, cloth. 10s. 6d. net.

 Constable & Co., Ltd.
- 15. A History of the English Agricultural Labourer. By W. HASBACH, Professor of Economics in the University of Kiel. With a Preface by Sidney Webb, LL.B., 1908; xvi. and 470 pp., Demy 8vo, cloth. 7s. 6d. net. P. S. King & Son.
- 16, A Colonial Autocracy: New South Wales under Governor Macquarie, 1810-1821. By Marion Phillips, B.A., Melbourne, D.Sc. (Econ.), London. 1909; xxiii., 336 pp., Demy 8vo, cloth. 10s. 6d. net. P. S. King & Son.
- 17. India and the Tariff Problem. By Professor H. B. Lees Smith, M.A., M.P. 1909; 120 pp., Crown 8vo, cloth. 3s. 6d. net. Constable & Co., Ltd.
- 18. Practical Notes on the Management of Elections. Three Lectures delivered at the School in November, 1909, by Ellis T. Powell, LL.B., B.Sc. (Econ.), Fellow of the Royal Historical and Royal Economic Societies, of the Inner Temple, Barrister-at-Law. 1909; 52 pp., 8vo, paper. 1s. 6d. net. P. S. King & Son.
- 19. The Political Development of Japan. By G. E. UYEHARA, B.A., Washington, D.Sc. (Econ.), London. 1910; xxiv., 296 pp., Demy 8vo, cloth. 8s. 6d. net. Constable & Co., Ltd.
- **20.** National and Local Finance. By J. Watson Grice, B.Sc. (Econ.), London. Preface by Sidney Webb, LL.B. 1910; xxiv. and 428 pp., Demy 8vo, cloth. 10s. 6d. net. P. S. King & Son.
- 21. An Example of Communal Currency. By J. Theodore Harris, B.A. Preface by Sidney Webb, LL.B. 1911; Crown 8vo. Paper, is. net. Cloth, is. 6d. net. P. S. King & Son.

Series of Bibliographies by Students of the School,

1. A Bibliography of Unemployment and the Unemployed. By F. Isabel Taylor, B.Sc. (Econ.), London. Preface by Sidney Webb, LL.B. 1909; xix., 71 pp., Demy 8vo, cloth. 2s. net; paper, 1s. 6d. net. P. S. King & Son.

Series of Geographical Studies.

1. The Reigate Sheet of the One-inch Ordnance Survey. A Study in the Geography of the Surrey Hills. By Ellen Smith. Introduction by H. J. Mackinder, M.A., M.P. 1910; xix., 110 pp., 6 maps, 23 illustrations, Crown 8vo, cloth. 3s. 6d. net.

A. & C. Black.

King's Recent Publications

ANDREADES, A.-

History of the Bank of England. By A. Andreades, Professor of Political Science in the University of Athens. With a Preface by H. S. Foxwell, M.A., Fellow of St. John's College, Cambridge; Professor of Political Economy in the University of London. Demy 8vo. Cloth. 496 pages. 10s. 6d. net. (Inland Postage 5d.)

Westminster Gazette:—An extremely striking book. . . . It deals with the history of the Bank from its birth to recent days, in a comprehensive, exhaustive, but, at the same time, interesting manner, and will well repay the careful study of all people interested in banking matters. A vast amount of time and labour has been unquestionably expended in the preparation of the work, and it is deserving of a hearty reception from the student.

Bankers' Magazine: —There have been many books dealing with the Bank, but they have more often treated of only a part of its career, or else have brought its record in as collateral branch of a study of a subject of more general character. This book of Dr. Andreades, on the other hand, adheres closely to its title, and only treats of general matters so far as they affect the affairs and fortunes of the great credit institution. . . . Space will not allow us to give more about this fascinating book, which should be on the bookshelf of every economic student.

BAKER, C. ASHMORE-

Rates. Being the Revenue and Expenditure of Boroughs and Urban District Councils of 10,000 or more inhabitants (England and Wales), analysed and compared. By C. ASHMORE BAKER, A.M.I.E.E. F'cap. folio. Paper boards. 2s. 6d. net. (Inland Postage 3d.)

Electrical Times:—Mr. Ashmore Baker has performed a task that must have been as laborious as we believe it to be useful. To municipal officials in particular these copious analyses of municipal figures should appeal. It is a great facility for comparative purposes to have everything worked out on the basis of pence or pounds per head of the population. The per capita basis is much used in America, especially in regard to electricity supply. Mr. Baker's tables give us for the first time in this country per capita receipts and expenditure for electricity supply, tramways, gas, street maintenance, sewerage, and other forms of municipal activity. . . . It covers the whole field of municipal service, and there is no municipal department, to which it will not return with good interest its initial cost of half-actiown.

BISSCHOP, W. ROOSEGAARDE-

Rise of the London Money Market, 1840-1826. By W. ROOSEGAARDE BISSCHOP, LL.D. With an Introduction by Prof. H. S. FOXWELL, M.A. Crown 8vo. 5s. net. (Inland Postage, 4d.)

The Riallo:—The work is of undoubted value to students of the origin and growth of the banking institutions of this country, and the thanks due to Dr. Bisschop for his illuminating work should be shared by Mr. Foxwell for his service in bringing it to the attention of the English-speaking world.

The Capitalist:—This is so good a translation that the reader who happened to be ware that it was a reproduction in English of the original work in Dutch would hardly, if at all, be able to discover that fact. Nothing can, we think, be a better test than this of skill in a translator; and Englishmen may congratulate themselves that Mr. Bisschop has not only conceived the bright idea of presenting them with a history of their great national banking establishment, but also found a writer capable of making the perusal of the work an easy and pleasant task. . . A vast mass of information as to matters highly interesting to bankers and bill-brokers, and their customers or clients, is compressed into a handy volume, which from the first to the last page is eminently lucid and readable.

COPVRIGHT, 1896
BY
G. P. PUTNAM'S SONS

COPYRIGHT, 1908
BY
G. P. PUTNAM'S SONS

Copyright, 1909 By .G. P. PUTNAM'S SONS

POWELL, ELLIS T .-

Mechanism of the City. An Analytical Survey of the Business Activities of the City of London. By Ellis T. Powell, LL.B. (Lond.). B.Sc., of the Inner Temple, Barrister-at-Law. Demy 8vo. Cloth.

3s. 6d. net. (Inland Postage 4d.)

CONTENTS.—Credit, the Driving Power: The Great Banks, Finance Houses, and Trust Companies—The Moving Mechanism—The Markets, their Significance and their Characteristics—Observation and Record—The Purpose and Significance of the "City Article".—Other Modes of Record—Results and Tendencies—The Democratisation of Investment and Speculation—The Classification of Investments—Conclusion.

SAUERBECK, AUGUSTUS-

Course of Average Prices of General Commodities, 1820-1907. Compiled by Augustus Sauerbeck, F.S.S. Roy. 4to. With Folding Diagram. 1s. net. (Inland Postage 1d.)

WILLIAMS, W. M. J.-

The King's Revenue. An Account of the Revenue and Taxes up to the Lloyd-George Budget raised in the United Kingdom, with a short history of each Tax, and Branch of the Revenue. By W. M. J. (Inland Postage 4d.) Demy 8vo. Cloth. 6s. net.

Scotsman: -Mr. Williams's book skilfully addresses itself to the needs of busy enquirers, who, without elaborate research, need trustworthy guidance as to the returns from

the taxes and other sources of revenue.

Western Mail: -Mr. Williams marshals his facts with great lucidity, and he materially helps the average man to a complete understanding of the mysteries of our taxation system "The King's Revenue" is a practical and informing volume which should meet a great necessity.

WOLFF. HENRY W.-

Co-operative Banking. Its Principles and its Practice, with a Chapter on Co-operative Mortgage-Credit. By H. W. Wolff. Demy 8vo. Cloth. 7s. 6d. net. (Inland Postage 4d.)

Times:—Mr. Wolff is the author of a successful work.

Co-operative Credit Banks. A Help for the Labouring and Cultivating Classes. By H. W. Wolff. 6d. (Inland Postage 1d.)

A Co-operative Credit Handbook. By H. W. Wolff. Demy 8vo. 96 pages. 1s. net. (Inland Postage 2d.)

CONTENTS .- Preface-General Remarks-Banks based upon Shares (Limited Liability Societies)—Model Rules for such (with Annotations)—Village Banks (Unlimited Liability Societies)—Model Rules for such (with Annotations)—Appendix: Form of Application—Forms of Bond for Borrower—Form of Fortnightly Balance Sheet—Model Cash Book.

People's Banks: A Record of Social and Economic Success. By H. W. Wolff. Third Edition. Revised and enlarged. Demy 8vo. Cloth, 600 pages. 6s. net. (Inland Postage 5d.)

CONTENTS.—Introduction—General Idea—Two Problems—The Two Aspects of the Question—Credit to Agriculture—The Credit Associations of Schulze-Delitzsch—Raiffeisen Village Banks—Adaptations—"Assisted" Co-operative Credit—Co-operative Credit and HunÇary—The Banche Popolari of Italy—The Casse Rurali of Italy—Co-operative Credit in Belgium—Co-operative Credit in Switzerland—Co-operative Credit in France—Offshoots and Congeners—Co-operative Credit in India—Conclusion.

P. S. King & Son ORCHARD HOUSE WESTMINSTER